
 

 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

SWALE JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD MEETING 
 
Date: Monday, 6 December 2021 
Time:  5.30 pm 
Venue: Virtual Meeting Via Skype* 

 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Monique Bonney, Simon Clark, Alastair Gould, Elliott Jayes, Julian Saunders 
(Chairman), Paul Stephen and Eddie Thomas. 
 
Kent County Council Members:  
 
Kent County Councillors Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart, Andy Booth, Mike Dendor, 
Antony Hook, Rich Lehmann and John Wright (Vice-Chairman). 
 
Parish Council Members:   
 
Kent Association of Local Council’s representatives:  John Arthur Fassenfelt, Peter 
MacDonald and Jeff Tutt. 
 
Quorum = 5 (2 from each Council and 1 Parish representative). 
  
RECORDING NOTICE 
 
Please note: this meeting may be recorded and the recording may be published on the 
Council’s website. 
 
At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
audio recorded.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.  
Data collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data 
retention policy. 
 
Therefore by attending the meeting and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being 
recorded and to the possible use of those sound recordings for training purposes. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services. 
 

 
  Pages 

Information for the Public 
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

to join the meeting will be added to the website on Friday 3 December 2021.  
 
Privacy Statement 
 
Swale Borough Council (SBC) is committed to protecting the privacy and 
security of your personal information. As data controller we ensure that 
processing is carried out in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the General Data Protection Regulations. In calling to join the meeting 
your telephone number may be viewed solely by those Members and 
Officers in attendance at the Skype meeting and will not be shared further. 
No other identifying information will be made available through your 
joining to the meeting. In joining the meeting you are providing the 
Council with your consent to process your telephone number for the 
duration of the meeting. Your telephone number will not be retained after 
the meeting is finished. 
 
If you have any concerns or questions about how we look after your 
personal information or your rights as an individual under the 
Regulations, please contact the Data Protection Officer by email at 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk or by calling 01795 417179. 
 
1.  Apologies for absence and confirmation of substitutes 

 

 

2.  Minutes 
 
To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 September 2021 
(Minute Nos. 217 - 228) as a correct record. 
  

 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 
 
The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings: 
 
(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking. 

 
(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary Interests (DNPI) under the Code of 
Conduct adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the 
existence of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI 
interest, the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter. 

 
(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 

 

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g3471/Printed%20minutes%20Monday%2006-Sep-2021%2017.30%20Swale%20Joint%20Transportation%20Board.pdf?T=1


 

 

room while that item is considered. 
 

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting. 
  

4.  Public Session 
 
Members of the public have the opportunity to speak at this meeting.  
Anyone wishing to present a petition or speak on this item is required to 
register with the Democratic Services Section by noon on Friday 3 
December 2021.  Questions that have not been submitted by this 
deadline will not be accepted.  Only two people will be allowed to speak 
on each item and each person is limited to asking two questions.  Each 
speaker will have a maximum of three minutes to speak. 
 
Petitions, questions and statements will only be accepted if they are in 
relation to an item being considered at this meeting. 
  

 

Part One - Reports for recommendation to Swale Borough Council's 
Cabinet 
 

 

5.  Formal Objections to Traffic Regulation Order - Swale Amendment 28 
2021 
 
Report to consider formal objections, comments and indications of 
support to recently advertised Traffic Regulation Order for amendments to 
various on-street waiting restrictions. 
  

5 - 36 

6.  Results of Informal Consultation - Proposed Double Yellow Lines, 
Cortland Close, Milton Regis 
 
Report to consider results of the recent informal consultation to install two 
sections of double yellow lines in Cortland Close. 
  

37 - 44 

7.  Design Consultation Results - Extension of Residents' Parking Scheme 
Edith Road, Faversham 
 

45 - 60 

Part Two - Reports for recommendation to Kent County Council's Cabinet 
 

 

8.  Faversham Town wide 20 mph trial 
 

61 - 398 

Part Three - Information Items 
 

 

9.  Presentation on the Local Improvement Plan Process 
 

 

10.  Swale Drainage 
 
Please note that the relevant Kent County Council (KCC) officer will not 
be in attendance to speak to this item, but there is the opportunity to raise 
general concerns that KCC officers can respond to.  For specific ward 

399 - 
408 



 

 

drainage issues please make direct contact with the appropriate KCC 
Highways & Transportation officers. 
  

11.  Highways Work Programme 
 

409 - 
434 

12.  Progress Update Report 
 
To consider the Progress Update which outlines progress made following 
recommendations and agreed action at previous meetings. 
  

435 - 
438 

13.  Requests made by Councillors and members of the Swale Joint 
Transportation Board 
 

439 - 
440 

14.  Winter Service Report 
 

441 - 
442 

15.  Date of Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting of the Swale JTB would be at 5.30 pm on Monday 28 
February 2022. 
  

 

 

Issued on Friday, 26 November 2021 
 
 
 
The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in 
alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to arrange 
for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please contact 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out more about the work 
of the Swale JTB, please visit www.swale.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 

Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 



 

SWALE JOINT TRANSPORTATION 
BOARD  

Agenda Item:  

 

Meeting Date Monday 6th December 2021 

Report Title Formal Objections to Traffic Regulation Order – Swale 
Amendment 28 2021 

Cabinet Member Cllr Richard Palmer, Cabinet Member for Community 

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Commissioning, Environment 
and Leisure 

Lead Officer Mike Knowles (SBC)  

Classification Open 

  

Recommendations Members are asked to note the formal objections and 
comments received to the advertised Traffic 
Regulation Order and recommend that:- 

 

(1) the proposed double yellow lines in Dolphin Road, 
Sittingbourne either be installed as advertised in the 
Traffic Order or be installed at a reduced length to 
exclude the frontages of 1-4 Dolphin Road; 

 

(2) the proposed extension to the double yellow lines 
in Canute Road, Faversham, either be progressed or 
abandoned; 

 

(3) the proposed double yellow lines on the junction of 
Queens Road and Imperial Avenue, Minster-on-Sea, 
be abandoned; 

 

(4) the proposed reduction of the double yellow lines 
in St Georges Avenue, Sheerness, be abandoned; 

 

(5) the disabled persons’ parking bay in Colegates 
Close, Oare, either be relocated and formalised or 
formalised in its current position. 

 

 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides details of objections, comments and indications of support 

received in relation to the recently advertised Traffic Regulation Order, Swale 
Amendment 28, which covers various amendments to on-street waiting restrictions 
in the Swale area. 

 
 

2. Background 
 
2.1 A Traffic Regulation Order has been drafted for various proposed amendments to 

on-street waiting restrictions in Swale, and the formal consultation took place 
between 27th August 2021 and 17th September 2021. Extracts from this Order where 
objections and comments have been received can be found in Annex A. A 
Statement of Reason summarising the relevant contents of the Order can be found 
in Annex B. A number of formal objections, comments and indications of support, 
have been received to some of the proposals in the Traffic Order, and these are 
discussed below.  

 

3. Issue for Decision 
 

3.1 A copy of the formal objections, indications of support and comments received can 
be found in Annex C, and plans for each of these areas can be found in Annex D. 
 
(1) Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Dolphin Road, Sittingbourne 

3.2 A Ward Member for the area requested the installation of double yellow lines along 
the full length of the north-easterly side of Dolphin Road and around the junction of 
Castle Road in Sittingbourne. This follows issues with a high number of vehicles 
parking along the road, partially on the footway, obstructing the safe passage of 
pedestrians and wheelchair users. It is understood that these vehicles are owned by 
employees on the nearby trading estate. Annex E includes some photographs of the 
parked vehicles and the limited width of available footway, and also photographs of 
the off-street parking facilities at the rear of the residential properties in Dolphin 
Road. The proposed double yellow lines are being funded through the County 
Members’ Highway Grant Scheme. 
 

3.3 During the formal consultation process, we received comments from one formal 
responder, supporting the proposals but objecting to the double yellow lines 
continuing across the front of numbers 1-4 Dolphin Road, as it was reported that the 
residents all own two vehicles and rely on this section of carriageway to park one of 
their vehicles. It was added that the restrictions would also create difficulties for 
visitors if installed across the frontage of the houses. 
 

3.4 Ward & County Member Comments:  The Ward Member has provided photographs, 
included in Annex E, showing 6 garages and 6 parking spaces which allows off-
street parking for up to 12 vehicles. The County Member has concurred with officer 
comments that reducing the proposed restrictions to stop at the residential 
properties could result in those vehicles parked further down the road merely 

Page 6



moving to the unrestricted carriageway outside the houses, and supports the 
introduction of double yellow lines along the full length of the road. He has added 
that any visitors to the houses could park on the opposite side of Dolphin Road if 
required.  
 
(2) Proposed Extension to Double Yellow Lines – Canute Road, Faversham 

3.5 Following a request from the Ward Member, an extension to the existing double 
yellow lines either side of the Harold Court junction in Canute Road, Faversham, 
was included in our latest Traffic Regulation Order. This follows a request from 
residents for the existing lines to be extended to improve sightlines when exiting 
Harold Court. 
 

3.6 During the formal consultation, we received a total of 3 formal objections and 2 
indications of support. The main objections were around the loss of parking spaces 
in Canute Road, with some suggestions for traffic calming and road resurfacing 
which would come under Kent County Council. 
 

3.7 Ward Member Comments: One Ward Member has confirmed his support for the 
proposed extension of the double yellow lines, stating that road safety must be the 
priority. Another Ward Member has stated “the extension of double yellow lines in 
this location has my full support. With vehicles becoming larger, visibility at junctions 
where vehicles are parked in the sight line can be significantly reduced, though I 
certainly understand the comments made in the third objection, particularly 
concerning the quality of the road surface and the need for resurfacing. Safety must 
be the overriding consideration.”  
 
(3) Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Queens Road/Imperial Avenue, Minster-on-Sea 

3.8 A request was received via a Ward Member, to be funded through the County 
Members’ Highway Grant, for double yellow lines to be installed at the junction of 
Queens Road and Imperial Avenue in Minster.  An informal consultation was 
undertaken with residents, the results of which were reported to the Swale Joint 
Transportation Board in June 2021 when Members recommended that the 
proposals should be progressed. They were therefore included in our latest Traffic 
Regulation Order. 
 

3.9 During the formal consultation, a total of 4 formal objections were received and one 
indication of support. The main comments in the objections related to the speed of 
vehicles travelling along Queens Road, the displacement of parked vehicles into 
Imperial Avenue if the double yellow lines are introduced and questions around the 
necessity of double yellow lines on this junction. 
 

3.10 Parish Council & County Member Comments: The Parish Council have confirmed 
their support for the introduction of double yellow lines on all three of the junctions 
along Queens Road, Minster, included in the Traffic Order. The County Member has 
agreed that the proposed restrictions for the junction of Queens Road and Imperial 
Avenue should be removed from the Traffic Order following the formal objections 
received.  
 

Page 7



(4) Proposed Reduction of Double Yellow Lines – St Georges Avenue, Sheerness 
3.11 Following a request from a resident, Kent County Council approached Swale’s 

Engineering Team to see whether we would be able to include the reduction of the 
existing double yellow lines in St Georges Avenue, Sheerness, in our next Traffic 
Regulation Order, which we agreed to do.  
 

3.12 During the formal consultation period for the Traffic Regulation Order, 2 formal 
objections and one indication of support were received. One of the Ward Members 
requested a site meeting with Swale officers to discuss the proposals, expressing 
concern at potential issues around the double yellow line removal, and these 
concerns were relayed back to Kent County Council who have acknowledged the 
points raised and are now of the opinion that the proposals should be abandoned. 
 

3.13  Ward Member Comments: One of the Ward Members has commented as follows:- 
“I do overall support the removal of the yellow lines as I believe it will help as a traffic 
calming measure for what is a residential street. I think it will also help clear some of 
the cars parked on neighbouring streets which are already rather heavily congested. 
I do however also understand where the resident is coming from in regards to the 
line of 28. I feel it would be easier for cars if this was kept clear”. Another Ward 
Member, who has good local knowledge of the area and met the Swale officer on 
site, has expressed concern around the proposed removal of the double yellow 
lines. Having witnessed congestion caused by vehicles temporarily stopping on the 
restrictions, particularly during school drop off and collection times when the road 
becomes even busier, the Member felt that the removal of the lines would cause 
significant safety issues. This includes forcing traffic onto the wrong side of the road, 
conflicting with vehicles exiting Granville Road, and also resulting in vehicles parking 
partly on the footway due to the narrow carriageway, as is the case further down St 
Georges Avenue.  
 
(5) Proposed Formalising of Disabled Persons’ Parking Bay – Colegates Close, 
Oare 

3.14 Following a request from a blue badge holder, the disabled persons’ parking bay in 
Colegates Close, Oare, was included in our latest Traffic Regulation Order. The bay 
was installed in 2017 and due to the road layout was placed in the corner of an on-
street parking area as near to the applicant’s property as possible. The applicant 
then reported that vehicles were parking in front of the bay, which was making it 
difficult to access/egress the bay when another vehicle was parked next to it, and 
the length of the bay was therefore extended. 
 

3.15 The applicant has now contacted us again, asking for the bay to be moved sideways 
by one parking space to improve access/egress as they are still experiencing 
problems with parked vehicles blocking them in. This alteration will reduce the 
chances of a vehicle parking in front of the bay. Details of the proposals can be 
found on the plan in Annex D. As well as re-locating the bay, it is proposed to install 
hatching on one side of the bay to allow the applicant to open their door fully to allow 
better access into and out of the vehicle. The applicant has also requested that the 
bay be made enforceable to stop non blue badge holders parking in it, hence the 
inclusion of the bay in our latest Traffic Order. 

Page 8



 
3.16 A total of two formal objections have been received in relation to the proposals, 

based on the re-location of the bay as opposed to the formalising of the bay in the 
Traffic Regulation Order. Details of the objections can be found in Annex C.  
 

3.17 It should be noted that applicants for disabled persons’ parking bays are required to 
meet specific criteria, set out by Kent County Council, and whilst the Traffic 
Regulation Order process states that any formal objections received must be 
considered by the Joint Transportation Board, there would need to be substantial 
evidence to back up any recommendation not to include a disabled persons’ parking 
bay in the Traffic Regulation Order. Having said that, in this particular case we 
believe there are two options to consider, either moving the bay as requested or 
leaving it in its current position, formalising it at either location.  
 

3.18 The objections focus on the proposed re-location of the bay, but consideration 
should be given as to whether leaving the bay in its current position would result in 
continued access issues for the blue badge holder. 

 
 
 
4. Recommendation 
 
4.1 Members are asked to note the formal objections and comments received to the 

advertised Traffic Regulation Order and recommend that:- 

 

(1) the proposed double yellow lines in Dolphin Road, Sittingbourne either be 
installed as advertised in the Traffic Order or be installed at a reduced length to 
exclude the frontages of 1-4 Dolphin Road; 

 

(2) the proposed extension to the double yellow lines in Canute Road, Faversham, 
either be progressed or abandoned; 

 

(3) the proposed double yellow lines on the junction of Queens Road and Imperial 
Avenue, Minster-on-Sea, be abandoned; 

 

(4) the proposed reduction of the double yellow lines in St Georges Avenue, 
Sheerness, be abandoned; 

 

(5) the disabled persons’ parking bay in Colegates Close, Oare, either be relocated 
and formalised or formalised in its current position. 

 

Page 9



5. Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Improving Community Safety through safer Highways. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

Cost of Advertising Made Order, Cost of Installing Lines and Signs 
on site. 

Legal and 
Statutory 

Sealing of Traffic Regulation Order by Kent County Council. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None at this stage. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

None identified at this stage.  

Equality and 
Diversity 

None identified at this stage. 

Sustainability None identified at this stage. 

Health 
Implications 

The installation of double yellow lines in Dolphin Road will improve 
independence for disabled users of the footway, and those with 
pushchairs, by allowing unrestricted access.  

The introduction of double yellow lines on and around junctions to 
improve sightlines and vehicle movements could have a positive 
impact on the mental health of drivers by reducing stress levels and 
potential incidents of road rage. 

However, where on street parking capacity is limited there may be 
some negative mental health effects on residents who may be 
forced to park further away from their properties, potentially 
increasing the distance to walk at night. 

The formalising of disabled persons’ parking bays ensure that only 
blue badge holders can use the bay, assisting those with mobility 
issues. 

 
 
6. Appendices 
 
6.1 Annex A – Extract from Traffic Regulation Order Swale Amendment 28 2021 
 Annex B – Extract of Statement of Reason 
 Annex C – Copy of Formal Objections, Indications of Support & Comments 
 Annex D – Plans of Proposals Receiving Objections and Support 
 Annex E – Photographs of Parked Vehicles – Dolphin Road, Sittingbourne 
  

  

Page 10



7. Background Papers 
 
7.1      None 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
ANNEX A 

 
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL (VARIOUS ROADS, BOROUGH OF SWALE)  

(WAITING RESTRICTIONS AND STREET PARKING PLACES)  

(AMENDMENT No.28) ORDER 2021 

 

FORMAL OBJECTIONS/SUPPORT/COMMENTS RECEIVED 

 

 

OBJECTION 1 – DOLPHIN ROAD, SITTINGBOURNE – DYLS 

 

OBJECTION 2 – CANUTE ROAD, FAVERSHAM – DYLS 

OBJECTION 3 – CANUTE ROAD, FAVERSHAM – DYLS 

OBJECTION 4 – CANUTE ROAD, FAVERSHAM – DYLS 

 

OBJECTION 5 – QUEENS ROAD/IMPERIAL AVENUE, MINSTER – DYLS 

OBJECTION 6 – QUEENS ROAD/IMPERIAL AVENUE, MINSTER – DYLS 

OBJECTION 7 – QUEENS ROAD/IMPERIAL AVENUE, MINSTER – DYLS 

OBJECTION 8 – QUEENS ROAD/IMPERIAL AVENUE, MINSTER – DYLS 

 

OBJECTION 9 – ST GEORGES AVENUE, SHEERNESS – DYL REMOVAL 

OBJECTION 10 – ST GEORGES AVENUE, SHEERNESS – DYL REMOVAL 

 

OBJECTION 11 – COLEGATES CLOSE, OARE – DISABLED BAY 

OBJECTION 12 – COLEGATES CLOSE, OARE – DISABLED BAY 

 

 

SUPPORT 1 – ST GEORGES AVENUE, SHEERNESS – DYLS REMOVAL 

 

SUPPORT 2 – CANUTE ROAD, FAVERSHAM – DYLS 

SUPPORT 3 – CANUTE ROAD, FAVERSHAM – DYLS 

 

SUPPORT 4 – QUEENS ROAD/IMPERIAL AVENUE, MINSTER – DYLS 

 

COMMENT 1 – QUEENS ROAD/PRINCES AVENUE, MINSTER - DYLS 

COMMENT 2 – QUEENS ROAD/KINGS ROAD, MINSTER – DYLS 

 

SUPPORT RECEIVED FROM MINSTER PC FOR DYLS AT ALL 3 JUNCTIONS OFF QUEENS 

ROAD, MINSTER 

 

The Kent County Council, acting as the local traffic authority and in exercise of its powers under sections 

1(1), 2(1) to (3), 3(2), 4(1) and (2), 32(1), 35(1), 45, 46, 49 and 53 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 

1984, (‘the Act’) and of all other enabling powers, and after consultation with the chief officer of police in 

accordance with Part III of Schedule 9 to the Act, propose to make the following Order:- 

 

A - This Order may be cited as “The Kent County Council (Various Roads, Borough of Swale) (Waiting 

Restrictions and Street Parking Places) Amendment No.28 Order 2021” (‘this Order’) and shall come into 

force on the xx day of xxxxx 2021. 

 

B - The “Kent County Council (Various Roads, Borough of Swale) (Waiting Restrictions and Street 

Parking Places) (Consolidation) Order 2019” (‘the 2019 Order’) shall have effect as though - 

 

 

 

In the Schedules to the 2019 Order 

 

 

FIRST SCHEDULE Page 13



 
 

Roads in Faversham 

 

 

 

 

Canute Road 

 

The following shall be inserted in the First Schedule of the 2019 Order (No Waiting At Any Time) in place 

of the existing entry:- 

 

CANUTE ROAD (1) On both sides 

 

(a) from the Junction with Athelstan Road for a distance of 12 metres in a 

southerly direction; 

 

(b) from the Junction with London Road for a distance of 5 metres in a 

northerly direction. 

 

(2) On the western side 

 

(a) between points 10 14 metres north-east and 10 13 metres south-west of the 

centre of the Junction with Harold Court; 

 

(b) between points 20 metres north and 20 metres south-west of the centre of 

the Junction with Ethelbert Road. 

 

OBJECTION 2,3 & 4 

SUPPORT 2 & 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Roads in Minster-in-Sheppey in the Borough of Swale 

 

Queens Road 

 

The following shall be inserted in the First Schedule of the 2019 Order (No Waiting At Any Time) in the 

correct alphabetical sequence:- 

 

 

QUEENS ROAD On the northern side 

 

(a) from a point 10 metres west of the western side of Kings Road to a point 10 

metres east of the eastern side of Kings Road; 

 

(b) from a point 10 metres west of the western side of Princes Avenue to a 

point 10 metres east of the eastern side of Princes Avenue; 

 

(c) from a point 10 metres west of the western side of Imperial Avenue to a 

point 10 metres east of the eastern side of Imperial Avenue. 

 

SUPPORT 4 

OBJECTION 5,6, 7 & 8 

COMMENTS 1 & 2 

 Page 14



 
 

 

Roads in Sheerness in the Borough of Swale 

 

St Georges Avenue 

 

The following shall be inserted in the First Schedule of the 2019 Order (No Waiting At Any Time) in place 

of the existing entry:- 

 

 

ST GEORGES AVENUE 

(1) On both sides from the Junction with High Street for a distance of 155 

metres in a south-westerly direction. 

 

 (1) On the south-eastern side 

 

 (a) from the Junction with High Street to a point in line with the south-western 

 building line of 26 St Georges Avenue; 

 

 (b) from a point in line with the boundary of 32/34 St Georges Avenue to a point 

 in line with the boundary of 40/42 St Georges Avenue. 

 

(2) On the north-western side 

 

(a) from the Junction with High Street for a distance of 155 metres in a south-

westerly direction; 

 

(ab) from the kerbline of Bridgewater Road for a distance of 10 metres in a 

north-easterly direction; 

 

(bc) from the northern kerbline of Botany Close, north-eastwards to a point in 

line with the boundary line of 101/103 St Georges Avenue; 

 

(cd) from the southern kerb line of Botany Close for a distance of 13 metres in 

a south-westerly direction. 

 

SUPPORT 1 

OBJECTION 9 &10 

 

 

Roads in Sittingbourne and Milton 

 

 

Dolphin Road 

 

The following shall be inserted in the First Schedule of the 2019 Order (No Waiting At Any Time) in place 

of the existing entry:- 

 

 

DOLPHIN ROAD  On both sides from a point 2 metres south-east of the boundary of 2/3 Dolphin 

  Road to the Junction with Church Road 

 

 (1) On the north-easterly side, for the full length of the road. 

 

 (2) On the south-westerly side 

 

(a) from a point in line with the south-eastern kerbline of Castle Road for a 

distance of 15 metres in a south-easterly direction; Page 15



 
 

(b) from a point in line with the north-western kerbline of Church Road to a 

point 2 metres southeast of the boundary of 2/3 Dolphin Road. 

 

 

OBJECTION 1 

 

 

 

SEVENTH SCHEDULE 

 

The following shall be inserted in the Seventh Schedule of the 2019 Order (Parking Places for Disabled 

Persons Vehicles) in place of the existing entry or in the correct alphabetical sequence: 

 

 
 
Roads in Faversham 
 
COLEGATES CLOSE OARE 

Across the frontage of 27 Colegates Close at 90 

degrees to the kerbline. 
 
FIELDING STREET 

 
FAVERSHAM 

(1) Opposite the frontage of 20 Fielding Street 

 

(2) Opposite the frontage of 12 Fielding Street 

 

(3) Opposite the frontage of 38/39 Fielding Street 

 
OBJECTION 11 & 12 

 
 
 
 
 
Given under the Common Seal of the Kent County Council 

 

 

 

 

This                         xx             day of                                                          xxxxx    2021 

 

 

 

 

 

THE COMMON SEAL OF THE 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL was 

hereunto affixed in the 

presence of:- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Authorised Signatory  

Page 16



ANNEX B 
 

 
 

 

 

 
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL (VARIOUS ROADS, BOROUGH OF SWALE) 

(WAITING RESTRICTIONS AND STREET PARKING PLACES) 
(AMENDMENT NO.28) ORDER 2021 

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 
 

 
 

To facilitate the safe passage of vehicles, it is proposed to extend the existing double yellow 
lines in Canute Road, Faversham, either side of the junction of Harold Court. 
 
Also to facilitate the safe passage of vehicles, it is proposed to install double yellow lines in 
Queens Road, Minster-on-Sea, at the junctions of Kings Road, Princes Avenue and Imperial 
Avenue. 
 
To improve the amenities of the area for residents, it is proposed to remove two sections of the 
existing double yellow lines in St George’s Avenue, Sheerness, and to facilitate the safe 
passage of pedestrians and vehicles it is proposed to install double yellow lines along the north-
easterly side of Dolphin Road, Sittingbourne, and around the junction with Castle Road. 
 
It is proposed to formalise the existing disabled persons’ parking bay outside 27 Colegates 
Close, Oare. 
 
 
 
For the following purposes: 
 
- To preserve or improve the amenities of the area through which the road runs; 

 
- To avoid danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any other road or to 

prevent the likelihood of any such danger arising; 
 

- To facilitate the passage on the road or any other road of any class of traffic 
(including pedestrians). 

 
 
 
 
Dated  4th August 2021 
 
MIKE KNOWLES 

STATEMENT of 

REASON 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX C 

(1) Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Dolphin Road, Sittingbourne 

1 Formal Objection & Comment 

First Formal Objection (TRO Objection 1) 

I have just received your letter with the proposed plans for double yellow lines to be added to the north side of 
dolphin road.  
I am a resident of Dolphin Road, and while I am in support of this proposal of adding yellow lines I would ask that the 
area of the road covered could be amended to stop at the opening of the parking/garages and not continue outside 
numbers 1-4 Dolphin Road.  
It would cause great difficulty to the residents of Dolphin Road if we lost the ability to park outside our houses as 
everyone here owns two vehicles and the side parking only gives us enough space for one car each. This would also 
make it difficult for any people coming to visit to park near our houses. The area outside our houses is currently used 
24/7 by the residents and from talking to my neighbour he would also be against double yellows outside the 
properties.   
The cars that are currently parked further down the road are definitely a safety risk as it blocks visibility getting out of 
the side parking and also causes unnecessary traffic on the road so I am in support of that.   
 

(2) Proposed Extension to Double Yellow Lines – Canute Road, Faversham  

3 Formal Objections & 2 Indications of Support 

First Formal Objection (TRO Objection 2) 

I don't support the extension of double yellow lines on Canute Road. 

As a resident on the street (** Canute Road) this will reduce our parking options especially when commuter numbers 

increase again as the road is used a lot by people catching trains to London for work as they can park freely. 

I would however like to see parking permits brought into the street. 

 

Second Formal Objection (TRO Objection 3) 

I would like to object to the Proposed Extension to the Double Yellow Lines either side of Harold Court. Over the years 
that the junction has been there it has never been problem so why has it become one now the number of cars that 
come in or out of the junction is very small. Also by extending the Double Yellow lines you would be taking away two 
parking spaces. Plus visitors to Harold Court have to park in Canute Road as parking is limited in Harold Court. 
 
 

Third Formal Objection (TRO Objection 4) 

In response to the consultation in respect of the captioned Amendment I should like to oppose the proposed change. 

Extending the double yellow lines at the entrance to Harold Court will reduce the available parking by at least two 

and possibly three spaces: spaces which are frequently at a premium particularly in recent years as there are more 

families with two cars in this street. This proposal would exacerbate the existing problem. 

I have gone into Harold Court at various times on various days in order to evaluate the exit into Canute Road. I have 

found that exiting to the south towards the London Road and to the north towards Athelstan Road with normal 

caution is not difficult and no more difficult than exiting Ethelbert Road to the south or north. Visibility is not seriously 

affected by parked vehicles except occasionally when there may be a large van in the immediate parking space. 

I believe that more practical benefit would come from the current investment in an improved road surface, but 

throughout the whole length and width of Canute Road, complete with smooth traffic calming humps similar to those Page 19



in Whitstable Road, Faversham, which slow traffic down without causing danger, while controlling those who tend to 

use Canute Road as a rat run, often at excessive speed. A complete resurfacing would be much more effective and 

would last longer than the current policy of repairing pothole by pothole. Currently, there are numerous potholes of 

various dimensions in Canute Road, and quite large stones are thrown out as cars drive through them, causing 

damage to parked vehicles and potentially injuring pedestrians waiting to cross the road. 

I do not believe that the extension of the double yellow lines would materially improve the situation for our 

neighbours in Harold Court, while it would reduce the amenity by losing parking spaces both for them and for those 

who live in Canute Road. 

 

First Indication of Support (TRO Support 2) 

I wish to add my support for the changes proposed for Canute Rd. 
we have restricted view on leaving Harold Court which is made worse by van parking near the junction.The proposed 
extension of double yellow lines should improve the situation.I have lived in Harold Court for over 22 years and it has 
steadily got more . 
 
 
Second Indication of Support (TRO Support 3) 

I have not been able to locate the above TRO on the swale.gov.uk. website but my wife and I both support the new 

proposal.  

We live in Harold Court and very often it is nerve racking trying to pull out into Canute Road because of the vehicles 

parked so close to the junction. 

Many of the vehicles parked are not owned by residents, some are commuter travellers as this road is the nearest to 

the station and permit free. Also the school run is a nightmare as yellow lines are just ignored and parking is 

dangerous at this time. 

 
 

(3) Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Queens Road/Imperial Avenue, Minster-on-Sea  

4 Formal Objections & 1 Indication of Support 

First Formal Objection (TRO Objection 5) 

I am writing to object to the above 

If this proposal goes through it will cause more parking issues along Queens Rd and you’ll then get cars/vans parking 

down and close to the junction on Imperial Ave so I don’t agree. Could you please inform the residents of imperial Ave 

of this as all this is obviously their doing. Why is it necessary? Is it because they clearly cannot manoeuvre or judge 

pulling out of the junction? If this is the case do you not think it’s time to hang up them keys and consider public 

transport. I live at ** Queens Rd and have for 15 years and I’m very sure it’s not the parking that’s a concern it’s the 

speed in which cars travel along Queens Rd that’s the issue. Get the speed cameras up there, make it a 20 mph zone 

but don’t take away our parking. I work in and around Kent and come across some very challenging roads and 

junctions in residential areas far worse than at the end of Imperial Ave Minster. I’ve currently been working all 

through lockdown working in 7 to 8 properties a day doing essential work ****** risking my health my family’s 

health so I have enough stress to deal with and I get this letter on my doorstep telling me that I may have trouble 

finding a parking space for my van near my house, well I tell you now if I do have trouble it will be parked down 

Imperial so please inform the complaining residents of this. 

 

 

 Page 20



Second Formal Objection (TRO Objection 6) 

With reference to your letter dated 25th April 2021, Requesting me to give my opinion regarding the proposed double 

yellow lines Queens Road/imperial Avenue 

Please note my objections as I see no reason for these lines to be inserted into our Road  

 

Third Formal Objection (TRO Objection 7) 

I would like to register my objection to the propose yellow line. 

I have lived at the above adress for nearly 30 years and there has not been a problem with vehicles exiting imperial 
Ave to Queens road. 

Ther has only been one accident years ago, which was caused by a speeding car a long Queens road. 

The proposed yellow line will cause more of a parking problems, forcing vehicles to park down the entrance of 
Imperial Ave which is an unmade road which has a narrow entrance, and you don`t plan puting yellow lines in 
Imperial Ave. your yellow lines will force vehicles to park on Queens road opposite Imperial Ave, which some do 
already,( people who work at the coop shop) this makes traffic, have to pass on the wrong side of the road. so a good 
suggestion would be leave it as it is.  

i would consider this a waste of council tax money, which would be best spent on stopping speeding traffic down 
Queens road by people that don`t live here. 

if yellow line`s need to be done any where, it`s at the juction of Baldwin Road and Chapel Street, this is more of a 
major junction and if you live near here, you would now it can be a nightmare to exit, specially when the school run is 
on, there are always park cars parked on Chaple street right up to Baldwin road. 

I would like to add that if the propose yellow lines are done at Imperial Ave/Queens road, and not Baldwin 
road/Chapel Street, i would be complaining and want to know why. 

 

Fourth Formal Objection (TRO Objection 8) 

In response to the consultation re the proposed double yellow lines, I do not believe that the said yellow lines will 

solve any issues. It is the speed of the traffic along Queens Rd which is the problem, my son lives on Queens Rd & 

driving off his drive with good sight from both directions is hampered due to vehicles going too fast.  

It is my belief that speed restrictions would be of more benefit & provide a more effective outcome. I think this would 

be a better long term solution, & if the said yellow lines do not solve any issues, putting these down would be a waste 

of money. 

At these times when we should be looking also at environmental issues, reducing speed would aid this too.  

I am sure, in the councils wisdom, they will take into account long term efficacy of any proposed alterations, taking 

into consideration the opinions of the public, after all it is our money that you will be spending & our immediate 

locality which will be effected! 

 

First Indication of Support (TRO Support 4) 

I am writing to express my support for this proposal to go ahead. 

In my opinion, and from observations of cars pulling out from Imperial Avenue on to Queens Road, the parking of cars 

on Queens Road either side of this junction does cause a significant risk of accident and potential injury. I know of at Page 21



least one accident that has occurred because of this and there have been a number of near-misses previously 

observed. It also doesn't help that cars using Queens Road do often exceed the speed limit.  

When pulling out from Imperial Road it is impossible to see traffic coming from either side, especially when vans are 

parked on Queens Road, which they frequently are.  

I do believe that this proposed change is important to ensure there are no accidents in the future and again I offer my 

support for this proposal. 

 

(4) Proposed Reduction of Double Yellow Lines – St Georges Avenue, Sheerness  

2 Formal Objections & 1 Indication of Support 

First Formal Objection (TRO Objection 9) 

Please note my objection to the proposal of the removal of double yellow lines -  

(1) On the south-eastern side (a) from the Junction with High Street to a point in line with the south-western building 

line of 26 St Georges Avenue; (b) from a point in line with the boundary of 32/34 St Georges Avenue to a point in line 

with the boundary of 40/42 St Georges Avenue. 

My main objection relates to the start point of the removal (building line of 26 St Georges Avenue), could it not be 

moved to the building line of no.28. 

The plan on the reverse of the notice does not take into account that no.29 has land next to the house that is used for 

off road parking. It can be difficult enough to get onto the road when the traffic is queuing from the High Street, but if 

vehicles are parked directly opposite it will be even more so. 

I have attached two photos that I have taken from either side of the parking land, it is 16foot wide and is next to the 

driveway of no.21 next door. 

LOOKING FROM THE LEFT HAND SIDE OF THE DRIVEWAY ACROSS TO NO.26 

 

 
Page 22



LOOKING FROM THE RIGHT HAND SIDE OF THE DRIVEWAY ACROSS TO NO.28 

 

While I appreciate it will (hopefully) slow down the traffic along St Georges Avenue, which will prevent the vibration 

we feel in our house from Lorries, also when we have heavy rain it ponds outside no. ** (and across outside no.**), as 

there aren't any gulley drains, the traffic drives through this and splashes this onto the front of the house. 

 

 

 Page 23



Second Formal Objection (TRO Objection 10) 

I am writing in response to the letter I received on 25.08.21 about the proposed removal of the double yellow lines 

down my road St Georges Avenue. I have been a resident there for 12 years and I strongly object to the proposed plan 

to remove the yellow lines as I feel it will cause unnecessary traffic congestion on an already busy road which was 

proved a few years ago when the yellow lines were removed for some resurfacing work, cars were parked outside 

which narrowed the road and made it more dangerous as some people come down the road at speed. So I hope this 

is taken into consideration on the outcome of the decision that is made. 

 

First Indication of Support (TRO Support 1) 

Today, I received notification of the proposed removal of double yellow lines down St George's Avenue. 

I wholeheartedly support this consultation for the following reasons: 

• It will act as a traffic calming measure for cars speeding down the road - daily! 
• It will enable residents to park safely and near to their property (me included). 
• Illegal parking will be reduced. 
• Granville Road will be less congested due to residents of St George's Avenue parking there (me included). 

 

(5) Proposed Formalising of Disabled Persons’ Parking Bay – 27 Colegates Close, Oare  

2 Formal Objections 

First Formal Objection (TRO Objection 11) 

Why are you moving the disabled parking space? I am a driver and disabled. I don’t understand why one person is 

getting her way, the space is not needed. The parking is sparce as it is, you are going to make it a lot worse than it 

already is. Other disabled drivers and other residents will be badly affected. I don’t know why it’s needed. If the 

person concerned backed up in the right place everyone could park but no, she parked across the only footpath and 

blocked that. 

And why did you make it longer and put it across the only footpath we have? If you move it it will be awful for the 

rest of us. Why has she got it anyway, she carries her own shopping and compost and lots of heavy things and her 

son is living there. Why is she more important than the rest of us? Very upset resident. 

 

Second Formal Objection (TRO Objection 12) 

I am writing to object to the proposed new disabled parking space in Colegates Close. Currently the disabled space is 

being used with no problem. The car is always parked right at the end of the space which has already been extended. 

Another vehicle which I believe belongs to her son parks in front of the car. There are very few spaces for all of the 

residents to park already, and moving this spot will make things more difficult for everyone else, while not actually 

making any difference for the person it is intended for. 

I personally believe the disabled bay which is already there is absolutely fine. The car could park a lot further back but 

doesn’t through choice. This can be seen by the build up of dirt in the road where it’s not being used as it should be. 

I can’t stress enough the worry I feel about the problems this will cause for the other residents parking. 

 

 

 

 Page 24



Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Queens Road/Princes Avenue, Minster-on-Sea  

1 Formal Comment 

I have resided at ** Queens Road since August 2012 and welcome this opportunity to comment on the worsening 

situation on Queens Road on the following points; 

1. Increase in anti-social behaviour, verbal abuse and road rage incidents since the removal of street cameras which 

did have a deterrent purpose. 

2. Non compliance with existing road markings in front of the co-op foodstore and Vicarage Road and properties 6-14 

on Queens Road. 

3. Speeding traffic the whole length of Queens Road. 

The overall picture is an obvious one, it is that the co-op needs a dedicated car parking facility to accommodate it’s 

growing number of customers. This can only be achieved by relocation to a new site or the unlikely purchase and 

demolition of properties from 6-14 on Queens Road for that purpose. Otherwise, I can only comment that the 

proposal for double yellow lines may or may not improve the current situation and then only if accompanied by speed 

restrictions. 

  

Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Queens Road/Kings Road, Minster-on-Sea  

1 Formal Comment 

Regarding the referenced application for proposed double yellow lines. 

Firstly I am pleased to see this being actioned, however since the initial consultation this matter has deteriorated. 

Would it be possible to include additional yellow lines on the other side of the street, namely covering 7, 9 and 11 

Queens Road. These properties have dropped kerb access, which they utilise however consistently also parking on the 

road and adjusting off road parking as required. Somewhere near we also have KENT MOVERS that use the current 

spaces to be marked ie 1 and 2 Kings Rd. If these spaces are denied, I feel it will only be time before they use Kings 

unadopted road to park up in front of both 1 and 2 Kings which will further hinder access/line of sight for traffic using 

this junction. Thank you for considering the above points and providing any clarification on a successful resolution. 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX D 

Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Dolphin Road, Sittingbourne 

 

P
age 27



Proposed Extension to Double Yellow Lines – Canute Road, Faversham 

 

P
age 28



Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Queens Road/Imperial Avenue, Minster-on-Sea 

 

P
age 29



Proposed Reduction of Double Yellow Lines – St Georges Avenue, Sheerness 

 

P
age 30



Proposed Formalising of Disabled Persons’ Parking Bay – 27 Colegates Road, Oare 

 

P
age 31



Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Queens Road/Princes Avenue, Minster-on-Sea 

 

P
age 32



Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Queens Road/Kings Road, Minster-on-Sea 

 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX E 

Parked Vehicles – Dolphin Road, Sittingbourne 

 

 

 

P
age 35



Off-Street Parking – Dolphin Road, Sittingbourne 

 

 

P
age 36



 

SWALE JOINT TRANSPORTATION 
BOARD  

Agenda Item:  

 

Meeting Date Monday 6th December 2021 

Report Title Results of Informal Consultation – Proposed Double 
Yellow Lines, Cortland Close, Milton Regis 

Cabinet Member Cllr Richard Palmer, Cabinet Member for Community 

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Commissioning, Environment 
and Leisure 

Lead Officer Mike Knowles (SBC)  

Classification Open 

  

Recommendations Members are asked to note the results of the recent 
informal consultation on proposed double yellow lines 
in Cortland Close, Milton Regis, and recommend that 
a Traffic Regulation Order for the proposals be 
progressed but at a slightly reduced length following 
consultation feedback. 

 
 
 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides details of the results of a recent informal consultation with 

residents on two sections of proposed double yellow lines in Cortland Close, Milton 
Regis. 

 
 

2. Background 
 
2.1 Following a request from Ward and County Members, an informal consultation has 

taken place with residents on proposed double yellow lines in Cortland Close, Milton 
Regis. A copy of the consultation material can be found in Annex A, and a summary 
of the results of the consultation can be found in Annex B.  

 
 

3. Issue for Decision 
 

3.1 A site meeting has taken place with Ward Members, the County Member and 
residents of Cortland Close and Cortland Mews in Milton Regis to discuss access 
issues caused by parked vehicles. It has been reported that vehicles parking in 
Cortland Close have prevented access into the Close by the refuse freighter, 
resulting in delays in bin collections, and also access issues with larger vehicles 
caused by parking near to the entrance to Cortland Mews. As well as the residential 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



properties located in Cortland Mews, this unadopted road also provides rear access 
to properties in Milton High Street. 
 

3.2 Proposals were prepared consisting of extending the existing double yellow lines on 
the southwest side of the junction with Lammas Drive along Cortland Close, 
opposite the junction of Cortland Mews and around the corner in Cortland Close. As 
residents had also reported an issue with vehicles parking in the hammerhead at the 
end of the road, obstructing the safe manoeuvring of vehicles turning round, the 
proposals also included double yellow lines around the end of the road. A plan of the 
proposals can be found on the consultation material in Annex A. 
 

3.3 A total of 20 properties were included in the informal consultation, and a total of 5 
responses were received. Of those 5 responses, 3 supported the proposals, 1 
objected and 1 supported the proposals from Lammas Drive to Cortland Mews, but 
felt that the restrictions outside of their property, in the hammerhead, were not 
required. The other objector expressed concern that the introduction of double 
yellow lines would push parked vehicles further down the road, affecting access to 
and from their driveway. 
 

3.4 Ward & County Member Comments: A Ward Member for the area has commented 
as follows:- “Although not a fan of yellow lines to cure parking issues, given the 
increasing numbers of multiple car ownership at single addresses, and the inability 
of some drivers to park courteously and safely, yellow lines are required in some 
instances. In this case, as mentioned in the objection, the road is narrow, and 
currently the parking at the entrance to the cul-de-sac often prevents emergency 
and refuse vehicles from gaining access to the close and the mews. I reluctantly 
agree with the proposal to install the lines”. The County Member has stated that 
“yellow lines will always push parked vehicles to somewhere else so that type of 
objection is almost a ‘given’ in my opinion, it does not hold enough weight to stop 
yellow lines being put down unless there is another valid reason for the objection. In 
this case, I believe the priority is the clearance for the unadopted road and lines on 
the blind bend. The ‘hammerhead’ and the lines up to the corner of Lammas Drive 
are of a slightly lower priority.”  
 

3.5 Based on the objection raised regarding proposed double yellow lines around all of 
the hammerhead at the end of the Close, it has been agreed with Members that the 
proposals will be amended slightly to exclude restrictions on the even numbers side 
of the hammerhead. 
 

 
4. Recommendation 
 
4.1 Members are asked to note the results of the recent informal consultation on 

proposed double yellow lines in Cortland Close, Milton Regis, and recommend that 
a Traffic Regulation Order for the proposals be progressed but at a slightly reduced 
length following consultation feedback. 

 

Page 38



 

5. Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Improving Community Safety through safer Highways. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

Cost of Drafting and Advertising Traffic Regulation Order, Cost of 
Installing Lines on site. 

Legal and 
Statutory 

Sealing of Traffic Regulation Order by Kent County Council. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None at this stage. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

None identified at this stage.  

Equality and 
Diversity 

None identified at this stage. 

Sustainability None identified at this stage. 

Health 
Implications 

The installation of double yellow lines in Cortland Close will ensure 
access into the Close and Cortland Mews by larger vehicles, 
including emergency vehicles and refuse freighters, which will have 
a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of residents by 
ensuring regular bin collections and emergency access. Whilst 
there may be some negative impact through the reduction of on-
street parking capacity, the proposed restrictions have been kept to 
a minimum and most, if not all, of the properties have off-street 
parking.  

 
 
6. Appendices 
 
6.1 Annex A – Copy of Consultation Material 
 Annex B – Summary of Results of Informal Consultation 
  
  

  

7. Background Papers 
 
7.1      None 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX A 

 
 

 

 IMPORTANT – NOT A CIRCULAR 

  
 

Proposed Double Yellow Lines 
Cortland Close, Milton Regis  

 
Following a site meeting with Ward Members, the County Member and local residents, proposals 
have been prepared for two sections of double yellow lines to be installed in Cortland Close, Milton 
Regis, as shown on the plan overleaf. 
 
Issues have been reported with parked vehicles obstructing access along Cortland Close for 
refuse freighters and larger vehicles, and also impeding access in and out of Cortland Mews, and 
Ward Members have requested the introduction of these additional double yellow lines, funded 
through the County Member’s Highway Grant. There was considerable discussion on site prior to 
finalising the proposed restrictions, and it was acknowledged that some residents rely on on-street 
parking and that a balance needed to be found to solve obstruction issues whilst maintaining some 
parking capacity. 
 
We would be most grateful to receive your views as to whether you support or object to the 
proposals, and the responses received will be reported to the Swale Joint Transportation Board to 
consider at their next meeting. Please note that direct, individual responses will not be sent out in 
response to each questionnaire. At the end of the consultation a report on feedback will be 
compiled and this will be available on request.  
 
Please e-mail your comments to us at engineers@swale.gov.uk or alternatively complete the reply 
slip below and return to Swale Borough Council Engineering Services, Swale House, East Street, 
Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT, by Friday 15th October 2021. A space has also been provided to 
allow you to add any further comments you may have. Thank you for taking the time to respond. 
 

Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Cortland Close, Milton Regis 
 
Please tick one of the following boxes 
 

 I Support the proposed double yellow 
lines 

 I Object to the proposal 

    

Name & Address Comments 

    
    
    
    
    
    

The information supplied will only be used in conjunction with this consultation 

Page 41



 
 

Plan of Proposed Double Yellow Lines – Cortland Close, Milton Regis 
 

 

 

 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 

Page 42



ANNEX B

Proposed Double Yellow Lines - Cortland Close, Milton Regis

Response Support Object Comments

1 1 The yellow lines are needed.

2 1

3 0.5 0.5

I am emailing you in regards to proposed double 

yellow lines at Cortland Close and to express our 

feelings on the works to be carried out. We have no 

objection to double yellow lines to be outside 

houses numbered 2 and 14 as this would help the 

refuse lorries accessing the road, however, we are 

extremely against having double yellow lines placed 

outside of our home, number *. We feel they are 

unnecessary as since we have lived here we have 

never seen any cars parked outside our home. Due 

to being pregnant, the parking on the road outside 

of our home could be helpful when my parents 

come to stay. Furthermore, cars parked in this area 

do not block any access apart from our home. 

Therefore we feel they are completely unnecessary.

4 1 I support the proposed double yellow lines.

5 1 We worry that the yellow lines will push the parking 

round to opposite our houses making it harder to 

get on and off our drive as the road is narrow

Total 3.5 1.5

20 Properties Consulted

% Returned 25 5 No. Returned

% Support 70 3.5 No. Support

% Object 30 1.5 No. Object

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

SWALE JOINT TRANSPORTATION 
BOARD  

Agenda Item: 7 

 

Meeting Date Monday 6th December 2021 

Report Title Design Consultation Results – Extension of Residents’ 
Parking Scheme – Edith Road, Faversham 

Cabinet Member Cllr Richard Palmer, Cabinet Member for Community 

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Environment and Leisure 

Lead Officer Brett O'Connell (SBC)  

Classification Open 

  

Recommendations Members are asked to note the comments of the 
recent informal design consultation and recommend 
that the extension of the existing Residents’ Parking 
Scheme to include Edith Road, Faversham either be 
progressed or abandoned. If progressed, that the 
amended plan (Annex C) be agreed. 

 
 
 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides the results of a recent informal consultation undertaken with 

residents of Edith Road, Faversham, on the layout of the proposed extension to the 
scheme. 

 
 

2. Background 
 
2.1 Copies of the informal consultation material sent to residents can be found in Annex 

A and the responses received can be found in Annex B. 
 

 

3. Issue for Decision 
 

3.1 An informal consultation asking residents if they would like to be included within the 
scheme was undertaken in May and June 2021. Of the 32 properties consulted, a 
total of 19 responses were received, giving a response rate of 59%. Of the 19 
responses, 9 (47%) supported the possible extension of the current scheme to 
include Edith Road and 10 (53%) objected to the extension. 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



3.2 The results of this consultation were reported to the Swale Joint Transportation 
Board at their meeting in September 2021, where Members recommended that the 
extension to the scheme in Edith Road be progressed.  
 

3.3 Following the Swale Joint Transportation Board recommendation, we have now 
consulted with the residents of Edith Road and two properties in The Mall who have 
vehicle accesses in Edith Road. Consultees were asked to comment on the 
proposed design layout. A copy of the design consultation material can be found in 
Annex A. 
 

3.4 Following comments from some residents, including the vehicle access owner, the 
proposed double yellow lines across a vehicle crossing on the northern side of Edith 
Road have been changed back to a white bar marking. Also, the vehicle crossing on 
the south side, which was planned to have double yellow lines across has now been 
changed to parking bays as requested by the owner of the garage. The proposed 
parking bays have been based on existing parking to maximise capacity. We also 
received comments asking why the scheme is going ahead even though a majority 
of residents during a previous consultation objected to the extension. The comments 
received from residents during the latest consultation can be found in Annex B. An 
amended design layout following the consultation can be found in Annex C. 
 

4. Recommendation 
 
4.1 Members are asked to note the comments of the recent informal design consultation 

and recommend that the extension of the existing Residents’ Parking Scheme to 
include Edith Road, Faversham either be progressed or abandoned. If progressed, 
that the amended plan (Annex C) be agreed. 

 

5. Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Improving Community Safety through safer Highways. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

Cost of Drafting and Advertising Traffic Regulation Order, Cost of 
Installing Lines and Signs on site, Cost of Administrative Changes 
to Accommodate New Scheme Area Permits. Potential for further 
consultation in surrounding roads should Scheme be implemented. 

Legal and 
Statutory 

Advertising of Traffic Regulation Order, reports back to JTB with 
formal objections, and Sealing by Kent County Council. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None at this stage. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

None identified at this stage.  

Equality and None identified at this stage. 

Page 46



Diversity 

Sustainability None identified at this stage. 

Health 
Implications 

The introduction of a Residents’ Parking Scheme in Edith Road, 
Faversham, may improve the mental wellbeing of some residents 
who currently feel that on-street parking capacity is reduced due to 
parking by non-residents, and may allow them to park closer to 
their properties, reducing the distance to walk from their vehicles. 
However, stress to some residents may be increased by the 
introduction of the Scheme if they are own more vehicles than they 
can accommodate with the Permit Scheme, forcing them to park 
further from their properties. The mental wellbeing of residents in 
adjoining roads may be impacted by the displacement of vehicles 
into their roads, reducing available on-street parking capacity. 
Some residents may also find the annual cost of the permits to be 
an additional financial burden. 

 
 
6. Appendices 
 
6.1 Annex A – Copy of consultation material  
 Annex B – Consultation comments from residents 
           Annex C – Amended plan following residents’ comments 
  
   

 

7. Background Papers 
 
7.1      None 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Swale House, East Street, 
Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3HT 
DX59990 Sittingbourne 2 
Phone: 01795 417850 
Fax: 01795 417141 
www.swale.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Please ask for: 

Telephone: 

E-mail: 

Our Ref: 

Date: 

 

Engineering 
01795 417850 
engineers@swale.gov.uk 
ER/CPZ/01 
22nd September 2021 

ANNEX A 
 
 
Faversham Residents’ Parking Scheme – Proposed Extension Edith Road 
 
Dear Resident/Occupier 
 
An informal consultation was undertaken in May/June with the residents of Edith 
Road. The consultation asked whether residents would support or object to the 
extension of the Faversham Residents’ Parking Scheme to include Edith Road. Of 
the 32 properties consulted, a total of 19 responses were received, 9 supported the 
proposal and 10 objected. The results were submitted within a report to the Swale 
Joint Transportation Board (SJTB) in September 2021 for a recommendation. The 
SJTB recommended that the extension of the Faversham Residents’ Parking 
Scheme to include Edith Road and therefore be progressed. 
 
We would now like your comments on the proposed layout so we can assess the 
suitability of the design and make amendments if needed. The scheme should 
improve parking for residents during the daytime and encourage non-residents 
currently parking here for long periods of time to use the parking facilities available in 
the town centre.  
 
The scheme layout has been based on current local parking practices and includes 
formalised resident parking bays, existing and new double yellow lines. The parking 
bay restrictions will be in enforceable Monday to Saturday 8:30am to 5:30pm. Non 
permit holders will be able to park in the bays for a maximum of 2 hours, no return 
within 4 hours during this period. The proposed layout is on the reverse of this letter. 
 
Please submit your comments by Monday 18th October 2021. The results of this 
consultation will be reported to the SJTB in December 2021 for any further 
recommendations. All correspondence to be sent to: Engineering, Swale Borough 
Council, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3HT or email 
engineers@swale.gov.uk. 
 
  
Yours faithfully 
Engineering  

Page 49



 

Page 50



Design Consultation Results – Extension of Residents’ Parking Scheme, Edith Road, Faversham 

Annex B 

Response 
No. 

Comments 

1 With reference to the proposed extension of Faversham residents parking scheme to Edith Road, I am writing to you with some 
concern as to how an informal consultation x 2 took place, and with the outcome that you propose.  
 
According to your letter dated 22nd September, you state that you received back 19 responses to an informal letter, with 9 
supporting the scheme and 10 objecting.  
In my mind, the fact that the SJTB recommended the extension means that something has gone awry, and that obviously 
democratic rights in the borough of Faversham do not mean anything.  
 
From what I understand from the minutes of the SJTB meeting, Councillor ****** took it upon ****** to push the scheme through 
without formal consultation, and without speaking to, or properly consulting with the residents in person.  
 
The first informal consultation was held during covid restrictions, and we were given a letter with possible parking scheme on it. 
This was conducted by Councillor *******, and the letter clearly was implemented by the ****** party on headed notepaper. 
When it was collected, no one spoke to us or asked our opinion. It was just collected.  
 
The second letter was from yourselves, requiring us to send a letter or email back to yourselves.  
 
I feel that as we are a small road this scheme will impact very dramatically on the surrounding roads, that ALL roads should be 
included with the scheme, and FORMAL consultation should be undertaken by the council or SJTB . 
 
This is now possible since covid restrictions have been lifted. ALL residents should be contacted even if it takes several weeks , and 
this should be in person, either by an independent person or persons.  
The 2 houses on the Mall that will be impacted by the scheme did not, as far as I can determine, receive any of the letters issued by 
yourselves or Councillor ******.  
 
In 2010/2011, when we were approached to implement the scheme, all the surrounding roads were consulted. It was a proper 
formal consultation, and such should be considered before putting the parking permit scheme into operation in Edith Road.  

P
age 51



 
To allow the SJTB to impose something that is clearly not wanted by the majority of residents is going against democracy, and 
should be addressed thoroughly before implementing a scheme that is clearly not wanted. 
  
The proper democratic process has not followed, and subsequently the implementation of the residents’ parking scheme extension 
into Edith Road needs to be halted pending an investigation and a review of the proposal. 
 
I would like to point out the possible use of double yellow lines in front of the garages, which have dropped curbs and such are 
covered by the highway code pavement parking. 
 
People from all over Faversham can still park here if they have a parking permit. Especially those who use the road to commute. 
 
Anyone can park from 16.00 until 10.00am without a permit, and in the middle of the day there is always parking. At 02.00am there 
is no parking available.  
 
It was never explained to any household that there is only 2 permits available to each household, and there are several that have 3 
cars, due to children still living at home. 
 
There is actually not enough space for everyone who has a car and subsequently buys a permit to park within Edith Road.  
 

2 I am responding to the letter dated 22/09/2021 and wish to express my full support for the proposed extension. However there is 
one point I wish to raise, as the owner of the garage of ******, I do not see the need for double yellow lines outside it. We do not 
use the garage for storing vehicles, and would rather the space was used to facilitate further parking on Edith road. If anything was 
to go there, it should be a white line adjacent to the dropped curb, rather than a double yellow line.  
 

3 With reference to the above proposal I am concerned about the results of the informal consultation and the outcome that has been 
proposed. How is it that the informal poll taken on 22/09/21 showed a majority objecting and yet the proposal appears to be going 
ahead? How come nobody has called to ask us personally of our views? I realise this was not possible during lockdown but there 
was time afterwards. I am not convinced that Parking Permits will improve parking for Edith Road residents and just see it as a 
means for the council to gain more revenue.  
 
 
 

P
age 52



4 I am writing in response to the Edith Rd consultation. Your ref: ER/CPZ/01. 
Our front door faces ****** but we have a garage entrance onto Edith Rd with a drop kerb and solid white line. We haven’t 
previously been included in the consultation, receiving notification only this week. 
Having seen the plans, we would like to object to the conversion of the (keep clear) white line outside our back entrance into a 
double yellow line. The existing solid white line means we can choose to park inside or outside our gate while it still prevents others 
from blocking our access. 
We would prefer to keep the existing “keep clear” solid white line outside our brown gated entrance. But to be clear we definitely 
don’t want it to be turned into a parking space where parked cars would block our garage access. 
 

5 With reference to your letter of 22nd September: 
 
1. Whilst accepting that the decision to proceed with the extension (of parking area B) despite a majority of local residents objecting 
is not your area of responsibility, nonetheless less the fundamental design flaw with the proposed design is the plan itself. The 
reasons are comprehensively explained in correspondence with Swale Council over the last 20 years. 
 
2. Notwithstanding the above, the proposed double yellow lines across the private garage access areas with dropped kerbs are 
unnecessary, the issue of blocking access is adequately covered in the Highway Code rule 243 lines 9 & 10. Where a third party 
obstructs a property access, this can be appropriately dealt with. 
 
3. The restriction of only 2 permits per household does not reflect the situation in many households where children living at home 
or self employed sole traders have more than 2 vehicles.  
 
4. There is no mention of how visitors’ vehicles are permitted to park in the area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 53



6  

 

 
7 Delighted to hear this project is going ahead. The proposed layout looks great. My only comment would be that it would be worth 

speaking with the resident living at ******, Fav. He allows individuals to park in front of *** rear garage as thus it’s a valuable 
parking space for local residents on Edith Road.  
 

P
age 54



8 I am writing to let you know that I am in favour of the residents parking scheme for Edith Road Faversham, I am also happy with the 
proposed layout as it gives us the same amount of allocated parking as we have now, please do not mark out individual bays as this 
will reduce the overall number of parking allocation available. 
We're all pretty good at parking tight we we’ll all fit in just perfectly. 
 
Please go ahead with the scheme and don’t bow the loud voice of the NIMBYS, I thank you for going ahead despite the very small 
minority win on the informal consultation, courage always wins, bravo. 
 

9 I write in response to your letter dated 22nd September, 2021. 
 
As a resident of Edith Road I TOTALLY agree with proposed plan to extend parking permits to include Edith Road. 
 
For too long now residents have been inconvenienced by inconsiderate motorists (mainly commuters) that use Edith Road as a 'car 
park' on a daily basis instead of paying the nominal £5 approx to park at the station, this equates to the cost of a pint of beer in the 
city. 
 
This has not been such an issue in the past year because of lockdown, although still a problem, but is becoming increasingly worse 
now that the country starts to get back to normal and will only get more of a problem as more housing is built ! 
 
There are a number of younger families that live on Edith Road that are inconvenienced daily by the selfishness shown by non 
residents, these families are having to carry both shopping / buggies etc from some distance away to get to their homes as the 
infrastructure has been blocked. 
 
In my opinion confrontation will happen between residents / non residents soon unless this matter is resolved as a matter of 
urgency, it must also be taken into consideration that strict enforcement of the new parking restrictions must be applied otherwise 
it would be a waste to time. 

 

10 Thank you for your recent letter outlining the proposed layout. 
 
Can I first thank you for progressing this scheme. It has been noticeable recently, how many more cars are now back parking in the 
road. I have just had someone park outside my house for a week - they weren’t a neighbour! I can see the situation gradually 
worsening as people get back to work and resume shopping and travelling, post Covid. 

P
age 55



 
The proposed layout looks fine. I’m glad you are keeping the yellow lines short at the Mall end but wonder if they can be slightly 
shortened at the Kingsnorth end?  I do understand it is presumably to enable vans / removal lorries to get around corners. Also, if 
not already planned, could the new yellow lines in front of garage entrances be kept to the minimum length so as to allow 
maximum room for the parking bays.  
 
I am happy with the hours being in line with the rest of the town. 
 

11 My comments on the Parking Scheme that covers Edith road are as follows: 
 
I encourage the introduction of parking permits because I work in ******** and when I return home after a hard days work I 
cannot park near my house as there are other cars that are not my neighbours and I do not recognise. 
 
I have seen that people park on Edith road in the morning before I go to work and drivers pop a bag round their shoulders and start 
working down to the town. Are they going to catch a train or do they work in Faversham. I have seen people with formal clothing 
park on Edith road which suggests they are going to work for the day. 
 
This is why I think parking permits may work as the current system is open to abuse. 
 

12 I am writing in response to the proposed extension to the town’s parking scheme to include Edith Road. 
  
Both my wife and I wholeheartedly endorse this proposal as we believe it will considerably ease the parking difficulties that 
currently beset the road. So difficult is it to find a parking space on the street that we have been buying a parking permit for the last 
two years so that we can park on the Mall, as we often have to do. Finding a space to park on the street after 6pm is virtually 
impossible. 
  
The lack of restrictions on Edith Road means that anyone can use the street to park as long as they wish and this is continually 
exploited by commuters, teachers at the Abbey School and other people, who have all been observed by myself and others to use 
the street. For commuters, it enables them to avoid the charges that the station applies for parking and whilst I cannot blame them 
for taking advantage of this opportunity, I believe it unfairly detriments residents of the street, many of whom are elderly or have 
young families, which makes not being able to park on the street a considerable inconvenience. 
  

P
age 56



Whilst we appreciate that parking is an issue throughout the town I have lived in other streets that have the permit scheme and 
parking was nowhere near as bad as it is in Edith Road and surrounding streets that don’t have the scheme. We are certain that the 
introduction of this scheme will be beneficial to the residents of the street and that the minimal cost of the permit (equivalent to 
around a £1 per week) is well worth it if it means that parking on the street becomes easier. 
 To those residents of the street who oppose the scheme I can only assume that it is on financial grounds and would suggest that 
they use Kingsnorth Road or Belmont Road instead. I can see no other reason for opposing this scheme unless you have more than 
two vehicles. 
  
The proposals laid out in the letter sent by Swale Council seem reasonable to me. However, if individual bays are to be marked out I 
would ask how many spaces that will give the road. I would also question the wisdom of yellow lines outside the gates to 46 The 
Mall and the garage of 48 The Mall. No 46 already has lines marked up and a dropped curb to show it is an accessible entry point. 
The current owner often uses that space outside the gates to park (which is respected by users of the street) and to make that 
yellow lines would lose No 46 a space. 
  
Similarly, I would argue that the garage to No 48 The Mall should be marked up in the same way as No 46 to allow the space to 
remain usable to that household. 
  
Otherwise, I have no objections and would hope that the scheme will be implemented as soon as possible. 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
Faversham Town wide 20mph limit trial 
 
To: Swale Joint Transportation Board,  6 December 2021 
 
By: Tim Read – Head of Transportation, Kent County Council 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 
Summary 
 
This paper provides an update on the Faversham town-wide 20mph limit trial that 
was funded by the Department for Transport’s Emergency Active Travel Fund.  
 
This report is intended to enable discussion and to consider and debate the officer 
recommendation. 
 

 
 
1.0 Background 
 
1.1 Kent County Council (KCC) was awarded £1.6 million from the Department 

for Transport’s (DfT) Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) (tranche 1) to 
invest in walking and cycling initiatives across the County. This was in 
response to the Covid 19 pandemic and the social distancing restrictions that 
were in place, which reduced the capacity of public transport and sought to 
promote more active travel.  

 
1.2 Demand for cycling has been growing nationally, with cycling retailers 

experiencing high demand over the past 18 months. There has been an 
increasing demand across the County for area wide 20mph schemes. In 
response to the opportunity that the EATF presented a decision was made, 
by the KCC Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation, to progress 
East Kent and West Kent town-wide trials.  The project would enable KCC to 
assess how these schemes work for large scale areas before similar 
schemes are considered elsewhere. Tonbridge and Faversham were chosen 
as the trial areas.  KCC had been working with Faversham Town Council and 
a 20mph working group for some time and some progress had already been 
made with regard to assessing the suitability of key routes to be promoted as 
20mph limits. 

 
1.3 Due to the ‘emergency’ nature of the fund, the DfT informed all highway 

authorities that works must be started within four weeks of providing the 
funding, and then completed within eight weeks which meant the “go live” 
date for the trial needed to be in place by 18 September 2020. This was 
particularly challenging and took place during the height of the pandemic. 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



 
 

1.4 The trial was introduced through an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order 
(ETRO) which can be utilised for 18 months if required. This allows for 
changes to the highway to be implemented quickly with consultation taking 
place throughout the trial, whilst the public are experiencing the change. It 
also means KCC can test the impact and monitor to see how it performs.  
Another benefit of using an ETRO is that it allows for changes to be made 
during the trial as long as additional roads are not added, as these would not 
have been consulted on. 

 
1.5 The trial 20mph limit was agreed following discussion with Faversham Town 

Council who had set up a 20’s Plenty Committee and had been working 
closely with 20’s Plenty Faversham since 2015. The limit was defined on the 
ground using signing and road markings alone. No traffic calming measures 
such as buildouts or road cushions/humps were installed other than planters 
at Bysing Wood Road, Whitstable Road and The Mall at the gateway features 
to the 20mph limit. 

 
1.6 The aim of the town-wide 20mph speed limit is to reduce speeds and 

therefore create a more pleasant environment, one that would encourage and 
enable safer active travel, this in turn helps to support the sharing of road 
space with cyclists, especially where dedicated measures cannot be provided 
due to a lack of available highway land and other constraints. This scheme 
can support walking and cycling, as part of a range of network improvements 
which will be confirmed in the forthcoming borough Active Travel Strategy. 

 
1.7 Supporting walking and cycling especially for local journeys can also help to 

improve physical and mental health, reduce traffic congestion, contribute 
towards improved air quality and compliment ongoing infrastructure 
upgrades.  

 
1.8  The success of the trial was to be determined by analysing several sources 

of information, which include pre, during and post-trial surveys and other 
monitoring data: 

 

• Consultation feedback  

• Attitudinal surveys (face to face questionnaires – approx. 600). 

• Pedestrian counts  

• Cycle counts  

• Average speed levels  

• Crash data (although this needs to be over a longer period, usually 3 
years) 

 
1.9 It should be noted that the trial has been implemented in an extremely 

unusual year for collecting and analysing data, compared with previous years 
due to the pandemic, the restrictions that have been introduced and the 
implications these have had for travel demand and commuting patterns. In 
most cases only 8–10 months’ worth of data has been collected, the majority 
through the autumn, winter and spring months which historically do not 

Page 62



 
 

encourage take up of walking and cycling in England due to inclement 
weather. Despite having similar climates some other European countries 
currently have a higher propensity to cycle year-round and have better 
networks to support this.  

 
1.10 One of the aims of introducing the Town-wide 20mph speed limit as a trial 

and assessment methodology used is to learn how best to implement other 
town wide 20mph locations within Kent. 

 
1.11  A plan of the extent of the 20mph limit can be seen in Appendix A. The red 

outline identifies the extent of the trial area.  
 
2.0 The Consultation Report and feedback 
 
2.1 KCC commissioned Project Centre Ltd (PCL) to analyse the feedback 

received from the consultation and Agilysis Ltd to undertake an independent 
review and analysis of all the data being captured. The Agilysis Independent 
review can be seen in Appendix B and the full report by PCL can be seen in 
Appendix C of the Agilysis report.  

 
2.2  The consultation received 668 responses. The key findings are: 
 

• The majority of consultation respondents agreed with the idea of a 
town-wide 20mph scheme, with seven out of ten people noting that it 
will make Faversham safer. 

• In addition to improved safety, most people also agreed that the 
20mph limits will make Faversham safer (65%), healthier (61%) and 
cleaner (57%).  

• Some who supported the scheme also suggested extending the 
20mph limit.  

• 37% of respondents objected to the scheme, in comparison to the 63% 
who were in support. Of those who objected, their concerns included 
possible impacts on public safety and enforcement issues, as well as 
some suggestions for the exemption of certain streets which they felt 
were inappropriate for 20mph. 
 

2.3 13% of respondents said they were against a blanket wide 20mph speed limit 
with the following roads being mentioned as unsuitable:  

 

• Bysing Wood Road (24 mentions) 

• Whitstable road (11 mentions) 

• Dark Hill (4 mentions) 

• East Street (3 mentions) 

• Forbes Road, Newton Road, (2 mentions per road) 
 

 

Page 63



 
 

2.4 A few streets were mentioned that should be included within the 20mph 

extents. 

• Love Lane (7 mentions) 

• Ospringe Street (4 mentions) 

• Water Lane (2 mentions) 
 

 
3.0 Additional data analysis 
 
3.1  KCC commissioned Agilysis Ltd to do an independent analysis of the mixture 

of qualitative and quantitative data collected and make recommendations. 
The full report investigates and compares the 2 towns (Faversham and 
Tonbridge) data. It also looks at other examples of large area 20mph speed 
limits nationally and their findings and other local emerging strategies and 
how a lower speed limit may assist in their implementation such as the Active 
Travel Strategy. The full independent report can be seen in Appendix B. A 
‘Faversham Town only’ summary of that report can be seen in Appendix C.    

 
4.0 Attitudes – Qualitative Survey Data 
 
4.1 KCC commissioned Lake Market Research to conduct a research and 

evaluation study to monitor resident response in Faversham via a pre and 
during trial period face to face survey. The full report can be seen in Appendix 
H of the Agilysis report. 

 
4.2 Generally, attitudes towards 20mph limits and their impact were positive 

amongst Faversham respondents to the survey. Support was high in 
Faversham and agreement with the appropriateness of speed limits 
increased post-implementation. Faversham residents’ reasons for 
implementing 20mph limits were that they ‘increased safety’, ‘slow down 
traffic’ and are ‘better/safer for pedestrians’. 

 
4.3 Overall, there were high levels of agreement that 20mph limits act as a 

facilitator for safe walking and cycling  
 
4.4 Where there were concerns about 20mph limits, they were that a ‘blanket 

imposition is not welcome’, ‘30mph is adequate’ and ‘drivers ignore 20mph 
limits.’ Generally, negativity around driving and 20mph limits in Faversham 
did not increase during the trial, with no change in agreement that 20mph 
limits are ignored and a substantial decrease in agreement that 20mph limits 
make journey times ‘irritating’. 

 
4.5 The survey included pedestrian, cyclist and driver attitudes. There are 

positive attitudes that 20mph limits encourage more walking and cycling. This 
was reinforced by reported and observed behaviour. Over 23% of 
respondents said that their levels of walking had increased after the 20mph 
limit was installed and over 22% felt that there was more cycling occurring in 

Page 64



 
 

their area. Observed data does not show an increase in cycling in Kent but 
respondents stated that they were cycling more, and they were noticing more 
cycling in their towns. 

 
4.6 2% of those surveyed stated there was less walking and cycling occurring in 

their area. 
 
5.0 Speed Data 
 
5.1 Map 1 below shows the locations of the traffic counts (vehicles, pedestrians 

and cyclists) and speed surveys. The ATC data is collected via loops placed 
across the road, the Vivacity data is collected via sensors on various street 
lighting columns and the manual counts by visually counting movements of 
pedestrians and cyclists. 

 
Map 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 
 

5.2 Map 2 below shows telematic data with average speeds across Faversham 
between April 2020 and March 2021. Most roads in Faversham had average 
speeds below 20mph. Very few roads had average speeds above 24mph.  
Most roads saw reductions up to 5mph between 2019/20 and 2020/21. Some 
roads saw increases in average speeds although most were less than 5mph 
and all within roads that already had average speeds below 20mph and have 
low traffic volumes. 

 
Map 2 

 
 
 
5.3 The vast majority of roads in Faversham are already below the 24mph 

threshold for introducing a 20mph limit using signing and road marking alone. 
  
5.4 Table 1 shows the average speeds both before and after implementation of 

the 20mph speed limit as well as the observed difference in average speeds. 
 The table shows that all but 2 locations that were surveyed benefitted from 

speed reductions ranging from 0.6mph to 4.5mph.  
 

Page 66



 
 

5.5 KCC’s 20mph policy allows for a 20mph speed limit to be introduced where 
average speeds are up to 28mph but must be accompanied by additional 
innovative measures such as removal of centre lines, road surface colour 
changes, use of planters instead of physical buildouts, staggered on street 
parking etc. 

 
5.6 The roads surveyed in July 2021 which had speeds above 20mph previously 

all experienced decreases in speed, with only Oare Road now above 28mph 
and only Bysing Wood Road and Lower Road remaining above 24 mph.   

 
 5.7 Traffic profiles and comparisons of data sources can be seen in Appendix A, 

B and F of the Agilysis report.  
 

Table 1 

Location of ATC survey Sept 2017 
Speeds in 

mph 

Jul 21 
Speeds in mph 

Difference 
In mph 

Athelstan Road * 15.0 20.7 5.6 

Bysing Wood Road 27.9 26.3 -1.7 

Lower Road 26.0 24.9 -1.1 

Oare Road 32.4 29.0 -3.4 

Old Gate Road** 15.2 17.6 2.5 

Ospringe Road 26.1 23.5 -2.7 

Priory Row 18.7 17.5 -1.2 

Reedland Crescent 19.8 15.3 -4.5 

South Road 23.0 22.4 -0.6 

Stonebridge Way 20.0 18.8 -1.3 

The Mall 24.0 22.5 -1.5 

Westgate Road 17.6 16.5 -1.1 

Whitstable Road 22.9 22.2 -0.7 

 
 * Athelstan Road was used as rat run by traffic avoiding A2/A251 road works 

during July 2021. 
 ** Old Gate Road has low traffic volumes and at the point of survey, fairly 

straight in road alignment.  
 
6.0 Pedestrian and cycle counts – observed  
 
6.1 KCC commissioned PMRS to carry out pedestrian and cycle counts. The full 

report can be seen in Appendix I in the Agilysis report. Data was gathered 
from pedestrian and cyclist counts in June 2020, September/October 2020, 
December 2020 and June/July 2021. 

 
6.2 The main findings showed that there were recorded increases in pedestrian 

flows compared to the pre-trial baseline with Faversham recording a 5% 
increase between the June 2020 survey and the second survey in 

Page 67



 
 

September/October 2020, a 5% decrease between June 2020 and December 
2020 and an overall 18% increase between June 2020 and June/July 2021. 

 
6.3 Cycling counts over the same periods decreased by 1.8% between the July 

2020 survey and June/July 2021. 
 
6.4 Cycling counts appear to be more affected by time of year and weather than 

pedestrian counts. 
 
 
7.0 Recommendations 
 
7.1 The recommendation is to retain the full extent of the 20mph limit as per the 

trial extents. 
 
7.2 Overall the extended 20mph limit (trial area) will contribute to improvements 

in road safety (national statistics show that for every 1mph reduction in speed 
there is a minimum 5% or more reduction in the accident rate in urban 
areas1/2) and will aid the implementation of Kent’s Active Travel Strategy and 
emerging Vision Zero Strategy. The moderate speed reductions, increased 
pedestrian confidence and the small but significant self-reported uptake in 
active travel modes, suggest there is merit in retaining large parts of the limit 
without any further measures. 

 
7.3 There is, however, a need to achieve better compliance with the reduced 

speed limit on some roads, particularly those that have average speeds over 
24mph. Therefore, officers are recommending that investigations take place 
to see whether additional complimentary measures could be implemented to 
support this.  These may include education, training & publicity and/or 
potential engineering interventions. It is important to note that KCC has no 
dedicated funding to proceed with any interventions at this stage. 

 
7.4 Appendix G in the Agilysis report provides pre-trial crash map information. 

The map 3 below replicates the information and clearly shows the majority of 
incidents occur on the arterial/main routes into and out of Faversham Town 
as would be expected due to larger volumes and generally higher speeds 
than in residential areas. Post-trial crash data is not available at present since 
analysis of crash data takes place over a minimum 3-year period to see 
whether a pattern is occurring at specific cluster locations or there are 
changes in rates and/or severity on routes. A simple analysis of the data 
would suggest, assuming a minimum 5% reduction in the accident rate per 
1.0mph reduction in speed would equate to a 8.5 % reduction in accidents 
along Bysing Wood Road, 5.5% along Lower Road and 17% along Oare 
Road. 

 
1 Finch et al (1994) ‘TRL Project Report 58: Speed, Speed Limits and Accidents’ URL: 
https://trl.co.uk/reports/PR58 
2 Taylor et al (2002) ‘TRL Report 421: The Effects of Drivers Speed on the Frequency of 
Road Accidents’ URL: https://trl.co.uk/reports/TRL421 

Page 68



 
 

Map 3 

 
Reported Injury Collisions in Faversham (2015-2019) 

 
7.5 In order to achieve better compliance of the 20mph speed limit, it is 

recommended that the following roads should be further investigated to see if 
additional engineering or innovative measures could be introduced to achieve 
better speed compliance.  

 

• Bysing Wood Road – generally a wide, straight distributor road with 
wide footways and a shared footway/cycleway for much of its length 
where people and vehicles mix regularly.  

• Lower Road – generally a wide distributor road with footways either 
side where people and vehicles mix regularly 

• Oare Road – a mixed rural/urban/industrial road varying in width but 
with significant development being progressed. There are areas where 
pedestrian and vehicles do not mix but for consistency of a town wide 
20mph limit it would make sense to include Oare Road. 

• Newton Road – although not included within the ATC survey sites, 
local knowledge suggests that this road should also be included as it 
has a high number of pedestrians crossing it. 

Page 69



 
 

7.6 To support the existing and any future engineering measures proposed as 
well as contribute to positively changing behaviours in the longer term, a 
targeted behavioural change campaign is recommended which will aim to 
raise awareness, increase knowledge and positively influence intended 
behaviours. This is designed to promote the benefits of lower speeds to all 
road users and how a 20mph speed limit supports our collective progress 
towards Kent’s Active Travel and Vision Zero Strategies and Faversham’s 
emerging Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). 

 
  
 

Contact Officer: Jamie Watson, Programme Manager, Schemes Planning and 
Delivery Team, Kent County Council   03000 418181 

Reporting to: Tim Read, Head of Transportation, Kent County Council 03000 
418181 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Plan of extent of town-wide 20mph trial area 

Appendix B – Independent Evaluation and Review of 20mph Trials in Kent 

Appendix C – Independent Evaluation and Review of 20mph Trials Faversham 

Summary 

Page 70



Ordnance Survey (c) 2014. All rights reserved. Licence number xxxxxxxxxx

Drawing No.

Status

Designed

Drawing

Project

Client

These drawings have been produced with reference to the CDM
Regulations 2015; Regulation 9.

These Drawings are for planning approvals and are not to be
used for construction purposes.  It is the responsibility of the
contractor and client to identify risks associated with the
construction stage and to design appropriate measures to
mitigate.  The risks identified on the PJA Scheme Design Risk
Assessment are based on the information available at the time
of the design (drawing date) Where shown on PJA Design
Drawings, the position of services is based on information
provided by other parties at the time of the design and is for
guidance only.  It is the responsibility of the Client and
Contractor to verify the exact position of any services before
commencing works on site.

The client is directed to Regulation 4 of the CDM 2015
Regulations: Client duties in relation to managing projects

Rev Date Description Drawn Checked

File:  C:\Users\JohnMcQueen\AppData\Local\Temp\AcPublish_15964\04674-TR.dwg

Checked DateScale at A3

Revision

DRAFT

- - - - -

Faversham Town Council

20mph Limit

Proposed 20mph Limit Area

Sheet 00-01 of 59

04674-TR-C-00-01 Rev

For Discussion Only

NTS JY JMQ 13/02/2020

Spaces, 60 St Martin's Lane, London, WC2N 4JS

Tel:  020 3963 2740 | london@pja.co.uk | www.pja.co.uk

Notes:

1. All measurements in metres unless otherwise stated
2. Proposed waiting restriction, lamp column, drainage

and street furniture positions are indicative, exact
spec and location to be determined at developed and
detailed design stages

3. Concept has been drawn using OS base mapping

N

P
age 71

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Printing Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
LONDON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
ETHELBERT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
The Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
King George V Playing Field

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
149

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Hawthorne

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Wester Ross

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Little Croft

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Playground

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
ATHELSTAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
UPPER ST ANN'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Pavilion

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Tennis Courts

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
MOUNT FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Pantiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
The Mount

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Park View

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Salvador

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
The Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Forehoe

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
St Mary's

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Beverley

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
The Gables

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Dene

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
Langton

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
Laetus

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
Mountfield

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Perry Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Oastings

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
The Oast

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Ash Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
Greenways

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
BROGDALE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
1 to 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
OSPRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
BROGDALE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
BROGDALE PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
Samandra

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
CAMBRIDGE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
5a

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
Quayside

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
MS

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
FAIRWAYS

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
Hospital

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
Tudor

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
1 to 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
Allotment Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
Bakery

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
MP 51.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
Waterstone Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
Ashdown

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
Fern Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
OSPRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
LONDON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
Maison

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
Orchard House

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
SHEERWAYS

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
(remains of)

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
9 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
5 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
GROVE PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
LION YARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
45 to 49

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
Holly

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
Lindfield Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
THE

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
Dieu

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
GROVE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
St Mary's

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
1 to 38

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
OSPRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
The New

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
Miller's

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
Chy

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
Laurel Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
Pump

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
School

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
Karussel

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
MUTTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
Queen Court Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
Silo

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
Zandweg

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
Row

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
Dawson's

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
WATER LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
Arbory

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
Thatch

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
Old

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
View

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
Queen Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
VICARAGE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
St Paul's Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
Mount

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
Flint

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
MUTTON LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
Court Barn

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
St Peter and

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
Lych Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
Vicarage

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
Queen

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
Queen Court Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
WATER LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
Ospringe

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
Church of England

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
D Fn

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
Gregory Mews

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
1 to 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
Solomons Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
Solomons Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
Railway

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
Wesley Mews

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
121 123

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
15 to 19

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
ETHELRED

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
The Haven

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
6 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
EGBERT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
1c

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
Old School

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
28a

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
11 to 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
HAROLD

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
ATHELSTAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
ETHELBERT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
Ethelbert Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
FORBES

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
55a

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
Rose Terrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
FORGE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
Aries

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
Tall Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
Preston

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
Raglans

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
2b

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
2d

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
ST CATHERINE'S DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
Pile

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
Linden

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
Montgreenan

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
PRESTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
Thatched

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
MS

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
Ivy

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
2c

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
PRESTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
CANTERBURY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
Cherry

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
Atherfold

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
HILTON CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
Mill House

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
Football Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
Mill Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
SALTERS LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
WESTWOOD PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
Stands

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
Refuse Collection

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
Tariff Reform

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
Stands

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
ROMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
Stands

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
Ambulance

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
(Faversham Town FC)

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
15a

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
Sloping Masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
The Windmill

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
FINCH CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
Scrapyard

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
Stable Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
Anglo-Saxon Burial Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
FS

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
PRESTON LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
Preston Malt House

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
Vicarage

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
Preston Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
CANUTE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
39a

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
Delbridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
Nelson

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
Valhalla

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
Terrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
1 to 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
FORBES ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
Bungalow

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
1b

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
MP 52

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
Tennis Courts

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
PARK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
St Catherine's Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
BEAUMONT

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
ST JOHN'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
ST MARY'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
Lower Roundell

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
Sunday School

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
Bowling Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
Kingston House

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
Grovenor Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
Upper Roundell

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
63a

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
Faversham Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
CHAPEL STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
Pavilion

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
THE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
THE MALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
MP 51.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
ALDRED ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
Shadows

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
BELMONT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
Belmont

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
KINGSNORTH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
S Gantry

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
George House

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
Mall House

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
Wreights Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
Wreights House

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
2b

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
The Workshop

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
Sand Drag

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
Builders

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
1 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
NELSON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
CANTERBURY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
Tower

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
(course of)

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
Preston

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
ROMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
PRESTON GROVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
49a

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
Inn

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
Builders Merchants

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
Nelson Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
Trough

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
EDITH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
Laundry

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
Fire Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
School

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
Tennis Courts

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
BEAUMONT DAVY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
ASHFORD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
The Abbey School

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
The Abbey

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
Sports Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
LONDON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
Perry Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
Nightingale Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
SCHOOL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
1b

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
CANTERBURY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
L Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
AMBLESIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
BRAMLEY AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
59 to 73

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
Merondale

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
Broxholme

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
Acres

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
LOVE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
Cemetery

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
CANTERBURY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
ETL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
Footbridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
17 to 19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
The Goods Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
Recreation

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
MP 52.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
SPICKETT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
LES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
MP 52.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
FS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
PCs

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
JUBILEE WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
SHUNTERS CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
SIDINGS CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
EDWARD VINSON DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
54 to 64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
29 to 33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
24 to 40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
THOMAS NEAME AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
158

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
28 to 32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
66 to 76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
7 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
113 to 125

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
87 to 101

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
127 to 143

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
155 to 169

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
193 to 207

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
171 to 185

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
128 to 144

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
170 to 174

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
1 to 11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
23 to 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
86 to 96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
GEORGE STEWART AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
164 to 168

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
2 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
EDWARD VINSON DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
98 to 108

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
30 to 34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
Chapel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
LOVE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
75 to 89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
Lady Dane Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
71 to 85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
Lady Dane Farmhouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
17a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
43 to 57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
11a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
MP 52.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
ENNERDALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
WINDERMERE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
52a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
Ellison

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
BUTTERMERE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
BRAMLEY AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
Makenade Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
MAKENADE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
18A

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
MAKENADE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
Ivy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
WORCESTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
PRESTON AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
Laxton Way

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
Bramley Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
RUSSET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
Laxton Way

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
Cricket Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
Clair-de-Lune

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
Kearsney

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
Carey Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
Holmsdale

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
Macknade Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
Macknade Farm Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
CANTERBURY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
Grendon

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
ROMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
Macknade

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
Melrose

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
SELLING ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
BLENHEIM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
Drury Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
Coach

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
Preston Lea

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
Pavilion

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
Stile Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
Speldhurst

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
ROMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
Whyte

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
Corner Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
Moonbeams

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
Filling

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
Manor

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
LAXTON WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
MP 52.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
Narboths Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
ORCHARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
COTTAGES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
MILLFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
MILLFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
Factory

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
ABBEY FIELDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
ABBEY FIELDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
Allotment Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
MILLFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
CLUNY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
WHITSTABLE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
CHENEY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
163

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
ABBOTS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
168

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
155b

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
155d

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
143

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
1 to 11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
THOMAS NEAME

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
133

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
Bakery

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
Recreation Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
WHITSTABLE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
Queen Elizabeth II

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
Jubilee Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
GASKIN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1402
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1403
229

AutoCAD SHX Text_1404
EDWARD VINSON DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1405
EDWARD VINSON DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1406
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1407
2 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1408
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1409
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1410
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1411
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1412
209

AutoCAD SHX Text_1413
215

AutoCAD SHX Text_1414
217

AutoCAD SHX Text_1415
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1416
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1417
1 to 11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1418
2 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1419
196 to 200

AutoCAD SHX Text_1420
190 to 194

AutoCAD SHX Text_1421
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1422
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1423
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1424
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1425
Nursing Home

AutoCAD SHX Text_1426
184 to 188

AutoCAD SHX Text_1427
178

AutoCAD SHX Text_1428
182

AutoCAD SHX Text_1429
JUBILEE WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1430
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1431
219

AutoCAD SHX Text_1432
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1433
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1434
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1435
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1436
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_1437
ABBOTS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1438
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1439
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1440
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_1441
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1442
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1443
Chy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1444
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1445
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1446
155a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1447
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1448
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1449
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1450
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1451
174

AutoCAD SHX Text_1452
157

AutoCAD SHX Text_1453
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1454
GRAVENEY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1455
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1456
MP 52.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1457
155c

AutoCAD SHX Text_1458
149

AutoCAD SHX Text_1459
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1460
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1461
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1462
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1463
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1464
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1465
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1466
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_1467
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1468
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1469
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1470
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1471
153

AutoCAD SHX Text_1472
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1473
Playing Field

AutoCAD SHX Text_1474
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1475
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1476
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1477
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1478
33 to 43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1479
45 to 61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1480
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1481
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1482
43a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1483
Beggars

AutoCAD SHX Text_1484
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1485
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1486
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1487
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1488
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1489
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1490
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1491
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1492
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1493
CENTURY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1494
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1495
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1496
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1497
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1498
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1499
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1500
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1501
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1502
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_1503
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1504
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1505
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1506
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1507
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1508
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1509
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1510
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1511
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1512
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1513
a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1514
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1515
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1516
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1517
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1518
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1519
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1520
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1521
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1522
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1523
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1524
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1525
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1526
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1527
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1528
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1529
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1530
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1531
CYPRUS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1532
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1533
ARDEN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1534
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1535
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1536
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1537
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1538
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1539
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1540
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1541
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1542
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_1543
Century House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1544
1 to 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1545
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1546
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1547
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1548
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1549
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1550
Chesa

AutoCAD SHX Text_1551
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1552
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1553
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1554
Redroof

AutoCAD SHX Text_1555
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1556
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1557
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1558
ST SAVIOUR'S CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1559
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1560
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1561
GORDON SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1562
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1563
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1564
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1565
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1566
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1567
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1568
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1569
Cyprus

AutoCAD SHX Text_1570
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1571
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1572
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1573
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1574
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1575
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1576
GORDON SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1577
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1578
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1579
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1580
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1581
Gordon Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_1582
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1583
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1584
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1585
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1586
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1587
ABBEY FIELDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1588
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1589
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1590
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1591
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1592
GORDON SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1593
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1594
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1595
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1596
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_1597
GORDON

AutoCAD SHX Text_1598
Roost

AutoCAD SHX Text_1599
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1600
Silvalin

AutoCAD SHX Text_1601
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1602
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1603
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1604
Lorien

AutoCAD SHX Text_1605
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1606
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1607
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1608
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1609
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1610
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1611
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1612
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1613
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1614
MINSTER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1615
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1616
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1617
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1618
Newhaven

AutoCAD SHX Text_1619
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1620
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1621
Wychelm

AutoCAD SHX Text_1622
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1623
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1624
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1625
BOB AMOR CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1626
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1627
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1628
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1629
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1630
Gospel Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1631
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1632
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1633
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1634
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1635
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1636
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1637
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1638
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1639
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1640
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1641
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1642
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1643
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1644
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1645
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1646
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1647
30b

AutoCAD SHX Text_1648
30c

AutoCAD SHX Text_1649
30d

AutoCAD SHX Text_1650
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1651
Abbeyfields Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1652
1 to 39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1653
Century

AutoCAD SHX Text_1654
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1655
CHAMBERS WHARF LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1656
MHW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1657
Standard House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1658
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_1659
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_1660
Sluice

AutoCAD SHX Text_1661
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1662
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1663
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1664
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1665
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1666
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1667
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1668
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1669
NEW CREEK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1670
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1671
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1672
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1673
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1674
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1675
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1676
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1677
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1678
Nether

AutoCAD SHX Text_1679
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1680
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1681
MLW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1682
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_1683
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1684
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1685
GORDON SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1686
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1687
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1688
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1689
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1690
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1691
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1692
CHARLES

AutoCAD SHX Text_1693
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1694
Park Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_1695
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1696
COLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1697
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1698
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1699
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1700
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1701
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1702
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1703
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1704
ABBEY FIELDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1705
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1706
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1707
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1708
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1709
Sommerville Close

AutoCAD SHX Text_1710
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1711
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1712
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1713
ABBEY FIELDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1714
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1715
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1716
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1717
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1718
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1719
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1720
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1721
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1722
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1723
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1724
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1725
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1726
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1727
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1728
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1729
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1730
GORDON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1731
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1732
Abbey

AutoCAD SHX Text_1733
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1734
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1735
Sewage Pumping Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_1736
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1737
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1738
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1739
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1740
Gordon Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_1741
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1742
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1743
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1744
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1745
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1746
Playing Field

AutoCAD SHX Text_1747
Mean High Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_1748
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1749
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1750
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1751
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1752
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1753
Television Relay Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_1754
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_1755
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1756
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1757
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1758
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1759
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1760
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1761
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1762
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1763
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1764
LUTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1765
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1766
WESTGATE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1767
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1768
DRAYSON

AutoCAD SHX Text_1769
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1770
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1771
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1772
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1773
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1774
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1775
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1776
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1777
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1778
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1779
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1780
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1781
30a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1782
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1783
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1784
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1785
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1786
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1787
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1788
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1789
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1790
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1791
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1792
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1793
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_1794
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_1795
Park View Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1796
1 to 37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1797
St Mary

AutoCAD SHX Text_1798
of Charity

AutoCAD SHX Text_1799
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_1800
Park Row

AutoCAD SHX Text_1801
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1802
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1803
Presbytery

AutoCAD SHX Text_1804
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_1805
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1806
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1807
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1808
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1809
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1810
Ppg Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1811
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1812
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1813
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1814
Terrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_1815
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1816
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1817
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_1818
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1819
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1820
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1821
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1822
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1823
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1824
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1825
Brentleigh

AutoCAD SHX Text_1826
RC Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_1827
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1828
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1829
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1830
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1831
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1832
Hayes Barton

AutoCAD SHX Text_1833
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1834
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1835
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1836
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1837
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1838
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1839
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1840
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1841
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1842
The Bungalow

AutoCAD SHX Text_1843
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1844
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1845
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1846
NIGHTINGALE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1847
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1848
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1849
CAVOUR ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1850
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1851
Fairlight

AutoCAD SHX Text_1852
Almshouses

AutoCAD SHX Text_1853
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1854
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1855
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1856
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1857
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1858
MILLSTREAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1859
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1860
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1861
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1862
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1863
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1864
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1865
Hillside

AutoCAD SHX Text_1866
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1867
Our Lady of

AutoCAD SHX Text_1868
Grey Lyn

AutoCAD SHX Text_1869
Mount Carmel

AutoCAD SHX Text_1870
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1871
Passage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1872
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1873
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_1874
54a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1875
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1876
Lime

AutoCAD SHX Text_1877
Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_1878
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1879
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1880
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1881
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1882
DAVINGTON HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text_1883
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1884
SD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1885
Lych Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_1886
PRIORY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1887
Davington

AutoCAD SHX Text_1888
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1889
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1890
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1891
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1892
DAVINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_1893
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1894
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_1895
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1896
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1897
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1898
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1899
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1900
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1901
GRANVILLE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1902
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_1903
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1904
The Stables

AutoCAD SHX Text_1905
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1906
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1907
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1908
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1909
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_1910
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1911
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1912
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_1913
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1914
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1915
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1916
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_1917
ELLIOTS PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1918
Tks

AutoCAD SHX Text_1919
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1920
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_1921
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1922
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1923
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_1924
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1925
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1926
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1927
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1928
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1929
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1930
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1931
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1932
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1933
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1934
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1935
The Coach

AutoCAD SHX Text_1936
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1937
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1938
Wesley

AutoCAD SHX Text_1939
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1940
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1941
Warren House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1942
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1943
Denmark Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_1944
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1945
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1946
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1947
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1948
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1949
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1950
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1951
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1952
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1953
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1954
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1955
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1956
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1957
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1958
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1959
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_1960
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1961
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1962
UNION STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_1963
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1964
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1965
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1966
War Memorial

AutoCAD SHX Text_1967
Health Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_1968
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1969
5a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1970
RUNNYMEDE MEWS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1971
11a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1972
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1973
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1974
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1975
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1976
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1977
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1978
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1979
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1980
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1981
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1982
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1983
Faversham

AutoCAD SHX Text_1984
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1985
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1986
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1987
NAPLETON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1988
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1989
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1990
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1991
Swimming Pool

AutoCAD SHX Text_1992
Cross Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_1993
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1994
SOUTH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1995
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1996
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1997
Cherry Croft

AutoCAD SHX Text_1998
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1999
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2000
Villa

AutoCAD SHX Text_2001
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2002
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2003
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2004
HATCH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2005
Chapel

AutoCAD SHX Text_2006
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2007
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2008
Cottage Hospital

AutoCAD SHX Text_2009
BANK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2010
STONE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2011
Temperance

AutoCAD SHX Text_2012
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2013
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2014
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2015
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2016
LESLIE SMITH DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2017
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2018
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2019
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2020
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2021
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2022
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2023
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2024
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2025
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2026
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2027
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_2028
8a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2029
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2030
Youth Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_2031
5b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2032
The Queen's

AutoCAD SHX Text_2033
Telephone Exchange

AutoCAD SHX Text_2034
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2035
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2036
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2037
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2038
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2039
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2040
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2041
VICTORIA PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2042
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2043
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2044
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2045
FIELDING STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2046
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2047
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2048
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2049
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2050
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2051
NORMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2052
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2053
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2054
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2055
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2056
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2057
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2058
Mission

AutoCAD SHX Text_2059
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2060
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2061
Orchard House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2062
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2063
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2064
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2065
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2066
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2067
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2068
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2069
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2070
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2071
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2072
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2073
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2074
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2075
PLANTATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2076
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2077
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2078
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2079
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2080
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2081
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2082
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2083
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2084
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2085
ROMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2086
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2087
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2088
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2089
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2090
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2091
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2092
BRITON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2093
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2094
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2095
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2096
9a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2097
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2098
Vicarage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2099
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2100
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_2101
FIELDING STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2102
9b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2103
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2104
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2105
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2106
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2107
SAXON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2108
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2109
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2110
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2111
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2112
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2113
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2114
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2115
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2116
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2117
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2118
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2119
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2120
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_2121
11b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2122
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2123
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2124
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2125
13a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2126
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2127
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2128
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2129
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2130
ALBION

AutoCAD SHX Text_2131
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2132
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2133
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2134
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2135
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2136
(private)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2137
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2138
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2139
9a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2140
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2141
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2142
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2143
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2144
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2145
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2146
5c-5d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2147
2b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2148
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2149
2d

AutoCAD SHX Text_2150
2c

AutoCAD SHX Text_2151
DORSET PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2152
2E

AutoCAD SHX Text_2153
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2154
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2155
Spillett

AutoCAD SHX Text_2156
Close

AutoCAD SHX Text_2157
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2158
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_2159
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2160
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2161
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2162
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2163
KING'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2164
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2165
Hidden

AutoCAD SHX Text_2166
Meadow

AutoCAD SHX Text_2167
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2168
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2169
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2170
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2171
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2172
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2173
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2174
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2175
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2176
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_2177
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2178
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2179
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2180
Builders Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_2181
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2182
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2183
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2184
20a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2185
Ps

AutoCAD SHX Text_2186
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2187
The Old School

AutoCAD SHX Text_2188
1to2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2189
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2190
3a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2191
Library

AutoCAD SHX Text_2192
John Anderson Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2193
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_2194
Queens Parade

AutoCAD SHX Text_2195
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2196
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2197
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_2198
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_2199
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2200
110a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2201
27a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2202
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_2203
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2204
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2205
ST JOHN'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2206
PCs

AutoCAD SHX Text_2207
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2208
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2209
PARK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2210
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2211
111a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2212
PW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2213
ST MARY'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2214
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2215
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2216
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2217
EAST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2218
16a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2219
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2220
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2221
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2222
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2223
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_2224
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2225
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2226
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2227
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2228
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2229
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2230
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2231
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_2232
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2233
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_2234
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2235
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_2236
20b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2237
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_2238
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2239
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2240
INSTITUTE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2241
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2242
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2243
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2244
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2245
1 to 28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2246
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2247
Pavilion

AutoCAD SHX Text_2248
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2249
County Council

AutoCAD SHX Text_2250
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_2251
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2252
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2253
Employment Ex

AutoCAD SHX Text_2254
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2255
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2256
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2257
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2258
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2259
Police

AutoCAD SHX Text_2260
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_2261
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2262
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2263
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2264
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2265
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2266
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_2267
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2268
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_2269
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2270
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2271
16b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2272
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2273
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2274
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2275
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2276
Office

AutoCAD SHX Text_2277
CHURCH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2278
WILLIAM STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2279
3to4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2280
111b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2281
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_2282
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2283
39a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2284
MHW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2285
Sluice

AutoCAD SHX Text_2286
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2287
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2288
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2289
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2290
BARNFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2291
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2292
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2293
Davington Manor

AutoCAD SHX Text_2294
Ravenscourt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2295
Cooling Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_2296
PRIORY ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2297
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2298
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2299
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2300
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2301
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_2302
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2303
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2304
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2305
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2306
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2307
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2308
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2309
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2310
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2311
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2312
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2313
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2314
St Mary Magdalene's Priory

AutoCAD SHX Text_2315
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2316
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2317
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2318
& St Lawrence's

AutoCAD SHX Text_2319
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2320
BRENT HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2321
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2322
FLOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2323
REEDLAND CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2324
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2325
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2326
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2327
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2328
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2329
St Mary Magdalene

AutoCAD SHX Text_2330
Sluice

AutoCAD SHX Text_2331
Brent Hill Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_2332
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_2333
NTL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2334
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2335
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2336
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2337
Oast Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_2338
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2339
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_2340
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2341
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2342
CASLOCKE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2343
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2344
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2345
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2346
Twyman's Mill

AutoCAD SHX Text_2347
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2348
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2349
Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_2350
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_2351
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2352
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_2353
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2354
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2355
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2356
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2357
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2358
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2359
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2360
Ravenscourt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2361
Barn

AutoCAD SHX Text_2362
East

AutoCAD SHX Text_2363
Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_2364
Footbridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_2365
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2366
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2367
Tavern

AutoCAD SHX Text_2368
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2369
17 16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2370
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2371
Mean High Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_2372
Mean High Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_2373
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2374
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2375
Pumping Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_2376
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_2377
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2378
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2379
39a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2380
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_2381
The Tun House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2382
1 to 11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2383
1 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2384
Chapel

AutoCAD SHX Text_2385
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2386
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_2387
Superstore

AutoCAD SHX Text_2388
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2389
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2390
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2391
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2392
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2393
FRONT BRENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2394
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2395
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2396
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2397
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2398
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2399
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2400
Provender

AutoCAD SHX Text_2401
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2402
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2403
37 to 40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2404
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2405
Brewery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2406
LAMMAS GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2407
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2408
ABBEY STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2409
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2410
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2411
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2412
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2413
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2414
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2415
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2416
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2417
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2418
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2419
ABBEY PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2420
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2421
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2422
Smack Alley

AutoCAD SHX Text_2423
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2424
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_2425
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2426
UPPER BRENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2427
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2428
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2429
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2430
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2431
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2432
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2433
STONEDANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2434
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2435
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2436
COURT STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2437
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2438
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2439
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2440
62c

AutoCAD SHX Text_2441
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2442
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2443
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2444
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2445
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2446
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2447
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_2448
4 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2449
Marina

AutoCAD SHX Text_2450
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_2451
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2452
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2453
Cluniac

AutoCAD SHX Text_2454
St Saviour's Abbey

AutoCAD SHX Text_2455
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2456
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2457
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_2458
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_2459
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2460
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2461
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2462
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2463
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2464
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2465
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2466
BROOMFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2467
Brents

AutoCAD SHX Text_2468
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2469
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2470
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2471
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2472
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2473
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2474
Shop

AutoCAD SHX Text_2475
Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_2476
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2477
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2478
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2479
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2480
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_2481
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2482
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2483
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2484
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2485
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2486
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2487
Corner

AutoCAD SHX Text_2488
Old

AutoCAD SHX Text_2489
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2490
Fighting Cocks

AutoCAD SHX Text_2491
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2492
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2493
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2494
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2495
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2496
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2497
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2498
Mean High Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_2499
WOODGATE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2500
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2501
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_2502
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2503
BRAMBLEHILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2504
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2505
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2506
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2507
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2508
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2509
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2510
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2511
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2512
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2513
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2514
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2515
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2516
Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2517
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2518
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2519
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_2520
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2521
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2522
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2523
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2524
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2525
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2526
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2527
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2528
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2529
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2530
PARTRIDGE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2531
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_2532
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2533
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_2534
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2535
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2536
West

AutoCAD SHX Text_2537
Beaute

AutoCAD SHX Text_2538
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2539
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2540
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2541
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2542
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2543
MLW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2544
Mean Low Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_2545
MLW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2546
MoP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2547
Monks Granary

AutoCAD SHX Text_2548
ABBEY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2549
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2550
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2551
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2552
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2553
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2554
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2555
1 to 32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2556
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2557
Nortide House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2558
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2559
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2560
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2561
28b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2562
7b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2563
7c

AutoCAD SHX Text_2564
6a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2565
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2566
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2567
16a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2568
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_2569
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2570
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2571
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2572
Jacob Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_2573
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_2574
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2575
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2576
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2577
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2578
The Old Grain

AutoCAD SHX Text_2579
6b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2580
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_2581
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2582
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2583
6a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2584
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2585
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2586
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2587
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2588
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2589
PCs

AutoCAD SHX Text_2590
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_2591
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2592
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2593
GARFIELD PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2594
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2595
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2596
38b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2597
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2598
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2599
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2600
The Old Corn

AutoCAD SHX Text_2601
Bakery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2602
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2603
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_2604
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2605
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2606
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2607
1 to 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2608
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2609
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2610
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2611
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2612
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2613
33 to 43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2614
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2615
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2616
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_2617
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2618
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2619
23a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2620
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2621
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_2622
Offices)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2623
The Old Bakery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2624
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2625
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2626
The Tudor

AutoCAD SHX Text_2627
1 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2628
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2629
Exchange

AutoCAD SHX Text_2630
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2631
Museum

AutoCAD SHX Text_2632
PRESTON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2633
Limes Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_2634
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_2635
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2636
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2637
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_2638
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2639
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2640
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2641
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2642
20 to 22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2643
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2644
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2645
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2646
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2647
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2648
38a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2649
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2650
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2651
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2652
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2653
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2654
Store

AutoCAD SHX Text_2655
3 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2656
Alexander

AutoCAD SHX Text_2657
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2658
Back Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_2659
(Borough

AutoCAD SHX Text_2660
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2661
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2662
19a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2663
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2664
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2665
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2666
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2667
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2668
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2669
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2670
MIDDLE ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2671
Herbert Dane

AutoCAD SHX Text_2672
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2673
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2674
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2675
Council

AutoCAD SHX Text_2676
MARKET PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2677
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_2678
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_2679
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2680
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_2681
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2682
Twr

AutoCAD SHX Text_2683
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2684
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2685
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2686
60 to 63

AutoCAD SHX Text_2687
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2688
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2689
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2690
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2691
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2692
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2693
Cross Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_2694
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_2695
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2696
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2697
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2698
7 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2699
a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2700
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2701
78a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2702
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2703
Surgery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2704
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2705
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2706
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2707
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2708
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2709
8 to 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2710
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2711
67 to 68

AutoCAD SHX Text_2712
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_2713
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2714
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2715
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_2716
Information

AutoCAD SHX Text_2717
Tourist

AutoCAD SHX Text_2718
GATEFIELD LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2719
Gatefield Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_2720
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2721
P

AutoCAD SHX Text_2722
(Benedictine Nuns, founded AD 1153)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2723
49b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2724
Rose

AutoCAD SHX Text_2725
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_2726
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_2727
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2728
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2729
Vicarage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2730
BARNFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2731
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2732
Ravenscourt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2733
Hillside

AutoCAD SHX Text_2734
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2735
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_2736
Remains of

AutoCAD SHX Text_2737
NTL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2738
Brent Hill

AutoCAD SHX Text_2739
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2740
SEVENACRE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2741
Bungalow

AutoCAD SHX Text_2742
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2743
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2744
Allotment Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_2745
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2746
Playing Field

AutoCAD SHX Text_2747
Tk

AutoCAD SHX Text_2748
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2749
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2750
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2751
REEDLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text_2752
The Lawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_2753
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2754
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2755
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2756
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2757
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2758
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2759
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2760
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2761
43a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2762
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2763
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2764
Vine

AutoCAD SHX Text_2765
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2766
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2767
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2768
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2769
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2770
a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2771
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2772
MENDFIELD STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2773
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2774
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2775
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2776
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2777
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2778
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2779
WEST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2780
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_2781
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2782
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2783
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2784
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2785
BECKETT STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2786
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2787
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2788
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2789
5a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2790
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2791
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_2792
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2793
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2794
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2795
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2796
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2797
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2798
a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2799
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2800
Barn

AutoCAD SHX Text_2801
West

AutoCAD SHX Text_2802
Ravenscourt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2803
33a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2804
Barnfield

AutoCAD SHX Text_2805
Cotts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2806
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2807
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2808
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2809
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2810
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2811
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2812
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2813
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2814
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2815
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_2816
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2817
49a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2818
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2819
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2820
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2821
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2822
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2823
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2824
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2825
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2826
TANNERS STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2827
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2828
Westbrook Walk

AutoCAD SHX Text_2829
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2830
Reeves

AutoCAD SHX Text_2831
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2832
Creek House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2833
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2834
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_2835
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2836
Gallery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2837
Art

AutoCAD SHX Text_2838
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_2839
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_2840
Faversham Creek Hotel

AutoCAD SHX Text_2841
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2842
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2843
Belvedere Wharf

AutoCAD SHX Text_2844
GOLDINGS WHARF

AutoCAD SHX Text_2845
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2846
Standard

AutoCAD SHX Text_2847
Whitbread House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2848
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_2849
Old Brewery Lofts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2850
1 to 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2851
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_2852
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_2853
Millers Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_2854
(secondary)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2855
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2856
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2857
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_2858
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2859
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2860
Abbey

AutoCAD SHX Text_2861
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2862
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2863
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2864
Abbey Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2865
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2866
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2867
VICARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2868
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2869
Swing-

AutoCAD SHX Text_2870
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2871
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2872
MoPs

AutoCAD SHX Text_2873
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2874
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2875
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2876
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2877
Granary

AutoCAD SHX Text_2878
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2879
BELVEDERE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2880
QUAY LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2881
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2882
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2883
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2884
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2885
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2886
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2887
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_2888
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2889
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2890
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2891
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2892
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2893
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2894
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2895
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2896
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2897
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2898
Brewery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2899
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_2900
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2901
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2902
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_2903
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2904
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_2905
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2906
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2907
BRENT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2908
Vicarage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2909
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2910
Weston

AutoCAD SHX Text_2911
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2912
Faversham Creek

AutoCAD SHX Text_2913
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2914
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2915
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2916
Chy

AutoCAD SHX Text_2917
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2918
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2919
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2920
FS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2921
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_2922
KENNEDY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2923
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2924
Jetty

AutoCAD SHX Text_2925
Standard

AutoCAD SHX Text_2926
BRIDGE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2927
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2928
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2929
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2930
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_2931
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2932
FAVERSHAM REACH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2933
St Saviours

AutoCAD SHX Text_2934
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2935
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2936
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2937
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2938
(Benedictine Founded 1148)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2939
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2940
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2941
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2942
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2943
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2944
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_2945
CHURCH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2946
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2947
CRISPIN CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2948
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2949
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2950
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2951
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_2952
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2953
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2954
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2955
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_2956
The Maltings

AutoCAD SHX Text_2957
The Anchor

AutoCAD SHX Text_2958
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2959
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2960
Remains of

AutoCAD SHX Text_2961
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_2962
MoPs

AutoCAD SHX Text_2963
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_2964
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_2965
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2966
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_2967
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2968
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2969
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2970
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2971
St John's

AutoCAD SHX Text_2972
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2973
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2974
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2975
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2976
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2977
Masonic Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2978
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2979
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_2980
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2981
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2982
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2983
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_2984
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2985
REEDLAND CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2986
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_2987
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2988
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2989
BROOMFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2990
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2991
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2992
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2993
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2994
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2995
BELVEDERE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2996
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2997
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2998
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2999
MLW

AutoCAD SHX Text_3000
Willow Tap Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_3001
PERRY'S CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3002
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3003
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3004
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3005
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3006
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3007
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3008
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3009
6 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3010
Belvedere

AutoCAD SHX Text_3011
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_3012
Provender

AutoCAD SHX Text_3013
Creek

AutoCAD SHX Text_3014
1 to 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3015
The Quays

AutoCAD SHX Text_3016
Wharf

AutoCAD SHX Text_3017
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3018
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3019
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3020
Mill

AutoCAD SHX Text_3021
1 to 7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3022
Quayside

AutoCAD SHX Text_3023
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3024
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3025
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3026
62a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3027
Queen Elizabeth's

AutoCAD SHX Text_3028
Grammar School

AutoCAD SHX Text_3029
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3030
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3031
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3032
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3033
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3034
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3035
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3036
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3037
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3038
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_3039
CONDUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3040
Priory

AutoCAD SHX Text_3041
Davington Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_3042
Bramble

AutoCAD SHX Text_3043
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3044
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_3045
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3046
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3047
Davington

AutoCAD SHX Text_3048
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3049
WEST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_3050
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3051
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3052
Stonebridge Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_3053
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3054
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3055
Troika

AutoCAD SHX Text_3056
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_3057
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_3058
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3059
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3060
Curtis Way

AutoCAD SHX Text_3061
MONKS ALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3062
2 to 18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3063
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3064
Gange Mews

AutoCAD SHX Text_3065
Hugh Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_3066
West Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_3067
East Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_3068
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3069
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3070
Pp

AutoCAD SHX Text_3071
MHW

AutoCAD SHX Text_3072
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_3073
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_3074
The Brewhouse

AutoCAD SHX Text_3075
1b

AutoCAD SHX Text_3076
1c

AutoCAD SHX Text_3077
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3078
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_3079
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3080
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3081
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3082
St Mary of Charity Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_3083
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3084
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3085
THOMAS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3086
12 to 15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3087
MARKET STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_3088
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3089
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3090
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3091
11a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3092
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3093
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3094
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_3095
Bedlington Square

AutoCAD SHX Text_3096
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3097
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3098
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3099
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_3100
3a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3101
St Mary Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_3102
Conveyor

AutoCAD SHX Text_3103
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_3104
Mean High Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_3105
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3106
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3107
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_3108
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3109
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3110
202 to 216

AutoCAD SHX Text_3111
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3112
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_3113
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3114
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3115
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3116
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_3117
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3118
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3119
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3120
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3121
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3122
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3123
Back Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_3124
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3125
102 to 120

AutoCAD SHX Text_3126
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3127
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3128
The Ship

AutoCAD SHX Text_3129
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_3130
302 to 304

AutoCAD SHX Text_3131
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3132
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3133
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3134
1 to 16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3135
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3136
7a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3137
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3138
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3139
Cooksditch House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3140
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3141
ORCHARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3142
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3143
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3144
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3145
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3146
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3147
William Gibbs Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_3148
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_3149
Town Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_3150
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3151
5a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3152
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3153
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3154
Street

AutoCAD SHX Text_3155
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text_3156
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3157
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_3158
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3159
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3160
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3161
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3162
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3163
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3164
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3165
Arden Theatre

AutoCAD SHX Text_3166
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_3167
NORTH LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3168
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3169
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_3170
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_3171
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3172
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_3173
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3174
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_3175
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3176
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text_3177
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3178
Chequers

AutoCAD SHX Text_3179
Barn

AutoCAD SHX Text_3180
1-7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3181
Plane Tree Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_3182
Hugh House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3183
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3184
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3185
4 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3186
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3187
Jacob Villas

AutoCAD SHX Text_3188
10 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3189
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3190
Flint

AutoCAD SHX Text_3191
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3192
1 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3193
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3194
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3195
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_3196
Filling

AutoCAD SHX Text_3197
44 to 47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3198
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_3199
10 11a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3200
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_3201
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_3202
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_3203
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_3204
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_3205
22 to 32

AutoCAD SHX Text_3206
Wharf

AutoCAD SHX Text_3207
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3208
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3209
LION FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3210
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3211
BEECH CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3212
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3213
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3214
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_3215
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3216
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_3217
Row

AutoCAD SHX Text_3218
ARTHUR SALMON CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3219
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3220
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_3221
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3222
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3223
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_3224
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3225
Playground

AutoCAD SHX Text_3226
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_3227
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_3228
Pettits

AutoCAD SHX Text_3229
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3230
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3231
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3232
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3233
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3234
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_3235
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3236
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3237
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_3238
116b

AutoCAD SHX Text_3239
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_3240
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3241
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_3242
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_3243
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3244
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3245
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_3246
116a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3247
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3248
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3249
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3250
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3251
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_3252
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_3253
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3254
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3255
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3256
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3257
THE KNOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3258
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_3259
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_3260
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3261
LOWER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3262
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_3263
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3264
118c

AutoCAD SHX Text_3265
118d

AutoCAD SHX Text_3266
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3267
Tamariu

AutoCAD SHX Text_3268
Osbren

AutoCAD SHX Text_3269
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3270
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3271
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3272
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3273
Little

AutoCAD SHX Text_3274
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3275
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_3276
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3277
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3278
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3279
NOBEL COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3280
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3281
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3282
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3283
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3284
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3285
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3286
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3287
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3288
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3289
CHART CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3290
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3291
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3292
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3293
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3294
Kosicot

AutoCAD SHX Text_3295
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3296
Brambleside

AutoCAD SHX Text_3297
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3298
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3299
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3300
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3301
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_3302
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3303
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3304
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3305
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3306
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3307
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3308
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_3309
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3310
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3311
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_3312
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3313
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3314
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_3315
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3316
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3317
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3318
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3319
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3320
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3321
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3322
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3323
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3324
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3325
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3326
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_3327
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_3328
Chart Mills

AutoCAD SHX Text_3329
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3330
Manor Pound

AutoCAD SHX Text_3331
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3332
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_3333
Chart Mills

AutoCAD SHX Text_3334
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3335
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3336
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3337
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3338
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_3339
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3340
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3341
STONEBRIDGE WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3342
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3343
Prowtings

AutoCAD SHX Text_3344
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_3345
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3346
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3347
The Children's

AutoCAD SHX Text_3348
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3349
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3350
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3351
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3352
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3353
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3354
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3355
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_3356
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3357
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_3358
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3359
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3360
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3361
COBHAM CHASE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3362
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3363
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3364
RISE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3365
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3366
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3367
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3368
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3369
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3370
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3371
Sewage Pumping

AutoCAD SHX Text_3372
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3373
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3374
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3375
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3376
COBB WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3377
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3378
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3379
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3380
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3381
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_3382
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3383
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3384
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3385
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3386
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3387
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3388
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3389
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3390
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_3391
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3392
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3393
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3394
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3395
187

AutoCAD SHX Text_3396
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_3397
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3398
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3399
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3400
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3401
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3402
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_3403
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_3404
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3405
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_3406
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3407
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3408
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3409
WESTERN LINK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3410
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3411
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_3412
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3413
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3414
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_3415
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_3416
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3417
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3418
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3419
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3420
ATHOL PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3421
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3422
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3423
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3424
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_3425
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3426
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3427
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3428
175

AutoCAD SHX Text_3429
243

AutoCAD SHX Text_3430
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3431
THE LARCHES

AutoCAD SHX Text_3432
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_3433
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3434
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3435
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3436
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3437
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3438
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3439
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3440
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3441
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3442
WILDISH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3443
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_3444
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3445
247

AutoCAD SHX Text_3446
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3447
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3448
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3449
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3450
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3451
CREMER

AutoCAD SHX Text_3452
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3453
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3454
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3455
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3456
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3457
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3458
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3459
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3460
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3461
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3462
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3463
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3464
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3465
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3466
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3467
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3468
WILLEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3469
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3470
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3471
MONKS CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3472
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_3473
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3474
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3475
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3476
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3477
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3478
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3479
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3480
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3481
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3482
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3483
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3484
WELLS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3485
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3486
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3487
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3488
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3489
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3490
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3491
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_3492
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3493
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_3494
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3495
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3496
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3497
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3498
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3499
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3500
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3501
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3502
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3503
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_3504
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3505
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3506
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3507
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3508
BYSING WOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3509
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3510
OLD GATE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3511
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3512
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3513
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3514
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3515
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3516
ALEXANDER CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3517
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3518
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3519
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3520
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3521
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3522
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_3523
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3524
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3525
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3526
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3527
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3528
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3529
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3530
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3531
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3532
Playground

AutoCAD SHX Text_3533
BLAXLAND CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3534
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3535
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3536
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3537
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3538
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3539
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3540
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_3541
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3542
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3543
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3544
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3545
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3546
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3547
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3548
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_3549
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3550
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3551
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3552
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3553
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3554
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_3555
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3556
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3557
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_3558
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_3559
John

AutoCAD SHX Text_3560
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3561
HAZEBROUCK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3562
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_3563
233

AutoCAD SHX Text_3564
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3565
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_3566
183

AutoCAD SHX Text_3567
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_3568
195

AutoCAD SHX Text_3569
207

AutoCAD SHX Text_3570
223

AutoCAD SHX Text_3571
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_3572
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3573
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3574
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3575
1c

AutoCAD SHX Text_3576
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3577
1b

AutoCAD SHX Text_3578
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3579
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3580
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3581
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_3582
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3583
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3584
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_3585
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_3586
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3587
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3588
BENSTED GROVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3589
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3590
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3591
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3592
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3593
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_3594
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3595
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_3596
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_3597
88b

AutoCAD SHX Text_3598
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3599
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_3600
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3601
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_3602
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3603
WALLERS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3604
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3605
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_3606
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_3607
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3608
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3609
HAZEBROUCK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3610
Playing Field

AutoCAD SHX Text_3611
ST PAUL'S AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3612
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3613
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_3614
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_3615
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3616
172

AutoCAD SHX Text_3617
CRESS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_3618
202

AutoCAD SHX Text_3619
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3620
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_3621
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_3622
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3623
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3624
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3625
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3626
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3627
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3628
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3629
JUDD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3630
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3631
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3632
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_3633
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_3634
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_3635
184

AutoCAD SHX Text_3636
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3637
HAZEBROUCK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3638
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3639
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3640
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3641
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3642
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_3643
1d

AutoCAD SHX Text_3644
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3645
171

AutoCAD SHX Text_3646
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3647
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3648
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_3649
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3650
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_3651
LION FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3652
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3653
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3654
94c

AutoCAD SHX Text_3655
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3656
LION FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3657
161

AutoCAD SHX Text_3658
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3659
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3660
The Terrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_3661
88a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3662
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_3663
153

AutoCAD SHX Text_3664
Rose Villa

AutoCAD SHX Text_3665
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3666
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_3667
135

AutoCAD SHX Text_3668
ST PETER'S COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3669
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3670
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_3671
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3672
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3673
1f

AutoCAD SHX Text_3674
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3675
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3676
ST NICHOLAS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3677
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_3678
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3679
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3680
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3681
Flora Villa

AutoCAD SHX Text_3682
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3683
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3684
LEWIS CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3685
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3686
ROEBUCK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3687
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_3688
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_3689
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3690
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3691
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3692
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3693
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3694
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_3695
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3696
LOWER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3697
194

AutoCAD SHX Text_3698
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3699
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3700
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3701
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3702
1e

AutoCAD SHX Text_3703
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3704
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3705
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_3706
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_3707
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_3708
HAZEBROUCK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3709
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3710
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3711
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3712
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3713
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3714
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_3715
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3716
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_3717
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_3718
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_3719
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_3720
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_3721
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3722
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3723
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3724
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3725
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3726
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3727
WILLOW AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3728
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3729
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3730
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_3731
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3732
94a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3733
White

AutoCAD SHX Text_3734
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3735
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3736
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3737
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_3738
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3739
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3740
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_3741
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_3742
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3743
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_3744
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3745
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_3746
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3747
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_3748
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3749
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3750
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3751
169

AutoCAD SHX Text_3752
171

AutoCAD SHX Text_3753
151

AutoCAD SHX Text_3754
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3755
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3756
WHELER COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3757
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3758
1b

AutoCAD SHX Text_3759
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3760
159

AutoCAD SHX Text_3761
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3762
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_3763
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3764
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3765
45a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3766
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3767
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3768
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3769
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3770
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_3771
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3772
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_3773
Hidden Meadow

AutoCAD SHX Text_3774
Glencoe

AutoCAD SHX Text_3775
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3776
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3777
Honister

AutoCAD SHX Text_3778
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3779
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3780
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_3781
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3782
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3783
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3784
CAPEL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3785
OSPRINGE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3786
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3787
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3788
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3789
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3790
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3791
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3792
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3793
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3794
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3795
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3796
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3797
SPILLETT CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3798
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3799
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3800
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3801
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3802
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_3803
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3804
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_3805
ST ANN'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3806
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3807
QUEEN'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_3808
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3809
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3810
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3811
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3812
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_3813
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3814
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_3815
THE LEAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3816
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3817
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3818
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_3819
205

AutoCAD SHX Text_3820
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3821
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_3822
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3823
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3824
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3825
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_3826
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3827
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3828
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3829
Horsford Walk

AutoCAD SHX Text_3830
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3831
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3832
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_3833
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3834
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3835
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3836
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3837
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_3838
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3839
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3840
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_3841
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3842
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3843
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3844
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_3845
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3846
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3847
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3848
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3849
221

AutoCAD SHX Text_3850
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_3851
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3852
209

AutoCAD SHX Text_3853
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3854
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3855
HAZEBROUCK

AutoCAD SHX Text_3856
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_3857
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_3858
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3859
HAZEBROUCK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3860
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_3861
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3862
72 to 86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3863
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_3864
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_3865
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_3866
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3867
DAN DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3868
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3869
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3870
211

AutoCAD SHX Text_3871
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3872
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3873
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3874
259

AutoCAD SHX Text_3875
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3876
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_3877
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3878
197

AutoCAD SHX Text_3879
225

AutoCAD SHX Text_3880
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_3881
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_3882
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_3883
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3884
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3885
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3886
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_3887
169

AutoCAD SHX Text_3888
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_3889
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3890
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3891
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3892
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3893
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_3894
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3895
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_3896
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_3897
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3898
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3899
THE LEAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_3900
PENSHURST

AutoCAD SHX Text_3901
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_3902
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3903
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3904
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3905
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_3906
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3907
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3908
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3909
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_3910
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_3911
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3912
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3913
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_3914
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3915
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3916
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3917
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3918
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3919
El Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_3920
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_3921
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3922
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3923
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3924
BLAXLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text_3925
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_3926
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3927
THE KNOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3928
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_3929
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3930
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3931
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3932
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3933
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_3934
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3935
BARNES CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3936
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_3937
WILDISH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3938
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3939
GIRAUD DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3940
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_3941
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3942
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_3943
Cricket Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_3944
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_3945
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3946
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3947
FINLAY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3948
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_3949
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_3950
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_3951
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3952
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_3953
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_3954
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3955
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_3956
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3957
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_3958
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_3959
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_3960
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3961
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_3962
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3963
143

AutoCAD SHX Text_3964
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3965
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_3966
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_3967
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3968
ALEXANDER DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3969
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_3970
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_3971
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_3972
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3973
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_3974
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_3975
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3976
WILLEMENT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_3977
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_3978
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_3979
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_3980
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_3981
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_3982
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3983
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_3984
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3985
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_3986
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3987
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_3988
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3989
El Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_3990
25a

AutoCAD SHX Text_3991
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3992
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_3993
DARK HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text_3994
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3995
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3996
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_3997
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_3998
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_3999
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4000
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4001
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4002
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_4003
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4004
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4005
STEPHENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4006
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4007
EVERARD WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4008
Hanover Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_4009
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4010
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4011
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_4012
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4013
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4014
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_4015
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4016
GREENWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4017
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_4018
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4019
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4020
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4021
ADMIRALTY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4022
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4023
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4024
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4025
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4026
Ivy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4027
PRIORY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4028
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_4029
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4030
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4031
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4032
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4033
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4034
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4035
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4036
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4037
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4038
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4039
Pavilion

AutoCAD SHX Text_4040
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_4041
MONKS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4042
ALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4043
182

AutoCAD SHX Text_4044
Bysing Wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_4045
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_4046
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_4047
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_4048
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4049
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4050
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_4051
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_4052
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_4053
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_4054
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_4055
WHITING CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4056
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_4057
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4058
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4059
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_4060
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_4061
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_4062
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4063
LOWER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4064
Osborne

AutoCAD SHX Text_4065
Training Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_4066
Kiln Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_4067
179

AutoCAD SHX Text_4068
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4069
76 to 94

AutoCAD SHX Text_4070
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_4071
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_4072
Goldfinch

AutoCAD SHX Text_4073
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_4074
1 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4075
1 to 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4076
Brickfield

AutoCAD SHX Text_4077
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_4078
13 to 17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4079
MP 50.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_4080
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4081
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_4082
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_4083
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_4084
GROVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4085
ROMAN BURIAL GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_4086
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_4087
22.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4088
Co Const, ED & Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4089
Workings

AutoCAD SHX Text_4090
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_4091
26.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4092
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_4093
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_4094
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_4095
B 2045

AutoCAD SHX Text_4096
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4097
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_4098
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4099
LONDON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4100
ROMAN BURIAL GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_4101
35.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4102
19.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4103
A 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4104
ROMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4105
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4106
ED & Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4107
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4108
BB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4109
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4110
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4111
MP 50.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4112
Hollybank

AutoCAD SHX Text_4113
Oaks

AutoCAD SHX Text_4114
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4115
WESTERN LINK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4116
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4117
38.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4118
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_4119
Four

AutoCAD SHX Text_4120
SUMPTER WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4121
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_4122
S Tk

AutoCAD SHX Text_4123
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_4124
CTk

AutoCAD SHX Text_4125
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4126
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4127
B 2045

AutoCAD SHX Text_4128
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4129
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4130
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4131
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4132
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4133
Co Const, ED & Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4134
BYSING WOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4135
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4136
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4137
23 to 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_4138
8 to 12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4139
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4140
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4141
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4142
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4143
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4144
18 to 22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4145
BENSTED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4146
Keramos

AutoCAD SHX Text_4147
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4148
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_4149
def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4150
(dis)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4151
LONDON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4152
A 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4153
THE MALL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4154
Limes Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_4155
ST MARY'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4156
CANTERBURY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4157
CANTERBURY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4158
WEST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_4159
NEW CREEK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4160
OSPRING STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_4161
LOVE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4162
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_4163
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4164
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4165
4.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4166
Shipyard

AutoCAD SHX Text_4167
a and b

AutoCAD SHX Text_4168
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4169
52a

AutoCAD SHX Text_4170
Vehicle

AutoCAD SHX Text_4171
Testing

AutoCAD SHX Text_4172
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_4173
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4174
Conveyor

AutoCAD SHX Text_4175
Ruin

AutoCAD SHX Text_4176
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4177
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_4178
HAM ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4179
Ham

AutoCAD SHX Text_4180
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4181
WB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4182
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4183
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_4184
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4185
Conveyor

AutoCAD SHX Text_4186
Gravel Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4187
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4188
Marsh

AutoCAD SHX Text_4189
Gunpowder Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4190
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4191
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_4192
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4193
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4194
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4195
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4196
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_4197
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4198
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4199
Priory Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_4200
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4201
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4202
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_4203
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4204
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_4205
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_4206
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_4207
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_4208
77 to 80

AutoCAD SHX Text_4209
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4210
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4211
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4212
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_4213
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_4214
Gravel Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4215
LARKSFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4216
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4217
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_4218
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4219
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4220
46 to 49

AutoCAD SHX Text_4221
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_4222
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_4223
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_4224
57 to 60

AutoCAD SHX Text_4225
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_4226
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_4227
BROOMFIELD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4228
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_4229
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4230
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_4231
6.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4232
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_4233
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_4234
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4235
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_4236
34 to 37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4237
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4238
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4239
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4240
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_4241
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4242
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4243
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4244
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_4245
GOLDFINCH CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4246
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4247
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4248
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4249
Allotment Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_4250
SPRINGHEAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4251
HAM ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4252
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4253
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4254
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_4255
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_4256
to 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4257
25 to 28

AutoCAD SHX Text_4258
10 to 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4259
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4260
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4261
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_4262
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_4263
10.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4264
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_4265
FOSTALL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4266
Gate House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4267
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4268
64 to 67

AutoCAD SHX Text_4269
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4270
Brents Industrial Estate

AutoCAD SHX Text_4271
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4272
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4273
UPPER BRENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4274
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4275
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4276
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_4277
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_4278
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4279
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4280
BROOK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4281
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4282
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4283
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_4284
South Quay

AutoCAD SHX Text_4285
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4286
UPPER BRENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4287
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4288
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4289
Playground

AutoCAD SHX Text_4290
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4291
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4292
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4293
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4294
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4295
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_4296
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4297
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_4298
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_4299
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_4300
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4301
4 to 6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4302
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_4303
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4304
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4305
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4306
SPRINGHEAD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4307
H1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4308
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4309
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_4310
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4311
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_4312
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4313
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4314
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4315
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4316
17 to 19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4317
7.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4318
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_4319
and

AutoCAD SHX Text_4320
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4321
G1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4322
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_4323
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_4324
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4325
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_4326
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_4327
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_4328
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_4329
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4330
1 to 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4331
15B

AutoCAD SHX Text_4332
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_4333
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4334
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_4335
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4336
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4337
H4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4338
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_4339
North Quay

AutoCAD SHX Text_4340
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_4341
15A

AutoCAD SHX Text_4342
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_4343
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4344
52b

AutoCAD SHX Text_4345
WATERSIDE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4346
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4347
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4348
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4349
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4350
Gravel Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4351
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4352
Gravel Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4353
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4354
Gravel Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4355
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4356
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4357
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4358
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4359
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4360
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4361
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4362
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_4363
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_4364
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_4365
Mud

AutoCAD SHX Text_4366
Mean High Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_4367
KENNEDY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4368
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4369
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4370
12a

AutoCAD SHX Text_4371
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4372
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4373
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4374
OARE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4375
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4376
Gravel Pit

AutoCAD SHX Text_4377
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4378
Guide Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_4379
BYSING WOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4380
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_4381
36.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4382
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4383
BYSING WOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4384
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4385
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_4386
Nash's Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_4387
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4388
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4389
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4390
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4391
Bysing Wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_4392
The Red House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4393
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4394
34.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4395
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4396
Nash's Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_4397
32.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4398
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_4399
21.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4400
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4401
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4402
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4403
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_4404
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_4405
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_4406
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4407
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4408
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4409
SR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4410
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_4411
ED & Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4412
ED & Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4413
Co Const,

AutoCAD SHX Text_4414
Co Const,

AutoCAD SHX Text_4415
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4416
11.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4417
5.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4418
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4419
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4420
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4421
9.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4422
18.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4423
Black Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_4424
Bysing

AutoCAD SHX Text_4425
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4426
9.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4427
16.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4428
Oast

AutoCAD SHX Text_4429
7.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4430
23.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4431
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4432
The Old Rectory

AutoCAD SHX Text_4433
School

AutoCAD SHX Text_4434
6.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4435
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_4436
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4437
Luddenham

AutoCAD SHX Text_4438
33.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4439
Wood Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_4440
School

AutoCAD SHX Text_4441
THE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_4442
OARE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4443
(Telecommunication)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4444
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4445
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_4446
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4447
Superstore

AutoCAD SHX Text_4448
9b

AutoCAD SHX Text_4449
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4450
LAKESIDE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4451
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_4452
LAKESIDE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4453
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_4454
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4455
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_4456
Mast (Telecommunication)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4457
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4458
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4459
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_4460
7 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4461
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_4462
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_4463
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4464
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_4465
Community Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_4466
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4467
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_4468
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_4469
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_4470
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4471
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_4472
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4473
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_4474
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4475
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_4476
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4477
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_4478
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4479
The Foundry Business Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_4480
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_4481
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4482
LAKESIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4483
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4484
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4485
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4486
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4487
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4488
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4489
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4490
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4491
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4492
CHURCHILL WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4493
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4494
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_4495
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4496
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_4497
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4498
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_4499
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4500
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_4501
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_4502
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4503
4.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4504
WELLS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4505
BYSING WOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4506
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4507
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_4508
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4509
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4510
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4511
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4512
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_4513
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_4514
Pumping Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_4515
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_4516
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4517
4.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4518
JOHN HALL CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4519
Sewage

AutoCAD SHX Text_4520
WESTERN LINK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4521
Transport

AutoCAD SHX Text_4522
Depot

AutoCAD SHX Text_4523
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_4524
Grove

AutoCAD SHX Text_4525
5.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4526
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4527
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4528
Mill

AutoCAD SHX Text_4529
Tk

AutoCAD SHX Text_4530
White House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4531
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4532
Mill

AutoCAD SHX Text_4533
Warehouse and

AutoCAD SHX Text_4534
Bungalow

AutoCAD SHX Text_4535
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_4536
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4537
Mill House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4538
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_4539
Little Cocketts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4540
Cold Store

AutoCAD SHX Text_4541
COLEGATES

AutoCAD SHX Text_4542
6.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4543
Piggery

AutoCAD SHX Text_4544
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4545
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_4546
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_4547
MAITLAND COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4548
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_4549
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4550
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4551
Gravel Pit

AutoCAD SHX Text_4552
Cold Store

AutoCAD SHX Text_4553
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_4554
SEAGER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4555
Cold Store

AutoCAD SHX Text_4556
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4557
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_4558
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4559
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_4560
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_4561
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_4562
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4563
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4564
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4565
Cold Store

AutoCAD SHX Text_4566
WREIGHT COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4567
SHERWOOD CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4568
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4569
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4570
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4571
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_4572
7.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4573
Fruit Packing Store

AutoCAD SHX Text_4574
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_4575
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4576
JOHNSON COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4577
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4578
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_4579
7.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4580
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4581
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4582
IVORY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4583
WILDISH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4584
WESTERN LINK

AutoCAD SHX Text_4585
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_4586
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_4587
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_4588
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4589
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4590
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_4591
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4592
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4593
7.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4594
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_4595
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_4596
BYSING WOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4597
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_4598
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4599
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4600
Reeds Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_4601
WINDMILL LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4602
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_4603
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4604
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4605
8a

AutoCAD SHX Text_4606
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4607
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4608
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_4609
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_4610
Boat

AutoCAD SHX Text_4611
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4612
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_4613
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_4614
Lake View

AutoCAD SHX Text_4615
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4616
Grove House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4617
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4618
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4619
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_4620
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_4621
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4622
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_4623
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_4624
Co Const, ED & Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4625
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4626
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_4627
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_4628
West Faversham

AutoCAD SHX Text_4629
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_4630
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4631
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_4632
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4633
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4634
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_4635
12.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4636
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_4637
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_4638
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_4639
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_4640
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_4641
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4642
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4643
9.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4644
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_4645
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4646
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4647
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_4648
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4649
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_4650
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_4651
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4652
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4653
13.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4654
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_4655
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_4656
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_4657
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4658
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_4659
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_4660
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_4661
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4662
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_4663
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4664
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_4665
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4666
CP

AutoCAD SHX Text_4667
CW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4668
FW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4669
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_4670
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_4671
FW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4672
CW

AutoCAD SHX Text_4673
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_4674
Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4675
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_4676
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_4677
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_4678
Foremans House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4679
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4680
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4681
23.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4682
26.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4683
Gunpowder Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_4684
7.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4685
10.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4686
22.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4687
Brett House

AutoCAD SHX Text_4688
12.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4689
24.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4690
8.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_4691
Visitor Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_4692
BUNTING

AutoCAD SHX Text_4693
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4694
Co Const, ED & Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4695
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_4696
BB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4697
Co Const, ED & Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4698
Oare Gunpowder Works Country Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_4699
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_4700
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_4701
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4702
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4703
NTL

AutoCAD SHX Text_4704
Recreation

AutoCAD SHX Text_4705
Boat

AutoCAD SHX Text_4706
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4707
Repair Yard

AutoCAD SHX Text_4708
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_4709
Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_4710
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_4711
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_4712
Wharf

AutoCAD SHX Text_4713
& Ward Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_4714
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4715
Co Const, ED

AutoCAD SHX Text_4716
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_4717
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_4718
BYSING WOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4719
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4720
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_4721
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_4722
CR



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Independent 

Evaluation and 

Review of 20mph 

Trials in Faversham 

and Tonbridge 

Provided to Kent County Council 

   

Tanya Fosdick 

Dr Craig Smith  

Momina Kamran 

Samuel Scott 

 

Page 73



2 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report aims to provide an independent review and evaluation of two experimental 

traffic orders (ETOs) implemented as two separate town-wide 20 mph trials in Kent. 

The trials in question have been carried out in Faversham as signed only limits and 

Tonbridge as signed only zones and commenced in July 2020. 

Speed reduction plays a key role in a number of policy areas, and it is therefore 

important to determine if these trials have been effective in achieving their aims. Speed 

has a direct influence on the likelihood, and severity, of road collisions occurring. 

Nilsson’s ‘Power Model’ “shows that a 1% increase in average speed results in 

approximately a 2% increase in injury crash frequency, a 3% increase in severe crash 

frequency, and a 4% increase in fatal crash frequency” (International Transport Forum, 

2018, p. 5). Therefore, reducing speed by a few miles an hour can greatly reduce the 

likelihood and severity of road collisions. In addition to increasing actual risk, 

inappropriate speeds can influence road users’ perceptions of risk, reducing their 

likelihood to engage in active travel modes, as cyclists and pedestrians are more 

vulnerable in the event of a collision.  

Kent’s Vision Zero Strategy uses a Safe System approach to strive to have no road 

fatalities or life changing injuries on its roads by 2050. Furthermore, it seeks to 

encourage walking and cycling as the safe and easy choice. A fundamental element 

of the international best practice of the Safe System is ‘Safe Speeds’. A 2020 YouGov 

survey of Kent residents found that the perception of safety was a key influence on the 

likelihood to use active travel modes, with 56% feeling that traffic is too fast to cycle 

on the roads. Kent’s road safety strategy emphasises community engagement to 

address concerns and improve safety and quality of life.  

Both Faversham and Tonbridge are developing their Local Walking and Cycling 

Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs). Faversham see 20mph limits as one component of a 

longer-term plan to enable more walking and cycling. Tonbridge is undertaking a 

consultation to determine the extent to which infrastructure successfully connects 

places, trying to identify the main barriers to active travel and how routes align with 

cycling and walking trips. Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council hopes to achieve a 

10% modal shift as part of their Local Plan. 

Achieving speed reductions is therefore a central pillar of these strategies, with this 

report setting out findings from the trials and providing recommendations for future 

actions.  

Both qualitative and quantitative data have been used to understand the impact of the 

introduction of 20mph in these two towns. These sources are: 

• Behavioural surveys compromising the outputs of c. 600 face to face surveys 

with questionnaires (1,800 respondents in total) 

• Pre-existing research studies and historic case studies. 

• Consultation evidence received by KCC between 31st July 2020 and 3rd March 

2021 on the experimental traffic orders for both trial areas 

Page 74



3 
 

• Road user counts and vehicle speed measurements from automatic traffic 

counters 

• Road user counts and vehicle speed measurements from Vivacity Artificial 

Intelligence sensors 

• In-vehicle telematics data (highways network speed) from Ordnance Survey 

Where possible, comparisons have been made with another Kent town, Deal, where 

no speed limit reduction was implemented. The responses from this control location 

show how, when compared to the trial towns themselves, residents from a not 

dissimilar area (in terms of size and layout) can demonstrate an awareness of, and a 

receptiveness to, the benefits of 20mph limits without involvement in any associated 

schemes. It is interesting to note that for some questions within the survey, there were 

improvements in Deal despite no changes occurring. This could indicate what the 

anticipated benefits of 20mph limits are thought to be. Evaluated schemes 

implemented elsewhere in the UK have also been referenced, to place the impacts 

achieved in Kent within a wider context. 

The town-wide 20mph schemes implemented in Faversham and Tonbridge were part 

of plans to increase walking and cycling and were delivered in the context of the 

COVID-19 pandemic, where rapid solutions were required to encourage social 

distancing when travelling and active travel schemes were being funded and 

promoted. The schemes relied on interventions including road markings, signs, 

gateways, and awareness campaigns to inform road users of the new limit. In 

Faversham, the previously planned physical interventions in support of 20mph were 

not made. 

It is important, to view these results in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Firstly, 

the schemes were installed quickly, without supporting infrastructural changes, and 

therefore greater speed compliance might be achieved in some locations through 

additional measures. Secondly, the pandemic changed the way people used the 

roads, with fewer commuters travelling to work and more residents choosing to cycle 

and walk for leisure. Individual towns will have experienced different travel patterns, 

according to local influences. Average speeds did increase nationally during the first 

lockdown, whilst cycling increased and car use reduced. Speed data collected pre-

pandemic are therefore not directly comparable to datasets collected since March 

2020, although nationally patterns have tended to return to previous levels.  

The results should also be viewed in the context of two very different approaches to 

20mph in the two towns. Faversham had the history of a ‘20’s Plenty’ campaign, which 

Tonbridge did not. The Plenty campaign in Deal has been much less active. Other 

towns could emulate the approach of Faversham, laying the foundations of a 

behavioural shift and support through community involvement and campaign 

messaging in the years prior to implementation.  

The behavioural surveys found that Faversham residents were more aware of the 

implementation of the 20mph limits and had heard about them via a wider range of 

channels than those from Tonbridge. The differences in observed results, therefore, 

need to be viewed in the context of a different history of 20mph limits in the two towns 

and different marketing strategies for communicating about the trials.  

Page 75



4 
 

Kent County Council completed formal consultations on the trials with residents. 

Online consultations were conducted between July 2020 and March 2021, with 

responses from 1,123 individuals for the Tonbridge consultation and 668 for 

Faversham. The outcomes were more favourable for Faversham, with 63% of resident 

respondents in favour of the 20mph town-wide limits. This was not the case in 

Tonbridge, with only 26% in favour and objections focusing on the 20mph trial being 

too extensive and inappropriate for major routes. There were concerns about 

worsening congestion from slower speeds, safety concerns and the impracticality of 

enforcement. The following results should be read noting that not all respondents 

supported the reductions.  

Geographical differences can influence compliance with lower speed limits and the 

modal choice of residents. Whilst not in scope of this study to analyse the geographies 

of each town, it should be noted that road layouts, infrastructure, active travel facilities 

and the main journey purpose of specific routes will influence the levels of walking and 

cycling and adherence to 20mph limits.  

DRIVERS 
Looking at observed behaviour from Automated Traffic Counters (ATC), there were 

reductions in vehicle speeds in both towns, with only two sites in Faversham not seeing 

reductions. With the two sites in Faversham with increases in speed, both had an 

average speed below 22mph. 

The average ATC speed reduction in Tonbridge was 3mph and 0.9mph in Faversham. 

These reductions were confirmed using telematics data. Tonbridge had higher 

average speeds before implementation, and this is reflected in the outcomes achieved; 

it would be expected for greater reductions to be achieved from higher baseline 

speeds, meaning speeds reduced on faster roads.  

Compliance with the new speed limit/zone was good in Faversham, whilst it was a less 

positive picture in Tonbridge.  

In July 2021’s ATC data, five of Faversham’s thirteen sites (38%) had average speeds 

below 20mph, and 10 of 13 (77%) had average speeds below 24mph. There was a 

4.1% reduction in average speed. 

Telematics data for the whole of Faversham shows the high level of compliance across 

the town, with Figure 1 indicating that the majority of roads have achieved average 

speeds of less than 16mph. Most roads saw reductions of up to 5mph, with a few 

having even higher reductions in average speed. 

It should be noted that the different data collection methods for the ATC and telematic 

data produce different results. The ATC data is collected at a single point, whereas 

the telematic data is over a stretch over road and this suppresses speeds. 

Furthermore, the ATC data is for a single week at a time, whereas the telematics data 

represents average speeds over an entire year. Comparisons should not be made 

between the two data collection methods but instead, comparisons should be made 

between time frames of each method.  

 

Page 76



5 
 

Figure 1 - Average speeds in Faversham (April 2020 - March 2021) 

 

Analysing the ATC data, Tonbridge had no sites with average speeds below 20mph in 

July 2021, and only four in 12 (33%) sites had average speeds below 24mph. The 

average speed reduction in Tonbridge was 10.3%, however (-3mph). 

The telematics data for the whole town, as shown in Figure 2, show that there are 

many roads where the average speed is below 20mph. 

For both towns, the speed data shows that roads with low pre-speeds showed little 

change, whilst roads with high pre-speeds showed greater reductions, but in some 

cases, these reductions were not enough to meet the enforcement threshold of 

24mph.  

 

Page 77



6 
 

Figure 2 - Average speeds in Tonbridge (April 2020 - March 2021) 

 

The individual ATC data is provided road by road in this report, enabling KCC to 

undertake a review of these sites and determine if additional measures are required 

to encourage compliance with 20mph or if limits should return to 30mph.  

Overall, car usage remained virtually unchanged following the introduction of the 

20mph limits as some residents reported increasing the amount of driving they did, 

whilst others stated it had reduced. Willingness to exceed 20mph limits/zones 

increased slightly in Faversham and greatly in Tonbridge (from 17% to 30%). Despite 

this, a large majority in both towns stated that they would be willing to always drive to 

the set limit and this actually increased in Tonbridge. There was a mixed picture on 

whether respondents felt that there was more consideration for other road users 

Page 78



7 
 

because of the 20mph limits, and a quarter of Faversham and half of Tonbridge 

residents said that there was more aggressive driving.  

PEDESTRIANS 
Walking regularly is more common amongst Faversham residents than those from 

Tonbridge, with more of the latter residents using a car every day, according to the 

survey. Walking because of COVID-19 measures increased in Faversham and Deal, 

whilst remaining the same in Tonbridge. However, over 10% of respondents from both 

trial towns said that their levels of walking had increased after the 20mph limits were 

introduced and around 20% felt that there was more walking occurring in their area. 

These increases are higher than those seen in other studies (Maher, 2018). The 

increases were also observed in the pedestrian count data in the two towns, with 

similar uplifts in footfall not observed in Deal.  

CYCLISTS 
Cycling is also more common amongst Faversham respondents than those from 

Tonbridge, with a higher proportion of the latter’s respondents who stated (before 

implementation) that they never cycle. There was no increase in cycling because of 

COVID-19 measures but nearly 10% of residents in both towns reported an increase 

in their level of pedal cycle activity after the 20mph limits were installed. The cycle 

count data showed a reduction in cyclists in all three towns between June 2020 and 

July 2021, with the smallest reductions in Faversham. Cycling counts seem to be 

influenced more by time of year and weather changes than walking counts, and the 

COVID-19 pandemic has influenced travel choice. As with walking, around 20% of 

residents of both towns thought that there was more cycling in their area post trial. 

There were higher increases in residents stating they were cycling more, than seen in 

other studies. Observed data does not show an increase in cycling in Kent but 

respondents stated that they were cycling more, and they were noticing more cycling 

in their towns. 

ATTITUDES 
Looking at attitudes, Faversham had higher levels of support for 20mph limits/zones 

than Tonbridge and Deal. Opposition to the zones increased amongst Tonbridge 

residents post-implementation. However, residents of both towns (and Deal) agreed 

that the main benefits of local traffic initiatives are increased road safety for 

pedestrians and cyclists. Reasons for implementing 20mph limits/zones were that they 

are ‘better for children’, ‘needed in residential areas’ and ‘increasing safety’ for 

Tonbridge residents whilst those from Faversham felt they ‘increased safety’, ‘slow 

down traffic’ and are ‘better/safer for pedestrians.’ In both trial towns, concerns about 

20mph limits/zones were that ‘blanket imposition is not welcome’ and ‘30mph is 

adequate.’ In Faversham, a third concern was that ‘drivers ignore 20mph limits’ whilst 

in Tonbridge, 20mph limits ‘slow down traffic and journey time increases.’ The 

percentages of Tonbridge respondents feeling that a ‘blanket-imposition is not 

welcome’ was over twice that of Faversham respondents (28% compared with 12%). 

In Faversham, agreement with the appropriateness of speed limit/zones increased 

post-implementation (+12%), whilst it decreased in Tonbridge (-27%). For both towns, 

Page 79



8 
 

there was a decrease in agreement that ‘most drivers obey speed limits’, a 5% 

reduction in Faversham and 17% for Tonbridge. 

However, there was positive feedback in relation to pedestrian activity. There was little 

change in the high levels of agreement in both town that speed limits are safe for 

walking personally1 (between 74 and 79%), and there were increases in both towns 

(especially in Tonbridge) that ‘speed limits were safe on foot/walking for children.’ 

Overall, there were high levels of agreement in both towns that 20mph limits act as a 

facilitator for safe walking (although there were reductions post-implementation). The 

response scores for this question after the installation of lower limits align with those 

observed in the Atkins study of other schemes in Great Britain (Maher, 2018).  

Similarly, there was positive feedback in relation to cycling activity. Again, there was 

little change in the high levels of agreement in both towns that speed limits are safe 

for cycling personally (between 57 and 59%). Furthermore, there were notable 

increases that speed limits were safe when cycling for children, particularly in 

Tonbridge (18%). There were decreases in levels of agreement that 20mph limits 

provide a facilitator for safe environments for cycling in both towns, although the levels 

of agreement were similar to those found elsewhere nationally and were higher in 

Faversham than the national study (71%, compared to 60%).  

In relation to driving, there was little change in agreement that speed limits are safe 

for driving personally, with very high levels of agreement pre and post (between 75 

and 81%). There were reductions in both towns that 20mph limits provide a safe 

environment for driving. However, both towns agreed, to a higher level than seen 

elsewhere nationally, that 20mph limits increase drivers’ awareness of potential risks 

and hazards. These contradictory results may indicate that respondents do not fully 

understand the benefits of 20mph limits.  

Overall, the majority of respondents did not think it was acceptable to exceed 20mph 

limits and there were increases in agreement in both towns with the statement that ‘it 

is acceptable to always drive to the set speed limit of an area’. This is interesting, given 

that ‘willingness’ to exceed 20mph limits increased in both towns, showing a difference 

between ‘acceptability’ and personal behaviour. In Faversham, three-quarters of 

respondents agreed, pre and post, that 20mph limits make it more acceptable to drive 

at lower speeds. However, for Tonbridge respondents, there were increases in the 

proportions who thought it was acceptable to exceed 20mph limits and there were also 

reductions amongst those agreeing that 20mph limits make it more acceptable to drive 

at lower speeds.  

Generally, negativity around driving and 20mph limits in Faversham did not increase 

post-trial, with no change in agreement that 20mph limits are ignored and a substantial 

decrease in agreement that 20mph limits make journey times irritating. There was an 

increase that 20mph limits are frustrating for drivers, though. There were increases in 

agreement with these statements in Tonbridge, however. It is interesting to note that, 

compared to studies conducted in 12 other areas (Maher, 2018), a greater proportion 

 
1 Emphasis from questionnaire, where respondents were asked about their personal habits 

Page 80



9 
 

of Faversham and Tonbridge respondents agreed that drivers are more considerate 

to cyclists in 20mph limits post-trial. 

The Faversham ‘Commonplace’ engagement provided an opportunity for local road 

users to share their concerns and suggest interventions to make the town healthier, 

safer, and cleaner. There was feedback on barriers to walking and cycling, air quality 

and specific roads of concern (both those within and outside of the trial). Speeding 

was a major concern, making respondents feel unsafe.  

RECOMMENDATIONS 
• The 20mph limits/zones will contribute to the strategic road safety and active 

travel objectives set out by Kent County Council, Faversham Town Council and 

Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council but consideration is required as to how 

improve acceptability and compliance in specific locations. The speed 

reductions, coupled with small but significant self-reported uptake in active 

travel modes, suggest retaining the limits and zones in both towns, with an 

assessment of those roads where compliance was not achieved (average 

speed above 24mph). 

• For Tonbridge, it is recommended that a road-by-road review is undertaken, 

with the purpose of identifying where 20mph is effective, where complementary 

measures could be adopted to support the 20mph zone or where a return to 

30mph might be appropriate. It might be beneficial to undertake further 

engagement with the community in Tonbridge to gather their feedback on these 

individual roads. 

• Scheme opposition and concerns around ‘area-wide’ impositions may be 

alleviated through the use of an incremental or ‘section by section’ approach if 

trials are considered in other towns.  

• A much greater focus should be given to associated and complementary activity 

in Tonbridge (such as more interaction and co-ordination with pro-campaign 

groups) in order to achieve greater support levels for 20mph and to highlight 

the benefits as part of the LCWIP. 

• In Faversham, concerns regarding cycling infrastructure need to be addressed 

in ongoing consultation with the community. 

• As with prior case studies, enforcement remains an important issue for 

residents post implementation. Authorities, in conjunction with the Police, 

should focus on ‘compliance benefit messaging’ as oppose to punititive 

enforcement.  This shifts the narrative so as to generate public support through 

changing individual mindsets. Addressing driver behaviour is key to cultivating 

safe environments for active travel modes. A lack of driver consideration for 

other roads users is one of the issues where the limits reviewed here have not 

reduced people’s concerns significantly. 

• Shared responsibility is a key imperative within the Safe System philosophy 

adopted within Kent’s Vision Zero Strategy. Communication to work with road 

users and increase that sense of responsibility could be key to increasing 

acceptance of 20mph limits.  

• To keep alignment with the authorities’ wishes for the limits/zones to be self-

enforced, compliance messaging should be produced which articulates the 

Page 81



10 
 

evidence presented here that 20mph schemes can have a positive effect on 

average speeds and active travel, even when signed only, without additional 

engineering or enforcement.  

• Longer-term commitment, sustained public engagement, articulated messaging 

through a tailored marketing mix, and the maintenance of intergrated policy 

approaches towards 20mph schemes are all more likely to yield success 

moving forward with the schemes.  

 

Page 82



11 
 

CONTENTS 

Executive summary .................................................................................................... 1 

Drivers .................................................................................................................... 4 

Pedestrians ............................................................................................................. 7 

Cyclists.................................................................................................................... 7 

Attitudes .................................................................................................................. 7 

Recommendations .................................................................................................. 9 

Contents ................................................................................................................... 11 

Introduction .............................................................................................................. 12 

Aims and Objectives ............................................................................................. 12 

Scope and Limits .................................................................................................. 13 

Methodology ............................................................................................................. 13 

Faversham, Tonbridge speed limit reduction trial ................................................. 13 

Deal comparator ................................................................................................... 14 

Quantitative and qualitative data collected and analysed ..................................... 14 

Reference sources ................................................................................................ 15 

Other 20mph studies ................................................................................................ 16 

Atkins report assessment and best practice.......................................................... 16 

Other 20mph literature review (Bristol and Edinburgh) ......................................... 19 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................ 21 

Context and background .......................................................................................... 22 

Alignment with wider aims, goals and objectives .................................................. 22 

Vision Zero Strategy .......................................................................................... 22 

Active travel and Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP) ....... 22 

Marketing, communication and messaging ........................................................... 23 

Faversham ......................................................................................................... 23 

Tonbridge .......................................................................................................... 24 

Survey Findings ................................................................................................. 25 

20’s Plenty Campaign ........................................................................................... 25 

Drivers ...................................................................................................................... 27 

Observed Driver Behaviour ................................................................................... 27 

Intended and Reported Behaviour ........................................................................ 37 

Pedestrians .............................................................................................................. 38 

Intended and Reported Behaviour ........................................................................ 38 

Observed pedestrian counts ................................................................................. 39 

Page 83



12 
 

Cyclists ..................................................................................................................... 40 

Intended and Reported Behaviour ........................................................................ 40 

Observed cyclist counts ........................................................................................ 41 

Attitudes ................................................................................................................... 42 

Driver Attitudes ..................................................................................................... 44 

Pedestrian Attitudes .............................................................................................. 45 

Cyclist Attitudes .................................................................................................... 46 

Public Consultations ................................................................................................. 47 

Kent County Council Consultations ....................................................................... 47 

Faversham ......................................................................................................... 48 

Tonbridge .......................................................................................................... 49 

Commonplace Engagement (Faversham) ............................................................ 50 

Conclusions and Recommendation .......................................................................... 53 

Conclusions .......................................................................................................... 53 

Recommendations ................................................................................................ 55 

References ............................................................................................................... 57 

Appendix A – Traffic profiles .................................................................................... 58 

Faversham ............................................................................................................ 58 

Tonbridge .............................................................................................................. 77 

Appendix B – ATC and Vivacity Comparison ........................................................... 96 

Appendix C – KCC Faversham Consultation ......................................................... 101 

Appendix D – KCC Tonbridge Consultation ........................................................... 157 

Appendix E – Faversham Commonplace Consultation .......................................... 217 

Appendix F – ATC, Manual Counts and Vivacity Camera Locations ...................... 232 

Appendix G – Crash Map ....................................................................................... 234 

Appendix H – Qualitiative Survey Data .................................................................. 236 

Appendix I – Pedestrian and Cyclist Count Analysis .............................................. 302 

 

INTRODUCTION 

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 
This report aims to provide an independent review and evaluation of two experimental 

traffic orders (ETOs) implemented as two separate town-wide 20 mph trials in Kent. 

The trials in question have been carried out in Faversham signed only limits and 

Tonbridge as signed only zones and commenced in July 2020. Whilst a minimum trial 

period of 12 months was set (until 30 July 2021), the maximum duration limit set could 

see them operate for up to 18 months, until January 2022. An analytical mixture of 

Page 84



13 
 

qualitative data (survey questionnaires, supporting literature, engagement 

consultations, interview responses) and quantitative data (road user counts and 

vehicle speed measurements from automatic traffic counters, telematics data and 

Vivacity Artificial Intelligence (AI) sensors) has been synthesised to support the 

report’s conclusions and recommendations. This analysis will be supplemented with 

pre-existing research into the effectiveness of 20mph signed only limits/zones, and 

results achieved in similar schemes elsewhere in the country. Alignment with previous 

relevant studies will therefore be considered alongside the trials’ specific outcomes - 

especially when recommendations are put forward.  

SCOPE AND LIMITS 
The scope of the report, both in terms of synthesis and analysis, will be centred upon 

the impact of these two 20mph trials, in Faversham and Tonbridge. This is assessed 

through comparative analyses of changes in empirical measurements and in 

resident/respondent perceptions before and during the trial (post implementation).2 

The context of the trials is considered, explaining the history of 20mph campaigning 

activities and engagement communications for the trials in the two towns, and how 

these may influence changes in attitude and observed speed. Referral to the wider 

strategic agendas and frameworks of the local authorities involved is also critical in 

defining success of the schemes and how they support wider policy goals. To validate 

the results from the trials, qualitative data is, for specific criteria, gathered over the 

same time frame from a comparable town where this specific limit reduction was not 

implemented. In this instance the town of Deal, also in Kent, is used as a comparator 

due to its socio-demographic similarity to the trial areas. The range of sources 

analysed allow the report to offer a comprehensive picture as to how and why the trials 

have yielded the outcomes that they have thus far, and indeed to pinpoint work areas 

and priorities moving forward.  

METHODOLOGY 

FAVERSHAM, TONBRIDGE SPEED LIMIT REDUCTION TRIAL 
A town-wide 20mph speed limit was implemented in Faversham and 20mph zone in 

Tonbridge as part of plans to increase walking and cycling. Studies have shown 

20mph schemes encourage healthier transport choices such as walking and cycling. 

Therefore, both towns were chosen, and experimental traffic orders (ETOs) were 

introduced to reduce speed limits from 30mph to 20mph. Kent County Council (KCC) 

anticipated more people would be travelling to work and to school by bike or on foot 

and hoped these changes would improve safety and ease of travel for the residents. 

The implementation of the schemes was rapid, due to being in the context of the 2020 

pandemic and the drive to promote active travel and provide a socially distanced 

alternative form of transport. The implementation of both these pilot schemes were 

signed only changes with self-enforcement; the intervention supported by social 

campaigns and behaviour change. Road markings and signs, as well as signed 20mph 

‘gateways’ were introduced. These have a red surface to highlight the start of the new 

 
2 The continued presence of the signed only limits within the respective trials makes it necessary to equate the term post-

implementation with what is presented here as ‘post’ trial data; trials remain active at the time of writing in October 2021.  

Page 85



14 
 

speed limit. The condition for funding was for the schemes to be implemented in eight 

weeks, which resulted in consultation occurring after implementation.  

Tonbridge town centre was chosen as it had already had several large areas of 20mph 

speed limits within the Town and there was support from both KCC and Tonbridge & 

Malling Borough Council. 

Faversham 20mph speed limit reduction campaigning started in 2015, with community 

groups organising following pedestrian deaths and safety concerns from local 

members of the public. A ‘red-dot map’ was used for residents to identify where they 

felt unsafe by marking them on a map of Faversham. The perception of danger for 

vulnerable road users (VRU) including pedestrians and cyclists was felt throughout the 

town. This resulted in the group campaigning for the implementation of a 20mph speed 

limit throughout Faversham.  

In 2020, the Department for Transport (DfT) launched its Emergency Active Travel 

Fund (ATF) as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic to encourage active travel 

schemes within local authorities. The funding allocations helped enable Kent County 

Council to use experimental traffic orders to introduce town-wide 20mph speed 

limit/zone trials. The scheme in Faversham had previously been designed by 

Faversham Town Council (FTC) but due to the time limits on funding, the complete 

proposed layout was prevented from being implemented in full initially.  

DEAL COMPARATOR 
The town of Deal in Kent was used a control location. No intervention or signed only 

speed limit reduction was introduced in Deal while the 20mph speed trials were 

ongoing in Faversham and Tonbridge. Behavioural and attitudinal surveys and 

pedestrian and cyclist count data were collected in Deal alongside the two trial towns. 

Deal is used to compare and analyse results across the two experimental locations of 

Faversham and Tonbridge.  

The effects of COVID-19 related measures, as well as the differing transport patterns 

(journey purpose and route, for example) and spatial geographies of the towns should 

be factored into consideration of the changes in both cycling and walking that took 

place. In Faversham, the town has a historic centre where narrows roads encourage 

lower speeds. In Tonbridge, pedal cycle commuter traffic to and from the train station 

is a recognisable feature, where cycling levels would have been affected by recent 

lockdown measures. For Deal, domestic tourism is connected to cycling levels relative 

to seasonality. On a county wide level, comparison with Deal provides a perspective 

on background trends within urban roads and lower speed limit perceptions in Kent.  

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DATA COLLECTED AND 

ANALYSED 
The quantitative data analysed was either road user count data or Vivacity AI data and 

allows for some preliminary and indictive observations to be deduced. However, it 

should be noted that there are limitations with some data sources. Direct comparisons 

could not always be made due to the different natures of sources and a lack of access 

to complete data. The automatic traffic counter (ATC) data, for example, has a 

baseline from four years ago for one town and at the start of the trial for the other. The 

Page 86



15 
 

pre-trial pedestrian and cycling data did not always cover the same locations as the 

post-trial data. The telematics data utilised covered an entire year and did not directly 

correspond with the trial period. The telematics data is measured over the length of a 

particular road and not at specific points as with ATC measurements, suppressing 

speeds.  

Despite these limitations, speed data analysis could be conducted within each town, 

separately exploring telematics and ACT data.  

There was insufficient time post-trial to analyse collision data and comment on safety 

improvements specifically. 

The qualitative data analysed comprised of: 

• Behavioural surveys compromising the outputs of c. 600 face to face surveys 

with questionnaires (1,800 respondents in total). These outputs are thematically 

divided into ‘self-reported’ and ‘intended’ behaviour for drivers, pedestrians and 

cyclists respectively.3  

• Pre-existing research studies and historic case studies. 

• Consultation evidence received by KCC between 31st July 2020 and 3rd March 

2021 on the experimental traffic orders for both trial areas. 

REFERENCE SOURCES 
Table 1: Reference sources used 

Name of Data Source Creator/Owner Link to Appendix 

ATC data  KCC Appendix A – Traffic profiles 

Traffic and flow data Vivacity Appendix B – ATC and 
Vivacity Comparison 

Faversham consultation KCC, Project Centre Appendix C – KCC 
Faversham Consultation 

Tonbridge consultation KCC, Project Centre Appendix D – KCC 
Tonbridge Consultation 

Faversham Commonplace 
consultation 

Commonplace Appendix E – Faversham 
Commonplace Consultation 

Map of ATC, Manual Count 
and Vivacity locations  

KCC Appendix F – ATC, Manual 
Counts and Vivacity Camera 
Locations 

Reported crash data  Agilysis Appendix G – Crash Map 

20mph qualitative survey 
data  

Lake Market Research Appendix H – Qualitiative 
Survey Data 

20mph Zones in Tonbridge & 
Faversham – Pedestrian and 
Cyclist Count Analysis 

Strategic Commissioning – 
Analytics KCC, PMRS  

Appendix I – Pedestrian and 
Cyclist Count Analysis 

 
3 ‘Self-reported’ behaviour refers to those criteria which express individuals’ reported levels of a specific 
activity and ‘intended’ behaviour refers to expressed intentions to carry out an activity in specified 
circumstances.  

Page 87



16 
 

OTHER 20MPH STUDIES 

ATKINS REPORT ASSESSMENT AND BEST PRACTICE 
Pre-existing research into the effectiveness of 20mph limits is important to consider 

here, as it provides a conceptual base from which we can not only identify trends or 

discrepancies against comparable schemes, but also as to pinpoint common interest 

areas surrounding best practice. 

One of the most comprehensive research studies on 20mph reductions was 

commissioned by the Department for Transport (Maher, 2018). It is a collaborative 

report produced between University College London’s Professor Mike Maher, Atkins, 

and AECOM. The applicability of the report’s framework and findings are extensive; 

especially since the ETOs under review in Kent fall into the same type of 20mph limit 

studied – signed only without added infrastructure, street design changes, or 

associated traffic calming measures. The report found that in many of the case-study 

schemes, limits were intended to be, and indeed were, self-enforcing through their 

capacity to formalise safer driving behaviour on nearby roads where 20mph limits were 

already in place. Over 700kms of new 20mph (signed only) limits were considered. 

The report itself constitutes a thorough comparative study into the impact of twelve 

schemes, all of which bar one were implemented between March 2012 and June 2015. 

Eight out of the twelve schemes included as part of the study hold the classification of 

‘area-wide’ and predominantly ‘residential’ schemes, meaning they are similar in 

nature to the area-wide blanket trials implemented in Faversham and Tonbridge where 

a substantial portion of the towns fall within the ETO. This allows for comparison 

between ‘larger’ and more limited schemes in terms of results. Three 30mph 

comparator were referenced to address enabling and barrier criteria, as well as 

background trends of urban roads. All the schemes involved the lowering of the speed 

limit from 30mph to 20mph, and again in terms of alignment with the Kent trials, they 

were also rolled out alongside supporting community engagement activities to raise 

awareness and encourage support. Prior to this, the bulk of research has been centred 

upon 20 mph zones – usually involving the introduction of traffic calming measures on 

roads where the speed limit was already 20 mph, and without the inclusion of 

background trends (Webster, 1996).  

Whilst the Atkins report is based on studies which are six years old, its structure and 

methodology makes it a useful comparative resource. 

The implementation of any road safety-related scheme, particularly those with long-

term objectives which introduce new features and dynamics into specific localities, 

require a proactive approach, not just in terms of policy but in the way the designated 

authorities engage with and manage supporting activities (such as publicity 

campaigns). There are a whole variety of enabling and barrier criteria which need to 

be considered in the context of seeking to achieve an optimum level of progress 

towards both strategic goals and scheme impact. The most important enabling criteria, 

as citied by respondents across the 12 schemes in the Atkins 20mph Research Study, 

can be summarised as follows:  

• Clear articulation of scheme objectives, rationale, and desired outcomes 

Page 88



17 
 

• Early engagement/‘buy-in’ from stakeholders and the local community 

• Communication of wider policy integration benefits 

• Tailoring to local needs 

• Active pro-scheme campaigning/complementary activities 

• Phased delivery to ensure efficiency and awareness is accrued 

 

Conversely, those surveyed for the study were similarly asked to cite what in their 

views were the most significant barriers to the implementation of effective 20mph limit 

schemes, characterised as: 

• Inarticulate messaging and marketing 

• Confusing evidence base regarding the benefits of 20mph limits 

• A lack of clarity on the issue of their enforceability  

• Scheme opposition and political change (governance, endorsement, and 

rhetoric etc.) 

• Practical delivery issues such as limited investment and staffing resources 

 

Out of the enabling criteria, ‘early engagement from stakeholders and the community’; 

‘pro-scheme campaigning’; and ‘tailoring the scheme with clear objectives’, were all 

citied most frequently. ‘Limited resources’; ‘public opposition’; and incoherent and 

‘confusing evidence’, were cited as the most difficult factors to overcome when it 

comes to successful implementation of schemes in an effective manner. This mix of 

criteria are useful for considering how the data gathered from the Faversham and 

Tonbridge trials (both qualitative and quantitative) may have been influenced by 

external activities relating to their implementation.  

The distinction between perceived and actual outcomes provides a clear endorsement 

to approaches that consider the impacts of road safety interventions in a multi-

dimensional and critical manner. Whilst the Atkins Report incorporates a level of 

holistic awareness that is necessary in the adoption of Safe System elements and 

principles, it does not consider data relating to the wider economic or environmental 

impacts of 20mph signed only limits. Its purpose is as stated – to inform, strengthen, 

and supplement evidence-based policies and practice regarding the road safety 

implications of these said limits. This significant contribution to the evidence base will 

therefore form an important point of referral throughout this evaluation report. This is 

the case when we consider attitudes, support levels, and observed speeds for 

pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers as thematic road user groups. The general findings 

of the 20mph research study, for solely the purposes of what constitutes ‘best practice’ 

are as follows: 

• Early engagement with the public and relevant stakeholders is key in securing 

support; and this should be intertwined with articulate communication of 

benefits 

• What authorities and police say about enforcement is important in influencing 

the conceptual framework of how limits are perceived by the community.  

• High profile and integrated engagement activity is needed to complement 

20mph limits themselves. 

Page 89



18 
 

The quantitative findings (observed) from the 12 case study schemes are that:  

• Speed reductions are slightly greater in area-wide schemes than in smaller 

selective ones:  

For residential case study areas, the introduction of 20mph limits is estimated 

to have resulted in an aggregated 0.8mph reduction in median speeds and a 

1.1mph reduction in 85th percentile speeds on ‘important local roads.’  In city 

centre case study areas, the analysis shows a 0.6mph aggregated reduction in 

median speeds and a 1.0mph reduction in 85th percentile speeds. 

• From GPS journey speed analysis, 70% of drivers in residential areas and 86% 

of drivers in city centre areas were driving at less than 24mph (speeds close to 

20mph) after the trials; previously this was 65% and 79% - a small increase in 

driver compliance therefore since implementation of the trials.  

• For the new 20mph limits (signed only), the proportion of drivers travelling less 

than 20mph increased from 44% to 47%; with the change in median speed 

being -0.7mph and the 85th percentile speed change being -1.1mph.  

• For new 20mph limits (existing calming), the proportion of drivers travelling less 

than 20mph increased from 60% to 62%; with the change in median speed 

being -0.2mph and the 85th percentile speed change being -0.6mph.  

• For older 20mph limits (signed only), the proportion of drivers travelling less 

than 20mph increased from 65% to 68%; with the change in median speed 

being -0.4mph and the 85th percentile speed change being -1.3mph. 

• For older 20mph limits (existing calming), the proportion of drivers travelling 

less than 20mph increased from 67% to 66%; with the change in median speed 

being +0.2mph and the 85th percentile speed change being -0.3mph.  

• Extending 20mph limits (as part of the case study schemes’ implementation) 

appears to have had a moderate speed reduction effect upon older (signed 

only) limits; but not so on older 20mph limits (traffic-calmed). Schemes have 

formalised pre-existing behaviours of driving slower on other signed only limits. 

On traffic-calmed roads, it appears that presence of humps/chicanes has 

already led to slower speeds. Therefore, the modest scale of speed reduction 

is not surprising, as a substantial proportion of drivers were already travelling 

at speeds close to 20mph prior to the introduction of the new limits. 

The qualitative findings (perceived) were that: 

• Local residents and respondents generally perceived that 20mph limits were 

beneficial during/after the trials. 

• Most residents did not perceive that vehicle speeds had reduced as a result of 

the trials.  

• The speed at which people drive is influenced often by the look and feel of the 

road, rather than whether a 20mph or 30mph limit is in place. 

• In many cases, the implementation of a 20mph limit has formalised existing 

behaviours as ascribed across many criteria. 

• Based on self-reported evidence, there were signs of a small (but significant) 

increase in use of active travel modes since implementation. Local residents 

and road users suggested that slower speeds were one of a combination of 

Page 90



19 
 

factors required to improve the environment for walking and cycling. 

Appropriate cycle infrastructure (segregated and unsegregated cycle lanes, 

safe crossings, sufficient space, cycle parking) which makes cyclists feel safe 

and secure, and considerate behaviour from drivers and other cyclists are also 

important requirements for a safe and attractive cycling environment. 

• Whilst the introduction of a 20mph limit is perceived as a largely positive 

measure for pedestrians and cyclists; infrastructure-related barriers to walking 

and cycling remained, and the change in reported levels of walking and cycling 

undertaken by residents in general appeared to be small (but statistically 

significant). 

• Longer-term 20mph schemes which are supported by complementary 

transport, health, environment and community policy and interventions are 

likely to deliver greater benefits. 

• The most effective schemes are those which are based on a broad integrated 

policy agenda (involving health, environment, urban planning, emergency 

services, education, community representatives, for example).  

• There is a widespread view amongst respondents that 20mph limits are not 

enforced. This is one of the reasons why bigger reductions in speed have not 

been observed in scheme areas. 

• The findings validate DfT guidance which states that where there is 

moderate/strong support from residents, in conjunction with median speeds 

below 24mph, then compliance is highly likely and that authorities should 

therefore look to implement or extent 20mph signed only limits.  

OTHER 20MPH LITERATURE REVIEW (BRISTOL AND EDINBURGH) 
A literature review of previously implemented and evaluated case studies of additional 

20mph schemes in the UK was carried out, from which Edinburgh and Bristol were 

notable examples. Corresponding results, findings and conclusions are summarised 

in this section.  

In 2018, an evaluation of Bristol’s 20mph intervention from 2014 to 2015 was carried 

out by the University of West England (UWE) Centre for Public Health and Wellbeing, 

commissioned by Bristol City Council (known as the BRITE study).  

The implementation of 20mph speed limits in Bristol was more than just about reducing 

road traffic casualties; it aimed to improve health and well-being across the city and 

see how slower traffic speeds could potentially impact people’s daily lives. The speed 

limit was introduced in phases, with the first introduced in January 2014 and the 

scheme completed in September 2015. A variety of data sources, which included 

vehicle speeds from ATC and Trafficmaster, and road traffic casualties from STATS19 

(eight years of data between 2008 and 2016) were analysed. Walking and cycling 

levels, surveys on public perception, attitudes, and reported levels of health and well-

being were compared before and after the introduction of 20mph speed limits. 

The speed limit changes implemented were signed only with social marketing support; 

there were no additional engineering or traffic calming measures introduced. The study 

found statistically significant reductions in average traffic speeds of 2.7mph across the 

city of Bristol, following the introduction of 20mph speed limits. The largest reduction 

Page 91



20 
 

in speed was on 20mph A and B roads and this overall larger reduction may have 

been a result of the methodological differences employed in the BRITE study, 

compared to previous studies. For the study in Bristol, individual speed data from over 

36 million vehicle observations was used, rather than daily average speeds, and the 

inclusion of both residential and larger roads. Using individual vehicle speeds for the 

analysis created a more granular picture of average speeds, as it accounted for 

change in individual speeds depending on time of day.  

The Bristol study concluded that while reducing casualties and average speed is a 

positive outcome, 

success is not defined by all average speeds being under the set speed limit of 

20mph – it is about bringing vehicle speeds down closer to 20mph, and 

assessing any positive impacts of that speed reduction compared to the 

situation before the introduction of the lower limits (Pilkington, Bornioli, Bray, & 

Bird, 2018, p. 16).  

Positive impacts include casualty reductions, increasing physical activity, social 

interaction, reducing pollution and increasing safety, community support and modal 

shift.  

To assess the effectiveness of 20mph speed limit interventions and evaluations, it is 

important to ‘prioritise the ongoing collection and analysis of appropriate data on 

vehicle speeds, road traffic casualties and promote community health and well-being’.  

Similarly, in 2019, an interim evaluation on the key outcomes following the 

implementation of 20mph speed limits in Edinburgh was carried out by the National 

Institute for Health Research (NIHR). Comparably, the intervention in Edinburgh was 

also a sign-only scheme and did not involve the introduction of any physical traffic 

calming measures, like speed humps. The evaluation aimed to provide an overview of 

changes in vehicle speed and volume, road traffic collision rates and injury before and 

after the implementation of 20mph speed limits. 

The report concluded in noting a statistically significant reduction in average vehicle 

speed of 1.34mph for all 66 streets where limits were implemented. Speeds over 

30mph showed the greatest observed reduction post-implementation with the 

percentage of drivers exceeding 20mph lower than that observed before the speed 

limit implementation. A higher reduction in average speed (2.03mph) was observed in 

streets where the average speed pre 20mph speed limit was greater than or equal to 

24mph. As part of the study, there was no evidence of change in the average volume 

of traffic after the 20mph speed limit implementation or displacement of traffic from 

20mph streets to 30mph streets.  

The evidence from the Edinburgh study supports the conclusion from the report on the 

20mph speed limit implementation in Bristol (Bornioli, Bray, Pilkington, & Parkin, 

2019). The report indicates there was not only a reduction in speed post-

implementation but also a reduction in road traffic collision rates. In 2013, there was a 

20mph survey research report (Research Resource , 2013) published by the City of 

Edinburgh Council which summarised the key findings from surveys of public attitudes 

to a 20mph speed limit in South Central Edinburgh. To monitor the attitudinal and 

Page 92



21 
 

behavioural benefits of the scheme, a face-to-face survey was carried out prior to 

implementation and replicated one year after the implementation of the speed limit 

reduction. The results of the survey supported an increase in safety perception for 

cycling post 20mph limits and the overall support for 20mph speed limit increased 

significantly with the proportion of respondents strongly supporting the speed limit 

post-implementation.  

CONCLUSION 
References to these other studies are made throughout this report, using evidence 

collected and analysed elsewhere to put the findings in Kent into context. 

 

Page 93



22 
 

CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND 

ALIGNMENT WITH WIDER AIMS, GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

Vision Zero Strategy 

The road safety strategy for Kent’s ‘Vision Zero’ defines a path for a 30-year vision to 

2050, with a five-year strategy between 2021 – 2026 delivering safer roads, towns, 

and villages in Kent. The strategy sets a target of a 50% reduction in fatalities and life 

changing injuries by 2030. The vision to 2050 incorporates key road safety concepts 

and goals with aims and objectives. At the centre of the strategy is the target of ‘zero, 

or as close as possible, road fatalities or life changing injuries’, embedding the Safe 

System as the norm (which is considered best practice in road safety), and 

encouraging walking and cycling as a safe and easy choice, which all together puts 

Kent at the forefront of road safety innovation.  

The strategy includes proactive community engagement using the ‘CIRCLE’ 

approach, which encourages public engagement, community concerns, safety, and 

quality of life as well as injury reduction, incorporating common responsibility and 

localised campaigns to discuss and develop solutions together.  

The strategy also states it is Kent County Council’s ‘ambition to make walking and 

cycling an attractive and realistic choice for shorter journeys.’ Targeted campaigns for 

raising awareness and reducing speed limits is mentioned in the strategy, with KCC 

working with local communities to achieve compliance with new limits. The 20mph 

speed limit/zone trials in Faversham and Tonbridge therefore align with the wider goals 

and aims of the Kent Vision Zero strategy, as lower speed limits have generally 

coincided with higher safety perceptions, which in turn encourages more walking and 

cycling use. A 2020 YouGov survey of Kent residents mentioned in the strategy 

informed KCC that safety perception is an important part of active travel uptake as 

56% of resident respondents felt that traffic is too fast to cycle safely on the road and 

63% would like to see more cycle lanes in their local area.  

The pilot trials in Faversham and Tonbridge for speed limit reductions in Kent are part 

of the Safe System under the Safe Speeds element. The Safe Speeds actions include 

evaluating and learning from the ‘pilot 20mph speed limit towns (Faversham and 

Tonbridge) and analysis of the impacts and success of measures to improve 

compliance’. 

Active travel and Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP)  

The trial schemes under review have been introduced at a time when both Faversham 

Town Council (FTC) and Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council (TMBC) are 

formulating their own Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP). These 

provide an opportunity to not only assess road safety performance relating to active 

travel and their strategic objectives, but also to ensure that relevant policy aims are 

addressed sufficiently moving forward. In Faversham, there is now a push to drive 

walking infrastructure plans to fruition and hence generate a modal shift; and FTC 

views the 20mph limit as ‘one component of a longer-term plan to enable more walking 

and cycling in the town and surrounding area.’ Likewise in Tonbridge, consultation is 

Page 94



23 
 

underway to assess the extent to which infrastructure can continually connect places 

to one another effectively. This has involved consideration of several questions, such 

as whether routes align with trips that are regularly made by foot and pedal cycle and 

to identify the main barriers to active travel participation and how can these be 

overcome. The Borough hopes to attain a 10% modal shift as part of their Local Plan.  

MARKETING, COMMUNICATION AND MESSAGING  
The marketing and communications campaigns designed for the 20mph trial speed 

limit reductions in Faversham and Tonbridge were aimed to be versatile, engaging, 

and with consistent communication to support the signed-only scheme to achieve 

positive outcomes.  

The scheme was designed to be self-enforcing which was to be attained by raising 

awareness, increasing knowledge, and influencing positive behaviour change. The 

main communication objectives of the scheme included raising awareness and 

embedding the benefits from an increase in walking and cycling during the COVID-19 

lockdown to persuade residents, employees, and employers. To educate and increase 

knowledge about the benefits of the scheme and to generate ‘buy-in’ and support, it 

was important to engage with the community to build on existing support and 

momentum, advocacy and include local concerns. Objectives of the scheme were also 

to encourage behaviour change among key audiences, by making it easier for 

motorists to observe the speed limit and persuading more people to walk and cycle in 

town by encouraging empathy and responsibility among all road users. 

The campaign delivery was the responsibility of KCC’s Schemes Planning and 

Delivery team. This included formal campaign communications, engagement, and 

consultation, supported by Kent Communications and the Road Safety team. KCC’s 

Strategic Commissioning Analytics team provided expert advice on monitoring and 

evaluation. As part of the campaign, additional support and expertise were by those 

specialising in Active Travel and the Environment.  

The campaign was delivered in three phases and evaluation of the campaign was 

designed to take place mid-way and within one month of its conclusion. Click rates on 

social media posts and accounts, websites and media coverage were the measures 

chosen to evaluate. 

Social media campaigns, media releases on local news outlet, online publications, 

radio, webpages, and town council campaign feeds as well as official Kent websites 

which are trusted sources of information were used as free and low-cost options for 

campaign delivery. Paid for and budgeted campaign methods included social media 

advertising targeted by postcode and potential age group was also incorporated, 

leaflets, newsletter, TV and radio advertising, billboards, and advertising boards. 

Events and engagement opportunities like online and community events, including 

schools and local community as well as large employers were all part of the 

communications drive. 

Faversham  

The 20mph scheme was requested by the 20’s Plenty Faversham community 

campaign which has been supported by the Faversham Town Council and delivered 

Page 95



24 
 

by the KCC. Local support from various community groups is favourable for the 

implementation of the scheme. 

The target audience for these communications and messaging were Faversham 

residents and residents of neighbouring parishes – Oare, Ospringe, Graveney, 

Boughton, Selling, Shedwich and Stalisfield. Motorists and transport companies, 

businesses, local schools, and community groups like Age UK Faversham, for 

example, were also targeted. Following a Mosaic group analysis on local 

demographics, it was revealed that the top three groups preferred email and landline 

followed by post as preferred channels of communication. Faversham Town Council 

and the 20’s Plenty Faversham campaign group were involved in building upon the 

communication and engagement at a local level. 

Faversham sent out media releases to keep residents informed on what was 

happening through Faversham Town Council, which were weekly and regular social 

media posting during the first phase of campaign delivery pre-implementation of 

20mph speed limits. 

During the second phase, Kent Media Group which is a multimedia company and 

publisher of the Kent Messenger (KM) carried out sponsored content, including 

information articles addressing questions like ‘why, what, when, where and how’ with 

regards to the trial. It also included promoting digital displays online (which resulted in 

62k impressions), press ads for two weeks and homepage takeover using visual 

banners across the KM website for 24 hours, which led to high impact and was good 

for awareness and generating clicks. 

During the third phase (during which the 20mph trial was live), Faversham had 

continued digital advertisement to raise awareness and encourage people to walk and 

cycle as well as a homepage takeover in the first week of the trial launch, in October 

and in January with messaging that supported active travel.  

Alongside, Faversham had banners, stickers, postcards, sweatshirts and launch 

activities with Swale Borough Council. All these led to Faversham creating and 

delivering a more varied communications strategy. 

Tonbridge 

The target audience for these campaigns were Tonbridge residents and residents of 

neighbouring parishes, businesses including local town centre shops and cafes, 

industrial estates, local school, and community groups, like cadets and guides. A 

Mosaic demographic analysis was also carried out for Tonbridge and email, mobile, 

landline and post were revealed to be the most preferred channels of communication.  

Additional support and expertise were provided by local organisations specialising in 

Active Travel and the Environment. TMBC built upon the communication and 

engagement at a local level, including briefings and providing information to local 

community groups, such as the Town Team, TBugs and resident associations.  

Leaflets and posters were distributed to residents in the second phase of the trial 

implementation, KM digital advertisements as well as ads on petrol stations and extra 

social media were also sponsored as part of communications strategy in Tonbridge. 

Page 96



25 
 

Local and residential stakeholders created short videos from members of the 

community in support of the 20mph speed limit changes. Tonbridge had more 

marketing focused on when the 20mph trial was live compared to activities the first 

phases pre-implementation. 

Survey Findings 

The 20mph signed-only limit/zone schemes, both in Faversham and Tonbridge, 

involved specific marketing, communication, and messaging initiatives. In terms of 

general awareness, a stark contrast can be drawn between the two trial towns, and 

Deal, the control location, on the respective levels of residents’ awareness of ‘an 

introduction of 20mph zones/limits’ in both pre- and post-surveys. A quarter of Deal 

respondents had heard about an introduction of 20mph limits or zones prior to the 

schemes being implemented in the other two Kent towns, decreasing to only 6% after 

they had come into force. Expectedly, the levels of awareness across Faversham and 

Tonbridge were significantly higher for both the pre and post survey: Faversham 

(67%/74%) and Tonbridge (65%/62%). The proportion of residents in Faversham who 

had heard about 20mph limits/zones increased by a small amount (+7%) since the 

introduction of the schemes, whereas in Tonbridge, the figure remained almost 

unchanged (-3%).  

Breaking these awareness levels down further, respondents also provided feedback 

as to the specific mediums and channels through which they had respectively heard 

about 20mph zones/limits. Road signage and markings were cited most frequently by 

residents in both towns: Faversham (78%) and Tonbridge (64%). Aside from 

infrastructure, respondents in Faversham had, in general, heard about the 20mph 

zones/limits by a considerably greater proportion across a range of channels. The only 

channels through which Tonbridge residents had heard on a larger scale about 20mph 

limits/zones were via ‘Kent County Council’s website’ (8% for Tonbridge, compared to 

4% for Faversham) and ‘newsletters delivered to my home’ (30% for Tonbridge, 

compared to 17% for Faversham). The greatest disparities, in terms of awareness 

levels via specific channels, were across ‘roadside banners’, ‘posters’, ‘online articles’, 

‘car park signs’, and ‘market square events’ – all of which scored significantly higher 

for Faversham respondents than those in Tonbridge. Whilst clearly both towns’ overall 

levels of resident awareness were positively affected by complementary and externally 

associated activities, the marketing strategies used as part of these, impacted levels 

of awareness to a greater extent and over a broader spectrum of multi-media channels 

in Faversham.  

20’S PLENTY CAMPAIGN  
From 2015 onwards, Faversham Town Council (FTC) have been involved with a 

specific campaign group known as ‘20’s Plenty’ or ‘20 is plenty for Us’ (nationally). The 

branch of the campaign for Faversham, ‘20’s Plenty for Faversham’, was conceived 

and ran for a considerable amount of time prior to the trial scheme. The impetus behind 

this campaign has been to ensure that in Faversham, 20mph is seen as the norm in 

terms of driver behaviour. Similarly, it is viewed by those involved as a component of 

moving away from a car-based recovery now and over the long term, encouraging 

active travel uptake and generating safety perception changes with this goal in mind. 

The campaign is framed as an advocacy group of 20mph/30kmh limits and should be 

Page 97



26 
 

viewed therefore within the context of increased adoption of these limits by many 

highways and local authorities. In this capacity the campaign seeks to build upon the 

momentum of reduction limits that have occurred on a much broader sense. The 

marketing mix used in Faversham has clearly affected resident respondent attitude 

changes. Tonbridge currently have no active 20’s Plenty campaign. Both towns were 

chosen by Kent County Council (KCC) as trial areas irrespective of associated 

activities adopted as part of their own strategic and policy choices. In Tonbridge, 

councillors’ and KCC members’ aspiration for the town to be chosen was considered 

when the trial areas were originally being selected. As such there is an 

acknowledgement that public ‘knowledge of why the 20mph has been introduced; and 

raising awareness thereafter’ are integral to Tonbridge’s strategy.  

Page 98



27 
 

Drivers 

Observed Driver Behaviour 
Speed and traffic data was extracted from a series of Automatic Traffic Count (ATC) 

surveys at various sites across Faversham and Tonbridge. Faversham’s ATC surveys 

covered thirteen sites over one week in both September 2017 (19th to 25th September) 

and July 2021 (8th to 14th July). Similarly, Tonbridge’s ATC surveys covered twelve 

sites over one week in both July/August 2020 (30th July to 5th August) and July 2021 

(3rd to 9th July). This data allows for direct comparison between speeds before and 

after implementation of the 20mph scheme. It is worth highlighting the longer time 

period of almost four years between the two speed surveys in Faversham. This poses 

a limitation on how much the differences in speed can be attributed to the introduction 

of the 20mph scheme. However, it is thought that no other interventions had been 

imposed in this time and so it is more likely than not that the observed changes are a 

result of the scheme (speeds did increase nationally during the first lockdown of the 

COVID-19 pandemic but these had returned to previous levels over time. It cannot be 

said categorically that this was the case at all sites within the trial). 

Prior to trial implementation in Faversham, the average ATC speed was 22.2mph and 

this reduced to 21.3mph in July 2021. This represents a 4.1% reduction (-0.9mph) 

from a level that was already much lower than the pre-trial speed for Tonbridge. In 

Tonbridge, the average ATC speed was 29.1mph, and this reduced to 26.1 mph in 

July 2021. This represents a 10.3% reduction (-3mph). The baseline was September 

2017 for Faversham and July/August 2020 for Tonbridge. ATC speed changes that 

have taken place in both towns are noteworthy, across individual sites and as 

proportionate percentage reductions in general. 

In Faversham, pre-trial, the average 85th percentile speed was 25.9mph and this 

reduced to 25.2mph. This represents a - 2.7% (-0.7mph) reduction and was again 

lower than the pre-trial measurement for Tonbridge. In Tonbridge, the average 85th 

percentile was 33.7mph and this reduced to 31.1mph. This represents a -7.7% 

reduction (-2.6mph). It should always be noted that Tonbridge had higher pre-speeds 

than in Faversham and therefore a greater reduction was expected to have occurred.  

In-vehicle telematics data, which shows average speed difference across the local 

road networks, shows that most roads in Faversham saw reductions of up to 5mph. In 

Tonbridge, many roads saw reductions in average speeds (particularly in the north of 

the town where there were fewer 20mph limits previously). Both towns had a number 

of roads that saw increases in average speeds, most of which were less than 5mph, 

however. 

Table 2 and Table 3 show the ATC average speeds both before and after the 

implementation of the 20mph schemes in Faversham and Tonbridge respectively, as 

well as the observed difference in average speeds. Aside from two sites in Faversham 

(namely Athelstan Road and Old Gate Road) average speeds reduced across 

Faversham and Tonbridge by between 0.6mph and 4.6mph. The average reduction 

measured in Faversham was 0.9mph, or 1.8mph (excluding Athelstan Road and Old 

Gate Road). The average reduction in Tonbridge was 3mph. 

Page 99



28 
 

Although speeds increased considerably along Athelstan Road, the average speeds 

in 2021 (20.7mph) were still broadly in line with the new speed limit. Likewise, although 

speeds increased on Old Gate Road, the average speeds in 2021 remained relatively 

low (17.6mph). 

There appeared to be better compliance with the new 20mph speed limits in 

Faversham when compared to Tonbridge. In July 2021, five of Faversham’s thirteen 

sites (38%) had average speeds below 20mph, and 10 of 13 (77%) had average 

speeds below 24mph4. Tonbridge, on the other hand, had no sites with average 

speeds below 20mph in July 2021, and only four in 12 (33%) sites had average speeds 

below 24mph. 

Table 2 - Faversham ATC Average Speed (mph) Summary (September 2017 to July 2021) 

 
September 2017 July 2021 Difference 

Athelstan Road 15.0 20.7 5.6 

Bysing Wood 
Road 

27.9 26.3 -1.7 

Lower Road 26.0 24.9 -1.1 

Oare Road 32.4 29.0 -3.4 

Old Gate Road 15.2 17.6 2.5 

Ospringe Road 26.1 23.5 -2.7 

Priory Row 18.7 17.5 -1.2 

Reedland 
Crescent 

19.8 15.3 -4.5 

South Road 23.0 22.4 -0.6 

Stonebridge Way 20.0 18.8 -1.3 

The Mall 24.0 22.5 -1.5 

Westgate Road 17.6 16.5 -1.1 

Whitstable Road 22.9 22.2 -0.7 
 

Table 3 - Tonbridge ATC Average Speed (mph) Summary (July/August 2020 to July 2021) 

 
July/August 2020 July 2021 Difference 

A227 25.9 23.2 -2.7 

A26 33.2 28.6 -4.6 

Ave Du Puy 23.7 22.7 -1.0 

B245 32.5 28.4 -4.0 

Brook St 29.4 25.2 -4.2 

Dry Hill Park 27.3 23.2 -4.1 

Higham Lane 26.8 24.7 -2.1 

Pembury Rd 31.4 26.9 -4.5 

Priory Rd 25.1 23.7 -1.4 

Shipbourne Rd 31.3 28.2 -3.1 

 
4 DfT 2013 circular for guidance on setting speed limits advises if the mean speed is already at or below 
24mph on a road, introducing a 20mph speed limit through signing alone is likely to lead to general 
compliance with the new speed limit.  

Page 100



29 
 

The Ridgeway 32.7 30.0 -2.8 

Yardley Park 30.1 28.2 -1.9 

 

Table 4 shows the average hourly 85th percentile speeds (weighted by vehicle counts) 

both before and after the implementation of the 20mph schemes in Faversham, as 

well as the observed difference. Table 5 shows this for Tonbridge. As with average 

speeds, 85th percentile speeds reduced across Tonbridge and Faversham, apart from 

Athelstan Road and Old Gate Road. 

Despite 85th percentile speeds increasing on average along Old Gate Road, these 

remained relatively low in 2021 at 20.6mph, indicating that compliance with the new 

speed limit was good. The 85th percentile speeds at Athelstan Road rose higher, to 

24.4mph, although this is still lower than for most sites in Faversham and Tonbridge. 

In July 2021, the average 85th percentile speed across Faversham’s ATC sites was 

25.2mph, with an average in Tonbridge of 31.1mph. This indicates greater high-end 

speeds in Tonbridge compared to Faversham. This was also observed in the pre-

implementation ATS surveys, where Tonbridge had an average 85th percentile speed 

of 33.7mph compared to 25.9 in Faversham. 

Table 4 - Faversham ATC 85th Percentile Speed (mph) Summary (September 2017 to July 2021) 

 
September 2017 July 2021 Difference 

Athelstan Road 17.3 24.4 7.2 

Bysing Wood 
Road 

31.6 30.7 -0.9 

Lower Road 30.6 30.0 -0.6 

Oare Road 37.1 34.9 -2.2 

Old Gate Road 17.1 20.6 3.5 

Ospringe Road 30.9 27.6 -3.4 

Priory Row 22.1 20.9 -1.2 

Reedland 
Crescent 

22.8 17.7 -5.1 

South Road 28.2 26.5 -1.7 

Stonebridge Way 22.1 22.0 -0.1 

The Mall 28.4 26.1 -2.2 

Westgate Road 21.3 20.2 -1.1 

Whitstable Road 27.6 26.3 -1.3 

 

Table 5 - Tonbridge ATC Average Speed (mph) Summary (July/August 2020 to July 2021) 

 
July/August 2020 July 2021 Difference 

A227 30.5 27.7 -2.9 

A26 38.1 34.8 -3.3 

Ave Du Puy 26.4 25.6 -0.7 

B245 36.5 33.5 -3.0 

Brook St 33.6 30.0 -3.6 

Page 101



30 
 

Dry Hill Park 31.6 27.9 -3.7 

Higham Lane 31.5 29.0 -2.5 

Pembury Rd 36.0 32.0 -4.0 

Priory Rd 30.5 29.2 -1.3 

Shipbourne Rd 37.9 34.8 -3.1 

The Ridgeway 37.7 35.8 -1.9 

Yardley Park 34.5 33.0 -1.5 

 

Full profiles of average and 85th percentile speeds at all sites in Faversham and 

Tonbridge are included in Appendix A – Traffic profiles on page 58. 

From January 2021 onwards, continuous speed and traffic flow data has been 

available in Kent from Vivacity sensors. There were four six sensors in Faversham 

and seven sensors in Tonbridge that had complete coverage for January to July 2021. 

Appendix B – ATC and Vivacity Comparison on page 96 includes a comparison of the 

Vivacity speed and flow data to that gathered by ATC surveys. Comparisons show 

that traffic counts reliably agree across the two different data sources. There is good 

correlation in average speeds recorded by the two different sources, although speeds 

recorded by Vivacity appear to be suppressed compared to ATC average speeds.  

Across the sites surveyed for both towns, therefore, speeds have decreased 

moderately since the introduction of the trials (-0.9mph for Faversham and -3.0mph in 

Tonbridge for ATC speeds); (-0.7mph for Faversham and -2.6mph for 85th percentile 

average reductions). Speeds were already much higher in Tonbridge; hence a greater 

reduction was expected. This aligns with the 20mph limit (signed only) Research Study 

which found that the fastest drivers reduce speed by the greatest amount. 

Vehicle speed data is also available in Kent from Ordnance Survey’s Highways 

Network Speed Data. Average speeds are calculated using in-vehicle telematics data. 

As sample sizes are lower than those from ATC or Vivacity sensors, data is 

aggregated annually over financial years (April to the following March). This allows for 

network-wide comparisons of average speeds in Faversham and Tonbridge over a 

period before the introduction of 20mph speed limits/zones (April 2019 to March 2020) 

and a period in which the new speed limits/zones were introduced (April 2020 to March 

2021). It is important to note that this latter period does not align exactly with the 

20mph scheme and includes a significant period in which the original speed limits were 

still in place. Although this will result in an underestimation of the overall effect of the 

scheme, this does provide some indication of what changes there may have been in 

average speeds. 

Figure 3 shows the differences in average speeds between the 2019/20 and 2020/21 

in Faversham. Most roads saw reductions of up to 5mph, with a few having even higher 

reductions in average speed. Some roads saw increases in average speeds, although 

most of these were by less than 5mph. 

Page 102



31 
 

Figure 3 - Faversham Average Speeds Differences (2019/20 to 2020/21) 

 

Figure 4 shows the changes in average speeds in Tonbridge between 2019/20 and 

2020/21. As with Faversham, many roads in Tonbridge saw reductions in average 

speed of up to 5mph, particularly in the north of the town. There were some roads that 

saw increases in average speeds, although most of these were by less than 5mph. 

Page 103



32 
 

Figure 4 - Tonbridge Average Speeds Differences (2019/20 to 2020/21) 

 

Figure 5 shows average speeds across Faversham between April 2019 and March 

2020. Most roads in Faversham had average speeds below 20mph. Very few roads 

had average speeds above 24mph. These include the A2, Ospringe Road, Bysing 

Wood Road, Oare Road, Lower Road, Whitstable Road, and Love Lane. This aligns 

with the ATC data, where Oare Road, Bysing Wood Road, Ospringe Road and Lower 

Road had the highest average speeds in September 2017. 

Page 104



33 
 

Figure 5 - Faversham Average Speeds (April 2019 to March 2020) 

 

Figure 6 shows average speeds in Tonbridge between April 2019 and March 2020. 

Most roads had average speeds in this period below 20mph. However, there were 

some roads with higher average speeds, including some that were over 30mph. Higher 

speeds were found along parts of the A26, as well as Shipbourne Road, The 

Ridgeway, Dry Hill Park Road, Yardley Park Road, Pembury Road, Brook Street, and 

the B245. This agrees with the ATC speed data, as the A26, The Ridgeway, the B245, 

Pembury Road, Shipbourne Road, Yardley Park Road, Brook Street, and Dry Hill Park 

Road had the highest average speeds in July/August 2020. 

Page 105



34 
 

Figure 6 - Tonbridge Average Speeds (April 2019 to March 2020) 

 

Figure 7 shows average speeds in Faversham between April 2020 and March 2021. 

As in the 2019/20 period, most roads had average speeds below 20mph. Few roads 

had average speeds above 24mph, and these overlapped with the roads which had 

higher speeds in 2019/20. These include the A2, Ospringe Road, Bysing Wood Road, 

and Oare Road. Whitstable Road and Love Lane, however, saw speeds reduce to 

below 24mph. 

Page 106



35 
 

Figure 7- Faversham Average Speeds (April 2020 to March 2021) 

 

Figure 8 shows average speeds across Tonbridge between April 2020 and March 2021. 

Like the 2019/20 period, most roads had average speeds in this period below 20mph. 

There were, however, still some roads with average speeds above 20mph, including 

some over 30mph. Higher speeds were found along similar parts of the network to 

those in 2019/20. These include parts of the A26, Shipbourne Road, The Ridgeway, 

Dry Hill Park Road, Yardley Park Road, Pembury Road, Brook Street, and the B245. 

Again, this agrees with what was observed in the ATC data, with the highest average 

speeds in July 2021 being recorded on The Ridgeway, the A26, the B245, Shipbourne 

Road, Yardley Park Road, Pembury Road, and Brook Street. 

Page 107



36 
 

Figure 8 - Tonbridge Average Speeds (April 2020 to March 2021) 

 

It is difficult to report directly on any changes in observed risk in Faversham and 

Tonbridge following the implementation of the 20mph speed limit schemes. As 

collisions are relatively rare, the few months for which STATS19 is currently available 

post-implementation would not give a sufficiently representative sample to provide 

robust measures of risk. A longer-term evaluation of this scheme should reflect on 

changes in collision rates once enough time has passed. 

The Atkins 20mph report’s impact evaluation into 20mph signed only limits outlines 

the distinct changes in observed speed within older 20mph that are ‘traffic calmed/with 

additional infrastructure’ compared with those that ‘signed only’ within the case study 

schemes themselves. The conclusion that greater speed reductions occur over the 

Page 108



37 
 

long-term over the course of signed only limit schemes, as opposed to traffic-calmed 

limits, is definitive. This is evidenced by the 20mph Research Study’s findings based 

on GPS journey speed data; where in ‘traffic-calmed’ 20mph zones with limits, the 

change in median speed was +0.2mph, and the change in 85th percentile speed was 

+0.3mph. This contrasts to the observed speed changes upon the new 20mph signed 

only limits introduced themselves, and older limits of the same nature. Within the new 

signed only limits, the change in median speed was -0.7mph and the change in 85th 

percentile speed was -1.1mph. The speed reductions on older 20mph signed only 

limits were similarly significant across the case study schemes, with the change in 

median speed being -0.4mph and the change in 85th percentile. (Maher, 2018, pp. 59-

60). The potential for the 20mph signed-only limit trials to formalise and embed positive 

driver behaviour, as well as to aid ongoing speed reductions, are important 

considerations therefore in refining the schemes moving forward.  

INTENDED and Reported Behaviour 
Pre-evaluation phase questionnaire data gathered insights into individuals’ self-

reported frequency levels of driving prior to the initial fieldwork of the trials. Levels of 

self-reported car usage ‘everyday’ were notably higher for Tonbridge (32%) than in 

Faversham (22%) and Deal (21%). Deal had almost a quarter of respondents (24%) 

having stated that they ‘never’ travel by/use a car; this was 17% for both trial towns. 

Affinity for car travel was, on average, slightly higher for Tonbridge than in Faversham, 

and notably more so than in Deal. During the fieldwork phase of the trials (post 

introduction of coronavirus-related measures), car usage decreased across all three 

towns for ‘every day’ use; Faversham (-6%); Tonbridge (-10%); and Deal (-3%).  

Since the introduction of 20mph (signed only) limits/zones, a similar level of residents 

in Faversham (+6%) and Tonbridge (+5%) reported an increase in their level of car-

related activity. Those assigning themselves as driving conversely decreased by 7% 

In Faversham and by 5% in Tonbridge. In terms of net percentage change therefore, 

car usage remained virtually unchanged following the introduction of the limits – a 

contrast to more active travel modes, where we saw notable increases in walking and 

slightly more modest increases in cycling across both trial areas. The beginnings of 

an acceleration away from car reliance (considering only self-reported changes) did 

not crystalize across all the towns. The distinction between this reported and actual 

observed behaviour must be highlighted here, with empirical changes explored in the 

pedestrian and cyclists counts provided. In Faversham, these plateauing levels of car 

use may be connected to respondents’ attitudes to blanket infrastructure and the 

perceived adverse behaviour of drivers as a road user group. In Tonbridge, a lack of 

support for changes to the 20mph zone and the perceived effects of lower speed and 

blanketed limits on traffic and journey times may contribute to a virtually identical 

plateauing pattern of use.  

Analysis of intended behaviour can be used to assess the reception of the trial 

schemes. This refers to questions which explicitly indicate any intention or changes in 

likelihood to carry out a specific behaviour as a driver. Residents in this instance were 

asked about their willingness to ‘drive in excess of the speed limit on 20 mph roads’ 

both pre and post introduction of the town-wide schemes. Out of three towns, only in 

Deal did a similar level persist from pre to post implementation (-1%). Willingness to 

Page 109



38 
 

exceed the limit on these roads increased slightly in Faversham (+5%) and 

exponentially in Tonbridge (+23% from 17% to 30%). Across both trial areas and Deal, 

willingness to drive in excess of speed limits on either ‘30mph’ or ‘40mph roads’ 

changed only marginally post-implementation. This far more dramatic increase in 

willingness to drive in excess of the limit on 20mph roads aligns with the attitudinal 

findings where opposition to the limits increase post-implementation amongst 

Tonbridge residents.  

On the more general question of whether respondents would be ‘willing to always drive 

to the set limit of an area where legal to do so’, no change in those willing to do so was 

recorded in Faversham post-implementation (81%). Ten percent more respondents 

stated they would be willing to always drive to the set limit in both Tonbridge (68% to 

78%) and Deal (75% to 85%). Therefore, despite an increase in the minority who would 

be willing to exceed 20mph limits specifically, overall, there was a high willingness to 

generally observe speed limits.  

 In terms of the broader behavioural impact, changes in perceived ‘negative’ driver 

behaviours are prominent. A quarter of respondents in Faversham started there was 

now ‘more’ aggressive driving’; this is 54% for Tonbridge. ‘Consideration for other road 

users’ as occurring ‘more’ was cited by 19% and ‘less’ by 11% in Faversham. In 

Tonbridge, this was cited as occurring ‘more’ by 15% and ‘less’ by 32%. The 

responses from this latter metric are reflected in the proportionate percentages for the 

statement that ‘road users [are now] following speed limit instructions.’  

PEDESTRIANS 

INTENDED AND REPORTED BEHAVIOUR 
Pre-evaluation questionnaire data gathered individuals’ self-reported levels of walking 

prior to the initial fieldwork of the trials. Over a third of respondents in both Faversham 

(37%) and Tonbridge (36%) described themselves as ‘every day’ walkers – 10% 

greater than the same metric taken in Deal (26%). This similar proportion of self-

reported walking will prove important for gauging levels of change post implementation 

when the two schemes are compared. What is notable here, however, is not only that 

7% of Tonbridge residents claim to ‘never’ walk (the highest percentage for this 

metric), but that proportionally they describe themselves as ‘everyday’ car users by 

over 10% more than in Faversham (22%) and Deal (21%). This modal usage disparity 

(also see Cyclists on page 40) is mirrored under the measure of walking ‘5 to 6 times 

a week’, with 27% of Faversham and 25% of Deal resident respondents selecting this 

option, which is over 10% higher proportionally than in Tonbridge (13%). During the 

fieldwork phase of trials (post introduction of coronavirus-related measures), self-

reported levels of ‘everyday’ walking increased in Faversham (+2%), Tonbridge (+1%) 

and Deal (+3%), whilst noteworthy change occurred in those reporting walking ‘5 to 6 

times per week’ in Faversham (+4%) and Deal (+3%). Significantly, respondents in 

Tonbridge reported the same level of self-activity across the period for this metric 

(13%). To contextualise these self-reported changes in walking, it is noteworthy to 

point out that in the post implementation demographic survey responses (taken 

August/September 2020), 95% of residents in Faversham claimed to walk as a mode 

of transport, with 88% for Tonbridge and 93% for Deal.  

Page 110



39 
 

Since the introduction of the 20 mph limits/zones (signed only), a significant proportion 

of residents, in both Faversham and Tonbridge, have indicated that their use of 

walking as a travel mode has increased. A slightly greater proportion of residents in 

Faversham (+14%) reported that their levels of walking had increased than in 

Tonbridge (+10%) since the commencement of the trial scheme. Two percent of 

respondents in both towns stated that their levels of walking had decreased. The 

introduction of these new signed only limits appear to have accelerated this trend in 

modal shift of increased walking in Faversham, and to a slightly lesser extent in 

Tonbridge. The lack of notable change in the perception that ‘20mph limits provide a 

safer environment for walking’ (see Intended and Reported Behaviour) suggests that 

reported activity rate change does not necessarily equate to attitudinal, and in this 

case safety perception, change.  

In terms of the broader ‘behavioural’ impact, changes in the perceived ‘amount of 

walking in the area’ are similar for both of the trial towns. In Faversham, 23% of 

respondents stated there was ‘more’ walking occurring in their area; this was 18% for 

Tonbridge. Only 2% of respondents in both towns stated that ‘less’ walking occurred 

post trial. Despite the decreases in many walking metrics for attitudes and safety 

perceptions, there is clearly an impression amongst respondents that a greater level 

of this active travel mode is occurring.  

OBSERVED PEDESTRIAN COUNTS 
Table 6 shows the summarised data collected by PMRS, who were commissioned to 

carry out counts of pedestrians and cyclists at 20 sites in each of the three towns on 

a Thursday, Friday, and Saturday at three occasions over six months. At each location, 

a six-to-eight-minute sample was taken, this was then multiplied by the relevant factor 

to arrive at an hourly estimate of footfall and cyclist numbers at each location. Full 

analysis was undertaken by PMRS to place the counts into context, exploring COVID-

19 restrictions and other external factors, such as weather, on the data (and therefore 

will not be repeated here). 

Deal experienced its highest footfall in June 2020, which then decreases in autumn 

and winter months, to increase again in June 2021 (albeit by a lower amount than in 

2020). Faversham recorded its highest number of pedestrians in June/July 2021, 

although footfall was fairly high on all occasions. Tonbridge saw its highest footfall in 

October 2020 and the lowest in June 2020.  

Compared with pre-installation of the 20mph limits/zones (June 2020), both 

Faversham and Tonbridge saw increases in pedestrian footfall in both 

September/October 2020 and in July 2021.  

Table 6 - PMRS Pedestrian Counts 

 
Deal Faversham Tonbridge 

June 2020 130,874 120,987 65,618 

September/October 2020 90,943 127,148 96,394 

December 2020 96,431 115,089 82,019 

June/July 2021 101,484 142,962 67,869 

 

Page 111



40 
 

From January 2021 onwards, pedestrian count data has been available in Kent from 

Vivacity sensors. six of these sensors located in Faversham and seven sensors in 

Tonbridge had complete coverage for January to July 2021. Unfortunately, only one 

of these sensors in Faversham and five in Tonbridge align with the 40 sites used in 

the PMRS pedestrian and cycle survey. Because of this, and the limited overlap in 

temporal coverage, it is not possible to draw direct comparisons between the two data 

sets. However, the Vivacity data does allow for monitoring of trends in pedestrian 

movement in 2021. The comparative AI Vivacity data for pedestrians is provided in 

Appendix B – ATC and Vivacity Comparison.  

Self-reported levels of walking, or increased pedestrian activity, remained stable 

across the 12 case study schemes in the Atkins 20mph research study, with 95% as 

an aggregate percentage who said that they walk at ‘about the same’ frequency as 

before the introduction of the 20mph (signed only) limit/zone scheme in their area. A 

small but significant proportion of residents across the case study areas stated 

that it increased their levels of walking (+5%). The more pronounced self-

reported post-trial levels in Faversham (+14%) and Tonbridge (+10%) are 

therefore above average.  

CYCLISTS 

INTENDED AND REPORTED BEHAVIOUR 
Pre-evaluation phase questionnaire data gathered individuals’ self-reported levels of 

cycling prior to the initial fieldwork of the trials. In each of the trial towns, 3% of 

respondents designated themselves as ‘everyday’ cyclists; this was 4% for the 

comparator Deal. Only 1% of Tonbridge’s residents stated that they cycled ‘5 to 6 

times a week’; a contrast to Faversham (4%) and Deal (5%). These self-reported 

levels represent a moderately low level of uptake prior to fieldwork and the presence 

of coronavirus-related measures. Significantly, a higher proportion of Tonbridge 

respondents (74%) stated that they ‘never’ cycle, than in Faversham (67%) and Deal 

(60%). During the fieldwork phase of trials (post introduction of coronavirus-related 

measures), self-reported levels of ‘everyday’ cycling persisted at 3% for both trial 

towns and the comparator. There was also no change in the proportion of those 

cycling, ‘5 to 6 times a week’ in Tonbridge, with Faversham and Deal increasing and 

decreasing by 1% respectively. The proportion of those reporting that they ‘never’ 

cycle increased for Tonbridge (+1%) and even more so for Faversham (+4%). It is 

interesting to note that active travel, through pedal cycle use, did not increase locally, 

despite a national increase in cycling traffic observed by the DfT5. It is significant to 

note that both Faversham and Tonbridge had markedly fewer residents reporting that 

they cycle as mode of transport than in Deal; 20% and 18% compared to 28% for the 

control location.  

Since the introduction of the 20 mph limits (signed only), a similar level of residents in 

Faversham (+8%) and Tonbridge (+9%) reported an increase in their level of pedal 

cycle activity. These percentages are alone indicative that the limit introductions have 

had a slightly less positive impact upon cycling uptake than walking as an active travel 

 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-use-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic 

Page 112



41 
 

mode. Whilst coronavirus-related measures had begun to prompt a modal shift to 

walking and cycling more generally as a national trend, walking clearly predominates 

out of the two when it comes to Faversham and Tonbridge. For Faversham 

infrastructure concerns (pavements and crossings) surrounding active travel and 

indifferent driver behaviour, may predicate these low levels. Whereas for Tonbridge 

the perceived unsuitability of 20mph as ‘blanket’ speed zone may feed into its self-

reported behaviours.  

The questionnaire survey data provides insight into the intended behaviour (of cyclists 

and drivers). This refers to questions about any intention or changes in likelihood to 

carry out a specific behaviour. Residents, in this instance relating to cycling, across all 

three towns were asked about their willingness to ‘ride a bicycle in excess of the speed 

limit on 20 mph roads’, both pre and post introduction of the town-wide schemes. Only 

Deal, the comparator, witnessed a slight decrease (-3%) in those stating that they 

would be willing to cycle in excess of the limit of a 20mph road. Tonbridge witnessed 

the greatest increase in those respondents stating that they would be willing to exceed 

in these circumstances (+14%) – a total of 32% post-implementation (12% ‘very 

willing’/ 20% ‘quite willing’). Faversham witnessed a marginal increase (+3%). Whilst 

Faversham and Deal both have a much higher percentage of residents stating that 

they would be ‘not at all willing’ (36% and 39% respectively), Deal has a notably lower 

percentage than both the trial areas, of those who now say they would be willing overall 

(12%). By age in Faversham, those in the age brackets 35-54, and 55+, report the 

greatest increase in willingness to exceed 20mph limits whilst riding a bicycle (+5% 

and +6% respectively against +1% for 16-34 age bracket) The inverse is true of 

Tonbridge residents (+17% for 16-34 age group)  

In terms of the broader behavioural impact, changes in the perceived ‘amount of 

cycling in the area’ are similar for both of the trial towns. Twenty-two percent of 

respondents in Faversham stated there was ‘more’ cycling occurring in their area; this 

was 20% for Tonbridge. Again, as with walking, only 2% of respondents in both towns 

stated that ‘less’ cycling now occurring post trial. 

OBSERVED CYCLIST COUNTS 
The same methodologies used to count pedestrians were used to count cyclists. 

Faversham recorded a 1.8% decrease in cyclists in June/July 2021 compared to June 

2020 whereas Deal recorded a decrease of 26.3% and Tonbridge a decrease of 

29.3%. All three towns recorded a reduction in cyclists of between 40% and 60% in 

December 2020 compared to June 2020. Cyclist counts appear to be more affected 

by the time of year and weather than pedestrian counts.  

Table 7 - PMRS Cyclist Counts 

 
Deal Faversham Tonbridge 

June 2020 21,280 10,872 7,824 

September/October 2020 10,639 8,744 5,350 

December 2020 11,628 4,170 4,654 

June/July 2021 15,693 11,072 5,530 

 

Page 113



42 
 

From January 2021 onwards, cyclist traffic counts have been available in Kent from 

Vivacity sensors. Six sensors located in Faversham and seven sensors located in 

Tonbridge had complete coverage for January to July 2021. Unfortunately, the overlap 

between Vivacity sensors and sites from the PMRS survey is not sufficient to make 

accurate comparisons between the two. However, as with pedestrian counts, the 

Vivacity data does allow for monitoring of trends in cycle usage in 2021. The 

comparative AI Vivacity data for cyclists is provided in Appendix B – ATC and Vivacity 

Comparison.  

Self-reported levels of cycling activity remained stable across the 12 case study 

schemes in the Atkins 20mph study, with 97% (as an aggregate percentage) who 

stated that they cycle at ‘about the same’ frequency as before the introduction of the 

20mph (signed only) limit scheme in their area. A moderately small proportion of 

residents across the case study areas stated that it increased their levels of cycling 

(+2%); with 1% stating their cycle use had actually decreased. Once again, the 

increases in active travel reported in in Faversham (+8%) and Tonbridge (+9%) 

represent an above average uptake when compared with the aggregate research 

study percentage in terms of the limits’ potential to encourage further cycling 

participation, (Maher, 2018, p. 53). 

Attitudes 

This section considers attitudinal changes and general support levels since the 

introduction of the two town-wide schemes, using data collected in the pre and post 

surveys. The rationale behind these levels is also addressed here, exploring why 

respondents in the trial areas responded the way they did. Attitudes amongst the 

specific road user groups of pedestrians, cyclists and drivers are considered 

separately. 

Firstly, respondents were asked to state their levels of support for, or indeed opposition 

against, ‘a 20mph limit /zone?’  Net support in Faversham was significantly higher both 

pre and post survey (70% and 65% accordingly). Despite this marginal 5% decrease, 

there was still a relatively high level of support. Tonbridge and Deal both had similar 

levels of net support pre-trial: 52% and 57% respectively. For the latter, support levels 

remained almost the same, rising only to 59% post-implementation. For Tonbridge, 

however, net support plummeted to 36% - whilst those ‘strongly opposed’ in the town 

increased from 12% to 30%. For Tonbridge, this stand-out level of opposition aligns 

with a greater acceptability and willingness to exceed the speed limit, especially in 

20mphs. Opposition levels were lower across the board in Faversham and the 

comparator for this question. All these levels are either slightly or significantly 

lower than for the aggregated percentage of net support generated in the Atkins 

20mph research study of 75%.  

Secondly, respondents were asked ‘which of the following do you think are the main 

benefits of the traffic initiatives in your area?’. Whilst this question does not concern 

the trial limits under review specifically, it does provide an extra layer of depth to 

understanding the rationale behind the responses themselves, in this case post-

implementation. Both the trial towns and comparator all agreed that the main benefits 

Page 114



43 
 

of traffic initiatives in their area were a) ‘increased road safety for pedestrians’ and b) 

increased road safety for cyclists’. For a), Faversham and Deal had 66% and 70% of 

respondents citing this reason, whereas for Tonbridge, this was 55%. For b) 42% of 

Faversham respondents cited this reason; Tonbridge 38%; and Deal 36%. The much 

lower level of citation for cycling-related increased safety for Faversham than walking, 

aligns with the active travel statement consensus levels for these two travel modes for 

the town. The lower levels for align with the affinity for car usage in Tonbridge and 

higher levels of ‘never’ having partaken in active travel modes generally (see Intended 

and Reported Behaviour on page 37 for more discussion on mode choice).  

Respondents in Faversham and Tonbridge were then asked to rank specific support 

and concern reasonings regarding 20mph limits specifically. Percentage levels for 

most reasons in support of 20mph are slightly higher for Faversham post survey. The 

top three supporting rationale for Faversham were:  

a) ‘Increases safety’  

b) ‘Slows down traffic’ 

c) ‘Better/safer for pedestrians.'  

For Tonbridge, those reasons selected most frequently were:  

a) ‘Better for children’  

b) ‘Needed in residential areas’ 

c) ‘Increases safety’.  

Faversham’s greater appreciation of pedestrian safety implications are reflected in 

other attitudinal metrics; and Tonbridge’s stronger recognition of children’s active 

travel safety implications is reflected elsewhere. Percentage levels for concern criteria 

are considerably higher for Tonbridge post survey. The top three concern criteria for 

Faversham were:  

a) ‘Blanket-imposition not welcome’  

b) ‘Drivers ignore 20mph limits’  

c)  ‘30mph is adequate’.  

For Tonbridge, those selected most frequently were:  

a) ‘Blanket-imposition not welcome’  

b) 30mph is adequate’  

c) ‘Slows down traffic’ and ‘journey time increases.’  

It is important to note here that the proportion of respondents in Tonbridge who 

mentioned the blanket-approach/infrastructure concern (28%) was over twice that of 

Faversham respondents (12%).  

Respondents were similarly asked about the perceived ‘appropriateness’ of and 

‘compliance’ with the speed limits before and after trial commencement. There is a 

clear distinction between the two trial towns, where perceived speed appropriateness 

increases for Faversham (+12%) but decreases greatly for Tonbridge (-27%). On the 

question of whether ‘most drivers obey speed limits’, there was a marginal decrease 

in net agreement for Faversham (-5%) but a substantial drop in net agreement for 

Tonbridge (-17%). Deal, the comparator, had greater net agreement post-

implementation than both trial areas on this compliance question (41%).  

Page 115



44 
 

Driver Attitudes 
This section considers attitude changes across the three towns, focusing on ‘drivers’ 

as both a user group and attitudes relating to them. Certain safety perceptions 

pertaining to this group, before and after the trial’s implementation, are again broken 

down into three age brackets: 16-34, 35-54, and 55+.  

In Faversham, net agreement that ‘speed limits in the area are safe for driving 

personally’, remained at virtually the same level post-implementation (-2%) as it did 

for the comparator (no change). For Tonbridge, net agreement declined slightly from 

81% to 75% after implementation. On the similar statement that ‘20 mph limits provide 

a safer environment for driving’, there was a slight decrease in Faversham (-11%), 

and a more substantive decrease occurred (-18%) in Tonbridge. In the comparator 

area, there was conversely an increase in net agreement of 7% to the highest post-

level out of all three areas. In both trial towns, all three age groups contributed in 

relatively equal measure to the percentage decrease for the statement. Those aged 

16-34 drove the increase in net agreement in Deal. 

Following on from generic driver-related safety statements, respondents were similarly 

asked whether they felt that ‘20 mph limits increase drivers’ awareness of potential 

risks and hazards.’ A similar pattern is reflected against this metric, with both towns 

experiencing decreases in agreement (-7% for Faversham and -18% for Tonbridge). 

Deal’s net agreement increased by 11% for this metric. Faversham’s post-level 

agreement (71%) sits above the Research Study’s residents’ agreement on this 

metric (41%) whereas Tonbridge’s sits at a similar level at 44%. 

An additional group of statements were asked of respondents relating to ‘acceptability’ 

of speeding in certain conditions. Firstly, respondents were asked to gauge their 

acceptability to ‘exceed the speed limit on roads of 20mph roads’. For both pre and 

post implementation, levels were significantly higher for Tonbridge than for Faversham 

and the comparator, Deal. Acceptability to exceed 20mph limits increased marginally 

for Faversham (+3% from 6% to 9%), notably for Tonbridge (+10% from 13% to 23%) 

and decreased marginally for Deal (-3% from 7% to 4%). The larger increase here 

reflects other qualitative ‘driver’ metrics measured for Tonbridge, such as ‘willingness 

to exceed the speed limit on roads of 20mph’ and ‘willingness to exceed to legal limit’ 

(see Intended and Reported Behaviour on page 37). Little or no change was observed 

across all town’s areas on ‘acceptability to exceed at either 30/40mph’. ‘Acceptability 

to always drive to the set speed limit’ is the only attitudinal metric for drivers which 

increased in percentage terms for all three areas. Acceptability increased on 

residential roads for a similar metric in the Bristol 2014/15 case study after the 20mph 

limit was introduced.6  

The previous pattern in attitude percentage level changes reasserts itself for the 

statement that ‘20mph limits make it more acceptable to drive at lower speeds’; which, 

 
6 ‘Changing the speed limit from 30mph to 20mph seems to have softened residents’ attitudes towards 
speeding in the Phase areas surveyed. Following the introduction of the 20mph speed limits, between 
24% and 32% of residents are likely to feel it is sometimes acceptable to drive over the signed speed 
limit on residential roads, while before the 20mph intervention the figures were between 11% and 21%.' 
(Pilkington, Bornioli, Bray, & Bird, 2018, p. 24)  

Page 116



45 
 

in Faversham, remained at a similar but slightly lower level (-2%); decreased notably 

in Tonbridge (-14%); and increased for Deal (+7%). In Faversham, three-quarters of 

respondents agreed that 20mph limits make it more acceptable to drive at lower 

speeds, whereas the reduction in Tonbridge was from 65% to 51%. There were 

reductions in agreement in the two trial towns that ‘drivers are more considerate to 

people cycling in 20mph limits’, with Faversham moving from 60% to 49% and 

Tonbridge from 43% to 25%. Deal’s respondents agreed with this metric by an 

increase of 5% since the pre-survey. Elsewhere, 72% of drivers in the research 

study stated that the introduction of a 20mph limit makes it more acceptable to 

drive at lower speeds; 74% for Faversham and 78% for Deal align with this 

whereas Tonbridge’s post-level of 51% does not.  

Finally, respondents were asked to rate their levels of net agreement for ‘negative’ 

aspects of being a driver before and after the trial – aspects connected to ‘perceived 

concerns’ for this road user group.’  There was no change in the proportion of drivers 

who felt that ‘20mph limits are ignored by many drivers’ in Faversham; a slight increase 

in Tonbridge (+6%) and Deal (+7%). Net agreement that ‘20mph limits are frustrating 

for drivers’ increased for both Faversham (+9%) and Tonbridge (+14%); but remained 

the same for Deal (-1%). There is sharp contrast between the towns regarding the 

statement that ‘20mph limits make journey times irritating’ where in Faversham a much 

lower proportion agreed (-21%); in Tonbridge this increased by 4%; and in Deal 

decreased by 4%. It is significant that although ‘drivers ignoring the limits’ was 

amongst the most citied concerns by Faversham respondents, against these similar 

statements there was not a notable increase in net agreement. The greater increases 

in agreement for these ‘negative concern’ metrics for Tonbridge appears to suggest 

that the introduction of a 20mph area-wide limit that has prompted opposition. In both 

Faversham and Tonbridge, however, a greater proportion noted that ‘drivers are 

more considerate to cyclists in 20 mph limit areas’ (49% and 25% post trial); this 

was only 17% for residents of the aggregated 12 case studies for the major 

research study. Focus group discussions from the study suggest that these 

views are driven by perceptions about the potential safety benefits of slower 

vehicle speeds, rather than because drivers have been seen to be more 

considerate to pedestrians and cyclists. 

PEDESTRIAN ATTITUDES 
This section considers attitude changes across the three towns in relation to 

pedestrians, both as a user group themselves and attitudes relating to them. 

Respondents were asked about their levels of agreement with several statements 

relating to pedestrian activity. Safety perceptions associated with the speed limit 

before and after the trial’s implementation are subsequently broken down into three 

age brackets: 16-34 years, 35-54 years, and 55 years or older. Where age disparities 

disproportionately affect a percentage change, they are identified.  

In all three towns, about three-quarters of residents agreed that speed limits in their 

area are safe for walking personally. In Faversham, net agreement with this statement 

decreased marginally post-implementation (-4%) and similarly in Tonbridge (-2%). For 

Deal, the change was slightly greater (-7%). In Faversham, this decrease was primarily 

driven by respondents in the 16-34 and 55+ age brackets; whereas for Tonbridge, 

Page 117



46 
 

those aged 16-34 drove the decrease disproportionately. In Deal, the 35-54 aged 

group constituted the majority of those stating they did not agree that speed limits were 

safe for walking post-implementation. When asked if they agreed that ‘speed limits 

were safe on foot/walking for children’, net agreement rose in both Faversham (+5%) 

and considerably so in Tonbridge (+20%), whilst retaining a similar level in Deal (-2%). 

All three age groups contributed to this slight rise proportionately in Faversham and 

indeed to the significant increase in this metric for Tonbridge. Net agreement steadily 

decreases moving into the higher age brackets in Deal.  

Respondents were similarly asked about the extent to which they agreed with the 

benefit of 20mph limits as a facilitator of safe environments for walking. The 

comparative findings do not reflect the previous generic metric of measuring perceived 

safety levels when walking personally. For this metric, a slight drop in net agreement 

in Faversham (84%/78%) is contrasted by a large decrease in net agreement in 

Tonbridge (74%/60%). These post-levels are broadly consistent (slightly higher 

for Faversham) with the Atkins 20mph Research Study, where 60% across the 

case study schemes felt that the limit provides a safer environment for walking 

(21% disagreed). The control location was unexpectedly the only town to see an 

increase (+4%) in this metric across the three towns.  

Respondents were asked about the suitability of infrastructure for walking and cycling. 

On the perception of whether ‘the pavements and crossings in Faversham make it 

suitable for walking’, there was a slight decrease in those who agreed with the 

statement since the pre-survey; from 75% to 69%. Conversely in Tonbridge, there was 

a slight increase; 69% to 76% in net agreement. For the comparator, Deal, the level 

remained virtually the same (69% to 71%) post implementation. The high levels of 

agreement that the infrastructure is suitable for walking is positive, with the decrease 

in Faversham perhaps a recognition that lowering speed limits does not change the 

engineered infrastructure available for pedestrians.  

CYCLIST ATTITUDES 
This section considers attitude changes in the three towns in relation to cyclists, both 

as a user group and attitudes relating to them. Respondents were asked about their 

levels of agreement with several statements relating to cycling activity. Safety 

perceptions associated with the speed limit before and after the trial’s implementation 

are again broken down into three age brackets: 16-34, 35-54, and 55+.  

In all three towns, over half agreed that ‘speed limits in the area are safe for cycling 

personally’. For Faversham, levels of agreement remained at virtually the same level 

post-implementation (-1%). In Tonbridge, there was no change in agreement that 

speed limits made the area safe for cycling either. Net agreement that the limits were 

safe when cycling decreased in Deal (-5%). Only those aged 55+ in Faversham (+5%) 

and Tonbridge (+19%) felt that cycling had become safer when cycling personally. 

When asked if they agreed that ‘speed limits were safe when cycling for children’, 

notable increases in net agreement in Faversham (+7%) and Tonbridge (+18%) are a 

contrast to a marginal change in Deal (+3%). All three age groups contributed to the 

increase for Faversham and Tonbridge. For both metrics, the age group 16-34 drove 

the decreases in Deal. Disagreement levels, particularly on the response for ‘very 

Page 118



47 
 

unsafe’ received a much higher percentage in Deal (18%) than in the trial towns 

(8%/7%) after trial implementation.  

Respondents were similarly asked about the extent to which they agreed with the 

benefit of 20mph limits as a facilitator of a safe environments for cycling. For this 

metric, a significant drop in net agreement after the trial implementation, across both 

Faversham (85%/71%) and Tonbridge (73%/55%), is contrasted to a notable increase 

in Deal (+7%). Again, as with walking, 60% of residents questioned for the 20mph 

Research Study felt that the limit provides a safer environment for cycling (21% 

disagreed); there is in broad alignment with the two towns for this metric. Those 

aged 16-34 drove the decrease for Faversham and Tonbridge respondents 

disproportionately.  

A more specific statement asked for levels of agreement against the statement that 

‘20mph limits increase cyclists’ awareness of potential risks and hazards.’ Both trial 

towns’ respondents reported much lower levels of agreement post trial: Faversham (-

16% from 76 to 60%), Tonbridge (-26% from 63 to 37%) and Deal (+6% from 64 to 

70%). The two lower age brackets influenced these decreases for both towns. In 

Faversham, 60% agreed with the statement and in Tonbridge this was 37% post 

implementation; this compares to 41% nationwide for a survey used by the 

Atkins Research Study.  

The extent to which ‘20mph limits are frustrating for cyclists’ was also put to the 

respondents, who in Faversham categorically agreed post-implementation that the 

limits were indeed frustrating for this user group more so than prior to the limit 

introduction (+20%), going from 18% agreeing to 38%. This was -7% Tonbridge and -

10% for Deal residents. The majority, therefore, did not think that 20mph limits are 

frustrating for cyclists but their introduction did make respondents reflect and respond 

less positively than before. Respondents were asked specific active statements in both 

trial towns and the comparator regarding the suitability of infrastructure for walking and 

cycling. On the issue of whether ‘the roads and crossings in the local area make it 

suitable for cycling’, respondents in Faversham again, as with walking, agreed to a 

slightly lesser extent post-trial commencement with the statement; down to 50% from 

57%. In Tonbridge this increase from 43% to 47%. For the comparator, an increase 

also occurred from 46% to 54%.  

Notably across both walking and cycling infrastructure statements, Faversham 

respondents did not feel that the introduction positively enhanced the suitability of 

available active travel infrastructure. However, respondents were generally positive 

prior to the trial implementation.  

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTATIONS 
A public consultation was carried out by Kent County Council seeking feedback on the 

town-wide 20mph trial scheme implemented in Faversham and Tonbridge. A 

consultation questionnaire was made available online from the 31st of July 2020 to the 

3rd of March 2021. Throughout the consultation, information on the scheme was 

shared online on designated project websites and through a variety of communication, 

Page 119



48 
 

marketing, and engagement activities. There were two elements of the questionnaire, 

with the first including mandatory questions around the ETO and part two asked a 

series of optional questions which aimed to collect local opinion and views on the 

scheme as well as collect demographic information.  

Tonbridge had more completed questionnaires at 1,123 responses, while Faversham 

had 668. The consultations aimed to provide an overview of the activities undertaken 

during the implementation period and gather feedback from the residents and 

businesses in the local area.  

The majority of the consultation respondents in Faversham agreed with the idea of a 

town-wide 20mph scheme with 63% in favour. Compared to Faversham, the opposite 

was true for Tonbridge where 74% of residents objected to the 20mph town-wide limit 

and only 26% in favour.  

The comments, concerns and reasons raised are examined in detail for both towns 

below. 

Faversham  

The key findings of the consultation in Faversham revealed that 63% of respondents 

were in favour of 20mph town-wide limits while 37% objected. Of the total respondents, 

86% were residents in Faversham. There was consistent support through the entirety 

of the scheme and objections were mainly reported before the scheme was 

implemented or following online Facebook advertisements and posts published near 

the end of the consultation.  

Respondents were asked the reasons behind their support or objection; positive 

themes included speed reduction resulting in increased safety, environmental benefits 

and encouraging of walking/cycling as well as noise reduction. Reasons for opposition 

to the 20mph limit focused on enforcement, safety concerns, being against blanket 

20mph but in support of specific 20mph, slower traffic flow and congestion as well as 

pollution concerns, waste of money and difficulty to drive amongst other reasons.  

Some respondents mentioned a few roads they felt were unsuitable for 20mph limits 

such as Bysingwood Road (24 mentions), Whistable Road (11 mentions), Dark Hill (4 

mentions) and East Street (3 mentions).  

For other consultation themes, lack of evidence behind some of the stated goals and 

no consultation prior to implementation, lobbying by special interest groups and the 

impact of COVID-19 and usual travel habits were the arising themes of note. Other 

themes like cyclist and pedestrian remarks, signage, traffic suggestions and road 

improvements were also noted in the consultation.  

The most common way people heard about the survey was through Facebook (35%), 

town council (22%) or the information leaflet distributed to local homes and businesses 

or via word of mouth from friends and family. Those that heard from the town council, 

email, leaflet, and word of mouth overwhelmingly supported the 20mph limit whereas 

those that heard from Facebook majority opposed the limit.  

Within local postcodes in Faversham, the ME 138 postcode had a higher favourability 

of 69% in favour of the town-wide limit compared to 53% in favour from the ME 137 

Page 120



49 
 

postcode area. The main transport methods applicable to respondents were the use 

of car as a resident (76%) and on foot or walking (79%). Analysing responses by 

transport method divided by level of support revealed support for 20mph mostly by 

those that walked (at 67%) compared to 56% support by car drivers. Safety was the 

most frequently mentioned theme by respondents, regardless of the mode of transport 

they used the most. 

When respondents were asked to what extent do they agree that a 20mph limit makes 

Faversham a cleaner, healthier, and safer place to live, work and visit – the majority 

responded with strongly agree in all cases.  

Support for the scheme by road user groups was reported as follows: 78% for those 

who cycle, 67% for those who travel by foot or bus and 56% of them were 

passengers/drivers. Only 21% of motorcyclists supported the scheme. More and 

improved cycling lanes as well as storage and parking were the main recurring cycling 

themes. For themes relating to cars, traffic calming and prioritisation of non-motorised 

vehicles after pedestrians was the most frequently mentioned comment, with 

enforcement, discouraging car use and parking also mentioned. For pedestrian related 

themes, pavement and footpath improvements was the most common concern with 

more pedestrian crossings on the A2, South Road, Newton Road, Brogdale Road, 

Forbes Road and Stone Street, West Street the most frequently mentioned specific 

roads amongst others. Signage, promotion of walking and cycling, disability 

provisions, housing and development, and public transport were some other concerns 

that were raised during the consultation.  

Tonbridge 

The consultation for Tonbridge revealed that only 26% of residents were in favour of 

a town-wide 20mph zone and 74% of residents opposed the implementation. Of the 

total respondents, 87% were Tonbridge residents. The main reasons respondents 

mentioned for objection were centred around concerns that the trial 20mph was too 

extensive and inappropriate for arterial routes. Respondents also mentioned that slow 

speeds would make traffic worse and add to safety concerns. The impracticality of 

enforcement was also mentioned.  

All free-text responses were analysed according to themes, with the majority (62%) of 

the themes categorised as negative or in opposition to the 20mph trial. Of the total 

comments, 18% left a positive comment, of which increasing safety was the most 

recurring theme. Other positive benefits residents mentioned included environmental 

and health benefits, encouragement of walking and cycling and noise reduction.  

The most popular way that residents heard about the consultation was from Facebook 

and those that heard from Facebook had the most negative opinion, with 83% 

objecting to the scheme. However, it must be noted that opposition to the scheme was 

widespread overall. When analysing negative comments by themes, the largest 

proportion of comments were concerns against the blanket application of 20mph limits, 

with 455 people against it. Slowing traffic flow and congestion was the second most 

frequent theme, other comments included safety concerns, support of specific 20mph, 

lack of enforcement and/or limit being ignored or increases in pollution, difficulty in 

driving, no effect on cycling and a waste of money among other reasons.  

Page 121



50 
 

Shipbourne Road was mentioned 166 times to be the most unsuitable for the 20mph 

speed zone as it was considered a large arterial route which already had a separate 

cycle lane and slow-moving traffic would lead to tailgating and road rage. Quarry Hill, 

Pembury Road, Ridgeway, and Hadlow Road were also mentioned and have been 

listed in descending order of frequency.  

Lack of evidence to justify the introduction of a 20mph speed zone was mentioned 

most frequently (56 times) in consultation themes, with no consultation prior to 

implementation and special interest groups with political lobbying and anti-car 

environmental sentiment attributed as the main concern. 

In local Tonbridge postcodes, the frequency of TN 103 and TN 104 was the most, and 

the support for the scheme in these areas was also low with only 13% in TN 103 and 

28% of residents support in TN 104 for the scheme.  

Segregating by road user group, 80% of respondents use a car as a driver travelling 

in and around Tonbridge; walking and on foot being the next most relevant mode of 

transport. Of those respondents, the highest objection rates for the scheme were from 

drivers (79%) and motorcyclists (75%). Fifty-six percent of cyclists, 61% of bus users 

and 67% of those that travel by foot also opposed the scheme.  

Respondents were asked to what extent do they agree that a 20mph zone makes 

Tonbridge a cleaner, healthier, and safer place to live, work and visit. On all three 

statements, the most frequent and majority response was strongly disagree.  

As part of the consultation, respondents were asked if they had any ideas as part of a 

long-term plan to improve walking and cycling in Tonbridge and 77% of respondents 

answered with a comment. The comments were thematically analysed with cycling 

being the most common in occurrence (59%), with pedestrians (27%), cars (22%) and 

comments about speed or 20mph scheme (13%) the main thematic concerns.  

Improving cycle infrastructure, more segregated cycle lanes, enforcement of cycle 

rules and maintenance issues with current cycle lanes as the main concerns under 

cyclist themes for improvement. Pedestrian related comments mainly included 

suggested improvements for pavements and footpaths generally with 

pedestrianisation on the High Street a repeated suggestion. For comments relating to 

cars, enforcement, traffic-calming, and road user prioritisation were the main themes 

in the suggestions.  

COMMONPLACE ENGAGEMENT (FAVERSHAM) 
An online Commonplace Engagement survey was carried out for feedback from the 

local population on the 20mph speed limit trial in Faversham. Over the engagement 

period, 1,088 responses were contributed, with over 40% of these contributions being 

original comments, with the rest of the comments in agreement. Nearly 75% of 

respondents lived in town with the rest shopping, living nearby or working in 

Faversham. A large proportion of those who responded said they usually walk and 

drive cars in Faversham, with almost 30% using a cycle. More males than females 

responded and were overrepresented in the 45-74 age groups. There was an 

underrepresentation of under 25s and over 75s, compared to the demographics of 

Page 122



51 
 

Faversham’s population. The majority of the respondents resided in postcodes within 

or near the 20mph scheme. 

The report consulted on whether to make the 20mph speed limit trial permanent for 

KCC and residents responded by using a ‘red-dot’ map to express concerns and 

suggest interventions to make Faversham ‘healthier, safer and cleaner’. The objective 

of the engagement was to ask for suggestions on improving the town. When consulting 

on walking and cycling experiences in Faversham, more than 20% of respondents felt 

safe while making walking journeys. The largest proportion of respondents felt that 

‘roads are busy’, ‘it’s hard to cross the roads’ and ‘pavements are uneven’. Cycling is 

reported to be a less positive experience with more respondents feeling unsafe rather 

than safe when cycling in Faversham, with drivers’ aggressive behaviour being the 

most common reported concern.  

The majority of respondents (75%) supported measures to improve the walking and 

cycling experience in Faversham. Those that expressed negative views on walking 

and cycling correlated with opposition to the 20mph scheme in general. More than 

30% of respondents felt that air quality was ‘acceptable’ where they live with only 25% 

of respondents expressing that air quality in Faversham is ‘poor’ or ‘very poor’. 

Significantly, those residents from postcodes ME13 8 expressed more dissatisfaction 

(31%), which could potentially be a result of the evidence collected on air quality by 

the A2 (which is not part of the 20mph trial). 

Nearly half (44%) of respondents chose to comment on ‘street’ as the area of concern 

with ‘road crossing’, ‘junctions’, ‘cycle lanes’ and ‘street parking’ the next main topics 

in order of recurrence. From the different concerns addressed in the relating ‘street’ 

comments, 70 different streets received mention. Whitstable Road attracted the most 

concerns, followed by the A2, which was outside of the 20mph speed limit trial. There 

were comments divided between Canterbury and London Roads and Ospringe Street. 

Action was taken by moving the planters outside Sainsbury’s on Bysing Wood Road 

following comments. Streets included in the 20mph trial which were mentioned more 

than 20 times in respondent comments were namely, South, Saxon, Ospringe, 

Newton, Athelstan and Forbes roads, the Mall and Dark Hill.  

Speeding vehicles were the main concern mentioned with ‘feels unsafe’ the second 

important concern in terms of frequency of mention. While pedestrians in Faversham 

feel generally safe, there are identified specific places where there are safety 

concerns. Significant number of respondents mentioned that Faversham streets are 

not pedestrian friendly (67) and that a street was difficult to cross and/or lacked a 

crossing point (66). With regards to cycling, 77 respondents had answered that cycling 

in Faversham was ‘unsafe’ but only 25 of those identified a specific place. Similarly, 

40 respondents identified locations that were not cycle friendly but did not say that 

cycling was generally unsafe. These results indicate the importance of considering 

concerns regarding perceptions of danger and safety as well as actual danger and 

risk. There were also other concerns identified such as congestion, difficulties for 

people with pushchairs or using mobility aids and narrow pavements.  

Further analysis on these comments was conducted by cross referencing concerns by 

location and was presented as part of the report on the Commonplace engagement 

Page 123



52 
 

results. Looking at the data, feelings of being ‘unsafe’ focused mostly on Whitstable 

Road, then the A2, Saxon Road, South Road, Newton Road as well as on Love Lane, 

Athelstan Road, Forbes Road and Lower Road in Faversham. 

The most frequently mentioned locations that were identified to not be cycle-friendly 

were outside of the 20mph trial scheme, with Whitstable Road the only one within the 

scheme zone. Whitstable Road also had notable concerns over a lack of crossing point 

or being difficult to cross, and problems with congestion and pollution too. Other 

general concerns raised included comments about motor vehicles idling, driving, 

parking on pavements and cyclists using pavements.  

Given the most frequently mentioned concern was speeding, suggestions for 

improvement had measures to slow traffic as the top recommendation at 152 

mentions. Better facilities for pedestrians was a theme through most of the 

suggestions, with more crossings, wider pavements, better visibility, narrower street 

junctions all listed in order of frequency mentioned. Cross-referencing suggestions by 

location was also carried out, which identified most calls for slower vehicles on 

Whitstable Road, the A2 and Saxon Road in particular, but also on Newton Road, 

South Road/Ospringe, Love Lane and Athelstan Road. More pedestrian crossings 

were requested on Whitstable Road and the A2, Dark Hill and Forbes Road/The Mall 

and South Road in Faversham. 

Respondents to the engagement survey also identified additional concerns by adding 

comments of which, better cycle facilities (including bike parking and cycle lanes) were 

mentioned 139 times (24%) and enforcement of 20mph scheme was mentioned in 

17% of comments followed by crossings as 11% of notable concerns. 

Respondents were asked to identify locations where they would like to see the 20mph 

scheme extended to and the most popular mentions included all new developments. 

The A2 featured highly with Ospringe Street, Canterbury Road, London Road and 

Love Lane all mentioned in order of descending frequency. Some other road names 

raised included Water Lane, Brogdale Road, Oare Road, Salters Lane, and Western 

Link.  

The general engagement with Commonplace was high, with the survey reaching 

around 14% of residents. Though this is extensive, it is not conclusive or exhaustive 

of all potential changes needed, as motivations for engagement must also be 

considered when designing further implementations and improvements. Proposed 

interventions from this survey are identified to incorporate slower traffic speeds to 

increase safety and ease for vulnerable road users to walk or cycle with more frequent 

and better designed crossing points. It should be noted that proposed changes to 

streets and road layouts should be ‘assessed against a set of criteria which include 

the relative cost benefit, the degree to which they have local community support, 

whether they are deliverable technically and can be funded’.

Page 124



53 
 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION 

CONCLUSIONS 
There is a range of data collated in this independent review of the 20mph trials in 

Faversham and Tonbridge. By collectively analysing the various data sources, a fuller 

picture can be gained; a single data source would not be reflective of the reception or 

success of the speed limit reductions. It should be noted that this review has been 

conducted by independent consultants who are unfamiliar with the geography, history, 

and political considerations of either town. The conclusions are, therefore, based on 

impartial analysis based on data and information provided as well as via clarification 

questions to local stakeholders. These findings should be used as a guide both those 

in KCC and Faversham and Tonbridge, using their local knowledge, to interpret the 

success of the trial and determine next steps. 

It should be remembered that these trials were implemented rapidly, in response to 

funding from Emergency Active Travel Fund and in the context of the COVID-19 

pandemic. There was an urgent need to facilitate safe transport, with an emphasis on 

active travel to deter an increase in car use as the public switched from public 

transport. The schemes were, therefore, installed quickly and relied on signed only 

changes. This review provides an opportunity to assess that method of implementing 

a speed limit reduction and to give pointers as to where additional measures might be 

required.  

Comparing Kent results to other case studies, it should be noted that the results from 

Bristol and Edinburgh 20mph schemes were evaluated over a much longer period to 

measure impacts and compare results with pre-implementation. For Kent, the baseline 

as well as the post-implementation period is over one year only, and crash and 

casualty data is not yet available, making it difficult to gauge the long term impact and 

determine if healthier and safer communities have been created. However, the results 

provided here do give an early indication of where positive results have been achieved 

and where further work is required. 

There were differences in the two towns pre-trial, which have become evident through 

data analysis. Faversham has been part of the 20’s Plenty campaign and this is 

reflected in the lower average speeds observed pre-trial and the greater awareness of 

the 20mph limits amongst residents. Throughout the survey responses, Faversham 

reported more positive feedback, suggesting the trial was ‘pushing against an open 

door’. 

Tonbridge is at an earlier stage of 20mph implementation, and this is evident from the 

higher speeds, both pre- and post-trial, and the attitudes of residents. There was lower 

awareness of 20mph speed limit zones and those from Tonbridge reported different 

benefits of and concerns with 20mph zones than Faversham residents. The majority 

of Tonbridge respondents to the consultation objected to the implementation of the 

20mph zone. 

The benefits of 20mph limits, as reported by residents of both towns, align with Kent’s 

Vision Zero Strategy and the Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plans of both 

towns. The main benefits were seen to be increased road safety for pedestrians and 

Page 125



54 
 

cyclists; that they are better for children; are needed in residential areas; and they slow 

down traffic. 

A minority of residents in both towns felt that ‘blanket imposition of 20mph limits is not 

welcome’ and this was higher in Tonbridge (28%) than in Faversham (12%). This view 

is supported by an increase in those Tonbridge residents who were willing to exceed 

the 20mph limit; an increase in those who disagreed that most drivers obey speed 

limits; the objections in the consultation; and that fewer sites in the town had an 

average speed below 24mph, compared with Faversham. Individual roads where 

reductions were not achieved are identifiable in the speed data and a review of these 

sites should allow KCC to determine if additional measures are required to encourage 

compliance and acceptability. Arterial routes should be reviewed, based on the 

consultation feedback. 

Despite some negative feedback in the survey, there were encouraging findings in 

relation to cycling and walking. In line with other 20mph studies, there were increases 

in levels of agreement that speed limits were safe for children to walk or cycle and 

there were high levels of agreement that 20mph limits act as a facilitator for safe 

walking. Whilst there were decreases in agreement that 20mph limits facilitate safe 

environments for cycling, Faversham actually had higher levels of agreement here 

than the national study. Both towns agreed that drivers are more considerate to 

cyclists post-trial, and this was higher than for studies conducted elsewhere.  

Respondents in both towns reported that their levels of walking increased after the 

introduction of the 20mph limits and that they thought more people were walking in 

their area. This was also the case for cycling. In both cases, these observations on 

increased active travel were higher than those seen in other studies.  

Speed data analysis identified reductions in vehicles speeds in both towns, with the 

average speed reduction in Tonbridge of 10.3% (3mph) and of 4.1% (0.9mph) in 

Faversham. Faversham had lower average speeds pre-trial and therefore the 

reductions achieved are not as large as for Tonbridge. Ten of Faversham’s 13 sites 

had average speeds below 24mph post-trial, compared with four of the 12 sites in 

Tonbridge. Analysing telematics data, many roads in both towns saw reductions of up 

to 5mph. 

Compliance with, and attitudes towards, the new speed limit were good in Faversham, 

whilst it was a less positive picture in Tonbridge. However, the individual data is 

provided road by road, enabling KCC to undertake a review of these sites and 

determine if additional measures are required to encourage compliance with 20mph 

or if limits should return to 30mph. 

Overall, there was positive behaviour change, both in terms of reported increases in 

active travel modes and reductions in average and 85th percentile speeds. This is good 

news for Kent’s Vision Zero Strategy and the two towns’ LCWIPs.  

However, Faversham is further along the 20mph journey than Tonbridge and this is 

reflected in the results. It is evident that a town-wide reduction to a 20mph limit is seen 

as less acceptable in Tonbridge. There could be reasons for this, beyond the scope of 

this study. There are geographical differences between the two towns which could 

Page 126



55 
 

influence the propensity for residents to cycle and walk and travel patterns may not 

have returned to pre-COVID-19 levels. If the available infrastructure and routes 

between amenities is less conducive to walking and cycling, it will be harder to 

encourage residents to switch from the car. This would also make the reduction to 

20mph less palatable because it is seen as an inconvenience, rather than an enabler.  

The history of the 20’s Plenty campaign in Faversham will no doubt have played on 

part in the greater levels of awareness and acceptance of the 20mph limits. Self-

reported levels of active modes were higher in Faversham pre-trial, and attitudes were 

generally more positive. The use of the Commonplace consultation to engage with 

residents and understand their concerns shows there is good local communication.  

RECOMMENDATIONS 
• The 20mph limits/zones will contribute to the strategic road safety and active 

travel objectives set out by Kent County Council, Faversham Town Council and 

Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council but consideration is required as to how 

improve acceptability and compliance in specific locations. The moderate 

speed reductions, coupled with small but significant self-reported uptake in 

active travel modes, suggest suggest retaining the limits and zones in both 

towns, with an assessment of those roads where compliance was not achieved 

(average speed above 24mph). 

• For Tonbridge, it is recommended that a road-by-road review is undertaken, 

with the purpose of identifying where 20mph is effective, where complementary 

measures could be adopted to support the 20mph zone or where a return to 

30mph might be appropriate. It might be beneficial to undertake further 

engagement with the community in Tonbridge to gather their feedback on these 

individual roads. 

• Scheme opposition and concerns around ‘area-wide’ impositions may be 

alleviated through the use of an incremental or ‘section by section’ approach if 

trials are considered in other towns.  

• A much greater focus should be given to associated and complementary activity 

in Tonbridge (such as more interaction and co-ordination with pro-campaign 

groups) in order to achieve greater support levels for 20mph and to highlight 

the benefits as part of the LCWIP. 

• In Faversham, concerns regarding cycling infrastructure need to be addressed 

in ongoing consultation with the community. 

• As with prior case studies, enforcement remains an important issue for 

residents post implementation. Authorities, in conjunction with the Police, 

should focus on ‘compliance benefit messaging’ as oppose to punititive 

enforcement.  This shifts the narrative so as to generate public support through 

changing individual mindsets. Addressing driver behaviour is key to cultivating 

safe environments for active travel modes. A lack of driver consideration for 

other roads users is one of the issues where the limits reviewed here have not 

reduced people’s concerns significantly. 

• Shared responsibility is a key imperative within the Safe System philosophy 

adopted within Kent’s Vision Zero Strategy. Communication to work with road 

Page 127



56 
 

users and increase that sense of responsibility could be key to increasing 

acceptance of 20mph limits.  

• To keep alignment with the authorities’ wishes for the limits/zones to be self-

enforced, compliance messaging should be produced which articulates the 

evidence presented here that 20mph schemes can have a positive effect on 

average speeds and active travel, even when signed only, without additional 

engineering or enforcement.  

• Longer-term commitment, sustained public engagement, articulated messaging 

through a tailored marketing mix, and the maintenance of intergrated policy 

approaches towards 20mph schemes are all more likely to yield success 

moving forward with the schemes.  

 
 

 

  

 

Page 128



  

 

57 
 

REFERENCES 

Bornioli, A., Bray, I., Pilkington, P., & Parkin, J. (2019). Effects of city-wide 20 mph 

(30km/hour) speed limits on road injuries in Bristol, UK. Injury Prevention. 

Department for Transport. (2013). Setting Local Speed Limits. London: Department for 

Transport Circular 01/2013. 

International Transport Forum. (2018). Speed and Crash Risk. Paris: OECD/ITF. 

Kent County Council. (2021). Vision Zero - The Road Safety Strategy for Kent. Kent 

County Council. 

Maher, M. (2018). 20mph research study: process and impact evaluation: headline 

report.  

Nightingale, G., & Jepson, R. (2019). Report on key outcomes following the 

implementation of 20mph speed limits in the City of Edinburgh. Edinburgh: 

National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). 

Pilkington, P., Bornioli, A., Bray, I., & Bird, E. (2018). The Bristol Twenty Miles Per Hour 

Limit Evaluation (BRITE), Analysis of the 20mph Rollout Project. Bristol: Centre 

for Public Health and Wellbeing, University of the West of England. 

Research Resource . (2013). Before and After Research into the implementation of 

20mph speed limits in South Edinburgh. Edinburgh: City of Edinburgh Council . 

Webster, D. a. (1996). Review of traffic calming schemes in 20 mph zones.  

 

  

Page 129



  

 

58 
 

APPENDIX A – TRAFFIC PROFILES 

FAVERSHAM 
Figure 9 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Athelstan Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 10 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Athelstan Road, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Athelstan Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Athelstan Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 130



  

 

59 
 

Figure 11 - ATC Traffic Profile (Athelstan Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 12 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Bysing Wood Road, Faversham) 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Athelstan Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Bysing Wood Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 131



  

 

60 
 

Figure 13 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Bysing Wood Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 14 - ATC Traffic Profile (Bysing Wood Road, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Bysing Wood Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Bysing Wood Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 132



  

 

61 
 

Figure 15 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Lower Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 16 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Lower Road, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Lower Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Lower Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 133



  

 

62 
 

Figure 17 - ATC Traffic Profile (Lower Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 18 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Oare Road, Faversham) 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Lower Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Oare Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 134



  

 

63 
 

Figure 19 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Oare Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 20 - ATC Traffic Profile (Oare Road, Faversham) 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Oare Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Oare Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 135



  

 

64 
 

Figure 21 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Old Gate Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 22 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Old Gate Road, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Old Gate Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Old Gate Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 136



  

 

65 
 

Figure 23 - ATC Traffic Profile (Old Gate Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 24 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Ospringe Road, Faversham) 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Old Gate Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Ospringe Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 137



  

 

66 
 

Figure 25 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Ospringe Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 26 - ATC Traffic Profile (Ospringe Road, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Ospringe Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Ospringe Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 138



  

 

67 
 

Figure 27 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Priory Row, Faversham) 

 

Figure 28 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Priory Row, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Priory Row

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Priory Row

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 139



  

 

68 
 

Figure 29 - ATC Traffic Profile (Priory Row, Faversham) 

 

Figure 30 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Reedland Crescent, Faversham) 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Priory Row

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Reedland Crescent

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 140



  

 

69 
 

Figure 31 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Reedland Crescent, Faversham) 

 

Figure 32 - ATC Traffic Profile (Reedland Crescent, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Reedland Crescent

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

50

100

150

200

250

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Reedland Crescent

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 141



  

 

70 
 

Figure 33 - ATC Average Speed Profile (South Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 34 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (South Road, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

South Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

South Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 142



  

 

71 
 

Figure 35 - ATC Traffic Profile (South Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 36 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Stonebridge Way, Faversham) 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

South Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Stonebridge Way

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 143



  

 

72 
 

Figure 37 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Stonebridge Way, Faversham) 

 

Figure 38 - ATC Traffic Profile (Stonebridge Way, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Stonebridge Way

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Stonebridge Way

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 144



  

 

73 
 

Figure 39 - ATC Average Speed Profile (The Mall, Faversham) 

 

Figure 40 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (The Mall, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

The Mall

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

The Mall

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 145



  

 

74 
 

Figure 41 - ATC Traffic Profile (The Mall, Faversham) 

 

Figure 42 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Westgate Road, Faversham) 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

The Mall

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Westgate Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 146



  

 

75 
 

Figure 43 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Westgate Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 44 - ATC Traffic Profile (Westgate Road, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Westgate Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Westgate Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 147



  

 

76 
 

Figure 45 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Whitstable Road, Faversham) 

 

Figure 46 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Whitstable Road, Faversham) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Whitstable Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Whitstable Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 148



  

 

77 
 

Figure 47 - ATC Traffic Profile (Whitstable Road, Faversham) 

 

 

TONBRIDGE 
Figure 48 - ATC Average Speed Profile (A227, Tonbridge) 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Whitstable Road

Sept 2017 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

A227

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 149



  

 

78 
 

Figure 49 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (A227, Tonbridge) 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

A227

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

A227

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 150



  

 

79 
 

Figure 50 - ATC Average Speed Profile (A26, Tonbridge) 

 

Figure 51 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (A26, Tonbridge) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

A26

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

A26

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 151



  

 

80 
 

 

Figure 52 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Ave Du Puy, Tonbridge) 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)
A26

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Ave Du Puy

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 152



  

 

81 
 

Figure 53 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Ave Du Puy, Tonbridge) 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Ave Du Puy

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Ave Du Puy

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 153



  

 

82 
 

Figure 54 - ATC Average Speed Profile (B245, Tonbridge) 

 

Figure 55 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (B245, Tonbridge) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

B245

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

B245

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 154



  

 

83 
 

 

Figure 56 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Brook Street, Tonbridge) 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)
B245

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Brook Street

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 155



  

 

84 
 

Figure 57 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Brook Street, Tonbridge) 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Brook Street

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Brook Street

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 156



  

 

85 
 

Figure 58 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Dry Hill Park, Tonbridge) 

 

Figure 59 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Dry Hill Park, Tonbridge) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Dry Hill Park

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Dry Hill Park

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 157



  

 

86 
 

 

Figure 60 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Higham Lane, Tonbridge) 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)
Dry Hill Park

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Higham Lane

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 158



  

 

87 
 

Figure 61 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Higham Lane, Tonbridge) 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Higham Lane

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Higham Lane

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 159



  

 

88 
 

Figure 62 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Pembury Road, Tonbridge) 

 

Figure 63 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Pembury Road, Tonbridge) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Pembury Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Pembury Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 160



  

 

89 
 

 

Figure 64 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Priory Road, Tonbridge) 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)
Pembury Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Priory Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 161



  

 

90 
 

Figure 65 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Priory Road, Tonbridge) 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Priory Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

Priory Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 162



  

 

91 
 

Figure 66 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Shipbourne Road, Tonbridge) 

 

Figure 67 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Shipbourne Road, Tonbridge) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Shipbourne Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Shipbourne Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 163



  

 

92 
 

 

Figure 68 - ATC Average Speed Profile (The Ridgeway, Tonbridge) 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)
Shipbourne Road

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

The Ridgeway

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

Page 164



  

 

93 
 

Figure 69 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (The Ridgeway, Tonbridge) 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

The Ridgeway

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)

The Ridgeway

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 165



  

 

94 
 

Figure 70 - ATC Average Speed Profile (Yardley Park, Tonbridge) 

 

Figure 71 - ATC 85th Percentile Speed Profile (Yardley Park, Tonbridge) 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Yardley Park

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed July 2021 - ATC Speed

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

8
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 S

p
ee

d
 (

m
p

h
)

Yardley Park

July/August 2020 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile) July 2021 - ATC Speed (85th Percentile)

Page 166



  

 

95 
 

 

 

  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Sun Sun Mon Mon Tue Tue Wed Wed Thu Thu Fri Fri Sat Sat

00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00 00:00:00 12:00:00

Tr
af

fi
c 

C
o

u
n

ts
 (

H
o

u
rl

y)
Yardley Park

July/August 2020 - ATC Counts July 2021 - ATC Counts

Page 167



  

 

96 
 

APPENDIX B – ATC AND VIVACITY COMPARISON 

In both Faversham and Tonbridge, there was one week in July 2021 in which vehicle 

speeds and traffic counts were recorded by both ATC surveys and Vivacity sensors. This 

overlap has allowed for a comparison of data from both sources. Figure 72 shows a plot 

of ATC traffic counts against Vivacity vehicle counts, where each point represents an 

hour of data at a single site. Figure 73 shows an analogous comparison for average 

speeds. 

There is near-perfect alignment between ATC traffic counts and vehicle counts from 

Vivacity sensors, with a Pearson’s Correlation Coefficient7 of 0.998. Although this level 

of alignment is not seen in the average speed data, there is still a good level of correlation, 

with a Pearson’s Correlation Coefficient of 0.844. However, average speeds recorded by 

Vivacity sensors appear to be suppressed compared to those recorded by ATC surveys, 

particularly where speeds are already low. 

Figure 72 - Comparison of Vehicle Counts, ATC and Vivacity Sensors 

 

 
7 Pearson’s Correlation Coefficient provides a measure of linear correlation between two variables. This is 
a value between -1 and 1, where 1 represents perfect positive correlation (as one variable increases, so 
does the other), -1 represents perfect negative correlation (as one variable increases, the other decreases), 
and a value close to 0 indicates very little linear correlation in either direction. Formally, it is equivalent to 
the ratio of the covariance of the two variables and the product of their standard deviations. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

V
iv

ac
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ts

ATC Counts

Vehicle Count Comparisons (July 2021)

Page 168



  

 

97 
 

Figure 73 - Comparison of Average Vehicle Speeds, ATC and Vivacity Sensors 

 

Figure 74 shows the average daily motor vehicle speeds across all ten Vivacity sites in 

Faversham and Tonbridge, whilst Figure 75 shows the average total daily motor vehicle 

counts. Aside from the usual weekly variations in motor vehicle speeds, these speeds 

remained relatively stable over the first seven months of 2021 in both Faversham and 

Tonbridge. This is despite gradually increasing motor vehicle traffic levels as pandemic 

restrictions eased. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

V
iv

ac
it

y 
Sp

ee
d

s

ATC Speeds

Vehicle Speed Comparisons (July 2021)

Page 169



  

 

98 
 

Figure 74 - Vivacity Motor Vehicle Speeds (January to July 2021) 

 

Figure 75 - Vivacity Motor Vehicle Counts (January to July 2021) 

 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-0
1

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-0
8

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-1
5

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-2
2

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-2
9

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-0
5

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-1
2

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-1
9

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-2
6

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-0
5

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-1
2

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-1
9

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-2
6

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-0
2

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-0
9

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-1
6

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-2
3

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-3
0

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-0
7

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-1
4

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-2
1

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-2
8

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-0
4

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-1
1

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-1
8

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-2
5

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-0
2

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-0
9

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-1
6

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-2
3

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-3
0

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
p

ee
d

 (
m

p
h

)

Vivacity Speeds - All Motor Vehicles

Faversham Tonbridge

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-0
1

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-0
8

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-1
5

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-2
2

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-2
9

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-0
5

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-1
2

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-1
9

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-2
6

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-0
5

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-1
2

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-1
9

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-2
6

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-0
2

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-0
9

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-1
6

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-2
3

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-3
0

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-0
7

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-1
4

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-2
1

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-2
8

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-0
4

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-1
1

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-1
8

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-2
5

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-0
2

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-0
9

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-1
6

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-2
3

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-3
0

V
eh

ic
le

 C
o

u
n

ts

Vivacity Counts - All Motor Vehicles

Faversham Tonbridge

Page 170



  

 

99 
 

Figure 76 - Vivacity Pedestrian Counts (January to July 2021) 

 

Figure 76 shows the daily pedestrian counts in Faversham and Tonbridge in 2021. Both 

towns saw increases in pedestrian accounts from February onwards, potentially reflected 

changes in the weather. Faversham recorded higher accounts in almost all weeks across 

the study period. 

Figure 77 - Vivacity Cyclist Counts (January to July 2021) 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-0
1

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-0
8

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-1
5

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-2
2

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-2
9

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-0
5

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-1
2

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-1
9

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-2
6

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-0
5

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-1
2

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-1
9

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-2
6

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-0
2

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-0
9

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-1
6

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-2
3

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-3
0

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-0
7

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-1
4

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-2
1

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-2
8

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-0
4

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-1
1

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-1
8

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-2
5

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-0
2

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-0
9

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-1
6

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-2
3

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-3
0

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 C
o

u
n

ts

Vivacity Counts - Pedestrians

Faversham Tonbridge

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-0
1

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-0
8

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-1
5

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-2
2

2
0

2
1

-0
1

-2
9

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-0
5

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-1
2

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-1
9

2
0

2
1

-0
2

-2
6

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-0
5

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-1
2

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-1
9

2
0

2
1

-0
3

-2
6

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-0
2

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-0
9

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-1
6

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-2
3

2
0

2
1

-0
4

-3
0

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-0
7

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-1
4

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-2
1

2
0

2
1

-0
5

-2
8

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-0
4

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-1
1

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-1
8

2
0

2
1

-0
6

-2
5

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-0
2

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-0
9

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-1
6

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-2
3

2
0

2
1

-0
7

-3
0

C
yc

lis
t 

C
o

u
n

ts

Vivacity Counts - Cyclists

Faversham Tonbridge

Page 171



  

 

100 
 

 

Figure 77 shows daily cyclist counts from January to July 2020 in Faversham and 

Tonbridge. Counts were lowest in the first six weeks of the year, perhaps reflecting the 

time of year and weather influences observed in the PMRS data.

Page 172



 

 

 

  

 

APPENDIX C – KCC FAVERSHAM CONSULTATION 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Faversham Town-wide 20mph Speed Limit Trial  

Consultation Report 

 
Client Name: Kent County Council 

 
Reference: 7099 

Date:26/08/21 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



 

102 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

From Thursday 31 July 2020 to Wednesday 3 March 2021, Kent County Council 

carried out a public consultation seeking feedback on the Faversham town-wide 

20 miles per hour (mph) scheme. The scheme aims to improve public safety and 

the local environment for all area users. 

Throughout the consultation, information on the scheme was shared online on 

the designated project website: www.kent.gov.uk/faversham20mph and through 

a variety of engagement activities, details of which can be found in Section 3.1 

of this report.  

A consultation questionnaire was made available online. In total, 668 

questionnaires were completed during the consultation period. 

This document provides a detailed overview of the consultation activities 

undertaken to gather feedback from residents of the local area, and a detailed 

analysis of the comments received                                                                               

 

Key findings: 

⚫ The majority of consultation respondents agreed with the idea of a 

town-wide 20mph scheme, with seven out of ten people noting that it 

will make Faversham safer. 

⚫ In addition to improved safety, most people also agreed that the 20mph 

limits will make Faversham cleaner (57%), healthier (61%) and safer 

(65%). 

⚫ Some who supported the scheme also suggested extending the 20mph 

zone to include Love Lane, Ospringe Street and Water Lane. 

⚫ 37% of respondents objected to the scheme, in comparison to the 63% 

who were in support. Of those who objected, their concerns included 

possible impacts on public safety and enforcement issues, as well as 

some suggestions for the exemption of certain streets which they felt 

were inappropriate for 20mph. 

Page 174

http://www.kent.gov.uk/faversham20mph


 

103 
 

INTRODUCTION 

This report presents a summary of the feedback received in relation to the 

Faversham town-wide 20mph speed limit trial consultation. It has been produced 

by Project Centre, who were commissioned by Kent County Council (KCC) to 

analyse the consultation responses. This document is one of two documents 

produced by Project Centre in relation to the scheme. Please see Appendix A for 

materials that were used as part of the consultation.  

Feedback was submitted via an online questionnaire on KCC’s consultation 

directory. The questionnaire was divided into two parts: 

• Part one consisted of mandatory questions around the Experimental 

Traffic Regulation Order. 

• Part two presented a series of optional questions, which sought to gauge 

local views on the scheme and collect demographic information such as 

the age and gender of respondents. 

A summary of the feedback received can be found in Section 4 of this report.  

Page 175



 

104 
 

BACKGROUND 

In Summer 2020 KCC was awarded £1.6 million from the Department for 

Transport’s (DfT) Emergency Active Travel Fund to invest in walking and 

cycling initiatives across the county.  

Some of this fund has been used to deliver 20mph town-wide trials in 

Faversham and Tonbridge. Faversham was chosen because of the significant 

amount of work undertaken over the last five years by Faversham Town 

Council (FTC) and the 20’s Plenty for Faversham community group.  

A condition of funding was to implement the schemes quickly – within eight 

weeks – and this precluded the usual process, whereby consultation takes 

place ahead of implementation. Instead, councils were encouraged to 

implement schemes via Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders (ETRO). This 

had the benefit of enabling people to comment on schemes in reality during 

the trial period, rather than consulting on a theoretical future scheme.  

20mph scheme – implementation 

The rationale for delivering a 20mph zone across Faversham is to encourage 

active travel by making it safer for local people walking and cycling. You can 

learn more about the wider benefits of 20mph zones by visiting our website8. 

Plans surrounding the 20mph zones have been informed by discussions with 

Faversham Town Council and its 20's Plenty committee. 

Road markings and signs, as well as signed 20mph ‘gateways’ were 

introduced. These have been given either a buff or red surface to highlight the 

start of the new speed limit. Planters were also installed to enhance some of 

the 20mph zone entrances. 

There were no other traffic calming measures such as speed bumps. 

However, throughout the trial period monitoring was undertaken to assess the 

effectiveness of the scheme and feedback has been closely reviewed, which 

resulted in the planters in Bysingwood Road being repositioned and the centreline 

removal as resurfacing has taken place. Additional measures may also be 

forthcoming to support the trial speed limit, such as further centreline removal and 

alterations to make pedestrian crossing locations more prominent. 

 
8 https:// www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-projects/in-progress-road-

projects/emergency-active-travel-fund-schemes/benefits-of-20mph-limit-schemes 

Page 176

https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-projects/in-progress-road-projects/emergency-active-travel-fund-schemes/benefits-of-20mph-limit-schemes


 

105 
 

 

 

 

Figure 78 Map of area 20mph limit in Faversham covered 

  

Page 177



 

106 
 

CONSULTATION PROCESS 

The consultation launched on 31 July 2020 and ran until 3 March 2021. 

Throughout this period residents and stakeholders were provided with the 

opportunity to share their views on the ETRO for the town-wide 20mph trial in 

Faversham. 

Methodology and communications approach  

To raise awareness about the consultation and encourage participation, a 

thorough promotional campaign was carried out in partnership with Faversham 

Town Council (FTC) and with the support of Swale Borough Council (SBC). 

This campaign included: 

• A leaflet distributed to 11,000+ homes and business across Faversham 

(see Appendix 1).  

• A designated project website was set up at: 

www.kent.gov.uk/faversham20mph, with project information and a link 

to the consultation directory page, where the questionnaire was hosted  

(see Appendix 2). 

• Social media posts on KCC’s and FTC channels and shared by SBC.  

• Facebook advertising posts at the start and towards the end of the 

consultation period (see Appendix 3).  

• Sponsored content on the KentOnline website, including banners, 

articles and adverts (see Appendix 4). 

• Feature in SBC’s residents’ magazine (see Appendix 5).   

• Posters (see Appendix 6), banners and car park signs displayed across 

Faversham. 

• Invitations to individuals registered with KCC’s consultation directory 

who had expressed an interest in hearing about consultations on roads, 

traffic and transport in Swale.  

• Faversham Town Council also undertook engagement activities, 

including stalls at community events, handing out stickers and 

Page 178

http://www.kent.gov.uk/faversham20mph
http://www.kent.gov.uk/faversham20mph


 

107 
 

postcards and through CommonPlace, their online engagement 

platform.   

Page 179

https://20mphfaversham.commonplace.is/


 

108 
 

FEEDBACK REPORT 

This section will provide a breakdown of the questionnaire results. The 

following information presents a breakdown of all the answers. Please note:  

• Closed-ended questions have been tallied, and sometimes cross-

tabulated with other questions (where appropriate) to reveal insights, 

trends, and patterns. 

• Open-ended questions were thematically analysed, and a 

representative quote directly sourced from the data has been provided 

which captures the meaning of each theme 

A full text version of the questionnaire is available in Appendix 7. 

4.1  Questionnaire summary 

A total of 668 responses were received through the online questionnaire and 

by email or post. The latter responses have been manually entered into the 

dataset and included in the analysis.   

 

Figure 79 Response rate over time 

• August saw 88 responses, 96 in September and 122 in October. 

 

 

 

Page 180



 

109 
 

• Response levels declined the next three months with 29 responses 

recorded in November, 26 responses recorded in December and 38 

responses in January.  

• In February 211 responses were recorded, while 58 responses were 

recorded in March during the last few days of the consultation.  

Overall, feedback received within the consultation was positive, with 63% of 

respondents answering that they supported the implementation of the ETRO 

for Faversham’s town-wide 20mph limit.  

Of the 37% who did not support the ETRO, the most common rationale was 

that respondents felt it would be too challenging for the speed reduction 

measures to be enforced. 

 

Page 181



 

110 
 

 

A breakdown of the results for each question follows on below. Please note: 

Closed-ended questions have been tallied and sometimes cross-analysed with 

other questions, where appropriate, to reveal insights and patterns.  

 

 

 

Key findings:   

• 63% were in favour of 20mph town-wide limits, while 37% objected.  

• The most common ways people heard about the consultation were 

Facebook, town council, the information leaflet which was delivered to local 

homes and businesses and via word of mouth from friends and relatives. 

• Support for the scheme was generally consistent throughout the entirety of 

the scheme. Most objections to the scheme came either prior to the scheme 

launch or following Facebook advertisements posts published towards the 

end of the consultation period.  

• 87% of people chose to complete both the mandatory (part 1) and optional 

(part 2) sections of the questionnaire. 

• Support levels within the ME13 8 postcode area were 69% in favour of the 

town-wide limit. Support levels for those living within the ME13 7 postcode 

area were 53% in favour of the town-wide limit.   

• 78% of those who cycle supported the scheme, 67% of those who travel by 

foot or bus supported the scheme, while 56% of passengers/drivers 

supported the scheme. Motorcyclists were the only group where the 

majority did not support the town-wide limit, with only 21% in favour.  

• In response to the statement in question 6 “a 20mph town-wide speed limit 

in Faversham helps it to become…” 57% of respondents said cleaner, 61% 

said healthier and 65% said safer.  

 

 

Page 182



 

111 
 

Open-ended questions were thematically analysed, and a representative 

quote directly sourced from the data has been provided which demonstrates 

the meaning of each theme. 

4.2  Q1. Please tell us if you wish to support or object to this 
Experimental Traffic Regulation Order for a town-wide 20mph 
speed limit in Faversham 

 

Figure 80 Overall level of support 

• As shown in the chart above 422 (63%) of people supported the 20mph 

limit and 246 (37%) objected.  

• The chart below provides a breakdown of the level of support on a 

month-by-month basis. 

 

 

63%

37%

Support or object 

Support Object

Page 183



 

112 
 

 

Figure 81 Support over time 

• Support levels stayed relatively constant throughout, although in some 

months there were more responses received in support than others 

(i.e., October, November and March). 

• August was the only month where objections to the trial were higher 

than support for the trial, despite the scheme not yet being 

implemented. 

• February also had a relatively high rate of objections coinciding with 

Facebook advertising campaigns. 

 

Q1a Please tell us the reason for your support or objection 

• This question received free-text (written) responses which have been 

read through and analysed for this report.  

• All 688 people were required to provide a response to this question. 

These comments were sorted into themes, which reflect recurring 

concerns, suggestions and opinions respondents had regarding the 

20mph trial. 

 

August September October November December January February March

Object 50 40 37 3 4 15 84 13

Support 38 56 85 26 22 23 127 45

38
56

85

26 22 23

127

45

50
40

37

3 4 15

84

13

0

50

100

150

200

250
Support over time

Support Object

Page 184



 

113 
 

• Most comments included a number of themes, which is why the number 

of themes exceeds the overall number of comments. Some responses 

simultaneously raised points considered both positive and negative. For 

instance, someone commenting about the increased safety and 

reduced pollution as a result of the trial but had concerns regarding 

enforcement or feasibility of the scheme, has raised three separate 

themes. Such a comment would have two positive themes coded to it 

(safer and environmental benefits), and one negative theme coded to it 

(enforcement).  

• Approximately 47,000 words were analysed as part of this question. 

 

Figure 82 Main themes 

• After a thorough analysis of all 688 comments, 642 positive comments 

were made about the trial, while 717 were negative comments or 

concerns, 114 comments were about the consultation and 71 comments 

were classified as ‘other’. 

• Below is a breakdown of each theme and the points they raised. Each 

figure contains a percentage figure (in brackets) which is considered in 

proportion to the total number of people in the survey (688 people).  

 

 

717
642

114
71

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Negative Positive Consultation Other

Main thematic categories

Page 185



 

114 
 

4.4  Positive Themes 

 

Figure 83 Positive themes 

• 360 people (52%) mentioned they feel that the reduction of speed is safer. 

The safety of children in particular and prevention of serious injury or death 

in case of collision were common remarks left by people under this theme.  

 

“I can cross the road without fear of a car coming around the corner too fast 

and hitting me. At 20 mph I can see the vehicle and they can see me and have 

enough time to stop if need be” 

• 147 people (21%) mentioned Faversham stood to gain environmental 

benefits as a result of the trial. Reduction in air pollution due to a 

decrease in car usage was a contributing factor. 

 

“There’s also the matter of pollution. Slower driving means a better 

atmosphere and less need for applying the brakes” 

 

 

360

147

86

49

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Safer

Environmental benefits

Encourages walking/cycling

Noise reduction

Positive themes

Page 186



 

115 
 

• 86 people (13%) said they felt that the trial would encourage people to 

walk and/or cycle more. Increased confidence to cycle and walk due to 

the reduction in speed was a key driver behind this. 

 

“20mph makes sense as the default speed limit to encourage walking, cycling” 

• 49 people (7%) said the 20mph limit would lead to a reduction in noise 

due to the trial.   

 

“Reducing speed will reduce noise.” 

4.5  Negative Themes 

 

Figure 84 Negative themes 

• 135 people (20%) left comments relating to enforcement. Impossibility of 

enforcement, lack of enforcement and people not driving at 20mph were 

issues raised by participants. Some commented that better enforcement of   

existing speed limits was required only. These comments relating to 

135

108

89

75

69

65

56

44

30

27

19

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160

Enforcement

Safety concerns

Against blanket 20 mph

Support specific 20mph

Traffic flow/congestion

Pollution concerns

Waste of money

Difficult to drive

Other (general)

Impact on town/businesses

Emergency vehicles concern

Negative themes

Page 187



 

116 
 

enforcement were left by both supporters (37 people) and objectors (98 

people) to the trial: 

 

“People don't always respect the 30mph limit in much of the town so who will 

enforce this 20mph limit throughout the town?!” 

“This is a pointless, unenforceable traffic control.” 

• 108 people (16%) left comments saying the 20mph trial has adversely 

impacted safety. Some of the reasons given included: it encourages 

overtaking, driver attention diverted to speedometer, pedestrians 

misjudging vehicle speed. 

 

“It is dangerously slow and is causing road rage.” 

• 25 people (4%) left comments about the planters saying they were 

dangerously placed and were a hazard – especially at night. These were 

later repositioned during the consultation. 

 

“What I do not agree with is putting big planters in the way thinking it will slow 

traffic down when all it’s doing is going to cause more accidents especially 

that close to the roundabout at Sainsbury’s.” 

• 89 people (13%) said they were against a blanket town-wide 20mph 

speed limit. Of those 89, 11 answered in response to Q1 that they were in 

support of the trial, whereas 78 objected. Some people mentioned certain 

roads which they felt were negatively impacted by the trial. The list below 

provides the number of times each road was mentioned as being 

unsuitable for 20mph limits: 

Bysingwood Road (24 mentions) 

Whistable road (11 mentions) 

Dark Hill (4 mentions) 

East Street (3 mentions) 

Forbes Road, Graveney Road, Love Lane, Newton Road, Western Link 

Road (2 mentions) 

 

Page 188



 

117 
 

“I feel that the main arterial routes into and out of the town including The Mall, 

Forbes Road, Newton Road, East Street and Whitstable Road should remain 

at 30mph.” 

• 75 people (11%) said they supported specific 20mph restrictions of the 

trial, mentioning areas such as the town centre, around schools and 

residential roads which they felt should be prioritised. Of those who 

provided comments relating to the implementation of the trial on certain 

streets, 16 out of the 75 were supporters, while 59 were objectors. Of 

those who objected, their rationale was that they did not agree with the 

blanket approach.  

• A few streets were mentioned as requiring being part of the 20mph 

instead or alongside the trial area. These included: Love Lane (7  

mentions), Ospringe Street (4 mentions) and Water Lane (2 mentions).   

 

“Ospringe Street is the only road in Faversham that needs calming. 

Hundreds of lorries and noisy skip lorries rumble and rattle through 

(allowing EKR was just the worst KCC decision, try living in this street), 

very few at the 30-mph limit. However, KCC would never entertain 20 mph 

for this road. “ 

• 69 people (10%) said that traffic flow would be impeded, adding to 

congestion or that it was too slow already to drive at a 20mph speed.  

  

“The traffic now does not flow through the town. There is constant bottle 

neck.” 

• 65 people (9%) said that pollution would increase as a result of the trial. 

Driving in a lower gear and the added consequence of being stuck in 

congestion were reasons given for higher emissions.  

 

“Reducing speeds within towns has been shown to increase pollution.”  

 

• 44 people (6%) said that it was difficult to drive as modern cars are not 

attuned to drive at an unusual speed with frequent gear-shifting. Some also 

mentioned cars were more fuel-efficient at 30mph than 20mph.  

Page 189



 

118 
 

 

“Modern cars are designed to work efficiently at normal urban speeds of 

about 30mph.” 

• 30 people (4%) left other comments. Some were general disagreements 

with many believing that 20mph will not increase walking or cycling levels 

or encourage new take-up of those modes. Other comments mentioned 

that speed is self-limited on many roads already for example due to parked 

cars. 

 

“I don't believe it will deliver the stated aims of the scheme.”  

• 27 people (4%) left comments saying a 20mph town-wide limit would 

negatively impact on Faversham, including local businesses and the 

towns appeal to visitors.  

 

“The application of this speed limit will influence my decision to travel into 

Faversham for shopping.” 

• 19 people (3%) left comments concerned about the impact on emergency 

vehicles and first responders time to attend emergencies.  

 

“First responders and blue light vehicles will be delayed and cost lives.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 190



 

119 
 

4.6  Consultation themes 

 

Figure 85 Consultation themes 

• 44 people (6%) had queries relating to the lack of evidence for some 

of the stated goals behind the trial. 

 

“It's not driven by facts and data. There appears to be no evidence of a 

significant problem this is supposed to solve.” 

• 21 people (3%) said they questioned the lack of consultation carried 

out prior to the implementation of the scheme.  

 

“Not happy this is being forced upon the town by FTC without prior 

consultation with the people of Faversham.” 

• 18 people (3%) believed that special interest groups, a vocal minority 

or people with a personal agenda, have been influential in pushing the 

measures through. 

 

44

21

18

11

11

9

0 10 20 30 40 50

Lack of evidence

No consultation prior to implementation

Special interest groups

COVID-19

Online engagement

Other

Consultation

Page 191



 

120 
 

“This proposal is driven by an anti-car mentality that views motorists as 

the enemy within and is dressed up as environmentalism and caring.”  

• 11 people (2%) left COVID-19 related concerns some saying it is an 

abnormal time to implement the 20mph limit and people working from 

home have impacted travel habits. 

 

“It has been difficult to assess the full impact of this scheme, given that for 

most of the time it has been in place various forms of lockdown 

restrictions have been in force. Traffic levels, both vehicular and 

pedestrian, and bus patronage have therefore not been typical.”  

• 11 people (2%) left comments about other online engagement, some 

saying comments from social media and elsewhere should not be 

ignored. Facebook and Faversham Town Council’s engagement 

platform (Commonplace) were cited by some people as showing 

overwhelmingly negative responses from people. Other comments 

questioned the biased nature of the consultation. 

 

“So called ‘online consultation’ is heavily bias to keeping 20mph and is 

geared to asking how to further reduce pollution (ie, we’re going to keep it 

anyway, but tell us how we can further inconvenience people that have no 

option but to drive)” 

• 9 (1%) people left other comments about the consultation. Many 

suggestions implied the scheme is not experimental but permanent. 

Similarly, some saw the consultation as a smokescreen to implement 

changes regardless of the outcome, while others questioned the lack of 

publicity.  

 

“The scheme has been railroaded through which for a trial seems 

excessive.” 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 192



 

121 
 

4.7  Other themes 

 

Figure 86 Other themes 

• 16 people (2%) left other comments about cycling. This included 

investing in the infrastructure to encourage cyclists. 

 

“Instead of wanting to lower the speed limit, which will do any good, 

why don't your council don't build new roads, building cycle paths, 

separating bicycles from cars? Will be much better. 

• 16 people (2%) left comments about improving pedestrian experience 

with many suggesting a crossing is required.  

 

“Need more, strategically placed road crossings"  

• 15 people (2%) left general and alternative comments – most left 

general positive comments, others left alternative suggestions ranging  

from timed 20mph limits to additional nonrelated infrastructure 

suggestions. 

16

16

15

10

8

4

2

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

Cycling remarks

Pedestrian remarks

General and inapplicable

Signage and traffic suggestion

Improve roads

Parking

Electric vehicles

Other Themes

Page 193



 

122 
 

“Personally, if KCC has immediate funding available for community 

ventures, then keeping the town clean and safe would be a higher 

priority in my view.” 

“If we have to have this forced upon us without a local referendum, it 

should only be 7am to 7pm” 

• 10 people (2%) left comments about traffic and signage suggestions. 

Many commented the signage looked unappealing while others 

commented on traffic measures to curb HGV’s or add speed indicators. 

 

“20mph painted signs in bright red are not in keeping with the areas as well.”  

• 4 people (<1%) left comments about public transport including lack of 

funds for public transport improvements and current poor service.  

 

“Useless regulation without investment in alternative forms of transport 

such as improved bus connections” 

• 2 people (<1%) left comments about parking concerned with 

availability. 2 people wanted more parking availability, another person 

wanted parking removed from Whistable Road opposite the 

recreational ground. 

 

“If you want to get vehicles out of the town a parking facility needs to be 

provided on the perimeter.” 

• 2 people (<1%) left comments about investing in electric vehicle 

infrastructure.  

 

“Long term electric vehicles will be used. Money should be spent on the 

infrastructure for that.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 194



 

123 
 

4.8  Q2 How did you find out about this consultation? 

 

Figure 87 How respondents found out about the consultation 

• 217 people (35%) said they heard about the consultation via 

Facebook. 

• 137 people (22%) heard about the consultation through the town 

council. 

• 132 people (21%) found out via a leaflet delivered to their home or 

business. 

• 114 people (18%) heard from a friend or relative. 

• 92 people (15%) said they heard through an email. 

• 66 people (11%) heard through a street sign/public notice/poster.  

• 53 people (8%) said they heard about the consultation via 

newspaper.  

• 38 people (6%) said they were registrants of KCC’s consultation 

directory. 

• 11 people (2%) heard about the consultation via Twitter. 

• 39 people (6%) selected the ‘other’ option and were asked to specify 

where they heard about the consultation: 

• 11 found out about the consultation through an internet search.  

 

11

38

39

53

66

92

114

132

137

217

0 50 100 150 200 250

Twitter

Kent.gov.uk website

Other

Newspaper

Street notice/ public notice/ poster

An email

From a friend or relative

Leaflet delivered to my home or business

From my town council

Facebook

How did you find out about this consultation?

Page 195



 

124 
 

• 7 said alternative social media. Most said Instagram, while two 

people said the Nextdoor app. 

• 6 people said they heard through the 20’s plenty campaign.  

• 5 heard through a political party or councillor. 

• 5 were registrants of KCC’s consultation directory.  

• 4 were informed through the Faversham MP, Helen Whately.  

• 4 heard through a Faversham newsletter (Faversham Society and 

Faversham Eye).  

• 10 people heard about the consultation through alternative 

channels including a letter from a local resident, a WhatsApp 

cycling group and through a leaflet in the town hall.  

• 3 people left the text box blank. 

 

Figure 88 Support level divided by communication channels 

• The bar chart above shows support levels divided by each of the 

communication channels that people said they heard about the 

consultation. 

An email Facebook
Newspap

er

From my
town

council
Twitter

Kent.gov.
uk

Leaflet
delivered

to my
home or
business

Other

Street
notice/
public

notice/po
ster

From a
friend or
relative

Object 19 136 17 27 4 16 36 20 17 17

Support 72 81 36 110 7 22 96 19 49 97

19

136

17
27

4

16

36

20 17 17

72
81

36

110

7

22

96

19

49

97

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Support levels by communication channel

Object Support

Page 196



 

125 
 

• 85% of those who heard about the consultation via email supported the 

20mph limit.  

• 64% of those who heard through Facebook objected, making it  the only 

communication channel that had a higher object to support ratio.  

• 68% those who heard about the consultation from a newspaper 

supported the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 80% of those who heard about the consultation from the town council 

supported the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 64% those who heard about the consultation from Twitter supported the 

town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 58% those who heard about the consultation from Kent.go.uk 

consultation portal supported the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 73% of those who received a leaflet delivered to their home or business 

supported the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 88% of those who heard about the consultation from a street notice, 

poster, public notice, or poster supported the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 85% of those who heard about the consultation through a friend or 

relative supported the town-wide 20mph limit. 

 

The following analysis pertains to responses given in section two of the 

survey. Section two of the survey was optional, and respondents were asked 

whether they would like to continue with the questionnaire or would like to skip 

and just submit their response to the statutory ETRO part of the consultation.  

• 575 (87%) people chose to answer part two of the questionnaire, while 

85 (13%) opted to skip. 

• An additional 6 people filled out part two of the questionnaire as these 

were received as hardcopies. This brings the total number of people 

who took part in the second part of the questionnaire to 581. 

 4.9 Q3. Are you responding as…? 

Page 197



 

126 
 

 

Figure 89 Respondent type 

• The majority of respondents 500 people (86%) were residents of 

Faversham. 

• 53 people (9%) said they were from somewhere else in Kent or 

further afield. 

• 16 people (3%) selected the ‘other’ response and were provided 

with a text box to supply an answer.   

• Most people said they were from nearby Faversham – 1 person 

was confused if that categorised them as a Faversham resident 

or not.  

• 2 people said they were from the 20’s Plenty campaign.  

• 2 people said they were GP’s. 

• 1 person said they were a highway consultant. 

• 4 people (1%) said on behalf of a local business.   

• 3 people (<1%) said on behalf of a charity, voluntary or community 

sector organisation. 

• 3 people (<1%) said on behalf of an educational establishment, 

such as a school or college. 

500 (86%)

53 (9%)

0%
1% 1% 16

(3%)
Respondent Type

A Faversham resident

A resident from somewhere else in Kent or
further afield

A representative of a local community group
or residents' association

On behalf of a charity, voluntary or
community sector organisation (VCS)

On behalf of a local business

On behalf of an educational establishment,
such as school or college

Other

Page 198



 

127 
 

• 2 people (<1%) said they were a representative of a local 

community group or resident’s association.  

 

Figure 90 Support by respondent type 

• 306 people (61%) who were Faversham residents support the 

town-wide 20mph speed limit. Whereas 194 (39%) objected. 

• 35 people (66%) who were residents from somewhere else in Kent 

support the limit. Whereas 18 (34%) objected. 

• 4 people (100%) who said they were responding on behalf of a 

local business object to the town-wide 20mph limit.   

• 3 people (100%) who said they responded on behalf of a charity or 

VCS organisation support the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 2 people (66%) who said they responded on behalf of an 

educational establishment, such as a school or college supported 

the town-wide 20mph limit. 1 (34%) person from this category 

objected. 

• 1 person (50%) who identified as a representative of a local 

community group or resident’s association support the town -wide 

20mph limit. Whereas 1 (50%) person objected. 

 

 

 

 

1

2

3

35

306

1

1

4

18

194

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Representative of a local community group
or residents association

On behalf of an educational establishment,
such as school or college

On behalf of a charity, voluntary or
community sector organisation

On behalf of a local business

Resident from somewhere else in Kent

Faversham resident

Support or objection to scheme by respondent type

Support Object

Page 199



 

128 
 

4.10  Q4. Please tell us the first five characters of your postcode 

• 578 people responded to this question. 

• Due to typos and misspellings, some postcodes were grouped 

together. For instance, someone who mentioned ‘M138P’ was 

counted as an ME13 8 postcode. Any postcodes which were invalid 

or difficult to discern were put in the ‘other’ ca tegory. 

• The chart below shows the top five postcodes mentioned, postcodes 

which were not mentioned as many times as these five were 

categorised under the ‘other’ category’. 

 

Figure 16 Postcodes 

• 199 people (34%) said they were from an ME13 8 postcode. Below is 

a map of the area this postcode covers in Faversham. 

 

 

199 (34%)

174 (30%)

100 (17%)

63 (11%)

24 18

Postcodes

ME13 8 ME13 7 ME13

Other ME13 9 ME13 0

Page 200



 

129 
 

 

Figure 17 Map of ME13 8 

• 174 people (30%) said they were from an ME13 7 postcode. Below is 

a map of the area this postcode covers in Faversham. 

 

Figure 18 Map of ME13 7 

 

Page 201



 

130 
 

• 100 people (17%) said they were from an ME13 postcode (these 

respondents did not specify any further than this). 

• 63 people (11%) mentioned other postcodes:  

• ME9 0 was mentioned 3 times. 

• CT13 was mentioned twice.  

• The remaining postcodes had only one mention. 

• 24 people (4%) said they were from an ME13 9. 

• 18 people (3%) said they were from an ME13 0.    

• The chart below divides these postcodes by the level of support for 

the town-wide 20mph limit. 

 

Figure 19 Top five postcode by level of support 

• 69% of those who were in the ME13 8 postcode supported the town-

wide 20mph limit.  

• 53% of those who were in the ME13 7 postcode supported the town-

wide 20mph limit.  

 

 

4.11 Q5. How do you usually travel in and around Faversham? 

• This question enabled respondents to select all applicable options as 

relevant to them. 

138 (69%)

92 (53%)

64 (61%)

14 (64%) 11 (58%)

61 (31%)

82 (47%)

36…

10(36%) 7 (42%)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

ME 138 ME 137 ME 13 ME130 ME 139

Postcode divided by level of support Support Object

Page 202



 

131 
 

 

Figure 91 How do you usually travel in and around Faversham?  

• 458 people (79%) said they travel by foot/walking travelling in and 

around Faversham.  

• 443 people (76%) said they use a car as a driver.  

• 193 people (33%) said they use a bicycle.  

• 136 people (23%) said that they are a passenger in a car. 

• 30 people (5%) said they use bus. 

• 14 people (2%) said they use a motorcycle. 

• The 2% that selected ‘Other', specified that they travel by the following 

modes: 

• Electric scooters 

• Mobility scooters 

• Van 

• Train 

 

76%

33%

5%

23%

79%

2% 2%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Car - as
driver

Bicycle Bus Car - as
passenger

Foot/walking Motorcycle Other

Transport methods used in Faversham

Page 203



 

132 
 

 

Figure 92 Support divided by transport method 

• The chart above divides the level of support based on the respondent’s 

preferred mode of transport for the question. 

• 56% of drivers of cars said they support the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 78% of cyclists support the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 67% of bus users support the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 67% of those who walkers support the town-wide 20mph limit. 

• 56% of car passengers support the town-wide 20mph limit.  

• 79% motorcycles object to the town-wide 20mph limit. 

A cross-analysis between everyone who left a positive comment about the trial 

in Q1a has been divided by the method of transport. See the table below for a 

breakdown of each theme by transport modes people use. 

 

Themes 
Walking 

Car - 
driver  

Car - 
passenger Bicycle  Motorcycle 

Safer 265 (94%) 215 (95%) 69 (96%) 132 (92%) 3 (100%) 

Environmental 
benefits 116 (41%) 82 (36%) 23 (32%) 62 (43%) 1 (33%) 

Encourages 
walking/cycling 72 (25%) 56 (25%) 15 (21%) 53 (37%) 1 (33%) 

250 (56%)

150 (78%)

20 (67%)

76 (56%)

307 (67%)

3 (21%)

193 (44%)

43 (22%)

10 (33%)

60 (44%)

151 (33%)

11
(79%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Car - as driver Bicycle Bus Car - as
passenger

Foot/Walking Motorcycle

Transport method divided by level of support

Support Object

Page 204



 

133 
 

Noise reduction 35 (12%) 26 (12%) 7 (10%) 19 (13%) 1 (33%) 

Total number 
of people for 
each category 283 226 72 143 3 

• Safety was the most frequently mentioned theme by people regardless of 

the mode of transport they used the most. 

• A higher proportion of those who rode a bicycle said the trial encourages 

people to walk/cycle more (37%) and provides environmental benefits.  

• 25% of those who left a positive comment and drive a car, said the trial 

encouraged people to walk/cycle more.    

A cross-analysis between all those who left a negative comment about the 

trial in Q1a has been divided by the method of transport people they use. The 

total number of people who left a comment with a negative theme for each 

transport mode has been used to calculate the percentage. 

Themes 
Foot / 
Walking 

Car - as a 
driver 

Car - as a 
passenger Bicycle Motorcycle 

Enforcement 78 (42%) 90 (40%)  25 (36%) 18 (34%) 7 (28%) 

Safety concerns 69 (38%) 85 (38%) 28 (41%) 20 (38%) 5 (20%) 

Against blanket 
20mph 51 (28% 66 (29%) 12 (17%) 14 (26%) 1 (4%) 

Support specific 
20mph 48 (26%) 57 (25%) 15 (22%) 8 (15%) 2 (8%) 

Traffic 
flow/congestion 40 (22%) 57 (25%) 19 (28%) 14 (26%) 8 (32%) 

Pollution concerns 36 (20%) 50 (22%) 12 (17%) 16 (30%) 7 (28%) 

Waste of money 34 (18%) 41 (18%) 12 (17%) 8 (15%) 5 (20%) 

Difficult to drive 24 (13%) 32 (14%) 10 (14%) 6 (11%) 4 (16%) 

Other (general) 19 (10%) 22 (10%) 5 (7%) 6 (11%) 0 (0%) 

Impact on 
town/business 11 (6%) 23 (10%) 8 (11%) 5 (9%) 0 (0%) 

Emergency vehicles 
concern 12 (6%) 17 (8%) 6 (9%) 3 (6%) 0 (0%) 

Total number of 
people for each 
category 184 224 69 53 25 

 

Page 205



 

134 
 

• Generally, the negative themes raised in Q1a did not substantially differ 

depending on which transport method people used to travel around 

Faversham. 

• However, relative differences between certain transport users persist in 

certain themes – for instance, enforcement was the top concern of walkers 

and drivers, but was the second most important for passengers, cyclists, 

and motorcyclists. 

 

 

4.12 Q6. To what extent do you agree or disagree that a 20mph town-
wide speed limit in Faversham helps it to become… 

• The above question was accompanied by three different statements about 

whether Faversham would become: 

A cleaner place to live, work and visit. 

A healthier place to live, work and visit. 

A safer place to live, work and visit. 

• Each person was asked to select whether they strongly agree, tend to 

agree, neither agree nor disagree, tend to disagree, strongly disagree, or 

don’t know in response to the statements above. 

• The charts on the following pages show the extent of support for all three 

statements. 

 

 

Figure 93 A cleaner place to live, work and visit 

264

62 55 52

141

2
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Strongly agree Tend to agree Neither agree
or disagree

Tend to
disagree

Strongly
disagree

Don't know

A cleaner place to live, work and visit

Page 206



 

135 
 

• 246 people (46%) strongly agree a 20mph town-wide speed limit in 

Faversham helps it to become a cleaner place to live, work and visit. 

Meanwhile, 62 people (11%) tend to agree. 

• A combined 57% strongly agree or tend to agree with the statement. 

• 141 people (24%) strongly disagree a 20mph town-wide speed limit 

in Faversham helps it to become a cleaner place to live, work and 

visit. Meanwhile, 52 people (9%) tend to disagree.  

• A combined 33% strongly disagree or tend to disagree with the 

statement. 

• 55 people (10%) neither agree nor disagree. 

• 2 people (<1%) said they do not know. 

 

 

Figure 94 A healthier place to live, work and visit 

• 290 people (50%) strongly agree a 20mph town-wide speed limit in 

Faversham helps it to become a healthier place to live, work and visit. 

Meanwhile, 59 people (11%) tend to agree. 

• A combined 61% strongly agree or tend to agree with the statement. 

• 142 people (25%) strongly disagree a 20mph town-wide speed limit in 

Faversham helps it to become a healthier place to live, work and visit. 

Meanwhile, 54 people (9%) tend to disagree.  

• A combined 34% strongly disagree or tend to disagree with the 

statement. 

• 32 people (6%) neither agree nor disagree. 

290

59

32
54

142

2
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Strongly agree Tend to agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Tend to
disagree

Strongly
disagree

Don't know

A healthier place to live, work and visit

Page 207



 

136 
 

• people (<1%) said they don’t know. 

 

 

Figure 95 A safer place to live, work and visit 

• 330 people (59%) strongly agree a 20mph town-wide speed limit in 

Faversham helps it to become a safer place to live, work and visit. 

Meanwhile, 35 people (6%) tend to agree. 

• A combined 65% strongly agree or tend to agree with the statement.  

• 119 people (22%) strongly disagree a 20mph town-wide speed limit in 

Faversham helps it to become a healthier place to live, work and visit. 

Meanwhile, 35 people (6%) tend to disagree.  

• A combined 28% strongly disagree or tend to disagree with the 

statement. 

• 35 people (6%) neither agree nor disagree. 

• 3 people (1%) said they do not know.  

 

4.13 Q7. The 20mph town-wide limit is part of a longer-term plan to 
increase walking and cycling in the town. Do you have any other 
ideas to improve walking and cycling in Faversham?   

• The above question was asked to those who took part in the second 

part of the consultation, inviting them to leave a written free-text 

response about ways to improve walking and cycling.   

• The text responses were varied, and answers were of varying lengths 

raising multiple issues spanning several themes. Approximately, 24,000 

words were analysed and coded for this question. 

330

35 34 35

119

3
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Strongly agree Tend to agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Tend to
disagree

Strongly
disagree

Don't know

A safer place to live, work and visit

Page 208



 

137 
 

• Out of the 581 respondents in part two, 497 left a comment while 84 

people left the question blank. The number of times a person raised a 

comment is therefore considered a percentage of the 497 people who 

responded to this question. 

• Similar to Q1a, the dataset was analysed by developing a coding 

framework in response to the themes that emerged when reading 

through the responses. The themes highlight concerns, issues, 

suggestions, and ideas people raised. The themes that people raised 

fell into one of four main category areas: 

 

 

Figure 96 Number of main categories 

• 441 people (89%) left a comment that was coded under a cycling theme 

• 275 people (55%) left a comment that was coded as being a pedestrian-

related theme. 

• 210 people (42%) left a comment that was coded under a car-related 

theme. 

• 182 people (36%) left a comment that was coded under a variety of 

other themes. 

• See below for a breakdown of each theme. Percentage figures have 

been worked out using the total number of people who left a comment 

for this question (497 people). 

 

4.14  Cycling Themes 

 

441

275

210
182

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Cycling Pedestrian-related Car Other

Main thematic cateogories

Page 209



 

138 
 

 

Figure 97 Cycling Themes 

• 155 people (31%) left comments saying they would like to see more 

cycle lanes around Faversham. Most did not specify where they would 

like to see additional cycle lanes but of those that did, the following 

roads were mentioned: 

A2 (12 mentions) 

Whistable Road (9 mentions) 

Love Lane (8 mentions) 

Graveney Road (4 mentions) 

Ashford Road (2 mentions) 

Ospringe Street, Preston Road, West Street, Western Link Road (1 

mention) 

 

“Cycle lanes on bigger roads such as Whitstable Road, Graveney Road, Love 

Lane (and ideally the A2) 

⚫ 90 people (18%) said they would like to see improved cycling lanes 

with many saying they would like to see ‘dedicated’ or ‘better’ cycle 

lanes (presumably with clearer road markings). Some respondents 

mentioned segregated cycle lanes. Comments coded here included 

references to the current cycle lane on Bysingwood Road, as well as  

requests for new cycle lanes.  

 

155

90

66

36

33

28

21

12

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

More cycle lanes

Improved cycle lanes

Storage and parking

Enforcement

Education, training, discount etc

Current cycle lanes

Cycling not possible

Cycle hire

Cycling Themes

Page 210



 

139 
 

“Dedicated, separated cycle paths on key routes around town. Better 

cycling infrastructure.” 

⚫ 66 people (13%) mentioned they would like to see more storage and 

parking for cycles.   

 

“More cycle parking at the station and other key locations: e.g., swimming 

pool, with priority given over cars so that the cycle parking is prominent, 

plentiful and in the closest and most convenient location.” 

⚫ 36 people (7%) left comments regarding enforcement for cyclists. 

Many mentioned ignoring highway codes and cycling over pavements 

posing a safety hazard to pedestrians and cars. 

 

“Enforce the law regarding cyclists prohibited from using pedestrian 

pavements and passageways.” 

⚫ 33 people (6%) mentioned education, training and discounts. This 

included incentivisation for cyclists (such as repairing cycling, cheaper 

bikes and materials) and further training/education to ensure cyclists 

were safer on the roads. 

 

“Give out vouchers etc for people to purchase bike to encourage the 

use of them.” 

“Promote adult cycle training courses within the town.”  

⚫ 28 people (5%) left comments about the current cycle lanes on 

Bysingwood Road. Some mentioned that cyclists do not use the 

cycle lanes, while others mentioned the quality of the cycle path is not 

up to a good standard and needs improving (in line with improvements 

suggested above). 

 

“Cyclists have cycle lanes which they don’t even use (Bysingwood 

Road).” 

 

⚫ 21 people (4%) mentioned cycling is not possible or a desirable 

activity for them especially if they are elderly, disabled or shopping.  

 

“Faversham is hilly and I’m not risking cycling at the age of 70”  

Page 211



 

140 
 

  

⚫ 12 people (2%) mentioned they would like to see a cycle hire scheme 

in Faversham. 

 

“Bike hire scheme linking the rail station with sites of employment and 

schools.” 

4.15 Car themes 

 

Figure 98 Car themes 

⚫ 55 (11%) left comments about traffic-calming and priority. Most 

comments concerned changes to the road to prioritise non-motorised 

vehicles and pedestrians, including introducing pinch points, speed 

bumps, traffic lights and priority signals which give prior ity to 

cyclists/pedestrians over cars. 

 

“Firstly, other traffic calming options, physical barriers and speed 

bumps are proven measures that we know do work.”  

47 people (9%) made a comment regarding enforcement. Comments 

were varied, some people pointed out the 20mph is being ignored, 

others mentioned it is impossible to enforce, while some mentioned 

speed cameras and fines need to be handed out to those who go 

over the limit.  

 

“Speed limit enforcement with cameras.”   

55

47

40

34

3

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Traffic-calming and priority

Enforcement

Discourage cars

Parking

Electric vehicle Infrastructure

Car themes

Page 212



 

141 
 

⚫ 40 people (8%) said something should be done about discouraging 

car use. Many comments included restricting vehicle movements, 

introducing parking charges and some said they would like to see 

car-free days. 13 people left comments about HGVs in particular, 

which they would like to see restricted from the town centre. 

 

“More initiatives to reduce private car ownership thus reducing the number of 

parked cars on all the roads (e.g., Zip car or equivalent)”.  

⚫ 34 people (7%) made comments about parking. Many wanted 

parking on pavements to be restricted and enforced, while some 

other people mentioned wanting cheaper and better access to 

parking facilities.  

 

“Better parking offers and clamp down on cars parking on pavements.”  

⚫ 3 people (>1%) mentioned more investment to accommodate the 

transition to electric vehicles. 

 

“Have an electric car charging point in town.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 213



 

142 
 

4.16  Pedestrian related themes 

 

Figure 99 Pedestrian related themes 

⚫ 95 people (19%) mentioned pavement and footpath improvements. 

Many of these comments were around improving the footpaths or 

adding benches. However, some mentioned widening pavements and 

ensuring they are maintained. 

 

“Widen footpaths to one side of the road instead of having narrow 

paths both sides.” 

⚫ 88 people (17%) said they would like to see more pedestrian 

crossings. Most did not specify roads they would like to see crossings 

on, however, those that did mentioned the streets below: 

A2 (14 mentions) 

South Road (13 mentions) 

Newton Road (9 mentions) 

Brogdale Road (7 mentions) 

Forbes Road (7 mentions) 

Stone Street (5 mentions) 

West Street (5 mentions) 

London Road (4 mentions) 

Napleton Road (4 mentions) 

Ashton Road (3 mentions) 

Bysingwood Road (2 mentions) 

Love Lane (2 mentions) 

95

88

55

26

9

2

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Pavement and footpath improvement

Pedestrian crossings

Pedestrianisation

Lighting

Safety

Low Traffic Neighbourhood

Pedestrian-related themes

Page 214



 

143 
 

Whistable Road (2 mentions) 

 

“For walking - a second crossing for the A2 towards Brogdale road.” 

⚫ 55 people (11%) mentioned they would like to see more 

pedestrianisation and closure of roads to cars. Most respondents 

mentioned the town centre which they would like to see completely 

pedestrianised. 

 

“Pedestrianise the streets through the town centre permanently, just like 

it is during the Hop Festival.” 

⚫ 26 people (5%) mentioned they would like to see improved street 

lighting.  

 

“Improve lighting at existing crossings.” 

⚫ 9 people (2%) mentioned comments regarding pedestrian safety. 

Most were split between increasing police presence/CCTV to 

enhance safety and educating pedestrian on street safety rather than 

focusing on car users and cyclists. 

 

“CCTV in town so people feel safer.” 

⚫ 2 people (>1%) mentioned they would like to see a Low Traffic 

Neighbourhood.  

 

“Also consider putting in place Low Traffic Neighbourhoods, to encourage 
community safety and socialisation. Many towns and cities are doing this, with 

the new covid needs / Active Travel focus and government funds.”  
 

4.17  Other themes 

Page 215



 

144 
 

 

Figure 100 Other themes 

⚫ 34 people (7%) mentioned signage. Although most comments left 

about signposting were relevant to cars, pedestrians, and cyclists, 

most said signposting and signage needs to be clearer and larger 

and located in better places.  

 

“Improved signage, NCN1 features yellow 'diversion' signing at some 

points despite not being diverted, often realigned by the 

mischievous.” 

⚫ 30 people (6%) said they would like to see greater promotion of 

active travel. Comments ranged from walking/cycling events and 

groups and teaching benefits of active travel in schools.  

 

“Promotion of walking and cycling at both the Abbey School and Queen 

Elizabeth's Grammar School. 

“Promotion of walking at all of the primary schools within Faversham.”  

 

⚫ 29 people (6%) simply left comments that no improvements are 

necessary or needed as no further changes would mean people 

would change their travel habits.  

34

30

29

26

18

16

13

11

5

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Signage

Promotion of walking/cycling

No improvements needed

Road improvements

Disability provisions

Housing and development

Public transport

Dog fouling and litter

Local economy and business

Other themes

Page 216



 

145 
 

 

“Most will not walk. It is a waste of time trying.” 

⚫ 26 people (5%) mentioned road improvements are required, most 

mentioned fixing potholes. 

 

“Repair and maintain the upkeep of the roads and pavements, they 

are mostly uneven or full of potholes and cracks large enough to 

damage cycle tyres, car tyres or to trip pedestrians.”  

⚫ 21 people (4%) mentioned cycling is not possible for them. A 

variety of reasons were mentioned but most included either the need 

to do shopping and carry bags, old age, and disability. 

 

“As a disabled person already being physically excluded from the 

centre of town due to road closures, the ongoing push to exclude my 

only means of transport is offensive. Blocking and limiting my access 

to and around town does not make me able to walk or cycle.”  

⚫ 18 people (3%) mentioned making provisions for disabled people. 

Many mentioned they would require a disabled parking bay/blue 

badge for parking. Some others also mentioned additional 

crossings and making footpaths friendly for those who use mobility 

scooters.  

 

“Increase Blue Badge/disability parking bays in central area. 

Specifically in Court Street (redesignate bays outside Shepherd 

Neame offices).” 

⚫ 16 people (3%) left comments about housing and developments 

believing this goes against the stated goals of encouraging active 

travel and brings unnecessary traffic in Faversham. 

 

“Stop building so many houses before the above is done.”  

 

⚫ 13 people (2%) left comments about public transport. Some 

requested a park and ride facility, better bus services from nearby 

areas and cheaper travel by bus. 

 

“The best thing for the town would be local bus services regularly 

into town.” 

Page 217



 

146 
 

⚫ 11 people (2%) left comments about dog fouling and litter they 

felt was widespread across Faversham, inconveniencing their 

walking experience.  

 

“Rubbish bins at regular intervals would help, and regular 

clearance. In most places it is disgusting to walk from dog fouling, 

drink cans, and general detritus.” 

⚫ 5 people (1%) left comments about the local economy and 

businesses. These comments stressed the need to help 

businesses and ensuring they are not negatively affected as more 

people transition to walk/cycle more and having been affected by 

COVID-19. 

 

“Ensuring local traders etc are on board with changes and 

understand and promote why it will be beneficial for their 

businesses” 

 

 

4.18 Q8. Are you a parent or guardian of a child or young person living 
in your household in any of the following age groups? 

⚫ The question below asked people if they were a parent or guardian of 

a child or young person and what their age was. Respondents were 

able to tick the relevant box they fit into.  

Page 218



 

147 
 

 

Figure 101 Parent and guardians 

⚫ 42 people (6%) were either a parent or guardian to a child aged 0-3. 

⚫ 126 people (19%) were a parent or guardian to a child aged 4-11. 

⚫ 92 people (14%) were a parent or guardian to a young person aged 

12-17. 

⚫ 77 people (11%) were a parent or guardian to person aged over 18 

and living in the household. 

⚫ 58 people (9%) were a parent or guardian to a person and aged over 

18 and not living in the household. 

⚫ 262 people (39%) said they were not a parent or guardian of a child or 

young person in the household. 

⚫ 16 (2%) preferred not to say. 

⚫ The following chart has divided each category the level of support 

each category has for the town-wide 20mph limit. 

 

262

42

126

92
77

58

16

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

No Yes, aged
0-3

Yes, aged
4-11

Yes, aged
12-17

Yes, aged
over 18 and

living in
house

Yes, aged
over 18 and
not living in

house

I prefer not
to say

Parents and guardians

Page 219



 

148 
 

 

Figure 102 Parent and guardian by level of support 

⚫ 175 people (67%) who have no children support the trial.  

⚫ 23 people (55%) who are parents and guardians of children aged 0-3 

support the trial. 

⚫ 83 people (66%) who are parents and guardians of children aged 4-11 

support the trial. 

⚫ 58 people (59%) who are parent of children aged 12-17 support the 

trial. 

⚫ 37 people (48%) who are parents of children aged over 18 and living in 

the house support the trial. 

⚫ 33 people (57%) who are parents of children aged over 18 and not 

living in the household support the trial. 

⚫ Overall, 395 people identified as a parent or guardian. Out of this 

figure 234 (59%) supported the scheme, while 161 opposed (41%) the 

scheme.  

 

4.19 Q9. Do you work or study in Faversham? 

⚫ This question asked people whether they work or study in Faversham. 

The following information below tallies each response and d ivides 

them by level of support respondents of each option had for the 

20mph scheme. 

175

23

83

58

37 33

87

19

43 34 40
25

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

No children Yes, aged 0-3 Yes, aged 4-11 Yes, aged 12-17 Yes, aged over
18 and living in

house

Yes, aged over
18 and not living

in house

Parents and guardians divided by support

Support Object

Page 220



 

149 
 

 

Figure 103 Do you work or study in Faversham? 

⚫ 203 people (33%) work in Faversham. 

⚫ 165 people (26%) work in Kent outside of Faversham. 

⚫ 199 people (19%) said they currently do not work. 

⚫ 32 people (5%) said they commute to London. 

⚫ 23 people (4%) said they prefer not to say. 

⚫ 13 people (2%) said they study in Faversham.  

⚫ 66 people (11%) selected the ‘Other’. A text box was provided for 

them to specify their work status: 

27 people said they work from home.  

32 people said they were retired. 

4 people said they visit Faversham for shopping. 

⚫ The following chart has divided work status of participants by the 

level of support for the town-wide 20mph limit.  

 

203

13

165

32

119

23

66

0

50

100

150

200

250

Yes, I work Yes, I study No, I work
outside in

Kent
outside of

Faversham

No, I
commute to

London

I do not
currently

work

I prefer not
to say

Other

Do you work or study in Faversham?

Page 221



 

150 
 

 

Figure 104 Work status divided by level of support 

⚫ 126 people (62%) working in Faversham support the trial.  

⚫ people (54%) who study are in support. 

⚫ 87 people (53%) who work in Kent outside of Faversham are in 

support. 

⚫ 18 people (56%) who commute to London are in support. 

⚫ 91 people (76%) who do not currently work are in support. 

⚫ 9 people (61%) who prefer not to say are in support. 

 

4.20 Q10. Are you….? 

62%
54% 53% 56%

76%

39%

38%
46% 47% 43%

24%

61%

Yes, I work Yes, I study No, I work in
Kent outside of

Faversham

No, I commute
to London

I do not
currently work

I prefer not to
say

Work status divided by level of support

Support Object

Page 222



 

151 
 

 

Figure 105 Gender split 

⚫ 309 people (53%) identified as a male. 

194 (63%) are supporters of the 20mph limits 

115 (37%) are objectors to the 20mph limits 

⚫ 253 people (44%) identified as a female. 

156 (62%) are supporters of the 20mph limits 

97 (38%) are objectors to the 20mph limits 

⚫ Support for the scheme between both male and females were 

roughly the same at 62-63%. 

⚫ 18 people (3%) preferred not to say. 

9 (50%) are supporters of the 20mph limits 

 

4.21 Q11. Which of these age groups applies to you? 

53%
44%

3%

Gender split 

Female

Male

I prefer not to say

Page 223



 

152 
 

 

Figure 106 Age split 

⚫ 3 people (>1%) were 0-15 years old. 

⚫ 7 people (1%) were 16-24 years old. 

⚫ 46 people (8%) were 25-34 years old. 

⚫ 170 people (29%) were 35-49 years old. 

⚫ 147 people (25%) were 50-59 years old. 

⚫ 60 people (19%) were 60-65 years old. 

⚫ 105 people (18%) were 65-74 years old. 

⚫ 19 people (3%) were 75-84 years old. 

⚫ 3 people (>1%) were 85 years or older. 

⚫ 20 people (4%) preferred not to say. 

⚫ The chart below divides these age groups by level of support for the 

town-wide 20mph limit. 

 

 

1%
1%

8%

29%

25%

10%

18%

3%
1%

4%

Age split

0-15

16-24

25-34

35-49

50-59

60-64

65-74

75-84

85 + over

I prefer not to say

Page 224



 

153 
 

 

Figure 107 Support levels by age group 

⚫ 3 people (100%) of the 0-15 age group supported the town-wide 

20mph limit. 

⚫ 5 people (71%) of the 16-24 age group objected to the town-wide 

20mph limit. 

⚫ 32 people (70%) of the 25-34 age group objected to the town-wide 

20mph limit. 

⚫ 104 people (61%) of the 35-49 age group supported the town-wide 

20mph limit. 

⚫ 90 people (61%) of the 50-59 age group supported the town-wide 

20mph limit. 

⚫ 35 people (58%) of the 60-54 age group supported the town-wide 

20mph limit. 

⚫ 84 people (80%) of the 65-74 age group objected to the town-wide 

20mph limit. 

⚫ 15 people (79%) of the 75-84 age group supported the town-wide 

20mph limit. 

⚫ 2 people (66%) of the 85+ age group objected to the town-wide  

20mph limit. 

 

100%

29% 30%

61% 61% 58%

20%

79%

33%

71% 70%

39% 39% 42%

80%

21%

66%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

0-15 16-24 25-34 35-49 50-59 60-64 65-74 75-84 85 + over

Age divided by support

Support Object

Page 225



 

154 
 

NEXT STEPS 

The feedback from this consultation will be reviewed by KCC and 

recommendations developed as to the future of the scheme. KCC will also 

produce a ‘You Said, We Did’ response document addressing the feedback 

provided through the consultation.  

In addition to consultation responses, data from the following activities will 

help inform KCC’s decision: 

⚫ Attitudinal surveys - carried out face-to-face with a representative 

sample before and towards the end of the trial.  

⚫ Average speed surveys. 

⚫ Crash statistics. 

⚫ Engagement with district council partners and statutory consultees, 

including emergency services. 

⚫ Equality Impact Assessments. 

⚫ Findings from Faversham Town Council’s engagement platform.  

⚫ Pedestrian and cycle counts - carried out in July 2020, 

September/October 2020, December 2020, and May/June 2021. 

⚫ Use of existing air quality stations - any changes in air quality will have 

to be understood over a longer period than 12 months.  

Findings will be presented to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 

in November 2021 for a decision to be taken.  

This report will be publicly available on the consultation website. KCC will 

keep residents, road users and other stakeholders updated on the next steps 

using a range of methods, including KCC’s website, media releases,  social 

media and site notices. 

 

Quality 

It is the policy of Project Centre to supply Services that meet or exceed our clients’ 

expectations of Quality and Service. To this end, the Company's Quality 

Management System (QMS) has been structured to encompass all aspects of the 

Company's activities including such areas as Sales, Design and Client Service.  

By adopting our QMS on all aspects of the Company, Project Centre aims to achieve 

the following objectives: 

• Ensure a clear understanding of customer requirements; 

Page 226



 

155 
 

• Ensure projects are completed to programme and within budget;  

• Improve productivity by having consistent procedures; 

• Increase flexibility of staff and systems through the adoption of a 

common approach to staff appraisal and training; 

• Continually improve the standard of service we provide internally and 

externally; 

• Achieve continuous and appropriate improvement in all aspects of the 

company; 

Our Quality Management Manual is supported by detailed operational documentation. 

These relate to codes of practice, technical specifications, work instructions, Key 

Performance Indicators, and other relevant documentation to form a working set of 

documents governing the required work practices throughout the Company.  

All employees are trained to understand and discharge their individual responsibilities 

to ensure the effective operation of the Quality Management System.  

 

                             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227



 

156 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 228



 

157 
 

 

APPENDIX D – KCC TONBRIDGE CONSULTATION 

 

 

 

Tonbridge Town-wide 20mph Speed Limit Trial  

Consultation Report 

 

Client Name: Kent County Council 

 

Reference: 7099 

Date: 2/08/21 

 

   

 

 

 

Page 229



 

158 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

From Thursday 31 July 2020 to Wednesday 3 March 2021, Kent County 

Council carried out a public consultation seeking feedback on the Tonbridge 

town-wide 20 miles per hour (mph) scheme. The scheme aims to encourage 

active travel by improving public safety and the local environment for all road 

users. 

Throughout the consultation, information on the scheme was shared online on 

the designated project website: www.kent.gov.uk/tonbridge20mph and through 

a variety of engagement activities, details of which can be found in Section 

3.1 of this report.  

A consultation survey was made available online. In total, 1,123 surveys were 

completed during the consultation period. 

This document provides a detailed overview of the consultation activities 

undertaken to gather feedback from residents and businesses, and a detailed 

analysis of the comments received. 

 

 

 

Key findings: 

⚫ The majority of the people who responded to the survey object to the idea 

of a town-wide 20mph scheme, with 7.4 out of 10 people disagreeing with 

the scheme. 

⚫ The most common reason given for their objection was that the proposed 

area was too extensive and 20mph for major arterial routes was unsuitable, 

likely to cause additional traffic and safety issues. 

⚫ Most people also disagreed that the 20mph limits will make Tonbridge 

cleaner (63%), healthier (64%) and safer (56%). 

⚫ Those who supported the idea primarily felt it would improve safety, while 

others also mentioned environmental benefits and noise reduction.  

Page 230

http://www.kent.gov.uk/tonbridge20mph


 

159 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

This report presents a summary of the feedback received in relation to the 

town-wide 20mph speed limit trial consultation. The report has been produced 

by Project Centre, who were commissioned by Kent County Council (KCC) to 

analyse the consultation questionnaire responses. This document is one of 

two documents produced by Project Centre in relation to the scheme. Please 

see Appendix A for materials that were used as part of the consultation.  

Feedback was submitted via an online questionnaire on KCC’s consultation 

directory. The questionnaire was divided into two parts: 

Part one consisted of mandatory questions around the Experimental 

Traffic Regulation Order. 

Part two presented a series of optional questions, which sought to gauge 

local views on the scheme and details about participants. 

A summary of the feedback received can be found in Section 4 of this report.  

 

Page 231



 

160 
 

2.  BACKGROUND 

2.1  Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders 

In Summer 2020 KCC was awarded £1.6 million from the Department for 

Transport’s (DfT) Emergency Active Travel Fund to invest in walking and 

cycling initiatives across the county.  

Some of this fund has been used to deliver 20mph town-wide trials in 

Faversham and Tonbridge. Tonbridge was chosen as it had already had 

several large areas of 20mph speed limits within the Town and support from 

both KCC and Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council. 

A condition of funding was to implement the schemes quickly – within eight 

weeks – and this precluded the usual process, whereby consultation 

happened ahead of implementation. Instead, councils were encouraged to 

implement schemes via Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders (ETRO). This 

had the benefit of enabling people to comment on schemes in reality during 

the trial period, rather than consulting on a theoretical future scheme.  

20mph schemes - implementation 

The rationale for delivering a 20mph zone across Tonbridge is to encourage 

active travel by making it safer for local people walking and cycling. You can 

learn more about the wider benefits of 20mph zones by visiting our website9. 

Road markings and signs, as well as signed 20mph ‘gateways’ were 

introduced. These have been a red surface to highlight the start of the new 

speed limit.  

 
9 https:// www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-projects/in-progress-road-projects/emergency-active-
travel-fund-schemes/benefits-of-20mph-limit-schemes 

Page 232

https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-projects/in-progress-road-projects/emergency-active-travel-fund-schemes/benefits-of-20mph-limit-schemes


 

161 
 

 

Figure 108 Map of area 20mph limit in Tonbridge covers 

 

 

Page 233



 

162 
 

3.  CONSULTATION PROCESS 

The consultation launched on 31 July 2020 and ran until 3 March 2021. 

Throughout this period residents and stakeholders were provided with 

opportunities to share their views on the ETRO for the town-wide 20mph trial 

in Tonbridge. 

3.1  Methodology and communications approach  

To raise awareness about the consultation and encourage participation, a 

promotional campaign was carried out in partnership with Tonbridge & Malling 

Borough Council (TMBC). A series of activities took place throughout the 

consultation period, including: 

- A leaflet distributed to over 18,000 homes and business across 

Tonbridge (See Appendix X) 

- A designated project website was set up at: 

www.kent.gov.uk/tonbridge20mph, where project information and 

a link to the consultation directory page, where the questionnaire 

was hosted, could be accessed. (See Appendix X) 

- Media releases  

- Social media posts on KCC’s and FTC channels and shared by 

TMBC. Facebook advertising posts made at the start and the end 

of the consultation period (see Appendix X).  

- Posters (see Appendix X), banners and car park signs displayed 

across Tonbridge. 

- Invitations to individuals registered with KCC’s consultation 

directory who had expressed an interest in hearing about 

consultations on roads, traffic and transport in Swale.  

- Emails to stakeholder organisations. 

 

 

Page 234

file:///C:/Users/watsoj01/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/2JFCKZS7/www.kent.gov.uk/tonbridge20mph


 

163 
 

4.  FEEDBACK  

This section will provide a breakdown of the survey results. The following 

information presents a breakdown of all the answers, a thorough analysis of  

themes, and cross-tabulations performed to identify patterns and reveal 

insights. 

A full text version of the questionnaire is available in Appendix X. 

 

4.1  Questionnaire summary 

The number of people who completed the online survey or provided feedback 

via email/post was 1,123 responses in total. Responses received via email or 

post were manually entered into the dataset and included in the analysis.  

 

Figure 109 Response levels over time 

 

The figures above show the level of responses per month from publishing the 

consultation survey on 31 July 2020  

 

February saw a surge in responses with 384 recorded. This coincided with a 

social media campaign and other promotional activities conducted  throughout 

the month. September also saw a surge with 285 responses, while December, 

and the first few days and last few days of the consultation – in July and 

March, saw the least number of responses. 

Page 235



 

164 
 

 

 

 

A breakdown of the results for each question follows on below. Please note: 

⚫ Closed-ended questions have been tallied, and sometimes cross-

tabulated with other questions (where appropriate) to reveal insights, 

trends and patterns.  

⚫ Open-ended questions were thematically analysed, and a 

representative quote directly sourced from the data has been provided 

which encapsulates the meaning of each theme. 

 

Key findings:   

⚫ 26% were in favour of 20mph town-wide limits, while 74% 

objected to 20mph town-wide limit.  

⚫ Reasons given for objections primarily centred around the 

20mph area being too extensive and inappropriate for arterial 

routes. Meanwhile, others also pointed out that slow speeds 

would make traffic worse and add to safety concerns. The 

impracticality of enforcement was also mentioned.  

⚫ The most common way people heard about the consultation 

was via Facebook. Those who heard about the consultation 

from Facebook had the most negative opinion, with 83% 

objecting to the scheme. 

⚫ 88% of people chose to complete both the mandatory (section 

1) and optional (section 2) sections of the survey. 

⚫ TN103 and TN104 postcodes were mentioned the most. 

Support within these two postcodes were low with only 13% of 

people from TN103 supporting the scheme, and 28% of people 

from TN104 supporting the scheme. 

⚫ 56% of those who cycle, 61% of bus users and 67% of those 

who travel by foot object to the scheme. 

⚫ 79% of drivers, 70% of passengers and 75% of motorcyclists 

object to the scheme.  

⚫ In response to the statement “a 20mph town-wide speed limit 

in Tonbridge helps it to become…” 63% of respondents said 

cleaner, 64% said healthier and 65% said safer.   

Page 236



 

165 
 

4.2 Q1. Please tell us if you wish to support or object to this 
Experimental Traffic Regulation Order for a town-wide 20mph 
speed limit in Tonbridge. 

 

Figure 110 Overall level of support 

⚫ As shown in the chart above 189 people (26%) supported the 20mph 

limit and 834 people (74%) objected. 

⚫ The chart below provides a breakdown of the level of support on a 

month-by-month basis. 

 

26%

74%

Level of support for 20mph scheme

Support Object

Page 237



 

166 
 

 

Figure 111 Support level over time   

⚫ July, August, November, December, and March saw the highest 

levels of support – although these months had a low amount of 

total responses overall.  

⚫ February saw 384 responses in total (34% of total survey 

responses), 312 were objections – accounting for 81% of 

respondents during this month.    

⚫ September saw 285 responses in total (25% of total survey 

responses), 244 were objections – accounting for 86% of 

respondents during this month. 

 

4.3  Q1a. Please tell us, in the box below, the reason for your support  
or objection. 

⚫ This question received free-text (written) responses which have 

been read through and analysed for this report.  

⚫ All 1,123 respondents were requested to provide a response to 

this question. These comments were coded into themes, which 

reflect recurring concerns, suggestions and opinions respondents 

had regarding the 20mph limit. 

⚫ Most comments included a number of themes, which is why the 

number of themes exceeds the overall number of survey 

responses. Furthermore, some responses raised points 

July August
Septemb

er
October

Novemb
er

Decemb
er

January February March

Object 3 57 244 98 31 17 59 312 13

Support 9 43 41 46 31 12 25 72 10

9 43 41 46 31 12 25
72

10

3
57

244

98

31 17 59

312

13

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Support over time

Page 238



 

167 
 

considered both positive and negative. For instance, one 

respondent commented about the increased safety and reduced 

pollution as a result of the trial but had concerns regarding 

enforcement or feasibility of the scheme, has raised three 

separate themes. Such a comment would have two positive 

themes coded to it (safer and environmental benefits), and one 

negative theme coded to it (enforcement).  

⚫ Approximately, 107,000 words were analysed for this question. 

 

Figure 112 Main thematic categories 

⚫ After a thorough analysis of all 1,123 comments, 896 people left a 

negative comment or concern about the trial, while 258 people left a 

positive comment or highlighted a good aspect about the 20mph 

limit. 

⚫ A further 171 comments were about ‘other’ wider issues, and 118 

comments were about the consultation and process. 

⚫ The breakdown below will expand upon what was said and provide a 

cross-analysis where appropriate 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

896

258

171
118

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

Negative Positive Other Consultation

Main thematic categories

Page 239



 

168 
 

4.4  Positive themes 

 

Figure 113 Positive themes 

⚫ 213 people left comments highlighting how the speed limit 

enhances safety. Many comments were general, while some 

highlighted increased safety for pedestrian and cyclists as well as 

children.  

 

“We fully support the decision of the new 20 mph enforcement of Tonbridge. 

As a cyclist, a father and walker this can only be for the best and save lives 

and prevent accidents and make our town a safer place for all.”  

⚫ 64 people left comments about environmental and health 

benefits. Vast majority of responses simply mentioned reduced 

pollution, with a minority mentioning positive physical and mental 

health of people.  

 

“It is acknowledged by everyone that Tonbridge suffers from traffic congestion 

and pollution. The pollution in the Lower High Street is so bad that it exceeds 

EU standards. This is bad for our health.” 

 

213

64

61

39

36

0 50 100 150 200 250

Safer

Environmental and health benefits

Encourages walking and cycling

Extend/include 20mph limits

Noise reduction

Positive themes

Page 240



 

169 
 

⚫ 61 people said it encourages more active forms of travel by 

people. Many mentioned this as a consequence of safety and 

environmental improvements. 

 

“A 20mph limit, by making walking and cycling safer, will encourage people to 

do both.” 

 

⚫ 39 people mentioned including or extending areas of the 20mph 

limit:  

o Lower Haysden Lane was mentioned by 14 people 

o Hadlow Road by 12 people 

o Hildenborough by two people 

o Carroty Wood by two people 

 

“It's a shame the Hadlow Road is not reduced as well!”  

“I would also like to see the 20-mph limit applied to Lower Haysden Lane from 

Brook Street to the car park turning to Haysden Park / Barden Lake. ” 

 

⚫ 36 people mentioned noise reduction as a positive outcome of the 

20mph limit. 

 

“A 20mph speed limit will make the town a quieter”.  

 

4.5  Negative themes 

Page 241



 

170 
 

 

Figure 114 Negative themes 

- 455 people said they were against a blanket application of 

20mph limit across Tonbridge believing the area covered is too 

vast – a minority of people raising this point said they support the 

scheme in Q1. A further breakdown of this theme can be found 

under section 3.5.1 of this report. 

 26 people who raised this point were supporters of 

the scheme as a whole – this accounts for 9% of 

all supporters. 

 429 people who raise this point object to the 

scheme as a whole – this accounts for 51% of all 

objectors. 

“The restrictions are far too extensive and cover large areas of the town which 

are low risk including arterial routes.” 

- 338 people left comments about traffic flow/congestion and 

slow speeds. Many felt such slow speeds would lead to traffic in 

Tonbridge being consistently at a standstill with traffic piling up. 

This theme was often interrelated with other negative themes 

including safety, enforcement and increase in pollution – as many 

felt this was a consequence.   

 

455

338

318

292

278

219

117

81

71

62

20

14

0 100 200 300 400 500

Against blanket application of 20mph

Traffic flow/congestion and too slow

Safety concerns

Support of specfic 20mph

Enforcement (lack of or ignored)

Increase in pollution/no difference

Difficult to drive

No affect on cycling or walking…

Waste of money

Impact on town, business, appeal

Other/general

Emergency vehicles

Negative themes

Page 242



 

171 
 

“Tonbridge is already at grid lock at certain times of day - surely impeding 

traffic flow will clog up the roads even more.” 

 

- 318 people commented that they had safety concerns relating to 

the 20mph limit. Comments varied, but many mentioned 

increased tailgating, overtaking, frustration causing road rage, 

distraction by looking at speedometer and some people 

suggested that reduced speeds lulls pedestrians with a false 

sense of security. 

 

“I am concerned that if you have a speed limit of 20mph this will encourage 

impatient drivers to dangerously overtake.” 

 

- 292 people mentioned a 20mph limit was only preferable in 

surrounding areas of schools or the high street . A minority 

mentioned streets surrounding housing estates or only certain 

residential streets. 

 

“The 20mph should be on side roads, roads near schools & the high street 

where cyclists & pedestrians are more likely to be found. 

 

⚫ 278 people commented that there was a lack of, and 

impossibility of enforcement, in correlation with this, people 

said many were flouting the 20mph limits in place. While many 

people said drivers would continue to ignore the limits, others 

pointed out implementing a 20mph limit without greater 

enforcement, makes the scheme pointless. Not all people who 

raised this point were necessarily against a 20mph scheme as a 

whole: 

 52 people supported the scheme overall. 

 226 people objected to the scheme overall.    

 

“Why try and impose an unrealistic speed limit that will be ignored?"  

 

Page 243



 

172 
 

- 219 people made a comment saying there would be an increase 

in pollution or it would make no difference. While many did not 

leave a reason, some mentioned this a consequence of increased 

congestion leading to longer journeys, detours and modern cars 

expending more fuel due to gear changes at 20mph. 

 

“The 20 mph requires drivers to crawl around in third gear causing excess 

pollution.” 

 

- 117 people left a comment about the scheme making it more 

difficult to drive. Some of these comments included difficulty 

keeping at 20mph and required extra pedal work and increased 

stress. Fuel expenditure and degradation of car engines was also 

mentioned  

 

“It is also not good for the vehicles to be constantly in 2nd gear”  

 

- 81 people made a comment saying that it would have no effect 

on walking or cycling behaviours and not encourage walking or 

cycling. While some simply observed that it had no effect or that 

there was no compelling evidence, others gave the following 

reasons why cycling and walking is no substitute for car usage:   

 Doing the school run 

 Disabled, elderly and infirm people 

 Carrying shopping 

 Adverse weather conditions 

 Lack of bike storage 

 

“I understand the council wants to encourage people, but you just won't get 

many more cycling places as people rely on cars for belongings, kids, pets etc 

and also people choose cars over bikes in bad weather which in the UK is a 

lot of the time.” 

 

- 71 people mentioned the scheme is a waste of money. Many 

were disappointed the money already spent on road markings, 

Page 244



 

173 
 

some mentioned it would be a money-making scheme, while 

others mentioned money was better spent on unrelated ventures 

(tackling anti-social behaviour etc). 

 

“The main being a mis-use of finances where they could better spend 

elsewhere across the town 

 

- 62 people mentioned that it would have an adverse impact on 

businesses and the town appeal to visitors. 

 

“It will make the town a less desirable place to live and visit which will 

negatively affect both local businesses and possibly homeowners”  

 

- 20 people left comments which were categorised as 

other/general. Most were just general comments saying how 

they do not agree the scheme with no reason given for their 

opinion. Some people mentioned alternative reasons for their 

objections:  

 20mph is already the de facto speed limit 

 Drivers use ‘common sense’ 

 Any 20mph limits should be time-bound 

 

“Not necessarily the right decision, most people have sense enough not to 

speed through these areas” 

 

- 14 people commented that they were concerned about the impact 

it would have on emergency vehicles around Tonbridge. 

 

“My partner drives an ambulance for patient transport, and they are finding it 

hard to get patients in on time for life saving treatments. They are getting 

verbal abuse for driving so slow.” 

 

 

Page 245



 

174 
 

4.5.1 In-depth analysis of people against a blanket 20mph limit  

  This section will provide an in-depth analysis of 455 people who 

commented that they are against a blanket application of a 20mph 

across Tonbridge. 

 

- Many people simply mentioned the area covered by the ETRO 

was too vast, and some arterial roads should be exempt. Many 

respondents explicitly highlight certain streets they felt were 

unsuitable for 20mph.  

- The chart below demonstrates the frequency of the most popular 

streets that were mentioned as being inappropriate for a 20mph 

limit. 

 

Figure 115 Most popular streets mentioned as unsuitable for a 20mph limit 

⚫ Shipbourne Road was the most popular street mentioned by 166 

people (36%) as being unsuitable for a 20mph. Many commented 

it is a large road arterial route, already has a separate cycle lane, 

and slow-moving traffic would cause tailgating and road rage. 

⚫ Quarry Hill was mentioned 93 times (20%) with similar reasons.   

⚫ Pembury Road and Ridgeway were mentioned 81 (18%) and 66 

(15%) times respectively. Most mentioned it was an arterial route 

and would cause safety issues. 

 

166

93

81

66

32

26

21

22

19

18

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Shipbourne Road

Quarry Hill

Pembury Road

Ridgeway

Hadlow Road

A26

Brook Street

Yardley Park Road

A227

London Road

Roads mentioned being unsuitable for 20mph

Page 246



 

175 
 

“I support 20mph on minor roads but not all roads and definitely not all the 

main arterial roads such as quarry hill, shipbourne road etc.”  

⚫ The remaining roads were mentioned 32 times or less. 

⚫ The table below cross-references the information above with the top 

five most popular postcodes people provided in response to  Q4. 

 

Road Name TN92 TN119 TN104 TN103 TN10 Other/None 

A227 2 0 2 6 2 7 

A26 3 1 1 6 2 13 

Brook 
Street 

2 0 3 0 1 15 

Hadlow 
Road 

5 0 5 7 1 14 

London 
Road 

0 2 2 2 3 9 

Quarry Hill 7 2 8 8 4 64 

Ridgeway 1 1 19 25 4 16 

Yardley 
Park 

0 1 8 1 3 9 

Pembury 
Road 

13 0 8 5 1 54 

Shipbourne 
Road 

5 8 35 44 13 61 

Figure 116 Against 20mph theme by road divided by postcode  

- People from TN104 and TN103 often mentioned the Ridgeway, 

Quarry Hill and Shipbourne Road.  

- People from TN92 were most concerned with the 20mph limit 

being applied on Pembury Road. 

- TN119 and TN10 postcodes were most concerned with 

Shipbourne Road. 

- Those who left no postcodes or other postcodes were mostly 

concerned with Quarry Hill, Shipbourne Road and Pembury Road. 

4.6  Other themes 

- Many other comments connected to wider issues were made by 

people answering the question.  

- Many of the ‘other’ themes included ideas and suggestions raised 

by people in Q7 when asked about how to improve walking and 

cycling in Tonbridge.  

Page 247



 

176 
 

 

Figure 117 Other themes 

- 76 people left comments about cycling. Most comments were 

about increasing the cycling infrastructure and greater 

enforcement for cyclists who exceed 20mph. A more in-depth look 

at similar cycling comments can be found in Q7 cycling themes 

(section 4.15). 

 

“Will cyclists speed be targeted as well as motorists? 

 

⚫ 54 people left comments about signage and traffic. The comments 

about signage revolved around the aesthetics and  costs, while 

comments about traffic were to do with confusion or comments on 

traffic-calming measures. Similar comments were made in Q7 

about traffic (section 4.18) and signage (section 4.16) 

 

“Several roads to do require speed humps - Whistler Road, Hunt Road & The 

Ridgeways seem to be a racetrack.” 

 

- 27 people suggested that the council ought to focus on improving 

the roads and fixing potholes which are a hazard for pedestrians, 

76

54

27

23

15

14

4

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Cycling remarks

Signage and traffic remarks

Improve roads

Pedestrian suggestion

Public transport remarks

Parking

Electric Vehicles

Other themes

Page 248



 

177 
 

cyclists, and drivers. Similar comments were made about 

conditions of roads in Q7 (see section 4.16). 

 

“It would be better spent on maintaining the roads to a good standard and 

repairing potholes.” 

 

- 23 people left comments about pedestrian usage suggesting that 

it would be better to focus adding more crossings, widening 

pavements and teaching safety in schools. Similar comments 

about pedestrian usage was made in Q7 (see section 4,17) 

 

“Maybe some more pavements along the main roads would be better rather 

than being forced to walk in the roads” 

 

- 15 people left comments about public transport saying it would 

be a viable alternative should there be more frequent and reliable 

links. Similar comments about public transport were made in Q7 

(see section 4.16) 

 

“I cannot get public transport as there is only one bus an hour - and then only 

certain times of the day - and as a key worker it is important to be at work on 

time.” 

  

- 13 people made remarks about parking. Comments were divisive 

with some suggesting they cannot find enough parking with more 

needing to be provided, while others suggested enforcement on 

illegal parking. Some suggested parked cars on residential roads 

naturally limit speeds anyway. Similar comments were made 

about parking in Q7 (see section 4.16). 

 

“Parking on double yellows is the norm. Parking on double yellows and 

corners has been daily occurrence for years. I have complained about the 

above several times, but no action taken so I presume this new regulation will 

be treated in the same way. 

 

Page 249



 

178 
 

- 4 people said improving the infrastructure and adding charging 

points throughout Tonbridge for electric vehicles. A couple of 

people said this would make the argument about reduced 

emissions from a 20mph limit redundant. Similar comments were 

made about electric vehicles in Q7 (see section 4.16). 

 

“Parking on double yellows is the norm. Parking on double yellows and 

corners has been daily occurrence for years. I have complained about the 

above several times, but no action taken so I presume this new regulation will 

be treated in the same way. 

- 4 people said improving the infrastructure and adding charging 

points throughout Tonbridge for electric vehicles. A couple of 

people said this would make the argument about reduced 

emissions from a 20mph limit redundant. Similar comments were 

made about electric vehicles in Q7 (see section 4.16). 

 

“Parking on double yellows is the norm. Parking on double yellows and 

corners has been daily occurrence for years. I have complained about the 

above several times, but no action taken so I presume this new regulation will 

be treated in the same way. 

 

 

4.7  Consultation themes 

Page 250



 

179 
 

 

Figure 118 Consultation themes 

- 56 people said that there was a lack of evidence provided to 

justify the 20mph limit. On the other hand, some people said 

there was evidence on the contrary and accidents are too rare to 

justify. 

 

“I think you need to show very strong evidence that Tonbridge will benefit from 

this trial as I believe it will have a detrimental effect.”  

 

- 27 people left other/general comments about the consultation. 

Below is a list of some of the comments  

 Queries about the survey indicating it was biased 

or limited certain views. 

 Consultation materials and advertisements were 

deemed poor. 

 Scheme was far from ‘temporary’ or a ‘trial’ and 

would be made permanent irrespective of their 

view. 

56

27

23

23

13

4

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Lack of evidence

Other

No consultaion prior to implementation

Special interest groups

COVID-19

Online engagement

Consultation themes

Page 251



 

180 
 

 A full review of the scheme should be undertaken 

before making any decisions. 

 More targeted consultations with stakeholders, 

businesses, and certain areas. 

 

“I don’t think for 1 minute that it is temporary, but the council have made up 

their minds it is going to be permanent.” 

 

- 23 people made comments about how the trial was implemented 

without consultation under emergency powers. 

 

“No prior public consultation or identification of selection criteria for 

experiment.” 

 

- 23 people said the consultation was being pushed through by 

special interest groups, political lobbying, and anti-car 

environmental groups. 

 

“This proposal is driven by dislike of cars on the grounds of environmentalism 

and so-called safety.” 

 

- 13 people said the trial taking place during the pandemic was 

pointless. Many also said recent uptake in cycling and walking 

can be attributed to the pandemic rather than 20mph limits.  

 

“The slowing of traffic in the midst of a lockdown with very little traffic currently 

on the roads and schools closed for the majority of the trial period is not going 

to give an accurate picture of whether this plan will resolve any of the issues it 

is supposed to fix.” 

  

- 4 people also said online reactions such as those on social 

media have shown that the 20mph limits are not popular.  

 

Page 252



 

181 
 

“The vast majority of comments I have seen on social media have been 

against the 20mph limit, but very much in favour of improvements to Lower 

Haysden Lane. Because KCC hasn't bothered to listen to residents it has 

generated a lot of bad feeling and loss of confidence in KCC. 

 

4.8  Q2. How did you find out about this consultation? 

This question asked people how they heard about the consultation. 

People were given a list of pre-defined answers to check. As a 

multiple-choice question, they could tick as many boxes as 

required. 

A free-text box was available should respondents choose to select 

the ‘other’ option. These responses have been tallied and a 

breakdown is provided below.  

 

 

Figure 119 How people found out about the consultation 

⚫ 503 people (45%) selected Facebook as was the most channel by 

which respondents heard about the consultation. 

⚫ 213 people (19%) said a leaflet was delivered to their homes or 

business.  

503

216

144
107 105

81 70
48 29 24

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

How people heard about consultation

Page 253



 

182 
 

⚫ 114 people (13%) said they heard about the consultation through a 

friend or a relative. 

⚫ 107 people (10%) selected ‘other’ and were given a text box to write 

their response, some people said they heard through more than one 

channel. Each response was tallied into categories:  

 33 people said they heard through alternative social media 

(Instagram and Nextdoor app were the most popular). 

 35 people mentioned road signs and markings encouraged 

them to find out more about the consultation. 

 20 people said they simply did an online search and came 

across it. 

 13 people heard through a political representative, group, 

party, or local councillor. 

 9 people said they heard through a magazine or 

publication. 

 6 people were informed by Tom Tugenhadt, Member for 

Parliament for Tonbridge and Malling.  

 19 people left comments which were uncategorized as 

other/inapplicable as most were unique responses. Two 

people mentioned local TV, one mentioned via ‘JTB’, 

another CTC/CUK forum, one person mentioned resident 

group etc. 

⚫ 105 people (9%) said they heard about the consultation through 

a street notice, public notice, or poster. 

⚫ 105 people (9%) said they heard about the consultation through a 

street notice, public notice, or poster. 

⚫ 81 people (7%) of people selected kent.go.uk website. 

⚫ 70 people (6%) said they heard about the consultation via email. 

⚫ 48 people (4%) heard through a newspaper. 

⚫ 29 people (3%) heard through the town council. 

⚫ 24 people (2%) said they heard through Twitter. 

⚫ The chart below shows each communication channel divided by the 

level of support to reveal and differences in how people heard about 

the consultation and whether they support the scheme.  

 

Page 254



 

183 
 

 

Figure 120 Support levels divided by communication channel  

 

- Facebook had the biggest negative relationship with 83% 

objecting to the scheme. 

- Email was the only communication channel which had a plurality 

of support over objections with 51% supporting the scheme. 

  

Newspa
per

Leaflet
delivere
d to my
home or
busines

s

Street
notice/p

ublic
notice/p

oster

Faceboo
k

Twitter An email
From

my town
council

From a
friend or
relative

Kent.go
v.uk

website
Other

Support 13 61 24 88 9 36 10 47 30 25

Object 35 155 81 415 15 34 19 97 51 82

13

61

24

88

9

36

10

47
30 2535

155

81

415

15
34

19

97

51

82

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Support level divided by how people heard about consultation

Page 255



 

184 
 

 

4.9  We would now like to ask you some questions to gather more 
detail on how you feel about the scheme. 

Following Q2, respondents were asked whether they would like to continue 

with the questionnaire or would like to skip and just submit their response to 

the statutory ETRO part of the consultation.  

- 1,004 people (88%) participated in part two of the questionnaire, 

while 88 people (8%) opted to skip. 31 people (3%) left the 

question blank. 

 

4.10  Q3. Are you responding as…? 

- This question asked people to select their relationship with the 

Tonbridge area, namely if they were a resident in or outside of 

Tonbridge, or a specific type of stakeholder. 

 

Figure 121 Relationship with area 

- 874 people (87%) said that they were responding as a resident of 

Tonbridge. 

- 94 people (9%) said that they were a resident from somewhere 

else in Kent or further afield. 

- 7 people (1%) were responding on behalf of a local business. 

- 3 people (<1%) said they were a representative of a local 

community group or resident association. 

874

94
3 7 3 23

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

A Tonbridge
resident

A resident
from

somewhere
else in Kent or
further afield

A
representative

of a local
community
group or
residents'

association

On behalf of a
local business

On behalf of a
charity,

voluntary or
community

sector
organisation

(VCS)

Other

Relationship to area

Page 256



 

185 
 

- 3 people (<1%) responded on behalf of a charity or community 

sector organisations (VCS). 

⚫ 23 people (2%) selected the ‘other’ response and were provided with a 

text box to specify. Majority said they were a resident from elsewhere 

(purportedly outside Kent), some said they were a commuter or 

worker, and some left individual answers such as a carer who 

visits or a second home occupant.  

⚫ The following table signifies the level of support within each response 

group: 

 

Figure 122 Support and objection by respondent type 

⚫ 76% of Tonbridge residents object to the scheme 

⚫ 68% of residents from elsewhere in Kent or further afield object to the 

scheme. 

⚫ 100% of those who responded as a representative a local community 

or resident association support the scheme. 

⚫ 100% of those who identified as a local business objected to the 

scheme. 

⚫ 100% of those who responded on behalf of a VCS supported the 

schemes. 

⚫ 70% of those who selected ‘other’ support the scheme.   

213

30

3

3

7

661

64

7

16

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

A Tonbridge resident

A resident from somewhere else in Kent or
further afield

A representative of a local community
group or residents' association

On behalf of a local business

On behalf of a charity, voluntary or
community sector organisation (VCS)

Other

Support divided by reationship to area

Support Object

Page 257



 

186 
 

4.11 Q4. Please tell us the first five characters of your postcode. 

- Due to typos and misunderstandings of the question, many 

postcodes were difficult to discern and group together. 

- In order to resolve this, postcodes which were not mentioned as 

much as the top 5 postcodes were grouped together in an ‘other’ 

category.  

 

Figure 123 Postcodes of all respondents 

- 177 people (18%) mentioned TN104 as their postcode area 

covering streets east of Shipbourne Road. 

Other
48%

TN103
17%

TN104
18%

TN119
6%

TN9 2
6% TN10

5%

Postcode data

Other TN103 TN104 TN119 TN9 2 TN10

Page 258



 

187 
 

 

Figure 124 TN103 postcode area 

⚫ 171 people (17%) mentioned TN103 as their postcode area 

covering most of Shipborne Road and areas west of it. 

 

⚫ 64 people (6%) mentioned TN119 as their postcode area. 

⚫ 56 people (6%) mentioned TN92. 

⚫ 54 people (5%) mentioned TN10. 

⚫ 468 people (48%) were other postcodes: 

Page 259



 

188 
 

 TN11 was mentioned 27 times 

 TN110 and TN92Q were mentioned 22 times 

 TN91 and TN92N were mentioned 21 times 

 Remaining postcodes were mentioned 17 times or less. 

- The chart below has cross-analysed each postcode area by the 

level of support respondents of each postcode had for the 

scheme.  

 

 

Figure 125 postcodes divided by support levels. 

- 87% of TN103 postcodes objected to the scheme, while 13% 

supported the scheme. 

- 72% of TN104 postcodes objected to the scheme, while 28% 

supported the scheme.  

  

22

50

10 14 11

148

127

54
42 43

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

TN103 TN104 TN119 TN9 2 TN10

Support levels by postcode

Support Object

Page 260



 

189 
 

4.12  Q5. How do you usually travel in and around Tonbridge? 

Q5 asked people to select all relevant modes of travel they use to 

travel in and around Tonbridge.  

 

Figure 126 How people travel in and around Tonbridge 

- 904 people (80%) said they use a car as a driver travelling in and 

around Tonbridge.  

- 458 people (56%) said they travel by foot/walking.  

- 296 people (26%) said they use a bicycle.  

- 264 people (24%) said that they are a passenger in a car.  

- 85 people (8%) said they use bus services.  

- 44 people (4%) said they use a motorcycle. 

- 21 people (2%) also selected ‘other', and specified that they also 

travel by the following modes: 

 Van 

 Wheelchair 

 Train 

 Bus (driver) 

 Mobility scooter 

- The chart below divides each mode of transport by the overall 

level of support for the scheme. 

296

85

904

264

634

44 21

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

Bicycle Bus Car - as a
driver

Car - as a
passenger

Foot /
walking

Motorcycle Other

How people travel in and around Tonbrige

Page 261



 

190 
 

 

Figure 127 Level of support across modes of transport 

- 79% of car drivers object to the town-wide 20mph limit. 

- 67% of walkers object to the town-wide 20mph limit. 

- 70% of car passengers object to the town-wide 20mph limit.  

- 56% of cyclists object to the town-wide 20mph limit. 

- 61% of bus users object to the town-wide 20mph limit.  

- 75% of motorcycles object to the town-wide 20mph limit. 

 

A cross-analysis between everyone who left a positive comment about the trial 

in Q1a has been divided by the method of transport. See the table below for a 

breakdown of each support theme by transport modes they use. 

 

 

Supportive 
themes 

Bicycle Bus 
Car 

driver 
Car 

passenger 
Foot / 

walking 
Motor
cycle 

Safer 
99 

(83%) 
26 

(90%) 
139 

(82%) 
68 

(87%) 
157 

(83%) 
7 

(88%) 

Environmental / 
health benefits 

33 
(28%) 

3 
(10%) 

44 
(26%) 

21 
(27%) 

47 
(25%) 

0 
(0%) 

Encourages 
walking / 
cycling 

38 
(32%) 

5 
(17%) 

35 
(21%) 

13 
(17%) 

47 
(25%) 

0 
(0%) 

Noise reduction 
20 

(17%) 
3 

(10%) 
25 

(15%) 
15 

(19%) 
30 

(16%) 
1 

(13%) 

131

33

194

79

208

11 4

165

52

710

185

426

33 17

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Bicycle Bus Car - as a
driver

Car - as a
passenger

Foot /
walking

Motorcycle Other

Support by mode of travel

Support Object

Page 262



 

191 
 

Number of 
positive 
comments 

119 29 169 78 189 8 

Figure 128 Positive themes divided by transport method 

- Safety was the most frequently mentioned theme by people 

regardless of the mode of transport they used the most. 

- More cyclists than other transport groups pointed out that the 

schemes encourage active travel and improvements  to the 

environment.  

Negative themes Bicycle Bus 
Car 

driver 
Car 

passenger 
Foot / 

walking 
Motor
cycle 

Against blanket 
20mph (arterial 
routes) 

105 
(54%) 

31 
(53%) 

393 
(52%) 

113 
(57%) 

259 
(55%) 

22 
(63%) 

Difficult to drive 24 
(12%) 

4 
(7%) 

108 
(14%) 

29 
(15%) 

66 
(14%) 

7 
(20%) 

Emergency 
vehicles 

2 
(1%) 

0 
(0%) 

11 
(1%) 

4 
(2%) 

6 
(1%) 

1 
(3%) 

Enforcement 
(lack of or 
ignored) 

69 
(36%) 

21 
(36%) 

232 
(31%) 

60 
(30%) 

168 
(35%) 

11(31
%) 

Impact on town, 
business, appeal 

8 
(4%) 

2 
(3%) 

52 
(7%) 

16 
(8%) 

26 
(5%) 

2 
(6%) 

Increase 
pollution or no 
difference 

38 
(20%) 

15 
(25%) 

186 
(25%) 

52 
(26%) 

115 
(24%) 

7 
(20%) 

No effect on 
cycling or 
walking 
behaviours 

7 
(4%) 

4 
(7%) 

63 
(8%) 

18 
(9%) 

28 
(6%) 

2 
(6%) 

Other (general) 3 
(2%) 

1 
(2%) 

17 
(2%) 

4 
(2%) 

11 
(2%) 

0 
(0%) 

Safety (overtake, 
attention, no 
difference) 

65 
(34%) 

19 
(32%) 

271 
(36%) 

76 
(38%) 

163 
(34%) 

12 
(34%) 

Support of 
specific 20mph 

68 
(35%) 

14 
(22%) 

255 
(34%) 

69 
(35%) 

167 
(35%) 

17 
(49%) 

Traffic flow, 
congestion, too 
slow 

57 
(30%) 

13 
(22%) 

283 
(38%) 

67 
(34%) 

152 
(32%) 

10 
(29%) 

Waste of money 19 
(10%) 

4 
(7%) 

57 
(8%) 

14 
(7%) 

30 
(6%) 

5 
(14%) 

Number of 
negative 
comments 

193 59 754 200 475 35 

Figure 129 Negative themes divided by mode of transport 

Page 263



 

192 
 

⚫ The blanket-wide nature of the 20mph limit across Tonbridge 

was the top negative theme mentioned by all transport users with 

over 50% of people in each transport category mentioning this 

issue when leaving a negative comment. 

⚫ The lack/impossibility of enforcement was the second highest 

frequency concern raised by cyclists and bus users (36%) while it 

was the joint-second most negative issue for walkers (35%) 

alongside support for a specific 20mph zone. 

⚫ Traffic flow and congestion was the second most important 

negative concern for car drivers at 38%. 

⚫ Safety was the second most common issue for passengers of 

cars with 38% of passengers who left a negative comment 

mentioning a safety concern. 

⚫ Motorcyclist’s second most important negative theme was the 

support of a specific 20mph zone in the high street, 

surrounding roads near schools or housing estates only.    

 

 

  

4.13    Q6. To what extent do you agree or disagree that a 20mph 
town-wide speed limit in Tonbridge helps it to become… 

⚫ The above question was accompanied by three different 

statements about whether Tonbridge would become: 

 A cleaner place to live, work and visit. 

 A healthier place to live, work and visit. 

 A safer place to live, work and visit. 

⚫ Each person was asked to select whether they strongly agree, 

tend to agree, neither agree nor disagree, tend to disagree, 

strongly disagree, or don’t know in response to the statements 

above. 

⚫ The charts below show the extent of support for all three 

statements. 

Page 264



 

193 
 

 

Figure 130 A cleaner place to live, work and visit 

⚫ 163 people (16%) strongly agree a 20mph town-wide speed limit 

in Tonbridge helps it to become a cleaner place to live, work and 

visit. Meanwhile, 92 people (9%) tend to agree. 

⚫ A combined 25% strongly agree or tend to agree with the 

statement. 

⚫ 471 people (47%) strongly disagree a 20mph town-wide speed 

limit in Tonbridge helps it to become a cleaner place to live, work 

and visit. Meanwhile, 157 people (16%) tend to disagree.  

⚫ A combined 63% strongly disagree or tend to disagree with the 

statement. 

⚫ 106 people (11%) neither agree nor disagree. 

⚫ 10 people (<1%) said they do not know. 

163

92 106

157

471

10

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Strongly
agree

Tend to
agree

Neither
agree nor
disagree

Tend to
disagree

Strongly
disagree

Don't know

A cleaner place to live, work and visit

Page 265



 

194 
 

 

Figure 131 A healthier place to live, work and visit 

⚫ 181 people (18%) strongly agree a 20mph town-wide speed limit 

in Tonbridge helps it to become a healthier place to live, work and 

visit. Meanwhile, 88 people (9%) tend to agree. 

⚫ A combined 27% strongly agree or tend to agree with the 

statement. 

⚫ 488 people (49%) strongly disagree a 20mph town-wide speed 

limit in Tonbridge helps it to become a healthier place to live, 

work and visit. Meanwhile, 148 people (15%) tend to disagree.  

⚫ A combined 64% strongly disagree or tend to disagree with the 

statement. 

⚫ 148 people (9%) neither agree nor disagree. 

⚫ 7 people (<1%) said they don’t know. 

181

88 90

148

488

7
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Strongly
agree

Tend to agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Tend to
disagree

Strongly
disagree

Don't know

A healthier place to live, work and visit

Page 266



 

195 
 

 

Figure 132 A safer place to live, work and visit 

⚫ 211 people (21%) strongly agree a 20mph town-wide speed limit 

in Tonbridge helps it to become a safer place to live, work and 

visit. Meanwhile, 105 people (10%) tend to agree. 

⚫ A combined 31% strongly agree or tend to agree with the 

statement. 

⚫ 388 people (39%) strongly disagree a 20mph town-wide speed 

limit in Tonbridge helps it to become a healthier place to live, 

work and visit. Meanwhile, 169 people (17%) tend to disagree.  

⚫ A combined 56% strongly disagree or tend to disagree with the 

statement. 

⚫ 125 people (12%) neither agree nor disagree. 

⚫ 5 people (<1%) said they do not know.  

 

4.14   Q7. The 20mph town-wide limit is part of a longer-term plan to 
increase walking and cycling in the town. Do you have any other 
ideas to improve walking and cycling in Tonbridge?   

⚫ The above question was asked to those who took part in the 

second part of the consultation, inviting them to leave a written 

free-text response about ways to improve walking and cycling.   

⚫ The text responses were varied, and answers were of varying 

lengths raising multiple issues and spanning several themes.  

211

105
125

169

388

5
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Strongly
agree

Tend to agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Tend to
disagree

Strongly
disagree

Don't know

A safer place to walk and cycle

Page 267



 

196 
 

⚫ Approximately, 46,000 words were analysed and coded for this 

question. 

⚫ Out of the 1,004 people who took in part two of the survey, 776 

left a comment while 228 people left the question blank. The 

number of times a person raised a comment is therefore 

considered a proportion of the 776 people who responded to this 

question. 

⚫ Similar to the free text analysis on Q1a (section 4.3) the dataset 

was analysed by developing a coding framework in response to 

the themes that emerged when reading through the responses. 

These themes highlight concerns, issues, suggestions, and ideas 

people raised. These themes that people raised fell into one of 

four categories: 

 

Figure 133 Main thematic categories  

461

263

208

168

104

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Cycling Other Pedestrians Cars Comments
about speed or
20mph scheme

Main thematic categories

Page 268



 

197 
 

4.15 Cycling themes 

 

Figure 134 Cycling themes 

⚫ 238 people (31%) left comments about improving cycling 

infrastructure around Tonbridge in particular making cycle lanes 

more separate (i.e., segregation) and ensuring they are more 

connected and continuous. A minority also commented that cycle 

lanes would needs better maintenance or that they wanted 

clearer markings. Comments coded under this theme referred to 

both current and potential new cycle lanes.  

 

“Segregated cycle ways are the safest and best way to cycle.” 

  

⚫ 195 people (25%) commented that they would like more cycle 

lanes. Most did not specify where they wanted cycle lanes but 

mostly referred to throughout the town. Some people specifically 

mentioned that Hadlow Road and Lower Haysden Lane could 

benefit. 

 

“Build cycle lanes.” 

238

195

71

68

39

36

25

7

0 50 100 150 200 250

Improved cycle infrastrcture comments

More cycle lanes

Don't use current cycle lanes

Enforcement and cycling rules

Comments about orcas

Education, Facilities, Training, Insurance,
Discount etc

Storage and parking

Cycle hire scheme

Cycling themes

Page 269



 

198 
 

 

⚫ 71 people (9%) said they do not use the current cycle lanes or 

see cyclists opting to cycle on the road instead.  

 

“Stop building unnecessary cycle lanes that aren't used.” 

 

⚫ 68 people (9%) made a comment about greater enforcement for 

cyclists. Most mentioned tougher rules on pavement cycling and 

ensuring cyclists keep to speed limits. 

 

“Enforce penalties for cycling on footpaths” 

 

⚫ 39 people (5%) made comments in reference to the orcas on the cycle 

lane on Shipbourne Road. Most respondents said they were a safety 

hazard for both cyclists and pedestrians. 

 

“Remove Orcas immediately they are dangerous to cyclists & pedestrians and also 

mean roads are dirtier” 

 

⚫ 36 people (5%) said the council should provide more cycle 

friendly facilities, materials, and activities. Comments varied, but 

mainly included providing cycle training, introduce cycle 

insurance, education lessons, financial incentives/discounts, 

cycle maps etc. 

 

“If someone is scared to cycle on the road they always will be, and the problem 

would be more resolved with free cycling lessons of how to deal with cycling in 

traffic.” 

 

⚫ 25 people (3%) said there needs to be more secure cycle parking 

and storage throughout Tonbridge and near shops.  

 

“More secure bicycle parking places as many bikes have to just be left outside shops 

or tied to fences” 

 

⚫ 7 people (<1%) said there should be a bike hire scheme similar to 

‘Boris Bikes’ in London. 

Page 270



 

199 
 

 

“Increase access to bikes (similar to the Santander scheme in London).” 

 

4.16   Other themes 

 

Figure 135 Other themes 

⚫ 60 people (8%) said that there were no improvements 

necessary, while most simple left general comments such as 

“no”, some people said the infrastructure is fine for cyclists and 

walkers alike and they don’t experience any issues.  

 

“Not really I feel the town is fine without all the changes. I personally feel don’t 

change something that isn’t broken.” 

 

⚫ 48 people (6%) mentioned that they would like to see road 

improvements and fixing of potholes throughout Tonbridge as 

they are a danger to cars and cyclists. 

 

“Fill in the potholes both on the roads and pavements” 

 

60
48

36
28

23
22

17
15
14

11
9

7
5
5
5
4
4
3

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

No improvements needed
Road improvements

Cycling, walking not (always) possible
More and better consultation

Better signage
Public Transport

Promotion of active travel
Housing and development

Local economy and businesses
Lighting

Disability provisions
Scooters

Dog fouling, litter
Environmental improvements

Electric Vehicles
Drainage

Public facilities
Low Traffic Neighbourhood

Other themes

Page 271



 

200 
 

⚫ 36 people (5%) said cycling/walking is not always possible due 

to circumstances of the individual (school run, shopping, elderly, 

disability etc). 

 

“As a mum, I will not take my kids to school on the bike or grocery shopping.” 

 

⚫ 28 people (4%) thought more targeted consultation was 

needed, in particular with cycling groups in Tonbridge. 

 

“Listen to local cycling groups recommendations regarding safe cycling paths ideally 

off or separated from the road where possible.” 

 

⚫ 23 people (3%) said there needs to be better and more signage, 

while most were to do with traffic and safety measures, some 

suggestions included wayfinding points for pedestrians. 

 

“I think that the electronic signs with emojis (a smile if you are going under the limit) 

would be great at strategic locations.” 

 

⚫ 22 people (3%) left a comment urging the council to invest more 

in public transport including more bus services and routes. 

Some also wanted cheaper bus fares as a means to encourage 

people to use public transport more. 

 

“Improve the bus service by making it cheaper and more frequent” 

 

⚫ 17 people (2%) said there needs to be more promotion of active 

travel. These comments ranged from public campaigns, school 

initiatives and cycle to work schemes. 

 

“Schools with walk/cycle to work schemes.” 

 

⚫ 15 people (2%) made comments about housing and 

development believing the number of projects in constructions 

encourages further traffic into Tonbridge. 

 

Page 272



 

201 
 

“You cannot be building new developments with people moving to Tonbridge and 

expect everyone to cycle.” 

 

⚫ 14 people (2%) left comments concerned with the local economy 

and businesses. Most comments were varied, some suggested 

there needs to be more shops to encourage active travel, others 

felt they will bear the negative consequences of a 20mph limits, 

while some also commented more needs to be done to 

regenerate the economy. 

 

“Improve the high street by attracting more shops to fill the vacant spaces, not put in 

restrictions to stop and deter people from visiting the high street.” 

 

⚫ 11 people (1%) said more street lighting needs to be put in 

place. 

 

“Some streets are very dark, make sure all street lighting is effective.” 

 

⚫ 9 people (1%) said more need to be done to accommodate 

disabled people including dropped kerbs and disabled parking 

bay.  

 

“Make footpaths safer by resurfacing and to have more dropped curbs for the 

disabled.” 

 

⚫ 7 people (<1%) said the council need to consider electric 

scooters, most said it should be legally approved, while a couple 

of people said it should be banned or controlled. 

 

“Help get electric scooters Legal along as used on bike paths only.” 

 

⚫ 5 people (<1%) said that there was a lot of litter and dog fouling 

throughout Tonbridge at the expense of those who walk 

throughout Tonbridge. 

 

“Empty the rubbish bins and fine dog fouling.” 

 

Page 273



 

202 
 

⚫ 5 people (<1%) felt more needs to be done to improve the 

environment including additional trees and greenery. 

 

“Increase the number of trees and other plants in polluted areas (e.g. high street), as 

these have been shown to reduce the localised levels of harmful air pollution 

reaching your lungs.” 

 

⚫ 5 people (<1%) said the council need to focus on electric vehicle 

infrastructure and ensure there are more charging points 

throughout the town.  

 

“Make the centre of town an e-vehicle area only? Encourage with better 

infrastructure electric vehicles.” 

 

⚫ 4 people (<1%) said drainage in Tonbridge was poor and needs 

to be fixed. 

 

“Clean the drains” 

 

⚫ 4 people (<1%) commented there needs to be more public 

facilities such as public toilets, seating, and children’s parks to 

accommodate walkers. 

 

“More support for teens and places for them to go. More parks for 

children to play.” 

 

⚫ 3 people (<1%) wanted to see Low Traffic Neighbourhoods. 

 

“Tonbridge would benefit enormously from a Low Traffic Neighbourhood plan. It's 

largely flat, compact and many journeys currently made by car could be easily 

switched to walking and cycling” 

 

  

Page 274



 

203 
 

4.17   Pedestrian themes 

 

Figure 136 Pedestrian themes 

⚫ 130 people (17%) mentioned pavement and footpath 

improvements. Many of these comments were around adding 

and improving the footpaths generally. However, some mentioned 

widening pavements and ensuring they are maintained. 

 

“Repair pavements to make walking safer as a lot of areas are in a poor state” 

 

⚫ 40 people (5%) wanted greater pedestrianisation. The vast 

majority said they wanted to see the High Street pedestrianised. 

 

“Potentially fully pedestrianise the High Street” 

 

⚫ 32 people (4%) wanted additional crossings for pedestrians. 

No specific roads were mentioned repeatedly. However, the High 

Street, Cannon Lane, Pembury Road, Bordyke and Shipbourne 

Road were mentioned. 

 

“More pedestrian crossings e.g., on Shipbourne Red opposite Ashburnham Road.” 

130

40

32

28

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

Pavement and footpath comments

Pedestrianisation

Crossing

Safety (education, policing)

Pedestrian themes

Page 275



 

204 
 

 

⚫ 28 people (4%) urged the council to focus on pedestrian safety. 

Comments were varied but generally included requests to 

educate people on responsibility when walking and keep alert. 

Many commented pedestrians are distracted by their phones or 

inattentive due to headphones. 

 

“Put notices up for people to look before crossing the roads and not at their phones.”  

Page 276



 

205 
 

4.18   Car themes 

 

Figure 137 Car themes 

⚫ 60 people (8%) left comments about enforcement. Many said 

that if the 20mph limit was not enforced the stated aims of 

encouraging walking and cycling would not materialise. Others, 

however felt this was impossible and existing 30mph limits need 

to be enforced and monitored instead. 

 

“Make people stick to the speed limit with enforcement measures that have teeth. If 

there’s no ‘stick’ some drivers just drive at any speed they please.” 

 

⚫ 58 people (7%) left comments suggesting more traffic calming 

and priority changes need to be made. Traffic-calming 

comments included speed bumps throughout Tonbridge, while 

comments about priority given to pedestrians/cyclists at traffic 

lights. Other comments included one-way systems implemented 

in certain places. 

 

“Cyclist priority at traffic lights. Boxes for cyclists at traffic lights.” 

⚫ 39 people (5%) left comments about parking. Most believed more 

needs to be done to combat pavement parking and greater 

enforcement and fines need to be given. A minority commented 

60

58

39

24

11

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Enforcement

Traffic-calming, priority, suggestions

Parking

Traffic flow and congestion

Discourage cars (general)

Car-related themes

Page 277



 

206 
 

how more parking places needs to be created to accommodate 

drivers. 

 

“Cars parking on main A roads (Shipbourne Rd.) and on pavements need to be 

policed and fines issued.” 

 

⚫ 24 people (3%) left comments about traffic flow and congestion 

suggesting that traffic needs to be countered throughout the town 

– in particular, the high street. 

 

“There are problems around the train station in terms of congestion and pick up / 

drop off.” 

 

⚫ 11 people (1%) made general and varied comments about 

discouraging cars. Comments ranged from car-free days, 

banning cars in certain places or general comments about 

discouraging cars.  

 

“Introduce car free days in Tonbridge centre perhaps on a monthly basis, linked to 

street markets, local entertainment etc.” 

 

Page 278



 

207 
 

4.19   Q8. Are you a parent or guardian of a child or young person living 
in your household in any of the following age groups? 

⚫ This question asked people if they were a parent or guardian of a 

child or young person and what their age was. Respondents were 

able to tick the relevant box they fit into.  

 

Figure 138 Parents and guardians 

⚫ 442 people (37%) said they were not a parent or guardian of a 

child or young person in the household.  

⚫ 681 people in total identified as a parent or guardian. They were 

able to choose multiple categories which were relevant to them. 

⚫ The most popular category was 185 people (27%) who said they 

were a parent or guardian to a young person aged 12-17.  

⚫ This was followed categories aged 4-11 (26%), over 18 and living 

in the household (23%), over 18 and not living in household 

(16%) and aged 0-3 (10%). 

⚫ The following chart has divided each category by the level of 

support they have for the scheme. 

70

179 185
154

111

442

40

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Yes, aged
0-3

Yes, aged
4-11

Yes, aged
12-17

Yes, aged
over 18

and living
in

household

Yes, aged
over 18
and not
living in

household

No I prefer
not to say

Parents and guardians

Page 279



 

208 
 

 

Figure 139 Parent and guardians by level of support 

⚫ All categories had a greater level of objection than support.  

⚫ Most notably, the highest majority came from 81% of those who 

were parents and guardians of children aged over 18 and l iving in 

the household. 

⚫ The least majority was 69% objections from parents and 

guardians of children aged 0-3. 

⚫ Overall, the total number of people who identified as a parent or 

guardian is 681. Out of this figure 513 (75%) objected to the 

scheme, while 168 (25%) supported it.   

 

 

  

22
45 47

29 36

121

5

48

134 138
125

76

321

35

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Yes, aged
0-3

Yes, aged
4-11

Yes, aged
12-17

Yes, aged
over 18

and living
in

household

Yes, aged
over 18
and not
living in

household

No I prefer not
to say

Support level by parent and guardians

Support Object

Page 280



 

209 
 

4.20 Q9. Do you work or study in Tonbridge? 

⚫ The following information below tallies each response and divides 

them by level of support respondents of each option had for the 

20mph scheme. 

 

Figure 140 Work status 

⚫ 367 people work in Tonbridge. 

⚫ 228 people work in Kent outside of Tonbridge. 

⚫ 155 people said they currently do not work. 

⚫ 127 people said they commute to London. 

⚫ 50 people said they prefer not to say. 

⚫ 14 people said they study in Tonbridge.  

⚫ 123 selected the ‘other’. A text box was provided for them to 

specify their work status: 

 58 people said they were retired. 

 38 people said they work from home (many who said this 

said they previously commuted to London. 

 38 said they commute or travel to other locations. 

 6 people were semi-retired. 

 5 people said they volunteer. 

 14 people gave varied unique answers. A few implied they 

do the school run, some mentioned they are a carer for 

367

14

127

228

155

50

123

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Yes, I
work

Yes, I
study

No, I
commute
to London

No, I work
in Kent

outside of
Tonbridge

I do not
currently

work

I prefer
not to say

Other

Work status

Page 281



 

210 
 

somebody in Tonbridge, while a couple mentioned they 

work outside of Kent. 

⚫ The following chart has divided work status of participants by the 

level of support for the 20mph limit.  

 

Figure 141 Work status divided by level of support 

⚫ 283 people (77%) working in Tonbridge object to the trial.  

⚫ 9 people (64%) who study object to the trial. 

⚫ 91 people (72%) who work in Kent outside of Tonbridge object to 

the trial. 

⚫ 183 people (80%) who commute to London are in support. 

⚫ 102 people (66%) who do not currently work are in support.  

⚫ 42 people (84%) who prefer not to say are in support. 

4.21 Q10. Gender split 

84

5

36
45

53

8

43

283

9

91

183

102

42

80

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Yes, I
work

Yes, I
study

No, I
commute
to London

No, I work
in Kent

outside of
Tonbridge

I do not
currently

work

I prefer not
to say

Other

Work status divided by level of support

Support Object

Page 282



 

211 
 

 

Figure 142 Gender split 

⚫ 556 people (56%) identified as a male. 

 162 (29%) are supporters of the scheme. 

 394 (71%) are objectors to the scheme. 

⚫ 412 people (41%) identified as a female. 

 86 (21%) are supporters of the scheme. 

 326 (79%) are objectors to the scheme. 

⚫ Support for the scheme amongst males was higher by 8% 

compared to females. 

⚫ 28 people (3%) preferred not to say. 

 

  

556

412

28

Gender split

Male Female I prefer not to say

Page 283



 

212 
 

4.22   Q11. Which of these age groups applies to you? 

 

Figure 143 Age split 

⚫ 3 people (>1%) were 0-15 years old. 

⚫ 46 people (1%) were 16-24 years old. 

⚫ 113 people (8%) were 25-34 years old. 

⚫ 280 people (29%) were 35-49 years old. 

⚫ 229 people (25%) were 50-59 years old. 

⚫ 124 people (19%) were 60-64 years old. 

⚫ 136 people (18%) were 65-74 years old. 

⚫ 26 people (3%) were 75-84 years old. 

⚫ 2 people (>1%) were 85 years or older. 

⚫ 43 people (4%) preferred not to say. 

⚫ The chart below divides these age groups by level of support for 

the town-wide 20mph limit. 

3

46

113

280

229

124

136

26
2

43

Age split

0-15 16-24 25-34

35-49 50-59 60-64

65-74 75-84 85 + over

I prefer not to say

Page 284



 

213 
 

 

Figure 144 Support or object by age group 

⚫ Majority of all age groups object to the scheme, with the 

exception of 0–15-year-olds (although only 3 people had 

responded in this category). 

⚫ The highest number of objections came from those aged 85+ with 

100% of those objecting – however this was only 2 people. Aside 

from this category, 93% of 16–24-year-olds objected to the 

scheme.   

⚫ The lowest majority objection (excluding the 85+ category) came 

from 75–84-year-olds with 62% of those objecting. 

2

3

20

73

56

39

47

10

1

43

93

207

173

85

89

16

2

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

0-15

16-24

25-34

35-49

50-59

60-64

65-74

75-84

85 + over

Age by support level

Support Object

Page 285



 

214 
 

5 NEXT STEPS 

The feedback from this consultation will be reviewed by Kent County Council (KCC) 

working closely with Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council and recommendations 

developed as to the future of the scheme.  

In addition to consultation responses, data from the following activities will help inform the decision: 

⚫ Attitudinal surveys - carried out face-to-face with a representative 

sample before and towards the end of the trial. 

⚫ Average speed surveys. 

⚫ Crash statistics. 

⚫ Engagement with district council partners and statutory 

consultees, including emergency services. 

⚫ Equality Impact Assessments. 

⚫ Pedestrian and cycle counts - carried out in July 2020, 

September/October 2020, December 2020, and May/June 2021. . 

⚫ Use of existing air quality stations - any changes in air quality will 

have to be understood over a longer period than 12 months. 

On analysis of all the above a full report will be presented to the Tonbridge and Malling 

Joint Transportation Board (JTB) for a recommendation to KCC’s Cabinet Member for 

Highways and Transport. The JTB report is anticipated to be in November 2021.  

This consultation report will be publicly available on the consultation 

website. KCC will keep residents, road users and other stakeholders 

updated on the next steps via their website and social media 

 

Quality 

It is the policy of Project Centre to supply Services that meet or exceed our 

clients’ expectations of Quality and Service. To this end, the Company's 

Quality Management System (QMS) has been structured to encompass all 

aspects of the Company's activities including such areas as Sales, Design and 

Client Service. 

By adopting our QMS on all aspects of the Company, Project Centre aims to 

achieve the following objectives: 

• Ensure a clear understanding of customer requirements; 

• Ensure projects are completed to programme and within budget; 

• Improve productivity by having consistent procedures; 

Page 286



 

215 
 

• Increase flexibility of staff and systems through the adoption of a 

common approach to staff appraisal and training; 

• Continually improve the standard of service we provide internally and 

externally; 

• Achieve continuous and appropriate improvement in all aspects of the 

company; 

Our Quality Management Manual is supported by detailed operational 

documentation. These relate to codes of practice, technical specifications, work 

instructions, Key Performance Indicators, and other relevant documentation to 

form a working set of documents governing the required work practices 

throughout the Company. 

All employees are trained to understand and discharge their individual 

responsibilities to ensure the effective operation of the Quality Management 

System.  

 

 

 

Page 287



 

216 
 Page 288



 

217 
 

APPENDIX E – FAVERSHAM COMMONPLACE CONSULTATION 

 

 

P
age 289



 

218 
 

 

P
age 290



 

219 
 

 

P
age 291



 

220 
 

 

P
age 292



 

221 
 

 

P
age 293



 

222 
 

 

P
age 294



 

223 
 

 

P
age 295



 

224 
 

 

P
age 296



 

225 
 

 

P
age 297



 

226 
 

 

P
age 298



 

227 
 

 

P
age 299



 

228 
 

 

P
age 300



 

229 
 

 

P
age 301



 

230 
 

 

P
age 302



 

231 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 303



 

232 
 

APPENDIX F – ATC, MANUAL COUNTS AND VIVACITY CAMERA LOCATIONS 

 

Figure 145: ATC, Manual Counts and Vivacity Camera Locations in Faversham 

 

P
age 304



 

233 
 

Figure 146: ATC, Manual Counts and Vivacity Camera Locations in Tonbridge 

P
age 305



 

234 
 

APPENDIX G – CRASH MAP 
Figure 147 - Reported Injury Collisions in Faversham (2015-2019) 

 

P
age 306



 

235 
 

Figure 148 - Reported Injury Collisions in Tonbridge (2015-2019) 

 

 

P
age 307



 

236 
 

APPENDIX H – QUALITIATIVE SURVEY DATA 

 

 

 

                                      
                                           
                           

                                            
                                           
                                       
                                   

                                          
                                              
                                       
                   

                                            
                                          
                                    
                                  
                                            
                                  

                                              

      
             

               

   

                   

                   

                   

                   

                         

        
               
           
         

            

             

                

 
  
  
  
 
  
 
 
  
                        

P
age 308



 

237 
 

 

 

P
age 309



 

238 
 

 

 

 

P
age 310



 

239 
 

 

 

 

P
age 311



 

240 
 

 

 

 

P
age 312



 

241 
 

 

 

 

P
age 313



 

242 
 

 

 

 

P
age 314



 

243 
 

 

 

 

P
age 315



 

244 
 

 

 

 

P
age 316



 

245 
 

 

 

 

P
age 317



 

246 
 

 

 

 

P
age 318



 

247 
 

 

 

 

P
age 319



 

248 
 

 

 

 

P
age 320



 

249 
 

 

 

 

P
age 321



 

250 
 

 

 

 

P
age 322



 

251 
 

 

 

 

P
age 323



 

252 
 

 

 

 

P
age 324



 

253 
 

 

 

P
age 325



 

254 
 

 

 

 

P
age 326



 

255 
 

 

 

 

P
age 327



 

256 
 

 

 

 

P
age 328



 

257 
 

 

 

 

P
age 329



 

258 
 

 

 

P
age 330



 

259 
 

 

 

P
age 331



 

260 
 

 

 

P
age 332



 

261 
 

 

   

 

P
age 333



 

262 
 

 

  

P
age 334



 

263 
 

 

 

 

P
age 335



 

264 
 

 

 

 

P
age 336



 

265 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 337



 

266 
 

 

 

 

P
age 338



 

267 
 

 

 

 

P
age 339



 

268 
 

 

 

 

P
age 340



 

269 
 

 

 

 

P
age 341



 

270 
 

 

 

 

P
age 342



 

271 
 

 

 

 

P
age 343



 

272 
 

 

 

 

P
age 344



 

273 
 

 

 

 

P
age 345



 

274 
 

 

 

 

P
age 346



 

275 
 

 

 

 

P
age 347



 

276 
 

 

 

 

P
age 348



 

277 
 

 

 

 

P
age 349



 

278 
 

 

 

 

P
age 350



 

279 
 

 

 

 

P
age 351



 

280 
 

 

 

 

P
age 352



 

281 
 

 

 

 

P
age 353



 

282 
 

 

 

 

P
age 354



 

283 
 

 

 

 

P
age 355



 

284 
 

 

 

 

P
age 356



 

285 
 

 

 

 

P
age 357



 

286 
 

 

 

 

P
age 358



 

287 
 

 

 

 

P
age 359



 

288 
 

 

 

 

P
age 360



 

289 
 

 

 

 

P
age 361



 

290 
 

 

 

 

P
age 362



 

291 
 

 

 

 

P
age 363



 

292 
 

 

 

 

P
age 364



 

293 
 

 

 

 

P
age 365



 

294 
 

 

 

 

P
age 366



 

295 
 

 

 

 

P
age 367



 

296 
 

 

 

 

P
age 368



 

297 
 

 

 

 

P
age 369



 

298 
 

 

 

 

P
age 370



 

299 
 

 

 

 

P
age 371



 

300 
 

 

 

 

P
age 372



 

301 
 

 

P
age 373



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 302 

APPENDIX I – PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLIST COUNT ANALYSIS 

 

Key Findings 
 
This report analyses the data gathered from pedestrian and cyclist counts gathered in July 
2020, September/October 2020, December 2020 and May/June 2021 to assess the impact 
of the introduction of 20MPH zones in Tonbridge and Faversham. Deal was used as a 
comparator town where a 20MPH zone was not introduced. The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Faversham and Tonbridge recorded increases in their pedestrian counts in 
May/June 2021 and October 2020 compared to the baseline in July 2020 whereas 
Deal recorded a decrease in both these periods compared to July 2020. The 
pedestrian count in Tonbridge was also higher in December 2020 than July 2020.   

• Faversham and Tonbridge recorded a 1.8% decrease in cyclists in May/June 2021 
compared to July 2020 whereas Deal recorded a decrease of 26.3% and Tonbridge 
a decrease of 29.3%.  

• All three towns recorded a reduction in cyclists of between 40% and 60% in 
December 2020 when compared to July 2020. Cycling counts appear to be more 
affected by time of year and weather than pedestrian counts.  

• Faversham and Tonbridge recorded their biggest increases/smallest decreases in 
pedestrian counts in October 2020 and December 2020 in the morning (07:00-10:00) 
and afternoon/early evening (15:00-17:00)  

• This analysis cannot prove a causal link between the introduction of 20MPH zones in 
Tonbridge and Faversham and their pedestrian counts in December 2020 being 
larger or only slightly smaller than in July 2020. However, it is encouraging that 
footfall within Tonbridge and Faversham was similar or higher than in July given the 
differences in weather and COVID-19 restrictions at those times of the year.  

• The information in this study should be cross referenced with other evidence such as 
behavioural surveys to determine if the introduction of 20MPH zones has led to an 
increase in active travel in Faversham and Tonbridge.  

 
Introduction 
 

Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders introducing town-wide 20MPH zones were introduced 
in Faversham and Tonbridge on the 31st of July with the implementation of signs and road 
markings starting in August and completed by the end of September. These zones were 
introduced to encourage active travel through increased walking and cycling and for the 
following legal reasons: 
 

• Avoid the danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any other road or for 
preventing the likelihood of any such danger arising. 

• For preserving or improving the amenities of the area through which the road runs 
 

In addition, the 20MPH zones aim to make Tonbridge and Faversham become: 

• A healthier place to live, work and visit 

• A safer place to walk and cycle 

Page 374



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 303 

• A cleaner place to live, work and visit 
 

The 20MPH zones will be in place for a minimum of 12 months and up to 18 months. A wide 

variety of data will be collected and analysed to assess the impact of the 20MPH zones, 

including: 

• responses to the seven-month public consultation  

• attitudinal surveys - carried out face-to-face with a representative sample before and 
towards the end of the trial 

• average speed surveys 

• crash statistics 

• engagement with district council partners and statutory consultees, including 
emergency services. 

• Equality Impact Assessments 

• findings from Faversham Town Council’s engagement platform 

• pedestrian and cycle counts - carried out before and towards the end of the trial 

• use of existing air quality stations - any changes in air quality will have to be 
understood over a longer period than 12 months. 

 
This report will illustrate the key findings from the pedestrian and cyclist counts that took place 

during 2020.  

Kent County Council commissioned PMRS to carry out pedestrian and cyclist counts at three 

sites: Faversham and Tonbridge (where the 20 MPH sites were introduced at the end of July) 

and Deal, which was chosen as a counterfactual location due to its similar size and socio-

economic profile to Faversham.  

PRMS were commissioned to carry out counts of pedestrians and cyclists at 20 sites in each 

of the three towns on a Thursday, Friday and Saturday at three occasions over six months: 

• July 2020 (before the introduction of the 20 MPH schemes) 

• September/October 2020 

• December 2020 

• May/June 2020 
 

Maps and tables showing the location of the 20 count points in each town are available in 

Annexe 1. 

This report will examine the changes in pedestrian and cyclist counts over these three months 

at the three towns included in the study and whether there are any significant differences 

between the towns where a 20MPH zone was introduced and Deal, where it was not. 

There were 20 locations in each town where pedestrian and cycle counts were undertaken. 

At each location a six to eight minute sample was taken. This was then multiplied by the 

relevant factor to arrive at an hourly estimate of footfall and cyclist numbers at each location. 

All data in this report relates to the extrapolated counts based on these samples.  

 

Page 375



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 304 

Covid-19 

As all three counts took place during the response to the Covid-19 pandemic it is important 

to put the results of the pedestrian and cyclist counts in the context of the COVID-19 

restrictions that were in place when the counts took place. The restrictions in place were as 

follows: 

• July 2020 – All retail, hospitality and personal care open (with some restrictions). 
Most leisure activities such as cinemas, theatres, gyms and swimming pools 
remained closed.  

• September/October 2020 (Tier 1 Alert Level) – All retail, hospitality and personal 
care were open (with some restrictions). Most leisure actives were open such as 
gyms, swimming pools and cinemas.  

• December 2020 (Tier 3 Alert Level) – All retail and personal care were open (with 
some restrictions). All hospitality venues were closed. Gyms and swimming pools 
remained open. All indoor entertainment was closed.  

• May 2021 - All retail, hospitality and personal care were open (with some 
restrictions). Most leisure actives were open such as gyms, swimming pools and 
cinemas. 

 

Weather 

Weather is another factor that can influence the number of cyclist and pedestrians on a given 

day, so it is important to put the findings in context of the weather that was reported on each 

day of the counts. This is shown in table 1. 

Table 1: Weather Conditions on Each Count Day 

Deal 
Weather 

July 2020 September 2020 December 2020 June 2021 

Thursday 
Cloudy early morning, 
sunny mild afternoon 

Heavy morning rain, windy 
afternoon with heavy 

showers 

Overcast and cold morning, 
bright afternoon 

Warm and Sunny 

Friday  Bright, sunny and warm 
Overcast, windy with light 
rain morning, very windy 

afternoon 

Morning light rain, overcast 
afternoon 

Rain until 4pm 

Saturday 
Rain all day, heavy from 

4pm 
Cold and windy morning, 
heavy afternoon showers 

Overcast with mist and 
drizzle in afternoon 

Overcast morning, warm 
sunny afternoon 

     

Faversham 
Weather 

July 2020 October 2020 December 2020 May 2021 

Thursday 
Overcast morning, bright 

and dry afternoon 
Morning rain, brightening 

mid afternoon 

Light rain until midday, 
heavy rain until early 

evening 
Warm and sunny 

Friday Sunny and warm 
Overcast and windy with 

consistent rain 
Overcast with light snow in 
morning, bright afternoon 

Warm and sunny 

Saturday Bright, clear and sunny 
Overcast morning, 

lunchtime showers, bright 
afternoon 

Bright and cold morning, 
cloudy afternoon 

Overcast morning, 
sunny afternoon 

 

Page 376



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 305 

Tonbridge 
Weather 

July 2020 October 2020 December 2020 June 2021 

Thursday 
Cloudy early morning, 

sunny afternoon 
Overcast with light showers 

late afternoon 
Very cold and dry Warm and sunny 

Friday Bright and mild Heavy rain 
Overcast morning, heavy 

rain lunchtime, bright 
afternoon 

Heavy rain 

Saturday 
Rain all day, heavy at 

times 
Rain, brightening late 

afternoon 
Cold and overcast, light rain 

showers 
Warm and sunny 

 

Analysis 

Table 1 and charts 1 and 2 show the total extrapolated pedestrian and cyclist counts for Deal, 

Faversham and Tonbridge between 7AM and 7PM on Thursday, Friday and Saturday in July 

2020, September/October 2020, December 2020 and May 2020/2021. The extrapolated 

totals are based upon the samples taken between 7AM and 7PM at the 20 count sites in each 

town. 

Table 1: Total Pedestrian and Cyclist Counts on Thursday, Friday & Saturday between 7AM and 7PM 

(Extrapolated from Samples)  

Town 

Pedestrians Cyclists 

June 
2020 

September/ 
October 

2020 

December 
2020 

June/July 
2021 

June 
2020 

September/ 
October 

2020 

December 
2020 

June/July 
2021 

Deal 130,874 90,943 96,431 101,484 21,280 10,639 11,628 15,693 

Faversham 120,987 127,148 115,089 142,962 10,872 8,744 4,170 11,072 

Tonbridge 65,618 96,394 82,019 67,869 7,824 5,350 4,654 5,530 

 

This shows that Deal recorded its highest number of pedestrians and cyclists in July 2020, 

and the lowest number of pedestrians and cyclists in September 2020. Faversham recorded 

its highest number of pedestrians in May 2021, whilst Tonbridge recorded its highest number 

of pedestrians in October 2020. Faversham recorded its highest number of cyclists in May 

2021. Tonbridge recorded its lowest number of pedestrians in July2020 and its lowest number 

of cyclists in December 2020. Faversham recorded its lowest number of both cyclists and 

pedestrians in December 2020.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 377



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 306 

Chart 1: Pedestrian Count – 3 Day Extrapolated Total 

 

Chart 2: Cyclist Count – 3 Day Extrapolated Total

 

Chart 3 shows the percentage change in extrapolated pedestrian and cyclist counts across 

three days between the first count in July 2020 and the second in September/October 2020. 

This shows that Deal had a significant decrease (30.5%) in the number of pedestrians in 

September compared to July whereas Faversham had a slight increase (5.1%) and 

Tonbridge recorded a considerable increase in pedestrian numbers (46.9%).  

Whilst it is possible that the large decrease in pedestrians in Deal between July 2020 and 

September 2020 was due to a untypically high number of day trip visitors in the summer, we 

would expect there to be similar impact in Faversham and Tonbridge given that fact that the 

weather in October 2020 was worse when these counts were taken. In addition, the number 

of pedestrians counted per head of the population in Deal in July 2020 was lower than the 

130,874
120,987

65,618

90,943

127,148

96,39496,431

115,089

82,019

101,484

142,962

67,869

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

Deal Faversham Tonbridge

Pedestrian Count - 3 Day Extrapolated Total

July 2020 September/October 2020 December 2020 June/July 2021

21,280

10,872

7,824

10,639

8,744

5,350

11,628

4,170 4,654

15,693

11,072

5,530

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

Deal Faversham Tonbridge

Cyclist Count - 3 Day Extrapolated Total

July 2020 September/October 2020 December 2020 June/July 2021

Page 378



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 307 

pedestrians per head in Faversham in July so this does not indicate that Deal was unusually 

busy. This data is shown in table 2 below.  

Table 2: July Pedestrian Count per Head of Population 

Town 
2011 

Census 
Population 

July 2020 
Pedestrian 

Count 

Pedestrian 
Count per 
Head of 

Population 

Deal 30,555 130,874 4.3 

Faversham 19,829 120,987 6.1 

Tonbridge 38,657 65,618 1.7 

 

Cyclists counts decreased in all three towns, but Deal recorded the highest percentage 

decrease (50%), whilst Faversham recorded the smallest percentage decrease (19.6%).  

Chart 3: Percentage change in pedestrians and cyclists (July 2020 to September/October 2020) 

 

Chart 4 shows the daily percentage change in cyclist and pedestrian counts between July 

2020 and September/October 2020 in the three towns by day of the week. This shows that 

Deal recorded the largest percentage decrease in cyclists and pedestrians on a Friday. This 

may be expected given that Deal experienced good weather on the Friday in July 2020 

compared to September 2020 and would be a destination for day trippers. However, this 

would not explain why Deal saw a decrease in pedestrian numbers on the Saturday in 

September 2020 compared to July 2020 despite the Saturday in July experiencing heavy 

rain. Both Faversham and Deal recorded increases in their footfall on Thursday and Saturday 

in October 2020 compared to July 2020.  

-30.5%

5.1%

46.9%

-50.0%

-19.6%

-31.6%

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

20%

40%

60%

Deal Faversham Tonbridge

July 2020 to September/October 2020 Change in Pedestrian 
and Cyclists Counts

Pedestrians

Page 379



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 308 

Chart 4: Percentage change in pedestrians and cyclists (July to September/October) by day of the week

Table 3 shows the change in pedestrian count between July 2020 and September/October 

2020 by town and time of day. This shows that Tonbridge saw the biggest increases in 

pedestrians were in the morning (07:00-10:00) and afternoon (15:00) whilst Faversham saw 

its largest increase in the afternoon/early evening, a small increase in the morning and a 

decrease in the middle of the day. In contrast Deal saw decreases in pedestrians spread 

more evenly over time.  

Table 3: Change in Pedestrian Counts (July 2020 to September/October 2020)  

Town Time 
July 2020 

Pedestrian 
Count 

September 
2020/ 

October 2020 
Pedestrian 

Count 

% 
Change 

Deal 07:00-10:00 15,444 11,357 -26.5% 

Deal 10:00-15:00 82,077 58,044 -29.3% 

Deal 15:00-19:00 33,353 21,542 -35.4% 

Faversham 07:00-10:00 16,994 18,455 8.6% 

Faversham 10:00-15:00 71,176 64,244 -9.7% 

Faversham 15:00-19:00 32,817 44,449 35.4% 

Tonbridge 07:00-10:00 11,683 22,126 89.4% 

Tonbridge 10:00-15:00 33,645 42,386 26.0% 

Tonbridge 15:00-19:00 20,290 31,882 57.1% 

 

Table 4 shows the percentage change in cyclist counts between July 2020 and 

September/October 2020 by town and time of day. This shows that in Deal the percentage 

decrease in cyclist numbers got larger throughout the day whereas Faversham and Deal saw 

large decreases in the middle of the day and smaller decrease in the morning and 

afternoon/evening. 

-31.7% -34.0%

-51.1%

-64.8%

-4.0%

-44.3%

29.4%

7.6%

-21.2%

-32.4%

11.6%

-27.6%

69.3%

-19.4%

20.6%

-51.5%

54.6%

-21.4%

-80%

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

Footfall Cyclists Footfall Cyclists Footfall Cyclists

Thursday Friday Saturday

July 2020 to September/October 2020 % Change in Pedestrian and Cyclist 
Count

Deal Faversham Tonbridge

Page 380



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 309 

 

Table 4: Change in Cyclist Counts by Time of Day (July 2020 to September/October 2020)  

Town Time 

July 
2020 

Cyclist 
Count 

September 
2020/ 

October 2020 
Cyclist Count 

% Change 

Deal 07:00-10:00 4,020 2,397 -40.4% 

Deal 10:00-15:00 11,182 5,694 -49.1% 

Deal 15:00-19:00 6,078 2,548 -58.1% 

Faversham 07:00-10:00 1,767 1,564 -11.5% 

Faversham 10:00-15:00 5,305 3,777 -28.8% 

Faversham 15:00-19:00 3,800 3,403 -10.4% 

Tonbridge 07:00-10:00 1,774 1,297 -26.9% 

Tonbridge 10:00-15:00 3,299 1,999 -39.4% 

Tonbridge 15:00-19:00 2,751 2,054 -25.3% 

 

Chart 5 shows the percentage change in extrapolated pedestrian and cyclist counts across 

three days between the first count in July 2020 and the third count in December 2020. This 

shows that Deal had a significant decrease (26.3%) in the number of pedestrians in 

December compared to July 2020 whereas Faversham had a slight decrease (4.9%) and 

Tonbridge recorded a considerable percentage increase in pedestrian numbers (25%)  

Cyclist counts decreased in all three towns, but Faversham recorded the highest percentage 

decrease (61.6%), whilst Tonbridge recorded the smallest percentage decrease (40.5%).  

Chart 5: Percentage change in pedestrians and cyclists (July 2020 to December 2020) 

 

Chart 6 shows that Tonbridge recorded an increase in pedestrians on each day in December 

2020 compared to July 2020 whereas Deal recorded a decrease in pedestrians on each day 

in December compared to the July baseline. Faversham recorded the largest percentage 

-26.3%

-4.9%

25.0%

-45.4%

-61.6%

-40.5%

-70%

-60%

-50%

-40%

-30%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

Deal Faversham Tonbridge

July 2020 to December 2020 Change in Pedestrian and Cyclists Counts

Pedestrians Cyclists

Page 381



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 310 

decrease in cyclists on Saturday (69.4%) and Thursday (60%) in December 2020 compared 

to July 2020 whereas Deal recorded the largest decrease Friday in December 2020 (49%) 

compared to July 2020. 

Chart 6: Percentage change in pedestrians and cyclists (July 2020 to December 2020) by day of the 

week

 

Table 5 shows the change in pedestrian count between July 2020 and September/October 

2020 by town and time of day. This shows that Tonbridge saw the biggest increases in 

pedestrians in the morning (07:00-10:00) and afternoon (15:00-19:00) whilst Faversham saw 

its largest increase in the afternoon, a small increase in the morning and a decrease in the 

middle of the day. In contrast Deal saw its decrease in pedestrians get larger throughout the 

day.  

Table 5: Change in Pedestrian Counts by Time of Day (July 2020 to December 2020)  

Town Time 
July 2020 

Pedestrian 
Count 

December 2020 
Pedestrian 

Count 

% 
Change 

Deal 07:00-10:00 15,444 15,259 -1.2% 

Deal 10:00-15:00 82,077 58,702 -28.5% 

Deal 15:00-19:00 33,353 22,470 -32.6% 

Faversham 07:00-10:00 16,994 19,576 15.2% 

Faversham 10:00-15:00 71,176 63,590 -10.7% 

Faversham 15:00-19:00 32,817 31,923 -2.7% 

Tonbridge 07:00-10:00 11,683 19,274 65.0% 

Tonbridge 10:00-15:00 33,645 37,607 11.8% 

Tonbridge 15:00-19:00 20,290 25,138 23.9% 

 

Table 6 shows the change in the cyclist count between July 2020 and September/October 

2020 by town and time of day. This shows a similar pattern across all three towns with the 

decrease in cyclists getting larger throughout the day.  

-21.7%

-49.8% -49.0%

-62.7%

-2.1%

-…
-15.7%

-60.0%

-9.4%

-51.2%

5.5%

-69.4%

31.9%

-47.4%

11.1%

-48.6%

35.1%

-18.1%

-80%

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

20%

40%

60%

Footfall Cyclists Footfall Cyclists Footfall Cyclists

Thursday Friday Saturday

July 2020 to December 2020 Change in Pedestrian and Cyclist Counts

Deal Faversham Tonbridge

Page 382



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 311 

Table 6: Change in Cyclist Counts by Time of Day (July 2020 to December 2020)  

Town Time 
July 2020 

Cyclist 
Count 

December 
Cyclist 2020 

Count 
% Change 

Deal 07:00-10:00 4,020 2,644 -34.2% 

Deal 10:00-15:00 11,182 6,847 -38.8% 

Deal 15:00-19:00 6,078 2,137 -64.8% 

Faversham 07:00-10:00 1,767 988 -44.1% 

Faversham 10:00-15:00 5,305 2,047 -61.4% 

Faversham 15:00-19:00 3,800 1,135 -70.1% 

Tonbridge 07:00-10:00 1,774 1,444 -18.6% 

Tonbridge 10:00-15:00 3,299 1,910 -42.1% 

Tonbridge 15:00-19:00 2,751 1,300 -52.7% 

 

Chart 7 shows the percentage change in extrapolated pedestrian and cyclist counts across 

three days between the first count in July 2020 and the fourth count in May/June 2021. This 

shows that Faversham recorded a considerable in pedestrian numbers in May 2021 

compared to July 2020 (18.2%), whilst Tonbridge recorded a slight decrease in pedestrian 

numbers (3.4%) and Deal a considerable decrease (26.3%) 

Chart 7: Percentage change in pedestrians and cyclists (May 2020 to December 2020)  

 

Chart 8 shows that Faversham recorded an increase in pedestrian numbers on each day of 

counting in May 2021 compared to July 2020. The weather over the counting days in May 

2021 was similar to that in July 2020. Tonbridge recorded an increase in pedestrians on 

Thursday and Saturday in June 2021 compared to July 2020 but a decrease on Friday, this 

decrease may be explained by the rain in Deal on the Friday in June 2020.   Deal recorded 

-22.5%

18.2%

3.4%

-26.3%

1.8%

-29.3%

-40%

-30%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

Deal Faversham Tonbridge

July 2020 to May/June 2021 Change in Pedestrian and Cyclists Counts

Pedestrians Cyclists

Page 383



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 312 

a significant decrease in pedestrians (53.4%) and cyclists (68.5%) on the Friday in June 2021 

compared to July 2020, again this will be partly explained by the heavy rain on the Friday in 

June 2021 compared to July 2020.  

Chart 8: Percentage change in pedestrians and cyclists (July 2020 to May/June 2010) by day of the week

 

Table 7 shows the change in pedestrian count between July 2020 and May/June 2021 by 

town and time of day. This shows that Faversham recorded considerable increase in 

pedestrian counts in the morning and late afternoon/early evening. Deal recorded a 

considerable decrease in pedestrians in the middle of the day.  

Table 7: Change in Pedestrian Counts by Time of Day (July 2020 to May/June 2021)  

Town Time 
July 2020 

Pedestrian 
Count 

May/ June 2021 
Pedestrian 

Count 

% 
Change 

Deal 07:00-10:00 15,444 14,688 -4.9% 

Deal 10:00-15:00 82,077 55,382 -32.5% 

Deal 15:00-19:00 33,353 31,414 -5.8% 

Faversham 07:00-10:00 16,994 22,239 30.9% 

Faversham 10:00-15:00 71,176 76,544 7.5% 

Faversham 15:00-19:00 32,817 44,179 34.6% 

Tonbridge 07:00-10:00 11,683 13,505 15.6% 

Tonbridge 10:00-15:00 33,645 33,034 -1.8% 

Tonbridge 15:00-19:00 20,290 21,330 5.1% 

 

Table 7 shows the change in pedestrian count between July 2020 and May/June 2021 by 

town and time of day. This shows that Faversham and Deal saw the biggest decreases in 

cyclists during the middle of the day whereas Tonbridge saw similar decreases throughout 

the day.  

Table 8: Change in Cyclist Counts by Time of Day (July 2020 to May/June 2021)  

-7.8%
-4.0%

-53.4%

-68.5%

3.2%

16.3%

30.6%

22.4%

9.9%

-5.0%

17.2%

-6.1%

9.2%

-18.3%
-23.4%

-67.0%

32.1%

8.7%

-80%

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

20%

40%

Footfall Cyclists Footfall Cyclists Footfall Cyclists

Thursday Friday Saturday

June 2020 to May/June 2021 Change in Pedestrian and Cyclist Counts

Deal Faversham Tonbridge

Page 384



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 313 

Town Time 
July 2020 

Cyclist 
Count 

May 2021/ 
June 2021 

Cyclist Count 
% Change 

Deal 07:00-10:00 4,020 3,307 -17.7% 

Deal 10:00-15:00 11,182 7,164 -35.9% 

Deal 15:00-19:00 6,078 5,222 -14.1% 

Faversham 07:00-10:00 1,767 2,035 15.2% 

Faversham 10:00-15:00 5,305 4,723 -11.0% 

Faversham 15:00-19:00 3,800 4,314 13.5% 

Tonbridge 07:00-10:00 1,774 1,218 -31.3% 

Tonbridge 10:00-15:00 3,299 2,298 -30.3% 

Tonbridge 15:00-19:00 2,751 2,014 -26.8% 

 

 

 

 

Page 385



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 314 

Annexe 1 – Count Sites for Surveys 

Faversham 

 

P
age 386



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 315 

 

Count 

Point 
Location 

 

1 
The Elephant PH 

The Mall 
 

2 Forbes Road crossroad  

3 Station Rd roundabout  

4 
The Bike Warehouse 

32 Preston Street 
 

5 Bank Street/Stone Street junction  

6 
Faversham Community café 

81 Preston Street 
 

7 Gatefield Lane/ Newton Rd  

8 
Cooksditch House 

East Street 
 

9 East Street/Cyprus Road junction  

10 
Dwelling 

110 Whitstable Road 
 

11 
Dwelling 

28 Abbey Street 
 

12 
Dwelling 

19a Court Street 
 

13 
Carlton Lane interiors 

7 Court Street 
 

14 
Collins Florist 

3a Market Street 
 

15 
Sun Inn 

10 West Street 
 

16 
Bridge 

Bridge Road 
 

17 South Road/ Stone Road junction  

18 
Dwelling 

82 South Road 
 

19 
Westbrook Stream 

West Street 
 

20 Morrisons pedestrian entrance West Street  

 

Page 387



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 316 

Tonbridge

 

Page 388



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 317 

 

Count 

Point 
Location 

 

1 
Dwelling 

73 Quarry Hill Road 
 

2 
Oaklands Nursery 

8 Brook Street 
 

3 
Priory Lodge veterinary 

31 Pembury Road 
 

4 
Vaporium 

29a Quarry Hill Road 
 

5 
Station car park entrance 

Barden Road 
 

6 Vale Road mini roundabout  

7 
Jimmy's café 

28 Avebury Avenue 
 

8 
Christ Church 

High Street 
 

9 East Street / High Street junction  

10 
Osmond Davis insurance 

Bordyke 
 

11 
Hilden Bridge 

London Road 
 

12 Dry Hill Park Crescent junction  

13 
Dwelling 

48 Shipbourne Road 
 

14 
Dwelling 

10 Yardley Park Road 
 

15 
Dwelling 

189 Shipbourne Road 
 

16 Thorpe Avenue/ The Ridgeway junction  

17 
Cemetery Gates 

Darenth Avenue 
 

18 Cage Green Road/ Shipbourne Road junction  

19 Trench Road crossroads  

20 
Co-Op Food 

Bishops Oak Ride 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 389



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 318 

Deal 

 

Page 390



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 319 

Count 

Point 
Location 

 

1 
Dwelling 

22 The Beach 
 

2 
Crystal Garden Chinese rest. 

42 Dover Road 
 

3 Telegraph Rd /Hamilton Road T junction  

4 
Top Wok Chinese rest. 

185 Mill Road 
 

5 
Dwelling 

The Strand 
 

6 Corner of Deal Castle Rd/ Prince of Wales Terrace  

7 
Ford showroom 

9 Park Avenue 
 

8 Parkside/ Mill Road T junction  

9 
Poundland 

15 High Street 
 

10 
The Sir Norman Wisdom 

18-20 Queen Street 
 

11 
WHSmith 

49-51 High Street 
 

12 King Street/ Beach Street junction  

13 Middle Deal Road/Albert Road junction  

14 
West Street car park 

West Street 
 

15 
Jenkins & Son fishmongers 

118-120 High Street 
 

16 Griffin Street/ Beach Street junction  

17 Sandown Court/ Golf Rd junction  

18 Cannon Street/ College Road junction  

19 Courtenay Rd/ Golf Rd junction  

20 Harold Rd/ The Marina junction  

Page 391



 

 

    Strategic Commissioning – Analytics, Kent County Council 
    www.kent.gov.uk/research  

 

Page 320 

 

 

 

Page 392



1 
 

Independent 

Evaluation and 

Review of 20mph 

Trials – Faversham 

Summary 

Provided to Kent County Council 

   

Tanya Fosdick 

Dr Craig Smith  

Momina Kamran 

Samuel Scott 

 

Page 393



2 
 

SUMMARY OF FAVERSHAM 20MPH TRIAL 

This report summarises the findings of an independent review and evaluation of two 

experimental traffic orders (ETOs) implemented as two separate town-wide 20 mph 

trials in Kent, with this summary focusing on Faversham specifically. The full report 

sets out the analysis of the trials in Faversham and Tonbridge in detail. 

Speed reduction plays a key role in a number of policy areas, and it is therefore 

important to determine if these trials have been effective in achieving their aims. Speed 

has a direct influence on the likelihood, and severity, of road collisions occurring. 

Nilsson’s ‘Power Model’ “shows that a 1% increase in average speed results in 

approximately a 2% increase in injury crash frequency, a 3% increase in severe crash 

frequency, and a 4% increase in fatal crash frequency” (International Transport Forum, 

2018, p. 5). Therefore, reducing speed by a few miles an hour can greatly reduce the 

likelihood and severity of road collisions. In addition to increasing actual risk, 

inappropriate speeds can influence road users’ perceptions of risk, reducing their 

likelihood to engage in active travel modes, as cyclists and pedestrians are more 

vulnerable in the event of a collision.  

Kent’s Vision Zero Strategy uses a Safe System approach to strive to have no road 

fatalities or life changing injuries on its roads by 2050. Furthermore, it seeks to 

encourage walking and cycling as the safe and easy choice. A fundamental element 

of the international best practice of the Safe System is ‘Safe Speeds’. A 2020 YouGov 

survey of Kent residents found that the perception of safety was a key influence on the 

likelihood to use active travel modes, with 56% feeling that traffic is too fast to cycle 

on the roads. Kent’s road safety strategy emphasises community engagement to 

address concerns and improve safety and quality of life. 

Both Faversham and Tonbridge are developing their Local Walking and Cycling 

Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs). Faversham see 20mph limits as one component of a 

longer-term plan to enable more walking and cycling. 

Achieving speed reductions is therefore a central pillar of these strategies, with this 

report setting out findings from the trials and providing recommendations for future 

actions.  

Both qualitative and quantitative data have been used to understand the impact of the 

introduction of 20mph limits in these two towns. These sources are: 

• Behavioural surveys compromising the outputs of c. 600 face to face surveys 

with questionnaires (1,800 respondents in total) 

• Pre-existing research studies and historic case studies. 

• Consultation evidence received by KCC between 31st July 2020 and 3rd March 

2021 on the experimental traffic orders for both trial areas 

• Road user counts and vehicle speed measurements from automatic traffic 

counters 

• Road user counts and vehicle speed measurements from Vivacity Artificial 

Intelligence sensors 

• In-vehicle telematics data (highways network speed) from Ordnance Survey 

Page 394



3 
 

The town-wide 20mph limits implemented in Faversham were part of plans to increase 

walking and cycling and was delivered in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, 

where rapid solutions were required to encourage social distancing when travelling 

and active travel schemes were being funded and promoted. The scheme relied on 

interventions including road markings, signs, gateways, and awareness campaigns to 

inform road users of the new limit. The previously planned physical interventions in 

support of 20mph were not made. 

Kent County Council completed formal consultations on the trials with residents. 

Online consultations were conducted between July 2020 and March 2021, with 

responses from 668 individuals for the Faversham consultation. The outcomes were 

favourable for Faversham, with 63% of resident respondents in favour of the 20mph 

town-wide limits. 

Compliance with the new speed limit was good in Faversham. In July 2021, five of 

Faversham’s thirteen sites (38%) had average speeds below 20mph, and 10 of 13 

(77%) had average speeds below 24mph (based on traffic count data). There was a 

4.1% reduction in average speed (0.9mph). 

Figure 1 - Average speeds in Faversham (April 2020 - March 2021) 

 

Figure 1 shows telematic data for the whole of Faversham, with the majority of roads 

achieving average speeds of less than 16mph. Most roads in Faversham saw 

Page 395



4 
 

reductions of up to 5mph. It should be noted that telematics data tends to show lower 

speeds as it is measured over a stretch of road, rather than an individual location. 

Furthermore, it is an average over a year, rather than a week. Both data sources show 

generally low speeds in Faversham.  

Generally, attitudes towards 20mph limits and their impact were positive amongst 

Faversham respondents to the consultation. Support was high in Faversham and 

agreement with the appropriateness of speed limits increased post-implementation. 

Faversham residents’ reasons for implementing 20mph limits were that they 

‘increased safety’, ‘slow down traffic’ and are ‘better/safer for pedestrians.’  

Where there were concerns about 20mph limits, they were that a ‘blanket imposition 

is not welcome’, ‘30mph is adequate’ and ‘drivers ignore 20mph limits.’ This last 

concern was reinforced by a 5% reduction post-implementation in agreement that 

‘most drivers obey speed limits.’ Generally, negativity around driving and 20mph limits 

in Faversham did not increase post-trial, with no change in agreement that 20mph 

limits are ignored and a substantial decrease in agreement that 20mph limits make 

journey times irritating. There was an increase that 20mph limits are frustrating for 

drivers, though. However, agreement that it is acceptable to always drive to the set 

speed limit of an area increased, showing the large majority of respondents believe it 

is acceptable to comply with speed limits. In Faversham, three-quarters of 

respondents, pre and post, agreed that 20mph limits make it more acceptable to drive 

at lower speeds. 

These positive attitudes towards walking and cycling were reinforced by reported and 

observed behaviour. Over 10% of respondents said that their levels of walking and 

cycling had increased after the 20mph limits were installed and over 20% felt that there 

was more walking and cycling occurring in their area. There were also increases in 

pedestrian counts in the town. 

Faversham has a history of a ‘20’s Plenty’ campaign, which has laid the foundation of 

a behavioural shift and support through community involvement and campaign 

messaging in the years prior to implementation. The previous engagement work will 

have influenced the high levels of support and good compliance with the 20mph limits. 

The full report details the individual speed data for each road, allowing Kent County 

Council and Faversham Town Council to review each site and to determine if 

additional measures are required to encourage compliance with 20mph (or if limits 

should return to 30mph). 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
• The 20mph zone will contribute to the strategic road safety and active travel 

objectives set out locally but consideration is required as to how to improve 

acceptability and compliance in specific locations. The speed reductions, 

coupled with small but significant self-reported uptake in active travel modes, 

suggest there is merit in retaining limits where compliance was achieved and 

assessing roads where the average speed is above 24mph. 

• In Faversham, concerns regarding cycling infrastructure need to be addressed 

in ongoing consultation with the community. 

Page 396



5 
 

• Enforcement remains an important issue for residents post implementation. 

Authorities, in conjunction with the Police, should focus on ‘compliance benefit 

messaging’ as oppose to punititive enforcement.  This shifts the narrative so as 

to generate public support through changing individual mindsets. Addressing 

driver behaviour is key to cultivating safe environments for active travel modes. 

A lack of driver consideration for other roads users is one of the issues where 

the limits reviewed here have not reduced people’s concerns significantly. 

• Shared responsibility is a key imperative within the Safe System philosophy 

adopted within Kent’s Vision Zero Strategy. Communication to work with road 

users and increase that sense of responsibility could be key to increasing 

acceptance of 20mph zones.  

• To keep alignment with the authorities’ wishes for the zones to be self-enforced, 

compliance messaging should be produced which articulates the evidence 

presented here that 20mph (signed only) zones can have a positive effect on 

average speeds and active travel.  

• Longer-term commitment, sustained public engagement, articulated messaging 

through a tailored marketing mix, and the maintenance of intergrated policy 

approaches towards 20mph signed only zones are all more likely to yield 

success moving forward with the schemes in other towns.  These actions are 

thought to have been significant in achieving public support in Faversham. 

Page 397



6 
 

 

 

 

Page 398



Introduction 
Kent County Council as the Highway Authority in Kent manages over a quarter of a million roadside 

drains across the county together with 6200km of pipework, manholes, soakaways, and other assets 

associated with highway drainage. It is the second largest asset group within the highway authority.  

The asset base is increasing every year as part of our highway improvements and as newly adopted 

highways join the network from new developments. 

Highway Drains are designed to: 

• remove surface water run-off from the highway to help keep roads safe and minimise 

problems 

• prevent damage and make roads last longer through effective drainage 

• minimise surface water from the highway affecting properties or land 

Our highway drains are not usually designed to provide drainage for other areas outside of the 

highway boundary, such as for land drainage or privately owned property or developments. 

Planned and Reactive Maintenance 
KCC need take an asset management led approach to maintaining over 0.25 million highway drains 

across the county.  Our current approach is set out below. 

• Yearly inspections and cleansing of roadside drains throughout our key routes that link 

towns and villages. 

• Twice yearly cleansing of roadside drains we have designated as most vulnerable to flooding 

– which are identified using enquiry data from historic reports from the public. 

If a drain is not on the planned programme, it is maintained in response to reports of flooding. 

Reported drains are then risk assessed for highway safety and internal property flooding. 

Other parts of the drainage system owned by the highway authority, such as pipes, soakaways, 

lagoons, and ponds are maintained on a reactive basis if problems are found during the routine drain 

maintenance or identified from flooding reports. Reactive maintenance is usually undertaken within 

28 to 90 days of a report being received, unless it is an emergency. 

Emergency attendances are undertaken as a ‘make safe’ service, particularly those which occur out 

of hours. In these instances, KCC would act within 2 hours. This may involve closing the road 

temporarily, clearing the flood with tankers or assisting the emergency services or partner 

organisations. 

The highway authority does not maintain public foul or surface water sewers, drainage serving 

private property, or land drainage features such as roadside ditches and watercourses. KCC would 

refer these matters to the relevant authority or landowner as appropriate. 

Drainage repairs, improvements, and schemes: 
If any defects within the drainage system are identified during routine maintenance operations, the 

enquiry will be passed to one of our local Drainage Engineers for further assessment. KCC aim to 

undertake these assessments within 28 days of being referred to the engineer. KCC currently have 

one drainage engineer covering the Swale Borough, together with two schemes engineers for larger 

improvement works between them covering the entire county. 

Page 399

Agenda Item 10



Our engineers carry out a variety of investigation and civil engineering works to repair or improve 

our drainage systems. KCC can carry out specialist work such as CCTV investigations in order identify 

defects. This is supported by dedicated contractor resources via our Drainage Framework Contract 

(comprising three civil engineering contractors) to enhance our resources for delivery of drainage 

repair works in addition to those services provided by our term maintenance contractor, Amey. 

If flooding keeps happening in the same place, KCC will investigate how the situation can be 

improved and these sites will be entered onto a forward programme of planned work. Currently our 

countywide highway drainage capital works budget for 21/22 is £4.5m of which £1.5m is allocated to 

drainage improvement schemes across the county.  

The availability of funding is clearly a significant constraint, with many conflicting priorities 

throughout the county. Works are prioritised according to the risk to highway safety and risk to 

internal property flooding first and foremost, as well as consideration of other impacts to the 

highway asset. This may mean larger drainage schemes take several years to come forward or are 

phased according to availability of funding and resources. 

Mitigating Flood Risk to the Public Highway 
We are experiencing intense rainfall events on an increasingly frequent basis in Kent, with recent 

thunderstorms generating a volume and intensity of rain well beyond that of the above design 

capability of highway drainage systems or the receiving network 

As well as prolonged winter rainfall, summer ‘flash flooding’ is becoming an increasingly significant 

risk to the highway authority. When such events occur, run-off often used the highway as a conduit 

to escape to lower ground, either as ‘overland flows’ which following the topography or as 

‘exceedance flows’ where a drainage system was unable to cope.  This could lead to highway 

flooding or property damage in a location that was remote from the original source of the flood 

water. 

The burden on our highway drainage systems can also be exacerbated by many other factors 

including:  

• The age and condition of highway drainage systems. Some systems can be more than 100 

years old and / or be operating beyond their original design life or original designed capacity.  

• Operational issues arising from budget limitations for ongoing routine maintenance. 

• Capacity issues of drainage systems not under the control of the Highway Authority, such as 

public sewers or private ditches and watercourses into which they connect.  

• Structural damage to drainage systems by third parties or site environs (such root damage 

from adjacent trees and hedges) that may go unnoticed until significant rainfall occurs.  

• Poor maintenance of drainage features in land adjacent to the highway which then flows 

onto the highway (including ditches and culverts, as well as urban drainage from buildings, 

hardstanding, parking areas).  

• ‘Urban Creep’ effects such as additional run-off onto highways from the widespread paving 

of front gardens in residential areas. 

• Increases in the peak intensity of rainfall brought about by climate change. 

In our experience, most existing highway drainage systems will cope with up to around 20mm of 

rainfall in a single day without significant impacts or disruption. However, in the ‘flash flooding’ 

events we have seen in Swale throughout July and August 2021 rainfall often exceeds 30 to 40mm in 

depth and clearly was sufficient in intensity and volume to overwhelm drainage systems. 

Page 400



In many instances KCC attend flooding incidents where flood water has already drained on arrival or 

has been caused by minor issues such as leaves or litter on top of gully grates washed down by high 

intensity rainfall. Follow up reactive maintenance is often required after a flood to remove the 

debris washed down from surrounding areas. 

Improving Revenue Funded Asset Maintenance 
It is key to manage our existing assets appropriately to reduce the risk of flooding occurring. In 

addition, it is important to protect our investment in areas where capital funded repairs and 

drainage improvements are carried out. This is likely to require additional future revenue funding 

and smarter use of existing funding.  

The highway drainage team has been exploring better drainage management via the ‘Live Labs’ 

project to seek a more encompassing software platform, dedicated to the complexities of drainage, 

that has the functionality to support our maintenance activities while communicating as much data 

as required to the Pitney Bowes Confirm system (WAMS) already in operation within the authority.  

In addition to the improved customer service experience, our research highlighted several areas 

where the financial opportunity for better management of the drainage network is significant. 

Kaarbontech were identified as the appropriate platform for Kent and their trial includes several 

stages and options as part of an approach to drainage management differently in Kent. Trials were 

initially undertaken in the District of Maidstone and subsequently expanded to other parts of the 

county this year. The broad goals of the project include:  

• Collecting an inventory of drainage assets.  

• Attributing historic information from other council systems to assets.  

• Defining and prioritising zones of interest.  

• Risk profiling maintenance based on prioritised assets.  

• Assessing if and how handhelds devices can play a part in future maintenance.  

• Allowing ongoing data collection to feed into the risk profiling automatically.  

• Incorporate smart gully level sensors in key areas. 

• If the trial is successful invest in the asset management software platform to map all our 

drainage assets to include the final outfalls, this will reduce cost as future investigations will 

not be required as we have the asset plotted, including all CCTV surveys.  

In the Maidstone area alone, it was identified that half of all the drains contained less than 20% 

capacity of silt, and only 4% greater than 71% of silt. This highlights the opportunity for reduction in 

cleansing frequency (i.e. less than annually) for many areas where silt and debris loading are low but 

consequently increasing the frequency of maintenance for other areas that evidence a need for 

more frequent proactive maintenance (i.e. greater than annually). 

The highway authority hopes to move to this smarter and more proactive maintenance regime 

countywide from April 2022. 

Developing our Future Capital investment Programme 
The Highway Authority adopted a new Highways Asset Management Plan covering the period from 

2021.22 to 2025/26 earlier this year. This has been published on KCC’s website via the following link: 

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-

policies/managing-highway-infrastructure  

The plan includes a summary of asset condition, a service level risk assessment which sets out the 

services KCC do and do not provide as well as a forward work programme for the next five years. 

Page 401

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/managing-highway-infrastructure
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/managing-highway-infrastructure


This will also be subject to regular updates. Our team keeps a ‘live’ version of the programme to 

feed into the published updates. 

The current 5 year forward work programme for highways drainage was developed following a GIS 

analysis using data from our own records as well as published data such as surface water flood risk 

mapping. The assessment balances highway impacts, route type and impacts outside of the highway 

such as property flooding. 

Not every site identified will require drainage improvement works to reduce the risk of flooding. 

There may be instances where minor repairs or an enhanced maintenance regime are sufficient. In 

other circumstances there may not be a solution that is viable or within KCC’s control to deliver (e.g. 

where the receiving drainage system is owned by other parties such as Southern Water). 

It should also be noted that future improvements must be cost-beneficial (i.e. is the costs of 

delivering them must be outweighed by the benefits they provide) and any improvements made are 

unlikely to eliminate the risk of surface water flooding - all measures can be overwhelmed by a 

rainfall event of sufficient extremity.  

There is an obvious need to work closely with the various water and utility organisations to develop 

co-operative programmes to align our operational needs to their ongoing asset modernisation and 

water management obligations. Multi agency meetings are currently held between KCC (as both 

Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority), the Environment Agency, Southern Water, and 

other risk management authorities on a quarterly basis. 

Swale Borough Specific Actions 
KCC are carrying out a wide range of work throughout the Swale Borough and across the county. In 

Swale KCC have received over 500 reports of flooding or blocked drains in the last 6 months alone 

due to the well above average rainfall throughout the year so far. 

Reporting flooding issues 
KCC encourage all residents, members, and other parties to report urgent problems with highway 

drainage using our contact centre on 03000 41 81 81 or via the highway fault reporting tool our 

website for less urgent issues. It’s important for issues to be logged formally in this way so that they 

are properly recorded. Enquiries should not be sent to KCC officers directly via email.  

Latest works and investigations into key flooding issues 

A2 Canterbury Road, Snipeshill, Sittingbourne 
This location has been affected by flooding during heavy rainfall events. A large drainage system is 

located within public open space and receives surface water from a Southern Water owned surface 

water sewer providing drainage for housing estate to the south. Separate drainage for the A2 has 

also undergone maintenance work which helps to limit flooding of the public highway.  

A full assessment of the existing drainage has been carried out by colleagues in KCC’s Flood and 

Water Management Team, as Lead Local Flood Authority in Kent. Working in consultation with Swale 

Borough Council as the landowner, proposals have been designed to reduce the flood risk to the 

area and incorporate sustainable drainage and public open space improvements. An evidence base 

for an application for a capital investment grant from central government via the Environment 

Agency’s Flood Defence Grant in Aid has also been produced to support delivery of the scheme. 

Page 402



If successful, this funding will support the council’s contributions to the scheme and allow delivery to 

be progressed. It is not currently known whether this funding application will be successful or a 

timeframe in which funding will be awarded. 

Lansdown Road, Woodberry Drive and Coombe Drive, Sittingbourne 
This location has been subject to flooding of the highway and property in May 2018 and August 2020 

during exceptionally high rainfall. To reduce the flooding risk to property in the future, KCC 

commissioned a review of options for mitigation, completed February 2021. The review highlighted 

significant increase in the amount of surface water run-off contributing to the highway drainage due 

to widespread paving of front gardens for driveways. This increases flood risk to the area. 

Detailed designs have been completed for the highest risk area at Lansdown Road and works are 

underway for the first phase of highway drainage improvements, expected to complete by 2nd 

December 2021. Additional works are to follow within Lansdown Road near Woodberry Drive to 

reduce flooding risk further. KCC hope to complete this within the current financial year. This will in 

turn benefit Coombe Drive, the low point of which was impacted by flood water from Lansdown 

Road in those severe weather events. Drainage improvements for other parts of the estate are to 

follow in the future. 

School Lane and Ashtead Drive, Bapchild 
Flooding has occurred in this location on a regular basis, with the lowest point at the end of Ashtead 

Drive flooding across its full width. This makes property access difficult and affects the curtilage of 

two residential properties in severe circumstances. Flood water originates from surrounding fields 

and highway, flowing along School Lane and in turn overwhelming the existing soakaways.  

The design of an additional soakaway at the junction with Ashtead Drive has been completed and 

construction is expected to be complete by mid December 2021. 

The Street, Lynsted 
Flooding of the highway and adjacent property occurred near the junction with The Vallance in May 

2018. Less severe flooding has also been reported since that time. Surveys were conducted and 

identified the existing drainage system appeared to have been damaged by 3rd party utility works. 

A scheme was developed to repair the damage. At the same time, additional drains were 

incorporated into the highway drainage system making it is less vulnerable to blockage from debris 

from the adjacent roads whilst providing better silt controls as well as being easier to maintain in the 

future. This work was completed in full at the end of September 2021. 

The Street, Doddington 
Investigation into the enlargement of a drainage pond at Old Lenham Road has been undertaken by 

KCC’s Flood and Water Management Team to determine whether this would provide any meaningful 

reduction in flood risk within the village. The assessment indicates limited benefit to enlarging the 

pond however allocation has been made to perform maintenance of the pond (desilting) within the 

forward work programme (note this part of the road lies the Maidstone District). 

Works have also been undertaken near the garage due to an overflowing gully. The pipework along 

the road was jetted due to be completely blocked on 15th September 2021. The crew was able to jet 

through, but some further jetting may be beneficial. This will require a road closure and has been 

allocated to the area engineer to progress.  

Page 403



Tanner Street, Faversham 
Severe flooding occurred at Tanner Street on 1st August 2021 during exceptionally heavy rainfall. 

During this flood, a manhole cover to the public combined sewer overflowed into the road with such 

force that the road pavement around it was severely damaged. 

Flooding has been experienced during other periods of heavy rainfall in prior years, with residents 

also commenting that flooding of sewerage was experienced. This has included instances where 

toilets within properties have overflowed, leading to internal damages. 

The surface water and foul/combined sewers within the road are operated by Southern Water. KCC 

believes highway drains are linked to the surface water sewer, which outfalls into the watercourse. 

Neither the road drains nor surface water sewer are intended to discharge overflowing 

foul/combined sewers, only rainwater from the road and building roofs. 

Residents wish to see a new dedicated pipe constructed to take surface water away to the 

Westbrook Stream. This may be feasible, subject to review of land ownership and constraints such 

as underground services, but it would not resolve the issues surrounding overflowing foul/combined 

sewers – these issues lie solely with the sewerage undertaker. KCC cannot control these matters. 

KCC held a meeting with Southern Water at the location. We have agreed to undertake CCTV surveys 

of the existing highway drainage layout to confirm its connectivity with surface water sewers. The 

information will also be required should alternative highway drainage layouts be viable in principle 

to progress. KCC hope to have these surveys completed before the end of the year. 

Church Road, The Brents, Faversham 
Flooding has been reported at Church Road associated with water backing up through drains during 

very high tides within Faversham Creek. KCC believes highway drains are linked to Southern Water’s 

surface water sewers, which in turn outfall into the creek. Outfalls would usually be fitted with flap 

valves to prevent backflow of water. 

KCC plans to undertake CCTV surveys of highway drains to confirm whether they link to Southern 

Water surface water sewers. If this is the case, Southern Water will need to ensure that outfalls are 

fitted with valves and that these are operating correctly. If any other outfalls are found, KCC will 

undertake the appropriate action. KCC has contacted Southern Water to request any information 

from investigations they have undertaken into this issue. 

Whitstable Road, Faversham 
Flooding has been reported during heavy rainfall in the area between Park Road and Abbey Fields. 

Severe flooding also occurred here on 1st August 2021 at the same time as other floods due to the 

extremely heavy rainfall. Residents have commented that overflowing foul/combined sewers 

operated by Southern Water have contributed to the flooding. 

During our emergency attendances, the flood water has usually receded within 1-2 hours without 

intervention (other than road closures to ensure safety of highway users). The drainage systems 

here include some highway drains which link to Southern Water sewers, and some outside Park Row 

which connect directly to the watercourse behind the school. Any highway drainage linked to sewers 

will not operate at times of sewers running to capacity or overflowing in severe events. This leaves 

the highway drainage outfall taking all the water. A meeting has been held between Southern Water 

and KCC to highlight these issues. 

Page 404



A lot of work has been carried out by KCC to ensure the watercourse behind the school is sufficiently 

clear to convey away water, as well as new ‘Beany Block’ kerb drains to help to convey away water 

to the watercourse. This was completed in November 2020 and appears to have been beneficial in 

reducing flood risk and reducing the likelihood of blockage, but it does not eliminate it. 

KCC has included this location within our forward works programme to investigate what else the 

highway authority can do within its control to reduce the flood risk to the highway and the 

surrounding property. 

Works by Third Parties 
KCC received notification from Helen Whately MP that Southern Water have committed to an 

investment of £2m million at Faversham Wastewater Treatment Works to improve capacity, 

efficiency and reduce the number of CSO (combined sewer overflow) releases into Faversham Creek. 

The letter notes the improvement works are underway and anticipate completion by the end of 

2023. KCC expects there to be some benefit to the issues raised in the Faversham Area because of 

this work 

KCC Capital funded Forward Works Programme 
Overleaf is an extract from the forward works programme for specific actions being undertaken 

within the borough. This list is not exhaustive as the forward works programme does not include 

works being raised in response to routine enquiries or being progressed by the district engineers.  

It should therefore be read in conjunction with the JTB highway works programme which includes 

other pertinent matters currently under investigation. 

Page 405



Swale Borough Highway Drainage Forward Works Programme 

USRN Road Name 
Road 
No. 

Parish Description of Works Extents Identification Years: Project Stage 

39001274 London Road  A2 Bapchild 
Review of any 
outstanding drainage 
issues 

Whole Road WAMS Enquiries 20-22 
Continue to monitor 
for any issues. 

39000735 London Road  A2 Teynham 
Review of any 
outstanding drainage 
issues 

Whole Road WAMS Enquiries 20-22 
Continue to monitor 
for any issues. 

39001772 Warden Road C134 Eastchurch 
Asset Renewal 
Scheme 

Junction with 
Plough Road 

Engineer Identified 20-22 

Delivery - Part-
completed. Further 
works to be 
undertaken. 

39001303 Tonge Corner Road N/A Tonge 

Full survey to be 
undertaken and 
scheme to be 
developed 

Tonge Corner WAMS Enquiries 21-23 
Continue to Monitor – 
Placed on enhanced 
maintenance regime. 

39001007 Queenborough Road A250 Halfway 
Review of any 
outstanding drainage 
issues 

Whole Road 
SWMP and WAMS 
enquiries 

21-23 
Scoping – Surveys 
Required of existing 
drainage 

3900703 Lansdown Road  N/A Sittingbourne 
Drainage 
Improvement Scheme 

Whole Road 
Surface Water 
Flood Events 

21-23 
Delivery – Phase 1 at 
Peel Drive in Progress 

39000315 Coombe Drive  N/A Sittingbourne 
Drainage 
Improvement Scheme 

Whole Road 
Surface Water 
Flood Events 

21-23 
Design – Outline 
assessment 
completed. 

P
age 406



39001429 Woodberry Drive  N/A Sittingbourne 
Drainage 
Improvement Scheme 

Whole Road 
Surface Water 
Flood Events 

21-23 
Design – Outline 
assessment 
completed. 

39000042 Ashtead Drive  N/A Bapchild  
Asset Renewal 
Scheme 

Ashtead Drive 
and School 
Lane 

Surface Water 
Flood Events 

21-23 
Delivery – 
Programmed Late 
November 2021. 

39000210 Canterbury Road  A2 Sittingbourne 
Drainage 
Improvement Scheme 

Snipeshill 
Open Space at 
Greenways 

SWMP & S.19 2018 
Flood Event and 
WAMS enquiries 

21-23 
Design in progress by 
LLFA Team. 

39001105 Selling Road C125 Selling 
Review of any 
outstanding drainage 
issues 

Under Railway 
Bridge. Road 
becomes Fox 
Lane. 

WAMS Enquiries 21-23 

Automatic illuminated 
Flood Signs Ordered. 
Further works 
opportunities to be 
assessed. 

39001404 Whitstable Road B2040 Faversham 
Drainage 
Improvement Scheme 

Outside 
Recreation 
Ground 

Surface Water 
Flood Events 

21-23 Feasibility 

39000429 Elm Grove  N/A Sittingbourne 
Drainage 
Improvement Scheme 

Whole Road 
Surface Water 
Flood Events 

21-23 Feasibility 

39000745 Lower Hartlip Road C94 Hartlip 
Asset Renewal 
Scheme 

Outside 
'Evergreen' 

Engineer Identified 21-23 Feasibility 

39000098 Bexon Lane   Bredgar 
Asset Renewal 
Scheme 

Local to a 
property 
called 
Coppelstones 

Engineer Identified 21-23 Feasibility 

 

P
age 407



T
his page is intentionally left blank



To:              Swale Joint Transportation Board  
 
By:              KCC Highways, Transportation & Waste 
 
Date:    6th December 2021 
 
Subject:    Highways Forward Works Programme: 2021/22 and 2022/23 
 
Classification:  Information Only  
 

 
Summary: This report updates Members on the identified schemes approved for 
construction 
 

 
1. Introduction  
 
This report provides an update and summarises schemes that have been programmed for 
delivery in 2021/22 and 2022/23. 
 
Kent County Council has recently published a forward works programme for the next five 
years covering planned maintenance of our highway assets. It is in two parts: the first 
concerns the next two years (2021/22 - 2022/23), and most of the sites included have 
already been verified by our engineers. The second part relates to years three to five of our 
five-year programme (2023/24 - 2025/26), and is largely based on data from our asset 
management systems, so may be subject to more changes as the schemes are verified. 
 
This programme is subject to regular review and may change for a number of reasons 
including budget allocation, contract rate changes, and to reflect our changing priorities. The 
programme and extent of individual sites within the programme may also be revised 
following engineering assessment during the design phase, and additional sites may be 
added or others advanced if their condition deteriorates rapidly so that we need to react in 
order to keep the highway in a safe and serviceable condition. 
 
Further information about how we manage our highway infrastructure, including our county-
wide five-year forward works programme, may be found on our website: 
 https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-
policies/managing-highway-infrastructure 
 
In addition to planned maintenance of our highway assets, this report includes transportation 
and safety schemes, developer funded works, Combined Members Grant schemes, and 
planned maintenance of public rights of way. 
 
Road, Footway & Cycleway Renewal and Preservation Schemes – see Appendix A 
  
Drainage Repairs & Improvements – see Appendix B 
 
Street Lighting – see Appendix C 
 
Transportation and Safety Schemes – see Appendix D 

• Casualty Reduction Measures 

• Externally funded schemes 
 

Developer Funded Works – see Appendix E 

Page 409

Agenda Item 11

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/managing-highway-infrastructure
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/managing-highway-infrastructure


 
Bridge Works – see Appendix F 
 
Traffic Systems – see Appendix G 
 
Combined Members Grant – Member Highway Fund – see Appendix H 
 
Public Rights of Way – see Appendix I 
 
 
Conclusion  
 
1. This report is for Members’ information. 
 
Contact Officers: 
 
The following contact officers can be contacted on 03000 418181 
  
Pauline Harmer    Highway Manager Mid Kent 
Alan Blackburn   Swale District Manager 
Alan Casson                      Strategic Asset Manager   
Earl Bourner        Drainage Asset Manager 
Neill Coppin    Structures Operations Team Leader 
Sue Kinsella    Street Light Asset Manager 
Toby Butler    Traffic & Network Solutions Asset Manager 
Jamie Hare    Development Agreements Manager 
Jamie Watson    Schemes Programme Manager 
  

Page 410



Appendix A – Road, Footway and Cycleway Renewal and Preservation Scheme 
 
The delivery of these schemes is weather dependent; should it prove not possible to carry out 
these works on the planned dates, new dates will be arranged and the residents will be informed 
by a letter drop to their homes. 

 

 
Machine Resurfacing – Contact Officer Byron Lovell 

 
 

Road Name Parish Extent of Works Current Status 

A2 Boyces Hill Sittingbourne 
Eden Meadow to 

Keycol Farm House 
Completed 

B2005 Grovehurst 
Interchange 

Kemsley Bridge over A249 To be confirmed 

Canterbury Road (Boughton 
Hill) 

Boughton-under-Blean 
Stabilisation Works 
East of Staplestreet 

Road 

Investigation and 
design works 

being carried out. 
Construction 

works to begin 
early 2022 

  
Footway Improvement - Contact Officer Neil Tree 
  

Road Name Parish 
Extent and 

Description of Works 
Current Status 

 
 
 
 

Leysdown Road  

 
 
 
 

Leysdown 

 
Footway 

Reconstruction 
From the junction with 
Warden Bay Road to 
approx. o/s the exit of 
the bus layby (North 

side).  
 

 
Completed. 

 

 
 
 

Queensway and Coats 
Avenue (Phase 2) 

 
 
 
 

Sheerness 

 
Footway 

Reconstruction 
Entire extent of Coats 

Avenue and the 
remaining sections of 

Queensway not 
completed in Phase 1 

 

 
Programmed to 
commence on 
the 3rd January 

2022. 
 

 
 
 

Bramley Ave 

 
 
 

Faversham 

 
Footway Protection 

Treatment 
Including Worcester 
Close, Laxton Way, 

Russet Avenue, 

 
Completed. 

 

Page 411



Blenheim Avenue.  

 
 

Noreen Avenue 

 
 

Minster-on-Sea 

 
Footway Protection 

Treatment 
Entire Length 

 

Completed 

 
 

Longridge  

 
 

Sittingbourne 

 
Footway Protection 

Treatment 
Entire Length 

 

Completed 

 
 

Step Style 

 
 

Sittingbourne 

 
Footway Protection 

Treatment 
Entire Length 

 

Completed 

 
 

Penn Close 

 
 

Sittingbourne 

 
Footway Protection 

Treatment 
Entire Length 

 

Completed 

 
 

Fairleas 

 
 

Sittingbourne 

 
Footway Protection 

Treatment 
Entire Length 

 

Completed 

 
 
 

Canterbury Road 

 
 
 

Faversham 

 
Footway Protection 

Treatment 
From the junction of 

Love Lane to Preston 
Avenue 

 

Postponed until 
2022 due to 

A251/A2 road 
works. 

 
Surface Treatments - Contact Officer Jonathan Dean 

Road Name Parish Extent of Works Current Status 

HEAD HILL 
Graveney with 
Goodnestone 

From A2 to Sportsman 
Pub 

Completed 

PARSONAGE STOCKS 
ROAD Throwley 

Bagshill Road to Old 
Badgins Road 

Completed 

HICKMANS GREEN 
(HORSELEES) 

 Boughton Under 
Blean/Dunkirk 

Snake Lane to 
Thunderhill Business 

Park 

Completed 

Page 412



HEARTS DELIGHT ROAD Tunstall 
From Wrens Road to 

Bredgar Road 

Completed 

SCOTTS LANE Painters Forstal 
From Hansletts Lane to 

Eastling Road 

Completed 

CROUCH LANE Selling 
Selling Road to South 

Street 

Completed 

SOUTH STREET Dunkirk 
From Church to Nine 

Ash Lane 

Completed 

BREACH LANE Upchurch 
Landrail Road to Home 

Farm 

Completed 

 
 

Page 413



Appendix B - Drainage 
 

Drainage Repairs & Improvements - Contact Officer Earl Bourner 
  

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status 

A2 
Canterbury 

Road 

Snipeshill, 
Sittingbourne 

Flood and Water Management 
Team and Highways Joint 

assessment of existing drainage 
system at open space by 

Greenways.  

KCC FWM Team 
progressing design with 

Project Centre 
Consultants. 

Blind Mary’s 
Lane / 

Swanton 
Street 

Bredgar 
Improvements to existing gully 

system following previous 
soakaway improvement 

Job being raised for 
February half term. 

Lansdown 
Road & 
Coombe 

Drive 

Sittingbourne 

Consultant commission to review 
flood risk in the Vincent Park 
Estate and produce outline 

measures to increase standard of 
protection against flooding 

Phase 1 around Peel Drive 
commencing 25th October 
2021 for additional drains 
and resurface carriageway 

to restore camber. 

Bull Lane Newington 
Desilting of existing drainage 

pond 
Job passed to contractor, 

awaiting programming. 

Tonge 
Corner 
Road 

Tonge 
Additional drainage improvement 
to reduce surface water flood risk 

to property 

Site to be added to hotspot 
cleansing. Further 

drainage improvement to 
be reviewed.  

Ashtead 
Drive 

Bapchild 

Cleaning and testing of existing 
soakaways completed. Drainage 
improvement likely to be required 

due to ongoing flooding issues 

Job passed to contractor. 
Programmed 9th December 

2021. 

Lower Road 
Brambledown, 
Minster-on-sea 

CCTV survey of highway 
drainage due to ongoing flooding 

issues west of farm shop. 
Flooding to east outside FCC 

Environment already resolved. 

Survey works identified 
further pipe repairs 

required in the vicinity of 
the farm shop, works to be 

programmed. 

Warden 
Road 

Eastchurch 

Site inspected due to ongoing 
flooding issues. Majority of 

flooding being caused by field 
run-off. CCTV survey of highway 

assets has been carried out. 

Works partially complete 
due to buried services 

taking additional time to 
work around. To be 
revisited to complete 

following review to work 
around the services. 

Sheerstone Iwade 

Improvement to highway 
drainage to discharge 

downstream of culvert rather than 
upstream side 

Works Completed. 

London 
Road 

Tonge 
Excavation and cleansing of 
large soakaway to alleviate 

carriageway flooding 

Additional cleansing 
required – requires 

reprogramming. 

Page 414



South 
Street 

Boughton under 
Blean 

Joint working with HOps to repair 
carriageway edge and resolve 

drainage issues affecting 
property. 

Works complete. 

Otterden 
Road 

Eastling 
Drainage improvement works to 
reduce flooding of carriageway 

near Eastling Centre 

New soakaway liner 
installation complete. 

Siphon head to be fitted, 
works to be re 

programmed due to soft 
ground. 

Tunstall 
Road 

Tunstall 

Replacement of pond liner and 
soakaway gravel pack under 

pond due to damage / wear of 
liner. 

Job being raised by 
engineer. 

Faversham 
Road 

Newnham 

Survey of highway drains due to 
flooding issues in area 

*Further cleansing of soakaway 
and root cutting required* 

Works Programmed. 

Elm lane Minster on Sea 
Replacement of undersized 

culvert to resolve flooding issues. 
Works complete. 

High Street Eastchurch 

Additional works due to further 
flooding issues. Main sewer 

found to be silted, reported to 
Southern Water. Two additional 
gullies proposed to manage flow 

before it gets to low point. 

Works complete. 

Seed Road Newnham 
Drainage improvement works to 
reduce flooding near Sandhurst 

Farm 

Works planned for 
07/02/2022 

Leysdown 
Road 

Eastchurch 
Clearance of ditch near Burden 
Bros to reduce highway flooding 

Completion due by 
30/11/2021 

The Street Doddington 

Survey of drainage near garage 
where reports received of gully 
overflowing to determine cause 

of issue. 

Works carried out 17th 
August 2021. Pipe jetted. 

 

Page 415



Appendix C – Street Lighting 
 
Structural testing of KCC owned street lights has identified the following as requiring 
replacement. A status of complete identifies that the column replacement has been carried out. 
Programme dates are identified for those still requiring replacement.  

 

 
Street Lighting Column Replacement – Contact Officer Sue Kinsella 
 

Road Name Parish Description of Works Status 

Warden Bay 
Road 

Leysdown 
Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Swale Way Sittingbourne 
Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Canterbury Road 
Sittingbourne 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Conduit Road Sittingbourne 
Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

London Road 
Sittingbourne 

Replacement of 8 no street 
lights complete with LED 

Lanterns 

COMPLETE 

Lower Road 
Sheerness 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Strode Crescent 
Sheerness 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Staplestreet 
Road 

Boughton Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Church Road 
Sittingbourne 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Saffron Way 
Sittingbourne 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

COMPLETE 

West Lane 
Sittingbourne Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Thanet Way 
Hernhill Replacement of 2 no street 

lights complete with LED 
Lanterns 

COMPLETE 

Upperfield Road 
Sittingbourne Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Withred Road 
Bapchild 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Page 416



Wreight Court 
Faversham 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Kent Avenue  
Minster 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

COMPLETE 

Tanner Street 
Faversham 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Diamond Court Sheerness 
Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Marine Parade Sheerness 
Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Halfway Road 
Minster 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

New Road Minster 
Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

East Street 
Sittingbourne 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Edward Vinson 
Drive 

Faversham 
Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Barge Way 
Sittingbourne 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

Leysdown Road 
Leysdown 

Replacement of 1 no street 
light complete with LED 

Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

                         
Leicester 
Gardens 

 

Warden 
Replacement of 1 no street 

light complete with LED 
Lantern 

Works awaiting 
programming 

by the end of February 2022 

 

Page 417



Appendix D – Transportation and Safety Schemes 
 
Casualty Reduction Measures 

 
The Schemes Planning & Delivery team is implementing schemes within Swale Borough, in 
order to meet Kent County Council’s strategic targets (for example, addressing traffic congestion 
or improving road safety).  Casualty reduction measures have been identified to address a 
known history of personal injury crashes. Current status correct as of 18/11/21. 

 
 

CASUALTY REDUCTION MEASURES 
Identified to address a known history of personal injury crashes 
 

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status 

A2 London 
Road JW 
Faversham 
Road 

Norton, 
Buckland and 

Stone 

Vegetation 
Clearance, High 
friction surfacing and 
signage 

Scheme has been handed 
over to our contractors for 
delivery 

Lower Road JW 
Queenborough 
Road 

Queenborough  
Road markings and 
signage removal 

Scheme has been partially 
completed (Road markings). 

Lower Road JW 
Scocles Road 

Minster on Sea  

Road Markings, 
signage installation 
and vegetation 
clearance  

Scheme has been handed 
over to our contractors for 
delivery 

High Street JW 
Bull Lane 

Newington 
Speed reduction, 
implementation of 1 
way 

Scheme has been handed 
over to our contractors for 
delivery 

Dover Street JW 
West Street 

Sittingbourne Road marking refresh 
Scheme has been handed 
over to our contractors for 
delivery 

Queenborough 
Road JW 
Belmont Road 

Minster on Sea  
Road Markings and 
additional warning 
signs  

Scheme has been handed 
over to our contractors for 
delivery 

 
 

 

INTEGRATED TRANSPORT SCHEMES 
Local Transport Plan funded non-casualty reduction schemes 
 

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status 

Tonge Road, 
Murston 

Sittingbourne 
Traffic calming 
scheme 

Detailed design stage 

Dark Hill/ 
Stonebridge 
Pond 

Faversham 
Footway widening, 
crossing 
improvements 

Detailed design stage 

Staplehurst 
Road 

Sittingbourne 
Continuous footway 
remedial works 

 
Completed 
 

Page 418



 
 

 

SMALL WORKS SCHEMES 
Local Transport Plan funded non-casualty reduction schemes 
 

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status 

High 
Street/Lower 
Hartlip Road 

Hartlip 
20mph/40mph 
scheme 

Completed 

 
 

Page 419



Appendix E – Developer Funded Works 
 

 
      Key:  
 
 

 
  
 
 

 
Developer Funded Works (Section 278 Works) 

 

File Ref. Road Name Parish 
Description of 

Works 
Current Status 

SW/2047 
School Lane, 

Iwade 
Iwade 

Provision of New 
Junction /Access 

for Housing 
Development 

Remedial works complete. 
Final adoption certification 
issued. Adopted 8 November 
2021 

SW003014 
Frognal Lane, 

Teynham 
Teynham 

New footway and 
access to housing 
development on 

Frognal Lane 

Letter of Agreement in place. 
Works completed. Remedial 
works required. Date for 
remedials TBC by developer 

SW/003025 
Sheppey Way, 

Iwade 
Iwade 

Provision of New 
Junction/Access 

for Housing 
Development 

Remedial/maintenance works 
required by developer to 
progress Cert 1 

SW/003027 
Tunstall Road, 

Tunstall 
Tunstall 

New School 
access Traffic 

calming changes 
and footway 
Connection 

Works Completed Serving 
Maintenance Period – Lighting 
remedial works. Awaiting 
confirmation from Developer 
that these have been 
completed. 

SW/003032 

Old Water 
Works Site, 
Rook Lane, 

Keycol, 
Bobbing 

Bobbing 

Provision of 
Revised Footway 

and Access to 
Housing 

Development 

Agreement in place. 
Outstanding remedial works 
required. H&S File, As-Built 
Drawings and RSA Stage 3 
req’d. 

SW/003033 

Grove Ave/The 
Promenade,  
Leysdown on 

Sea 

Leysdown 
Revision of 

Surface Water 
Drainage 

Final adoption certification 
issued. Adopted 3 November 
2021 CHASE UP DEVELOPER 
BACS DETAILS 

SW/003035 

109-111 
Staplehurst 

Road, 
Sittingbourne 

Sittingbourne 

Provision of 
revised traffic 
calming and 

vehicle access for 
Housing 

developments 

Scheme being progressed by 
Default S38 & S278 Agreement 
Specialists. Agreements & 
Structures awaiting update 
regarding retaining wall 
construction details (not as per 
agreed design). Developer to 
demonstrate built to adoptable 
standards. 

SW/003040 
Otterham Quay 

Lane, 
Upchurch 

Upchurch 
Provision of Right 

Turn Lane / 
Junction and 

Remedial and completion 
works still required. Awaiting 
confirmation of date for these.  

 Technical Vetting Underway 

 Significant Works Outstanding 

 Maintenance Period 

 Minor Works Outstanding 

 Site Adopted Recently 

 S278 Agreement Not Progressed 

Page 420



Footway for 
Housing 

Development 

SW/003041 
Larkrise, 

Conyer Road, 
Conyer 

Teynham 

Provision of 
footway to Small 

Housing 
Development 

Works Completed. Serving 
Maintenance Period. 

SW/003043 
34-40 

Rushenden 
Road 

Queenborough 
Reconstruction of 
existing lay-by as 

new Footway 

Confirmation of final remedial 
items having been actioned 
required from developer. 
RSA3/H&S File/As-Built 
Drawings required following 
completion of remedials. 
CHASE DEVELOPER 

SW/003046 
Power Station 
Road, Halfway, 

Sheppey 

Minster-on- 
Sea 

Provision of 
Private Housing 

development 
Junction and 

Traffic Calming 

Still awaiting Road Safety Audit 
Stage 3 to be carried out 
(owing to impact of Covid-19 
pandemic). Minor completion 
works required prior to 
Certificate 1.  

SW/003047 
The Old Dairy, 

Halfway 
Sheppey 

Provision of New 
entrance to 

Private Housing 
Site 

Final adoption certification 
issued. Adopted 9 November 

2021 

SW003048 

Parsonage 
House, School 

Lane, 
Newington 

Newington 

Provision of New 
Access to 

Housing site and 
Traffic Calmed 

footway crossing 

Further remedial works 
following RSA3 Report to be 
carried out. Awaiting 
confirmation of date for works 
from Developer. Material 
Testing Results, H&S file and 
As-Built Drawings req’d to 
progress Certificate 1. 

SW/003049 
Sunny View, 

Scocles Road, 
Minster 

Minster-on- 
Sea 

Provision of 
entrance to 

Private Housing 
Site 

Certificate 1 issued. Serving 
Maintenance Period. 

SW/003051 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne 
SECTION 3 
Milton Rd, St 
Michaels Rd - 
Town Centre 

Highway 
Revisions 

Sittingbourne 

Provision of 
Revised Highway 
Layouts For New 
Cinema -M/S Car 

Park- 

Minor remedial items carried 
out. Awaiting sign-off from 
Street Lighting & Soft 
Landscaping Teams prior to 
Certificate 2. 

SW/003053 
Barge Way, 

Kemsley 
Sittingbourne 

Provision of 
Revised Access 

Arm from Existing 
Roundabout 

End of Maintenance Inspection 
carried out. Minor remedial 
works to be carried out prior to 
Certificate 2. 

SW/003057 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne 
SECTION 6 

Eurolink Way 
Retail Access -
Town Centre 

Sittingbourne 

Provision of 
Revised Highway 
Access for Retail 

Park 

Minor remedial items 
completed satisfactorily. Final 
adoption certification issued. 
Adopted 15 November 2021. 

Page 421



Highway 
Revisions 

SW/003058 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne 
SECTION 6 

Milton Road - 
Town Centre 

Highway 
Revisions 

Sittingbourne 

Provision of 
Pelican Crossing 

Upgrade for 
Existing Zebra 

Crossing 

Minor remedial items 
completed satisfactorily. Final 
adoption certification issued. 
Adopted 15 November 2021. 

SW/003067 
Old Brickworks, 
Western Link, 
Faversham 

Faversham 

Provision of New 
Roundabout 
Access for 
Housing 

Development 

Signed Agreement in place. 
Works underway. 

 
 

SW/003068 
 
 
 

CRL, 
Canterbury 

Road, 
Sittingbourne 

Sittingbourne 

Revision of 
existing footways 

to proposed 
Retirement Home 

frontage 

Outstanding remedial works 
completed by developer. KCC 

site inspection due w/c 15 
November 2021. H&S File & 
As-Built Drawings required 

prior to Certificate 1.  

SW/003069 

Rushenden 
Road, 

Queenborough, 
Sheppey 

Queenborough 

Provision of New 
Access for 
Housing 

Development 

Footway remedials and street 
lighting syphers required. RSA 
Stage 3, H&S File & As-Built 
Drawings required prior to 
Certificate 1. 

SW/003071 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne 
SECTION 5 

West St, 
Station St -

Town Centre 
Highway 
Revisions 

Sittingbourne 

Provision of 
Revised Highway 
Layouts For New 
Cinema -M/S Car 

Park 

Certificate 1 issued. End of 
Maintenance Inspection carried 
out. Minor remedial items 
carried out. Awaiting Street 
Lighting inspection prior to 
Certificate 2. 

SW/003074 
School Lane, 

Bapchild 
Bapchild 

Provision of 
Vehicle access 

and new footway 
connection for 
small housing 
development 

Final white lining completed 
satisfactorily. S278 Cert 1 
issued 5 August 2021. Serving 
Maintenance Period. 

 
SW/003077 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne 
SECTION 4 

Station St, St 
Michaels Rd -
Town Centre 

Highway 
Revisions 

Sittingbourne 

Provision of 
Revised Highway 
Layouts For New 
Cinema -M/S Car 

Park-Access 
Works 

Certificate 1 issued. End of 
Maintenance Inspection carried 
out. Minor remedial items 
carried out. Awaiting Street 
Lighting and Soft Landscaping 
Team inspections prior to 
Certificate 2. 

SW/003081 
Ham Road, 
Oare Road, 
Faversham 

Faversham 

Provision of 
Access Road to 

new Housing 
Development and 
Revision of Ham 

Road from 

S278 Certificate 1 issued – 
Serving Maintenance Period. 

Page 422



Junction 

SW/003082 
Brogdale Road, 

Ospringe 
Ospringe 

Provision of 
Access Road to 

new Housing 
Development 

Agreement in place. Works 
underway. 

SW/003085 
Brogdale Road, 

Ospringe 
Faversham 

Provision of 
temporary 

construction 
access for 
housing 

development 

Agreement in place. Works 
underway. 

SW/003087 

A251 Ashford 
Rd & A2 

London Rd, 
Faversham 

Faversham 

Provision of 
Roundabout 

access to 
Housing 

Development 

Cert 1 issued – Serving 
Maintenance Period. 
Outstanding street lighting 
remedial works to be 
completed by developer to 
enable Street Lighting Team 
inspection. 

SW/003088 

Leysdown 
Road, 

Eastchurch, 
Sheppey 

Eastchurch 
Provision of 

revised access for 
Wind Farm 

End of Maintenance Inspection 
carried out. H&S File, As-Built 
Drawings req’d prior to issue of 
Cert 1. 

SW/003090 
Minster Road, 

Minster, 
Sheppey 

Minster-on- 
Sea 

Provision of 
Access for new 
small Housing 
Development 

Letter of Agreement in place. 
Works underway. 

SW/003091 
Eurolink Way, 
Milton Road, 
Sittingbourne 

Sittingbourne 
Footway Access 

to Retail 
Development 

Certificate 1 issued. End of 
Maintenance Inspection carried 
out. Minor remedial items 
carried out. Awaiting Street 
Lighting and Soft Landscaping 
Team inspections prior to 
Certificate 2. 

SW/003092 
Castle Road, 
Sittingbourne 

Sittingbourne 
New Access and 

footway to 
Industrial Units 

Letter of Agreement in place. 
Significant remedial works 
agreed to be carried out. Date 
for remedials TBC by 
developer. 

SW/003094 

Nova, 
Graveney 

Road, 
Faversham 

Faversham 

Provision of 
Private Housing 

development 
Junction and 
Pedestrian 
Crossing 

Agreement in place for 
temporary access. Full S38 
Agreement now in place for 
internal roads. Works 
underway.   

 

SW/003101 
Lower Road, 

Teynham 
Teynham 

Provision of 
Footway for small 

Housing 
Development 

Technical approval given. 
Agreement not progressed by 
developer.  

Page 423



SW/003103 
Oak Lane, 
Upchurch 

Upchurch 

Traffic 
Calming/Footway 
Access to Small 

Housing 
Development 

Design Technical Submission 
to be Re-Submitted by the 
developer’s consultant. KCC 
still awaiting. Technical 
Acceptance not yet issued. 

SW/003104 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne 
Section 1 – 
 St Michaels 

Road 

Sittingbourne 

Traffic Calming 
and access to 
new Housing 
development 

Certificate 1 issued. End of 
Maintenance Inspection carried 
out. Minor remedial items 
carried out. Awaiting Street 
Lighting and Soft Landscaping 
Team inspections prior to 
Certificate 2. 

SW/003105 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne 
Section 2 – 
 St Michaels 
Road/Dover 

Street/Fountain 
St 

Sittingbourne 

Traffic Calming 
and access to 
new Housing 
development 

Certificate 1 issued. End of 
Maintenance Inspection carried 
out. Minor remedial items 
carried out. Awaiting Street 
Lighting and Soft Landscaping 
Team inspections prior to 
Certificate 2. 

SW/003108 
Chequers 

Road, Minster, 
Sheppey 

Minster-on- 
Sea 

Frontage Footway 
and Access for 
Small Housing 
development 

Letter of Agreement in place for 
construction access. Works 
partially complete. Awaiting 
service connections prior to 
wearing course. As-Builts/H&S 
File/RSA 3 required prior to 
Certificate 1. 

SW/003109 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne – 
Street Lighting 

Michaels 
Road/Dover 

Street/Fountain 
St Milton Road 

Sittingbourne 

Street Lighting 
Submission for 
Overall Sprit of 
Sittingbourne 

Schemes 

Certificate 1 issued. End of 
Maintenance Inspection carried 
out. Minor remedial items 
carried out. Awaiting Street 
Lighting Team inspection prior 
to Certificate 2. 

SW/003110 

Spirit of 
Sittingbourne – 
Retaining Wall 

Fountain St 

Sittingbourne 
Fountain Street 

turning Area 
Retaining Wall 

S278 Certificate 1 issued – 
Serving Maintenance Period.  

SW/003115 
Regis House, 
New Road, 
Sheerness 

Sheerness 

New vehicle 
access and 
footway to 
industrial 

development 

Agreement not yet in place. 
Awaiting confirmation of 
developer details to finalise 
Agreement.  

SW/003117 
North Street, 
Milton Regis 

Sittingbourne 

Permanent 
School Drop-off 

facility and Zebra 
crossing 

Default proceedings taken by 
Agreements. Awaiting date for 
outstanding remedial works. 
As-Built Drawings, H&S File, 
RSA Stage 3 all still required 
prior to Certificate 1.  

SW/003118 
Grovehurst 

Road, 
Sittingbourne 

Sittingbourne 

Provision of 
Access for new 
small Housing 
Development 

End of Maintenance Inspection 
carried out. Minor remedial 
works agreed with developer. 
Awaiting confirmation from 
developer that these have been 
carried out. 

Page 424



SW/003119 

Station Street, 
Delivery Road 

Access, 
Sittingbourne 

Sittingbourne 

Footway 
alongside of 
delivery road 

through to High 
Street 

End of Maintenance Inspection 
carried out. Minor remedial 
works agreed with developer. 
Awaiting confirmation from 
developer that these have been 
carried out. 

SW/003141 
Stones Farm, 
Canterbury 

Road, Bapchild 
Bapchild 

Traffic Signal 
Junction and 

Access for Private 
Housing 

Development 

Agreement in place. Remedial 
works outstanding following 
RSA3 – to be completed 
satisfactorily by developer prior 
to issue of Cert 1. 

SW/003191 
Admirals Walk, 

Halfway, 
Sheppey 

Halfway 

Highway 
Drainage and 

Access works for 
new Housing 
Development 

Initial Design Submission 
received. Tech Acceptance not 
granted. Agreement not 
progressed. 

SW/003196 

Church Road, 
Sittingbourne 
Golf Centre - 

Material 
Movements 

Sittingbourne 

Addition of 
passing places on 

Lomas Road, 
Church Road for 

Golf Centre 
Material 

Movements 

S278 Certificate 1 issued. End 
of Maintenance Inspection 
undertaken. Minor remedial 
works required prior to issue of 
Certificate 2. Awaiting 
confirmation from developer 
remedial works have been 
carried out. 

SW/003199 

Swale Way, 
Great Easthall, 
Sittingbourne – 

 Toucan 

Sittingbourne 

Provision of a 
Toucan Crossing 
for the Eurolink 5 
Industrial Estate 

development 

Technical Vetting underway. 

SW/003205 
Wellesley 

Road, 
Sheerness 

Sheppey 

Existing footway 
modifications 

created by new 
terraced housing 
to street frontage.  

Awaiting outstanding items 
from developer prior to Cert 1. 

SW/003260 
Leaveland 

Corner, 
Faversham 

Leaveland 

Minor road 
widening and 

access for small 
housing 

development 

Certificate 1 issued. Serving 
Maintenance Period. 

SW/003266 
Station Road, 

Teynham 
Teynham 

New bellmouth on 
to station road, 
footway works, 

new lining and a 
build out. 

Agreement in place. Works 
partially complete. Awaiting 
completion of the physical 
works by the developer. RSA 3/ 
As-Builts/H&S File required 
prior to Certificate 1. 

SW/003400 
Lucas Close, 

Queenborough 
Queenborough 

Provision of 
access for private 

housing 
development. 

Final adoption certification 
issued. Adopted 20 August 
2021 

SW/003318 
Cooks Lane, 
Sittingbourne 

Milton Regis 

Access 
arrangements for 

new private 
housing 

development. 

Agreement in place. Works 
complete. Final Footway 
remedial works required prior 
to issue of Certificate 1. 

Page 425



SW/003337 
Chequers 

Road, Minster, 
Sheppey 

Minster-on- 
Sea 

Frontage Footway 
for Small Housing 

development 

 Letter of Agreement in place. 
Works partially complete. 
Awaiting service connections 
prior to wearing course. As-
Builts/H&S File/RSA 3 required 
prior to Certificate 1.  

SW/003416 
The Old 

School, London 
Road, Dunkirk 

Dunkirk 

Bellmouth 
highway works for 

proposed 
Residential 

Development of 
6no. units with 

associated 
parking and 

external works. 

S278 Technical Acceptance 
granted. Estimated Cost of 
Works figure received. S278 
Letter of Agreement issued to 
developer for signing. Awaiting 
receipt of agreement 
fees/signed 
agreement/developer checklist. 

SW/003418 

Lydbrook 
Close, 

Sittingbourne 
(junction with 

London 
Road/A2) 

Sittingbourne 

Footway 
improvement 
works at the 
junction of 

London Road 
(A2) including 

footway 
resurfacing, new 

kerbing, 
pedestrian 

crossing point and 
minor kerb 

realignment on 
the Lydbrook 

Close nearside 
approach to 

London Road. 

Technical Acceptance granted 
(Aug 2021). S278 Letter of 
Agreement issued to developer 
for signing. Awaiting receipt of 
agreement fees/signed 
agreement/developer checklist.  

SW/003314 
Belgrave Road, 
Minster-on-Sea 

Minster-on- 
Sea 

Widening to 
existing Belgrave 

Road prior to 
proposed S38 
highway works 

relating to access 
arrangements to 

new development 
146 no. housing 
development and 

associated 
highway works. 

S278 Technical Acceptance 
granted. S278 Agreement 
issued to developer for signing. 
Awaiting receipt of agreement 
fees/signed agreement from 
developer. 

SW/003315 
Belgrave Road, 
Minster-on-Sea 

Minster-on-
Sea 

Temporary sales 
access 

Letter of Agreement in place. 
Works underway. 

SW/003316 

The Crescent 
Signalling, 

Belgrave Road, 
Minster-on-Sea 

Minster-on-
Sea 

Signalling and 
junction 

improvements 

Technical Acceptance to be 
granted (subject to 
ITS/TRO/Southern Water sign 
offs). Agreement being drafted. 

Page 426



SW/003419 

The Thanet 
Way/Dargate 
Interchange, 

Hernhill, ME13 
9EN 

Hernhill 

Bellmouth and 
frontage footway 
works to facilitate 

proposed 
development of 
34 commercial 

units at The 
Thanet 

Way/Dargate 
Interchange, 
ME13 9EN  

Technical Vetting underway. 
Awaiting revised submission. 

SW/003420 
Aldi, 

Queenborough 
Road, Sheppey 

Queenborough 

Temporary 
Construction 

Access for new 
Aldi Store 

Technical Acceptance granted 
& Letter of Agreement drafting 
underway. Planning Permission 
subsequently quashed by 
Secretary of State – awaiting 
validated permission from LPA 

SW/003422 
Staple Street, 

Hernhill, 
Faversham 

Hernhill 

New bell mouth 
access to 8 

dwellings - road to 
remain private 

Agreement in place. Works 
start date TBC by developer. 

SW/003423 

The Slips, 
Scocles 

Road_Elm 
Lane, Minster-

on-Sea 

Minster-on- 
Sea 

New footways, 
carriageway 

widening, 
gateway feature 

and 2no. 
bellmouth 

accesses on 
Scocles Road to 
facilitate access 

to new 
development of 

62 no. residential 
dwellings. 

Technical Acceptance granted 
– Agreement being drafted. 

SW/003426 
Oare Road, 
Faversham 

Faversham 

New 
footway/cycleway 
link to Oare Road 
- by traffic signals 

Agreement in place. Works 
start date TBC by developer. 

SW/003427 

A2 Canterbury 
Rd J/W Love 

Lane, 
Faversham 

Faversham 
New traffic signal 
controlled junction 

Technical Vetting underway. 
Awaiting revised submission. 

SW/003428 
Whitstable Rd, 
Faversham - 

Zebra 
Faversham 

New zebra 
crossing 

Technical Vetting underway. 
Awaiting revised submission. 

SW/003429 
Love Lane, 

Faversham - 
Zebra 

Faversham 
New zebra 
crossing 

Technical Vetting underway. 
Awaiting revised submission. 

SW/003430 
Love Lane, 

Faversham – 
Bus Stop 

Faversham 
New Bus Stop 

layby 
Technical Vetting underway. 
Awaiting revised submission. 

Page 427



SW/003432 
Scocles Farm, 
Scocles Road, 
Minster-on-Sea 

Minster-on-
Sea 

S278 Bellmouth 
and associated 

footway works to 
facilitate access 

to new 
development. 

Technical Vetting underway.  

SW/003433 

Quinton 
Rd/Sonora 

Way, 
Sittingbourne 

NCP 

2 no. zebra 
crossings and 
roundabout 

improvements 

Technical Acceptance Granted 
for Northern Zebra Crossing. 
Letter of Agreement being 
drafted. NB Southern Zebra 
Crossing to be included in 
separate S278 Agreement at a 
later date with the Staplehurst 
Road roundabout 
improvements. 

SW/003434 
Sheppey Court, 
Halfway Road, 

Sheerness 
NCP 

S278 Bellmouth 
access and 
associated 

footway works to 
facilitate new 

development of 
40no. residential 

units. 

Initial correspondence received 
RE S278 requirements. S278 
not progressed as access 
works can be dealt with under 
Vehicle Crossing Team. 

SW/003435 

ATS Site, 
Crown Quay 

Lane, 
Sittingbourne 

NCP 
New 

Footway/cycleway 
Technical Vetting underway. 
Awaiting revised submission. 

SW/003436 
Chestnut 
Street, 

Sittingbourne 
Borden 

New bellmouth 
access 

Technical Acceptance granted. 
Agreement being drafted. 

SW/003441 

Pond Farm, 
Iwade, 

Sittingbourne – 
S278 Sheppey 

Way and 
Grovehurst Rd 

Iwade 

Road 
improvements on 
Sheppey way and 
Grovehurst Road, 
Sittingbourne, to 
facilitate access 

to new residential 
development at 

Pond Farm in the 
parish of Iwade. 
Sheppey Way 
traffic calming 
improvements 

comprising 
widening of the 
existing refuge 

island and 
associated road 
widening. New 
site access on 

Grovehurst Road 
with associated 
road widening 

Technical Vetting underway.  

Page 428



and existing 
footway/cycleway 
to be extended to 
3m in width and 

continue to 
Grovehurst Rd 

roundabout. 

SW/003442 

Land at 
Southsea 
Avenue, 

Augustine Rd, 
Sexburga 

Drive, Minster-
on-Sea 

Minster-on-
Sea 

S278 highway 
works comprising 

bellmouth 
accesses, 
vehicular 
crossover 

accesses and 
footway works in 
Augustine Road, 
Sexburga Drive 
and Southsea 

Avenue, Minster-
on-Sea, to 
facilitate 

residential 
development 

comprising 72no. 
3- and 4- 
bedroom 

dwellings with 
associated 

garaging, parking 
and infrastructure. 

Technical Vetting underway. 
Awaiting revised submission. 

SW/003446 
London Road, 

Faversham 
Faversham 

Bus Stop 
Amendments on 

A2 

Technical Vetting underway. 
Awaiting revised submission. 

 

Page 429



Appendix F – Bridge Works 
 

Bridge Works – Contact Officer Earl Bourner 

 

Road 

Name 
Parish Description of Works Current Status 

Whitstable 

Road 
Faversham 

Lady Dane Footbridge (KCC 

No.3065) bridge refurbishment 

/ replacement works 

Feasibility / design option 

stage. 

A299 

Thanet 

Way 

Hernehill 
Safety barrier upgrades (lane 

closures - nightwork)  

Site works planned 

December 

Page 430



Appendix G – Traffic Systems 
 
There is a programme of scheduled maintenance to refurbish life expired traffic signal equipment 
across the county based upon age and fault history. The delivery of these schemes is dependent 
upon school terms and holiday periods; local residents, businesses and schools will be informed 
verbally and by a letter drop of the exact dates when known.  

 

Traffic Systems - Contact Officer: Toby Butler 
  

Location Description of Works Current Status 

B2008 Minster Road near Lowfield 
Street, Halfway 

Renewal and upgrade of 
traffic signal controlled 

crossing 
Completed August 2021 

A250 Halfway Road near School Access, 
Halfway 

Upgrade existing crossing 
to near-sided Puffin 

Completed August 2021 

A2 The Street near School Lane, 
Bapchild 

Renewal and upgrade of 
traffic signal controlled 

crossing 
Completed October 2021 

 
 

Page 431



Appendix H - Combined Members Grant programme update  
   
Member Highway Fund programme update for the Swale Borough. 
 
The following schemes are those, which have been approved for funding by both the relevant 
Member and by Simon Jones, Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste. The list only 
includes schemes, which are  

• in design  

• at consultation stage 

• about to be programmed 

• recently completed on site.  
 
The list is up to date as of 18/11/21. 
  
The details given below are for highway projects only.  This report does not detail  

• contributions Members have made to other groups such as parish councils 

• highway studies 

• traffic/ non-motorised user surveys funded by Members.   
 
More information on the schemes listed below can be found by contacting the District Manager 
for the Swale Borough, Alan Blackburn.  
 

[  ] 

Details of Scheme Status 

No works planned  

 

Page 432



Appendix I – Public Rights of Way 
 

 

Public Rights of Way – Contact Officer – Matthew Fox 

Path No Parish Description of Works Current Status 

ZR518 – London 
Road (High 
Wood) 

Dunkirk Bridleway surface to be 
constructed of stone 

Works assigned to 
contractor 

ZSX43 – 
Between Cecil 
Avenue and St 
George’s 
Avenue 

Sheerness Tarmac repairs along the path Works complete 

ZSX62 – End of 
Seager Road 

Sheerness Add tarmac to existing path Works assigned to 
contractor 

ZSX64 – End of 
Wheatsheaf 
Gardens 

Sheerness New tarmac path constructed  Works assigned to 
contractor 

ZU1 Sittingbourne  Initial planning stages- 
seeking contribution 

ZR547 Dunkirk Stone surface through boggy 
section of wood 

Works assigned to 
contractor 

ZR609 Boughton 
under Blean 

Resurface existing tarmac 
approach to N side of A2 bridge 

Works complete 

 

 

Page 433



1.1 Legal Implications 

1.1.1 Not applicable. 

1.2 Financial and Value for Money Considerations 

1.2.1 Not applicable. 

1.3 Risk Assessment 

1.3.1 Not applicable. 

Contacts: Pauline Harmer/ Alan Blackburn 03000 418181 

Page 434



 SBC - Swale Borough Council                                                                                                      Updated November 2021 
KCC - Kent County Council Highway Services                                    
  

SWALE JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD (JTB) 
 

Updates are in italics 
Reported to this meeting 

 

Minute 
No 

 
Subject 

SBC/ 
KCC 

Recommendations Made by Board 
KCC/SBC - 

Comments/date due back to JTB 

1079/12/16
6 

Update on the 20’s 
Plenty for Faversham 
Working Group 

Third-
party 
scheme 

(1) That the JTB supports the 
recommendations put forward by the 
Working Group, and officers submit a 
report to the next JTB meeting on the 
feasibility of the proposals. 
(2) That the officers’ report considers 
how proposals might be rolled-out across 
the Borough. 

December 21 update: 
The December JTB includes an item on the 
consultation and review of the 20mph trial for 
discussion and recommendation. 
Sept 21 update: A feedback report on the 
consultation is due in September but not in time for 
the JTB. Additionally a full report on all data collected 
during the trial will be reported to the next JTB for 
discussion and recommendation. In total 668 surveys 
were completed. The majority of the respondents 
agreed with the idea of a 20mph town-wide scheme 
with seven out of 10 people noting that it will make 
Faversham safer. 63% were in support and 37% 
opposed the new speed limit. Other data being 
collected: pedetrian and cycle counts, attitudinal 
surveys ( face to face), speed suveys and crash 
statistics. It should also be noted that the townwide 
20mph trial is intrinsically linked and supports other 
emerging strategies such as Swale’s Active Travel 
Strategy and Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan (LCWIP). 

493/03/21 (1) A251 Ashford Road 
and A2 Canterbury 
Road, Faversham - 
junction 
improvements 
scheme  

KCC (1) That construction of the scheme be 
recommended. 
(2) That in implementing the scheme 
KCC should continue to work actively with 
the Town Council and the local community 
to:  

December 21 update: 
The scheme was substantially completed on Monday 
15 November with some footway surfacing still to be 
completed and the welfare facilities removed and a 
site clearup. 
Sept 21 update: Phase 1 of the scheme required the 

P
age 435

A
genda Item

 12



 
 

 

Minute 
No 

 
Subject 

SBC/ 
KCC 

Recommendations Made by Board 
KCC/SBC - 

Comments/date due back to JTB 

 a. Further address the constraints on 
cycling and walking around this 
junction and on the A2;  

b. create a better sense of place at the 
junction; and that it should report back 
regularly to the JTB on progress 
against this condition.   

A251 to be closed for a duration of 11 weeks. This 
allowed for the ecology and archaeoligical issues to 
be dealt with along with widening the A251 to provide 
the left turn lane. During the closure other parts of the 
rural network suffered with rat running and so road 
closures were put in place on Plumford Road and 
Porter’s Lane. The second phase allows for A251 to 
be open however temporary 3 way lights would be 
required to manage the traffic whilst all the remaining 
work to build a footway/cycleway, install 
pedestrian/cycle crossing islands known as Toucan 
crossings, service ducts, underground and overhead 
utility diversions and then finally the resurfacing and 
relining of the road will take place under night time 
road closures. The temporary 3 way lights are the 
most efficient temporary system. The permanent 
lights will improve the cycle times as there will be 2 
lane approaches on al arms fo the junction which 
there is not at present. The aim of the project is 
primarily to reduce the queue length on A251 which 
experienced queues onto the M2 slip road. Provision 
of safe crossing facilities for pedestrians and cyclists 
was also a key requirement. Traffic signals provide 
that safe crossing. Roundabouts do not readily allow 
for controlled crossings and although allow freer 
flowing traffic, if every arm has equal traffic volumes, 
do not manage traffic as well as signals. At present 
drivers are experience the construction period which 
was alays going to be a difficult period as far as 
congestion. The programme completion is mid 
November when the night time road closures are 
being planned with Highways England as their 
network is required again for the diversion route.  

P
age 436



 
 

 

Minute 
No 

 
Subject 

SBC/ 
KCC 

Recommendations Made by Board 
KCC/SBC - 

Comments/date due back to JTB 

85/06/21 (2) Results of Informal 
Consultations – 
Faversham & Minster 
Area 

SBC (1) The proposed double yellow lines and 
bus clearways at the entrance to Tin 
Bridge Cottages, Faversham be 
abandoned. 
(2) The proposed double yellow lines on 
the junction of Kings Road and Queens 
Road, Minster be progressed. 
(3) The proposed double yellow lines on 
the junction of Princes Avenue and 
Queens Road, Minster be progressed.  
(4) The proposed double yellow lines on 
the junction of Imperial Avenue and 
Queens Road, Minster be progressed.  
(5) The proposed double yellow lines on 
the junction of Stanley Avenue and 
Queens Road, Minster be abandoned. 

 
(1) – Abandoned – Consultees Advised 
 
(2)(3)(4) – Traffc Regulation Order, Swale 
Amendment 28 2021, drafted – formal consultation 
runs from 27 August 2021 to 17 September – formal 
objections reported to December 2021 JTB 
 
 
 
 
 
(5) Abandoned – Consultees Advised 

99/09/21 
 
 

Informal Consultation 
Results – Extension 
of Residents’ Parking 
Scheme – Edith 
Road, Faversham 

SBC (1) That the results of the recent informal 
consultation be noted and the extension of 
the existing Residents’ Parking Scheme to 
include Edith Road, Faversham be 
progressed. 
 

Scheme layout has been drafted, and consultation 
undertaken with residents. Report on feedback 
submitted to December 2021 JTB Meeting. 

101/09/21 Update from 
Highways England on 
the M2/Juncation 5 
Improvements 

KCC (1) That the presentation be noted. 
 

 

102/09/21 Update on Highway 
Improvements Key 
Street and 
Grovehurst Road, 
Sittingbourne 

KCC (1) That the report be noted. 
 

 

103/09/21 
 

Requests made by SBC/KC (1) That the report be noted.  

P
age 437



 
 

 

Minute 
No 

 
Subject 

SBC/ 
KCC 

Recommendations Made by Board 
KCC/SBC - 

Comments/date due back to JTB 

 
 

councillors and 
members of JTB 

C  

TBC Update on Petition for 
reduced speed limit 
on The Broadway, 
Minster 

Request 
to KCC 

(1) Request for an update from Cllr 
Elliot Jayes 

KCC has not yet formally received the petition 
request. KCC can provide a formal response to this 
petition when it has been submitted to the Kent 
County Councils Democratic Services Department by 
email to petitionldmail@kent.gov.uk. In order for KCC 
to look into this matter further, and provide a 
comprehensive update, the online change.org petition 
will need to be closed and a final download submitted 
of all signatures. KCC officers updated the lead 
petitioner regarding this in June 2021.  
Separately KCC officers met with Minster Parish 
Council in July this year to discuss concerns about 
the speed limit on The Broadway and other matters in 
the village. The parish council are in the process of 
formulating a parish highway improvement plan (HIP) 
to prioritise their highway concerns ready for 
discussion with KCC. 

 

P
age 438



The Swale Schemes Panning & Delivery (Swale SPD) officer has made contact with 
each of the members/parishes who have raised enquiries to the Swale Borough 
Council Democratic Services officer and is in discussion with them regarding the 
issues raised: 
 

• Gully Clearance 

• Funding mechanisms available for Parish wide transportation schemes 

• Lack of consultation by National Highways in their review of the diversion 
arrangements for the A249 junction 5 improvement scheme; 

• Request KCC urgently review the conditions of Road Closures required by 

utilities.   

• Quiet lanes in Minster-on-Sea to be designated quiet lanes with a 20 mph 
speed restriction in Elm Lane, part of Oak Lane and Plough Road; 

• Bollards at the junction of Lynsted Road and Halfway Road;  

• Adding double yellow lines in Thistle Hill, Minster; 

• Lowering the speed limit to 20 mph on most roads in Minster; 

• Imposing speed limits on Scrapage Road, Minster; 

• Quiet Lane status for Elm Lane, Minster; 

• Update on the petition regarding Neptune Terrace beach access; and 

• Update on the petition regarding reducing speed on the Broadway, Minster.  
 
Gully clearance and 20 mph schemes are being covered in KCC reports and 
presentations for the meeting. 
 

Page 439

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
To:   Swale Joint Transportation Board  

By: Andrew Loosemore – Head of Highway Asset 
Management 

Date: 06 December 2021 

Subject:  Local Winter Service Plan 

Classification: Information only 

 

Summary:  This report outlines the arrangements that have been made 
between Kent County Council and Swale Borough Council to provide a 
local winter service in the event of an operational snow alert in the 
borough/district 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1 (1) Kent County Council Highways, Transportation & Waste (KCC 
HTW) takes its winter service responsibilities very seriously and is 
proactive as well as reactive to winter weather conditions.  Winter service 
costs KCC in the region of £3,498,800.m every winter and needs careful 
management to achieve safety for the travelling public and to be efficient. 
The Highways Operations teams in HTW work to ensure that the winter 
service standards and decisions made are consistent across the whole 
county.   

 
1(2) HTW prepares an annual Winter Service policy and plan which are 
used to determine actions that will be taken to manage its winter service 
operations. The policy was presented to the Environment and Transport 
Cabinet Committee on 8th September 2021 and subsequently approved by 
the Cabinet Member.  

 
2. District based winter service plans 

 
2(1) The Local Winter Service Plan for the Swale District is a working 
document which will evolve and be revised as necessary throughout the 
year.  This document complements the KCC Winter Service Policy and 
Plan 2021/22; the Policy is available on the KCC website.   
 
2(2) Following successful work in previous years with district councils, 
arrangements have again been put in place this year whereby labour from 
district councils can be used during snow days. Additionally, HTW will 
supply a quantity of a salt/sand mixture to district councils to use on the 
highway network. The details are contained in the plan which enhances 

Page 441

Agenda Item 14



the work that HTW will continue to do in providing a countywide winter 
service. The local plan comes into effect when a snow emergency is 
declared that affects the district of Swale 

 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-
and-highways-policies/winter-service-policy 
 

3. Pavement clearance 
 

3 (3) Areas for clearing pavements have been identified in the local plan. 
These are the areas where local knowledge has indicated that people are 
concerned and would most like to be kept clear when there is snow and 
ice.  

 
4. Farmers  

 
4(1) The work that our contracted farmers have done in recent years is 
greatly appreciated and has made a big difference in keeping rural areas 
clear on snow days. Again, this year farmers will have predetermined local 
routes and will use their own tractor and KCC ploughs for clearing snow. 
The ploughs supplied are serviced by KCC each year. Each farmer will 
have plans detailing the roads that that they are responsible for ploughing.   
When snow reaches a depth of 50mm on roads in their areas the farmers 
will commence ploughing notifying KCC as agreed in their contract. A list 
of farmers and their contact details can be found in the local plan, 
(although some personal information will not be available via this report or 
the website due to General Data Protection Regulations).   

 
5. Conclusion 

 
5(1) Working in partnership with the district councils will enable HTW to 
provide an effective winter service across the county.  

 
6. Recommendations 

 
6(1) Members are asked to note this report. 

______________________________________________________________ 
 

Background documents:  
 
Kent County Council Winter Service Policy and Plan 2021/22 
 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/winter-
service 
 

 
 
Contact officer: Alan Blackburn 
District Manager for Swale -Tel: 03000 41 81 81 
 

Page 442

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/winter-service-policy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/winter-service-policy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/winter-service
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/winter-service

	Agenda
	5 Formal Objections to Traffic Regulation Order - Swale Amendment 28 2021
	Annex A.pdf Amendment 28
	Annex B Amendment 28
	Annex C
	Annex D
	Annex E

	6 Results of Informal Consultation - Proposed Double Yellow Lines, Cortland Close, Milton Regis
	Annex A
	Annex B

	7 Design Consultation Results - Extension of Residents' Parking Scheme Edith Road, Faversham
	Annex A
	Annex B
	Annex C edith road

	8 Faversham Town wide 20 mph trial
	Appendix A - Proposed 20mph limit area
	Appendix B - Independent Evaluation and Review of 20mph Trials in Kent
	Appendix C - Independent Evaluation and Review of 20mph Trials - Faversham Summary

	10 Swale Drainage
	11 Highways Work Programme
	12 Progress Update Report
	13 Requests made by Councillors and members of the Swale Joint Transportation Board
	14 Winter Service Report

